c ۱,

Factors Influencing Skeletal Muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and Plasma [K⁺] During Exercise in Humans

Submitted by



Steven Francis Fraser,

B.Sc. (Hons)

November, 2000

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy

Supervisor: Dr. Michael J. McKenna

Co-Supervisor: Dr. Steve E. Selig

School of Human Movement, Recreation and Performance, Faculty of Human Development Victoria University, Melbourne, Australia.



23504283

FTS THESIS 612.744 FRA 30001007537170 Fraser. Steven Francis Factors influencing skeletal muscle Na+, K+-ATPase and Plasma [K+] during exercise

Abstract

The sodium-potassium adenosine triphosphatase enzyme (Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase) regulates muscle cell [Na⁺], [K⁺] and muscle membrane potential, therefore playing a fundamental role in muscle excitability. This dissertation primarily examined the effects of acute exercise, training status and chronic inactivity on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and activity in human skeletal muscle. Since Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity also regulates plasma [K⁺] at rest and during exercise, a secondary focus of this thesis was to examine relationships between muscle Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase and plasma [K⁺] responses during and following exercise.

Study 1. Measurement of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in human skeletal muscle is difficult due to low inherent activity and high unspecific ATPase activity. Therefore the first study involved modification of the K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*-methylfluorescein phosphatase (3-*O*- MFPase) assay for measurement in human skeletal muscle. Factors investigated included enzyme kinetics, sample treatment and ligand concentration. The specificity of the assay for Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase was confirmed by inhibition of the maximal K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*- MFPase activity by ouabain. 3-*O*-MFPase activity was maximal using a multiple freeze-thaw treatment of the homogenate, a 10 mM KCl activating concentration and a 3-*O*- MFP substrate concentration of 160 μ M. The maximal K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase activity in quadriceps muscle homogenates in seven healthy untrained subjects was (mean±SE) 292±10 nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet wt (1745±84 pmol min⁻¹ mg⁻¹ protein). The intraassay variability was 8.1% and the inter-assay variability was 5.3%. These modifications optimised the 3-*O*-MFPase assay allowing valid, reliable measurements of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity in small samples of human skeletal muscle.

Study 2. The acute effects of fatiguing exercise on Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase activity has not previously been investigated, therefore the second study examined the effects of

fatiguing knee extensor exercise on muscle 3-O-MFPase activity and plasma [K⁺]. Eight untrained men undertook an incremental exercise test on a cycle ergometer to determine $\dot{v}O_2$ peak and a separate muscle fatigue test (MFT) comprising 50 maximal voluntary contractions of the knee extensors. A muscle biopsy was taken from the vastus lateralis at rest and at fatigue in the MFT to determine maximal in-vitro K⁺stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity, and muscle metabolites. Muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (³H ouabain binding site content) and fibre types were also measured in resting muscle. Arterialised-venous blood was sampled from a dorsal hand vein, before, during and after both the MFT and $\dot{v}O_2$ peak test, and was analysed for plasma [K⁺]. In the MFT, peak torque declined by $49.5\pm2.8 \%$ (P<0.05), muscle ATP, PCr, and glycogen all decreased (P < 0.05), while muscle lactate, Cr, IMP and [H⁺] increased (P < 0.05). The maximal *in-vitro* K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity in quadriceps skeletal muscle was depressed by 13.8 ± 4.1 % (P<0.05) at fatigue. Thus intense fatiguing exercise depresses skeletal muscle in vitro 3-O-MFPase activity. Structural alterations in the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme are the most likely reason for the fatigue-induced depression in *in-vitro* 3-O-MFPase activity, whilst metabolic perturbations may further exacerbate the depressive effects in-vivo.

Study 3. No studies have examined changes in both skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and activity with training. Further, no studies have examined the impact of training status on the effects of an acute exercise bout on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity, nor the relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity with plasma [K⁺]. Therefore the third study involved a cross-sectional comparison of 8 endurance trained (ET), 8 resistance trained (RT), and 8 UT subjects (Study 2), in relation to skeletal muscle 3-*O*-MFPase activity and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content. The same exercise tests, blood and muscle analyses were performed as described in Study 2. ET had a higher \dot{VO}_2 peak than RT

and UT (67.6+1.5, 43.8+3.6, 44.4+1.8 ml.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹, respectively P < 0.05) and a lower fatigue-induced decline in quadriceps peak torque (33.3±5.3, 55.6±4.8, 49.5±2.8%, respectively, P < 0.05). ET had a higher proportion of type I fibres than RT or UT (ET 67.4±3.3%, RT 43.6±4.9%, and UT 50.7±2.9%, P<0.05). ET had a 18.3 and 16.6 % higher [³H]-ouabain binding site content than RT and UT respectively (ET 357±29, RT 302±52, UT 311±41 pmol.g⁻¹ wet wt). There was no significant effect of training on 3-O-MFPase activity in resting muscle (ET 249± 13, RT 229± 19, UT 207± 10 nmol.min⁻¹.g⁻¹ wet wt). There was a significant main effect of fatigue, with 3-O-MFPase activity decreased from 228± 9 at rest to 192± 8 pmol.min⁻¹.mg protein⁻¹ at fatigue (-16.1%, P<0.05), with no differences in 3-O-MFPase activity among the groups (ET 190± 12, RT 205± 18, UT 179±9 nmol.min⁻¹.g⁻¹ wet wt). $\dot{V}O_2$ peak was correlated to 3-O-MFPase activity (r = 0.46, P < 0.05) and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (r = 0.64, P < 0.05) for the three groups combined. 3-O-MFPase activity was also correlated to the type I fibre percentage (r = 0.53, P < 0.05). The percentage fall in 3-O-MFPase activity during MFT was correlated to the percentage decline in muscle glycogen (r=0.53, P<0.05). The lower fatigue index in ET during the MFT was related to their higher Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (r=-0.42, P < 0.05). There were no differences between UT, RT, or ET in plasma [K⁺] response during the MFT, but ET showed a lower $\Delta[K^+]$.work⁻¹ during the $\dot{V}O_2$ peak test. 3-O-MFPase activity (r=-0.53, P<0.05) and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (r=-0.49, P<0.05) were inversely related to $\Delta[K^+]$. work⁻¹ during the $\dot{v}O_2$ peak test. In summary, the pooled 3-O-MFPase data revealed a significant depressive effect of fatigue and this was not alleviated by chronic training. The relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and $\Delta[K^+]$.work⁻¹ were inconsistent between the MFT and $\dot{V}O_2$ peak test, but they do

indicate an important role for Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in regulating the exercise induced hyperkalemia.

Study 4 Lung transplantation removes the ventilatory limitation to exercise, but transplant patients (LTx) still have severely limited exercise capacity, and exhibit an excessive rise in plasma $[K^+]$.work⁻¹ during exercise. The fourth study therefore explored whether impaired K⁺ regulation in LTx was due to decreased muscle Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase content or activity. 8 LTx and 8 matched moderately active controls (CON) performed the $\dot{v}O_2$ peak test with blood analyses as described for Study 2. A resting quadriceps muscle biopsy was taken and analysed for 3-O-MFPase activity, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, fibre type and metabolites. The maximal *in-vitro* K⁺ stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity in skeletal muscle was 31 % higher (P < 0.05) in LTx compared to CON, when expressed per gram wet weight (LTx: 220 ± 15 , CON: 168 ± 9 nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet wt). However, despite being higher in 6 out of 8 patients, no significant difference was found when expressed relative to muscle protein content (LTx: 1426±110, CON: 1219±86 pmol.min⁻¹.mg protein⁻¹). Muscle protein was not different between LTx and CON (15.5±0.8 vs 14.9±1.0 mg.100mg⁻¹muscle wet weight). Further, there was no significant difference in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (LTx 279±22 vs CON: 250±18 nmol.min⁻¹.g⁻¹ wet weight). LTx had a higher proportion of type II muscle fibres (LTx 75.2 ±4.4% vs CON 44.6 \pm 2.1%, P<0.05), increased resting muscle lactate, [H⁺] and IMP, and lower ATP and AMP (P < 0.05). LTx had a 51% lower \dot{VO}_2 peak than CON (1.21±0.08 vs 2.46±0.34 $1.\text{min}^{-1}P < 0.05$) and displayed an earlier rise in blood [lactate] (P < 0.05). The $\Delta[K^+]$ work ¹ ratio at peak exercise in LTx was more than double the value for CON (84.5 \pm 15.9 vs 37.1 ± 5.9 nmol.l⁻¹.J⁻¹ P<0.05). Thus Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and 3-O-MFPase activity

are maintained or even increased in LTx and therefore these variables cannot explain the abnormal plasma $[K^+]$ regulation during incremental exercise.

Conclusions. Utilising the modified maximal *in vitro* 3-O-MFPase assay optimised for human muscle, it was shown for the first time that fatigue depressed Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in skeletal muscle. Endurance trained but not resistance trained subjects showed an increase in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, but no groups differed in maximal *in vitro* Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. The depressive effects of fatigue on 3-O-MFPase activity were not diminished in the ET or RT groups, suggesting that a depression in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity is an obligatory response to fatigue. Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content were maintained in LTx but this did not prevent an abnormal [K⁺] response with exercise.

Declaration

This dissertation summarises original, previously unpublished work conducted in the School of Human Movement, Recreation and Performance, and the School of Life Science and Technology at Victoria University. This dissertation is the result of work performed by the author. However considerable collaboration was also involved in the studies involving exercising humans. The muscle biopsies were conducted by qualified medical personnel. Dr Michael McKenna, Associate Prof Michael Carey and Dr Steve Selig helped in conducting the exercise tests and analyses in the biochemistry laboratory. Dr Jia Li Li and Dr Xiao Nan Wang assisted in the muscle metabolite and fibre type analyses conducted in the biochemistry laboratory.



Steve F. Fraser 16-Nov-00

Publications

The following publications and presentations are presented in support of this thesis:

Fraser, S.F., & M.J. McKenna. 1998. Measurement of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase Activity in Human Skeletal Muscle. *Anal. Biochem.* 258 (1): 63-67. (Chapter 4)

McKenna, M.J., Harmer, A.R., Fraser, S.F., and J.L. Li. (1996) Effects of training on potassium, calcium and hydrogen regulation in skeletal muscle and blood during exercise. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, 156 (3) 335-346.

Fraser, S.F., and McKenna, M.J., (1996), Fatigue depresses human skeletal muscle Na^+,K^+ ATPase activity. Proceedings of the Australian Physiological and Pharmacological Society, 27(1), 47P.

McKenna, M.J., Fraser, S.F., Li, J.L., Wang, X.N., and M.F. Carey. (1996) Impaired muscle cation regulation with fatigue. The Physiologist. 39, (5) A79.

Williams, T.J., Fraser, S.F., McKenna, M.J., Li, J.L., Wang, X.N., Carey, M.F., Side E.A., Snell, G.I., and E.H. Walters. (1997) Normal skeletal muscle Sodium/Potassium pump activity post lung transplant. *ANZ J Med*; (April) A246

Williams, T.J., Fraser, S.F., McKenna, M.J., Li, J.L., Wang, X.N., Carey, M.F., Side E.A., Snell, G.I., and E.H. Walters. (1996) Skeletal muscle Sodium/Potassium pump

Fraser, S.F., M.J. McKenna, J.L. Li, X.N. Wang, and M.F Carey. Endurance and strength training do not prevent fatigue-induced depression in Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase in human skeletal muscle. Proceedings of the 10th International Biochemistry of Exercise Conference. 1997

Fraser, S.F., McKenna, M.J., Li, J.L., Wang, X.N., Selig, S.E., Sangkabutra T., and S. Sostaric. Role of skeletal muscle Na⁺K⁺-ATPase activity in potassium regulation in humans. Proceedings of the First International Conference on Exercise Science. Griffith University 1996

Acknowledgments

I am greatly indebted to my supervisor, Dr. Michael McKenna who introduced me to the wonderful world of ion regulation and the Na⁺,K⁺-pump. I thank him for his continual support, commitment and understanding. Mike shared his friendship, knowledge and resources making the path to submission a lot smoother. He guided me with patience and understanding and has my deepest respect and gratitude. I would also like to thank my co-supervisor Dr. Steve Selig who introduced me to exercise physiology research and encouraged me to take on my PhD at this institution.

Thanks to Assoc. Prof. Michael Carey (School of Life Science and Technology) and Dr. Rod Snow (School of Health Sciences, Deakin University) who gave their friendship, biochemical and analytical expertise and understanding through some difficult years in the exercise biochemistry laboratory. To all the staff in the Department of Respiratory Medicine especially Dr. Trevor Williams and Dr. Judy Morton for their professional collaboration and assistance. Thanks to Dr. Andrew Garnham, Dr. Peter Braun, and Dr. Judy Morton for performing the muscle biopsies and to Dr. Jia Li Li, Dr. Xiao Nan Wang, Dr. Termboon Sankabutra, Tim Wrigley, and Simon Sostaric, for their assistance during the exercise trials. My thanks and appreciation go to all the subjects and transplant patients who volunteered their time and enthusiasm for the study. Thanks to the following international researchers who assisted in assay development and muscle analysis: Dr Keld Kjeldsen and Dr Jim Larsen, Risghospitalet, University of Copenhagen, Denmark; Prof. Jacques Veerkamp and Dr. Ad Benders, Nijmegan University, Nijmegan, The Netherlands.

To Mum and Dad, thanks for your continual support, dedication and love. Both of you have always been there when I've been up, but especially when I'm down. You're truly

ĥ

the best. Finally to Selina, it has been a tough few years, but you have always been there to lift my confidence and give continual support and understanding. Thanks for your love, encouragement and keeping me focused on the big picture. I'm eternally grateful.

Abbreviations

Subscripts

Units

+

i	Intracellular	
e	Extracellular	
E _m	muscle membrane potential	
Electrolytes		
K^+	Potassium ion	mmol.l ⁻¹
Na ⁺	Sodium ion	mmol.l ⁻¹
Mg ²⁺	Magnesium ion	mmol.l ⁻¹
H^+	Hydrogen ion	nmol.l ⁻¹
Lac	Lactate anion	mmol.l ⁻¹
Ca ²⁺	Calcium ion	mmol.l ⁻¹
HCO ₃ -	Bicarbonate anion	mmol.l ⁻¹
[ion]	ion concentration	
$\Delta[K^+]$.work ⁻¹	rise in $[K^+]$ relative to work done	nmol.l ⁻¹ .J ⁻¹

Cardiovascular/ Blood gases

PCO ₂	Partial pressure of carbon dioxide	mmHg
PO ₂	Partial pressure of oxygen	mmHg
SBP	Systolic Blood Pressure	mmHg
DBP	Diastolic Blood Pressure	mmHg
HR	Heart Rate	beats.min ⁻¹
vO2	oxygen consumption	l.min ⁻¹

$\dot{v}O_2$ peak	Peak oxygen consumption	l.min ⁻¹
vCO ₂	carbon dioxide output	l.min ⁻¹
·V _E	Pulmonary ventilation	l.min ⁻¹
RER	Respiratory exchange ratio	

Muscle

Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase	Sodium-Potassium Adenosine Triphosphatase (EC 3.6.1.37)
Na ⁺ ,K ⁺ -pump	Sodium-Potassium Adenosine Triphosphatase (EC 3.6.1.37)
3- <i>O</i> -MFP	3-O-methylfluoroscein phosphate
3- <i>O</i> -MF	3-O-methylfluoroscein
pNpp	<i>p</i> -nitrophenylphosphate
АТР	Adenosine 5' triphosphate
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
IMP	Inosine monophosphate
PCr	Phosphocreatine
Cr	Creatine

Ż

Work and Power

WR Work rate

Table of Contents

TITLE PAGEi
Abstractii
Declarationvii
Publicationsviii
Acknowledgmentsx
Abbreviationsxii
Table of Contentsxiv
List of Figuresxxv
List of Tables
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION1
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW
2.0 Historical overview of the Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase and ionic regulation3
2.1 Structure/ Function of the Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase7
2.1.1 Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase function7
2.1.2 Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase structure8
2.1.3 Location and content of Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase9
2.1.4 Isoforms of the Na ⁺ , K^+ -ATPase11
2.1.5 Isoform locations in skeletal muscle11
2.1.6 Isoform function13
2.1.7 Translocation of Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase subunits to the sarcolemma14
2.2 Mechanism of action of Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase15
2.3 Quantification of Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content and activity

2.3.1 Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content
2.3.2 Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activity
2.3.3 3-O-MFPase activity
2.4 Muscle ionic fluxes with exercise
2.4.1 Membrane activation
2.4.2 Muscle Na ⁺ and K ⁺ fluxes
2.5 Activation of the Na^+, K^+ -ATPase enzyme
2.5.1 Extent of Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activation
2.5.2 Role of intracellular Na ⁺ in Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activation
2.5.3 Maximal Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activation
2.5.4 Acute Hormonal activation
2.5.4.1 Catecholamines
2.5.4.2 Insulin
2.5.5 Exercise-induced Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase isoform translocation
2.5.6 Other hormones
2.6 Skeletal muscle fatigue
2.6.1 Sites of Muscle fatigue
2.6.2 Central Fatigue
2.6.3 Peripheral fatigue
2.6.4 Actin-myosin interaction
2.6.5 Excitation-contraction coupling
2.7 Role of Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase in skeletal muscle fatigue
2.7.1 Membrane potential
2.7.2 K^{+} gradients and fatigue
2.7.3 Na ⁺ gradients and fatigue

2.7.4 Synergistic interaction of decreasing $[Na^+]_e$ and increasing $[K^+]_e$ with fatigue
2.7.5 Role of Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase in maintenance of contractility
2.7.6 ATP-sensitive K ⁺ channels41
2.7.7 Reactive Oxygen species
2.7.8 Metabolic energy supply43
2.7.9 Intracellular [Ca ²⁺] in activation of Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase
2.8 K ⁺ release during exercise45
2.8.1 Plasma [K ⁺]45
2.8.2 Physiological roles for K^{+} release during exercise
2.9 Alterations in Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content
2.9.1 Factors influencing Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content
2.9.1.1 Effect of age on Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase49
2.9.1.2 Effect of gender on Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase50
2.9.1.3 Effect of fibre type on Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase51
2.9.2 Chronic hormonal regulation of Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase
2.9.2.1 Thyroid hormone
2.9.2.2 Insulin
2.10 Chronic effects of increased physical activity on Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase53
2.10.1 Effect of training on the Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase54
2.10.1.1 Response of Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase to chronic electrical stimulation
2.10.1.2 Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content and exercise training
2.10.1.3 Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase, circulating [K ⁺] and performance
2.10.2 Other effects of Training on Skeletal Muscle58
2.10.2.1 Endurance training, muscle morphology and metabolic adaptations59

ų.

2.10.2.2 Resistance training	60
2.11 Muscle disuse	60
2.11.1 Effects of disuse on intracellular electrolyte balance	60
2.11.2 Effects of muscle disuse on Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content	61
2.11.3 Other morphological, metabolic and functional changes with	
immobilisation	63
2.11.3.1 Atrophy	63
2.11.3.2 Fibre type alterations	64
2.11.3.3 Metabolic changes	64
2.11.3.4 Loss of muscle function	65
2.11.4 Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase and transplant patients	67
2.11.5 Thoracic transplant patients and muscle disuse	67
2.12 Aims and Hypotheses	69
2.12.1 General Aims	69
2.12.2 Hypotheses	71
CHAPTER 3 GENERAL METHODS	72
3.0 Study Design	72
3.1 Subjects	72
3.2 Test procedures	
3.2.1 Anthropometric Measurements	76
3.2.2 Lung Function Testing	77
3.2.3 Maximal Aerobic Power	78
3.2.4 Muscle Function Assessment	79
3.2.4.1 Muscle torque-velocity Relationship	79
3.2.4.2 Muscle fatigue test	79

	80
3.3 Muscle Biopsy Sampling	
3.3.1 Muscle Biopsies	82
3.3.2 Muscle Morphology	
3.3.3 Muscle Homogenisation	83
3.3.4 3-O-MFPase Assay	83
3.3.5 Muscle Na ⁺ ,K ⁺ -ATPase content	
3.3.6 Muscle metabolites and pH.	
3.4 Blood Analyses	86
3.4.1 Blood sampling	86
3.4.2 Blood processing and analyses	
3.4.3 Calculations	87
3.5 Statistical Analyses	87
CHAPTER 4 DEVELOPMENT OF A METHOD FOR MEASUREMENT	OF
NA ⁺ ,K ⁺ -ATPASE ACTIVITY IN HUMAN SKELETAL MUSCLE	
<i>A.O Introduction</i>	
 NA⁺,K⁺-ATPASE ACTIVITY IN HUMAN SKELETAL MUSCLE 4.0 Introduction	
 NA⁺,K⁺-ATPASE ACTIVITY IN HUMAN SKELETAL MUSCLE	
 NA⁺,K⁺-ATPASE ACTIVITY IN HUMAN SKELETAL MUSCLE	
 NA⁺,K⁺-ATPASE ACTIVITY IN HUMAN SKELETAL MUSCLE	
 NA⁺,K⁺-ATPASE ACTIVITY IN HUMAN SKELETAL MUSCLE	
 NA⁺,K⁺-ATPASE ACTIVITY IN HUMAN SKELETAL MUSCLE	
 NA⁺,K⁺-ATPASE ACTIVITY IN HUMAN SKELETAL MUSCLE	
 NA⁺,K⁺-ATPASE ACTIVITY IN HUMAN SKELETAL MUSCLE	
 NA⁺,K⁺-ATPASE ACTIVITY IN HUMAN SKELETAL MUSCLE	

\$

4.2.2 Optimal K ⁺ concentration96
4.2.3 Exposing latent activity97
4.2.4 Assay precision
4.2.5 Assay specificity97
4.2.6 Human skeletal muscle K ⁺ -stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity97
4.3 Discussion
CHAPTER 5 FATIGUE DEPRESSES MAXIMAL NA ⁺ ,K ⁺ -ATPASE ACTIVITY
IN HUMAN SKELETAL MUSCLE101
5.0 Introduction
5.1 Methods
5.2 Results
5.2.1 Muscle fatigue test104
5.2.2 Fatigue effects on maximal 3-O-MFPase activity
5.2.3 Muscle Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content108
5.2.4 Muscle fibre type
5.2.5 Fatigue effects on muscle metabolites109
5.2.5.1 Relationships between muscle 3-O-MFPase activity and muscle
metabolites at rest and fatigue110
5.2.5.2 Relationships between 3-O-MFPase activity, Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content,
muscle fibre type and muscle performance115
5.2.6 Fluid and electrolytes changes during the MFT115
5.2.6.1 Plasma volume changes during the MFT115
5.2.6.2 Plasma [lactate] and $[H^+]$ 115
5.2.6.3 Plasma [K ⁺] during MFT115

. \$

5.2.7 Relationships between 3-O-MFPase activity, Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content,
muscle performance and K^+ response during MFT117
5.2.8 Cardiorespiratory measures during the incremental exercise test
5.2.8.1 Plasma volume and plasma $[K^+]$ during incremental exercise test119
5.2.9 Relationship between 3- O -MFPase activity, Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content, and
plasma $[K^+]$ during the incremental exercise test
5.3 Discussion
5.3.1 Depression in Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activity after intense fatiguing exercise 122
5.3.2 Critique of method used to measure Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activity
5.3.3 Mechanisms for fatigue induced depression in Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activity 124
5.3.3.1 Metabolic Effects
5.3.3.2 Reactive Oxygen Species
5.3.3.3 Ca ²⁺ inactivation of Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activity
5.3.4 Relationship between Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activity, content, and muscle
performance129
5.4 Conclusions
CHAPTER 6 EFFECT OF CHRONIC RESISTANCE TRAINING AND
ENDURANCE TRAINING ON NA $^{+}$, K $^{+}$ -ATPASE FUNCTION AND PLASMA [K $^{+}$]
DURING EXERCISE
6.0 Introduction
6.1 Methods
6.2 Results
6.2.1 Anthropometric Measures
6.2.2 Incremental exercise performance
6.2.3 Non-Invasive isokinetic muscle function

6.2.3.1 Torque-velocity response138
6.2.3.2 Muscle fatigue test139
6.2.3.3 Invasive isokinetic muscle fatigue test
6.3 Muscle fibre type141
6.4 Maximal Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activity142
6.4.1 Absolute and relative changes in Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activity144
6.5 Muscle Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content145
6.6 Muscle metabolites
6.7 Relationships between muscle 3-O-MFPase activity, Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content,
muscle function and fibre type148
6.7.1 Relationships between 3-O-MFPase activity and muscle metabolites at rest
and fatigue149
6.8 Plasma volume and electrolyte changes during muscle fatigue test151
6.8.1 Plasma volume, plasma [lactate] and $[H^+]$ 151
6.8.1.2 Plasma K ⁺ response during MFT154
6.8.2 Relationship between 3-O-MFPase activity, Na^+, K^+ -ATPase content, and K^+
regulation during MFT155
6.8.3 Plasma volume and $[K^+]$ response during incremental exercise test155
6.8.4 Relationships between 3-O-MFPase activity, Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content, $\dot{\rm VO}_2$
peak, and muscle fibre type156
6.8.5 Relationship between muscle 3-O-MFPase activity, Na ⁺ ,K ⁺ -ATPase content,
and plasma [K ⁺] during the incremental exercise test
6.9 Discussion
6.9.1 Training does not prevent reduced Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activity with fatigue. 159
6.9.1.1 Metabolic changes159

6.9.1.2 Reactive Oxygen species	
6.9.1.3 Ca ²⁺ inactivation of Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activity	
6.9.1.4 Fibre type	
6.9.2 Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content and training status	
6.9.2.1 Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content vs activity	
6.9.3 Relationship between muscle Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase and performance	
6.9.4 Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase function and plasma [K ⁺]	166
6.9.5 Conclusion	167
CHAPTER 7 THORACIC ORGAN TRANSPLANTATION AND NA ⁺ ,K ⁺	-ATPASE
FUNCTION	
7.0 Introduction	
7.1 Methods	169
7.1.1 Subjects, Experimental overview	169
7.1.2 Anthropometric measurements	170
7.1.3 Resting muscle biopsy	170
7.1.4 Incremental Exercise test	171
7.2 Results	171
7.2.1 Muscle Na ⁺ ,K ⁺ -ATPase function	171
7.2.1.1 Maximal K ⁺ -stimulated 3-O-MFPase Activity	172
7.2.1.2 Na ⁺ ,K ⁺ -ATPase content	173
7.2.1.3 Skeletal muscle fibre types and metabolites	174
7.2.2 Relationship between skeletal muscle 3-O-MFPase activity, Na ⁺ , 1	K*-
ATPase content, metabolites, and drug treatment	176
7.3 Resting HR and blood data	177
7.3.1 Cardiorespiratory measures during incremental exercise	

xxiii

7.3.2 Blood measures during incremental exercise	
7.3.2.1 Changes in plasma volume	
7.3.2.2 Plasma [lactate] and $[H^+]$ during incremental exercise	
7.3.2.3 Plasma [K ⁺] response during exercise	
7.3.2.4 Post-exercise decline in plasma $[K^+]$	
7.3.3 Relationship between 3-O-MFPase activity, Na ⁺ ,K ⁺ -ATPase cont	ent, and
[K ⁺] during exercise	
7.4 Discussion	187
7.4.1 Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase function in transplant patients	
7.4.1.1 Chronic disuse and disease effects on Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase	
7.4.1.2 Glucocorticoids	
7.4.2 Altered muscle fibre types in transplant patients	190
7.4.2.1 Effect of altered muscle fibre type on Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase	191
7.4.3 Other factors influencing low exercise capacity in LTx	191
7.4.3.1 Iatrogenic effects	
7.4.3.2 Cyclosporine	192
7.4.4 Conclusion	
CHAPTER 8 GENERAL SUMMARY	194
8.0 Introduction	194
8.1 Major Findings	194
8.1.1 Modification of 3-O-MFPase assay for measurement of human sk	eletal
muscle Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activity	194
8.1.2 Fatiguing exercise depresses maximal Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activity in	n human
skeletal muscle and training does not attenuate this	

8.1.3 Excessive Plasma $[K^+]$ responses to exercise are higher in lung transplant	
patients, despite normal Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activity and content	
8.1.4 Relationships between Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activity and content, fibre type, $\dot{v}O_2$	
peak and age for all healthy subjects196	
8.1.5 Relationships of Na ⁺ , K^+ -ATPase activity and content, with the exercise-	
induced plasma [K ⁺] response for all healthy subjects	
8.2 Recommendations for further research199	
REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	
Appendix A250	
Subject Information Sheet:	
STANDARD CONSENT FORM FOR SUBJECTS INVOLVED IN EXPERIMENTS	
CARDIOVASCULAR RISK FACTOR QUESTIONNAIRE	
MUSCLE BIOPSY QUESTIONNAIRE	
Subject Information Sheet258	
Appendix B Individual data	
Appendix B1 Subject Physical Characteristics	
Appendix B2 HR and blood data for muscle fatigue test for UT, RT, ET268	
Appendix B3 Comparison of data collected for incremental exercise test used in	
Chapter 7	
Appendix B4 Muscle data collected from resting biopsies for UT, RT, ET, CON and	
LTx and fatigue biopsies for UT, RT and ET293	

List of Figures

Figure 2.1 Model of the Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase structure
Figure 2.2. Scheme for mechanism of action of the Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase17
Figure 2.3 Regulatory factors controlling acute increases in activity/activation and long-
term regulation influencing total content of Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase in skeletal muscle24
Figure 2.4 Rates of Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase activation via various stimuli
Figure 2.5 Schematic model of a muscle cell, interstitium and a capillary highlighting
muscle K^+ efflux, reuptake and potential sites to measure extracellular K^+ 46
Figure 3.1 Subject performing maximal knee extensions on a Cybex
Figure 3.2 Blood and muscle sampling during fatigue test; Exercise: 50 maximal knee
extensions on Cybex isokinetic dynamometer81
Figure 4.1 (A) A typical K^+ -stimulated 3-O-MFPase assay in a crude human skeletal
muscle homogenate. (B) Superimposed is a second assay with homogenate
previously incubated with 1 M ouabain for 10 min
Figure 4.2 Substrate-velocity curve for 10 mM K ⁺ -stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity
(nmol min ⁻¹ g ⁻¹ wet wt) in crude human skeletal muscle homogenate
Figure 4.3 Effect of different KCl concentrations on K ⁺ -stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity
(nmol min ⁻¹ g ⁻¹ wet wt) in crude human skeletal muscle homogenate
Figure 5.1 Knee extensor muscle peak torque during 50 maximal contractions on a
Cybex isokinetic dynamometer105
Figure 5.2 Maximal 3-O-MFPase activity (nmol min ⁻¹ g^{-1} wet wt.) from vastus lateralis
muscle biopsied at rest and at fatigue expressed relative to muscle wet weight 107

Figure 5.3 The relationships between (A) resting muscle maximal in vitro 3-O-MFPase
activity (nmol min ⁻¹ g ⁻¹ wet wt) and PCr content, and (B) fatigued muscle maximal
in vitro 3-O-MFPase activity (nmol min ⁻¹ g ⁻¹ wet wt) and fatigued muscle $[H^*] \dots 112$
Figure 5.4 The relationships between maximal in vitro 3-O-MFPase activity (nmol.min
1 .g ⁻¹ wet wt) and pooled (rest and fatigue) muscle ATP (A), PCr (B) and (C) lactate
contents (mmol.kg ⁻¹ ,dry wt)114
Figure 5.5 Arterialised venous (A) Δ Plasma volume, (B) plasma [H ⁺], (C) plasma
[Lactate], and (D) plasma [K^+] at rest (R) and at fatigue (F) during the MFT
(denoted by hatched bar) and 30 min of recovery116
Figure 5.6 The relationship between maximal in vitro 3-O-MFPase activity in resting
muscle (nmol min ⁻¹ g ⁻¹ wet wt) and (A) $\Delta[K^+]$, (mM) (B) $\Delta[K^+]$.work ⁻¹ ratio (nmol.l ⁻¹)
¹ .J ⁻¹) (C) Fall in $[K^+]$ at 1 min post and (D) Fall in $[K^+]$ at 2 min post for the MFT.
Figure 5.7 (A) Decline in arterialised venous plasma volume and (B) Plasma $[K^+]$ at rest,
during incremental exercise and 30 min of recovery
Figure 5.8 The relationship between maximal in vitro 3-O-MFPase activity at rest
(nmol min ⁻¹ g ⁻¹ wet wt) and (A) $\Delta[K^+]$, (mM) (B) $\Delta[K^+]$.work ⁻¹ ratio (nmol.l ⁻¹ .J ⁻¹)
(C) Fall in $[K^+]$ at 1 min post and (D) Fall in $[K^+]$ at 2 min post incremental exercise.
Figure 6.1 The torque-velocity response during isometric and isokinetic contractions on a
Biodex dynamometer, in untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained (RT, \Box) and
endurance trained (ET, ▲) subjects139
Figure 6.2 Knee extensor muscle peak torque for untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained
(RT, \Box), and endurance trained (ET, \blacktriangle), subjects during 50 maximal contractions on
a Cybex isokinetic dynamometer141

Figure 6.3 Muscle fibre proportions for untrained (UT) resistance trained (RT), and	
endurance trained14	12
Figure 6.4 The maximal <i>in-vitro</i> 3-O-MFPase activity (nmol.min ⁻¹ .g ⁻¹ wet wt.) in restin	g
and fatigued skeletal muscle pooled for untrained (UT) resistance trained (RT), and	ĺ
endurance trained (ET)14	14
Figure 6.5 Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content for untrained (UT) resistance trained (RT), and	
endurance trained (ET),14	16
Figure 6.6 The relationship between Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content (pmol.g ⁻¹ wet wt) and 3-C)_
MFPase activity (nmol min ⁻¹ g ⁻¹ wet wt) untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained (RT,	
\Box), and endurance trained (ET, \blacktriangle)14	17
Figure 6.7 The relationships between 3-O-MFPase activity (nmol min ⁻¹ g ⁻¹ wet wt) and	
type 1 fibre percent for untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained (RT, \Box), and endurance	e
trained (ET, \blacktriangle) subjects15	0
Figure 6.8 The relationship between Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content (pmol.g ⁻¹ wet wt) and	
Fatigue Index during the muscle fatigue test for untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained	d
(RT, \Box), and endurance trained (ET, \blacktriangle),15	1
Figure 6.9 (A) Plasma $[H^+]$ and (B) lactate at rest (R), mid exercise and at the point of	
fatigue (F) in the muscle fatigue test and 30 min of recovery for untrained (UT, \bullet),	
resistance trained (RT, \Box) and endurance trained (ET, \blacktriangle) subjects15	3
Figure 6.10 Plasma K^+ concentration at rest (R), mid and at the point of fatigue (F) in	
the MFT and 30 min of recovery for untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained (RT, \Box)	
and endurance trained (ET, \blacktriangle) subjects	4
Figure 6.11 Plasma [K^+] at rest, during the incremental test and during 30 min of	
recovery for untrained (UT, \bullet), n=8, resistance trained (RT, \Box), n=7, and endurance	2
trained (ET, ▲), n=8 subjects15	6

3

Figure 6.12 Relationship between \dot{VO}_2 peak (l.min ⁻¹) and (A) 3-O-MFPase activity (nmol
min ⁻¹ g ⁻¹ wet wt) (B) (Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content (pmol.g ⁻¹ wet weight) and (C) % type
I fibres for pooled untrained (UT, $ullet$), resistance trained (RT, \Box), and endurance
trained (ET, ▲)157
Figure 6.13 The relationship between $\Delta[K^+]$.work ⁻¹ (nmol.l ⁻¹ .J ⁻¹) and (A) 3-O-MFPase
activity (nmol.min-1.g ⁻¹ wet wt, n=22) and (B) Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content (pmol.g ⁻¹
wet wt, n=24) for the incremental test untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained (RT, \Box),
and endurance trained (ET, \blacktriangle)
Figure 7.1 Skeletal muscle fibre type proportions in LTx and CON
Figure 7.2 Pulmonary \dot{VO}_2 , \dot{V}_E , and Heart Rate at rest, during submaximal workrates
and at peak exercise during incremental exercise for (O) LTx and (\blacksquare) CON.
Horizontal error bars for peak values indicate mean and sem of peak workrate179
Figure 7.3 Calculated percent change in plasma volume from rest, during submaximal
workrates and at peak exercise during incremental exercise for (O) LTx and (\blacksquare)
CON
Figure 7.4 (A) Plasma $[H^+]$ and (B) plasma [Lactate] at rest, during incremental exercise
and during 30 min of recovery for (O) LTx and (\blacksquare) CON. Horizontal error bars for
peak values indicate mean and sem of peak workrate (C) Plasma $[H^*]$ and (D)
plasma [lactate] plotted against percent $\dot{v}O_2$ peak
Figure 7.5 Plasma [K ⁺] at rest, during incremental exercise and during 30 min of
recovery for (O) LTx and (\blacksquare) CON. Horizontal error bars for peak values indicate
mean and sem of peak workrate. The zero recovery timepoint is the peak exercise
value replotted

List of Tables

Table 2.1 H	Kinetic characteristics of rat Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase isoform14
Table 2.2	Training effects on plasma $[K^*]$ during exercise in humans
Table 2.3	Effects of age on skeletal muscle Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content
Table 2.4	Training effects on human vastus lateralis muscle Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase content
and m	uscle function
Table 2.5	Effects of reduced physical activity on skeletal muscle Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase
conter	nt and function
Table 2.6	Effects of immobilisation on human vastus lateralis muscle morphology and
metab	olic and performance changes66
Table 3.1 F	Physical characteristics of untrained, endurance trained and resistance trained
subjec	rts
Table 3.2 A	Anthropometric data for transplant patients and controls
Table 3.3 (Clinical characteristics of thoracic transplant patients
Table 5.1 N	Maximal 3-O-MFPase activity in vastus lateralis muscle biopsied at rest and at
fatigue	e in untrained subjects106
Table 5.2 N	Muscle 3-O-MFPase activity induced by a sub-optimal stimulating KCl
concer	ntration of 5.5mM, biopsied at rest and at fatigue in untrained subjects 108
Table 5.3 N	Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase content in vastus lateralis muscle biopsied at rest in untrained
subjec	ts
Table 5.4 N	Auscle substrate and metabolite contents in vastus lateralis muscle biopsied at
rest an	d at fatigue in untrained subjects110
Table 5.5 P	Peak incremental exercise test cardiorespiratory and work output data for the
untrair	ned subjects

Table 6.1 Anthropometric characteristics in untrained (UT) resistance trained (RT), and
endurance trained (ET) subjects
Table 6.2 Peak cardiorespiratory responses to incremental exercise in untrained (UT)
resistance trained (RT), and endurance trained (ET) subjects;
Table 6.3 Non-invasive muscle fatigue test results in untrained (UT) resistance trained
(RT), and endurance trained (ET) subjects140
Table 6.4 Vastus lateralis muscle maximal 3-O-MFPase activity (using 10mM KCl) at
rest and at fatigue in untrained (UT) resistance trained (RT), and endurance trained
(ET) subjects143
Table 6.5 Decline in 3-O-MFPase activity after MFT in untrained (UT) resistance trained
(RT), and endurance trained (ET) subjects145
Table 6.6 Skeletal muscle metabolites at rest and after fatigue in untrained (UT)
resistance trained (RT), and endurance trained (ET) subjects148
Table 6.7 Plasma $[K^+]$ variables during the MFT for untrained (UT) resistance trained
(RT), and endurance trained (ET) subjects155
Table 7.1 Maximal K ⁺ stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity in LTx and CON
Table 7.2 Muscle protein content (mg.100mg ⁻¹ muscle wet wt) in LTx and CON
Table 7.3 Na^+, K^+ -ATPase content (pmol.g ⁻¹ wet wt.) as determined from the [³ H]-
ouabain binding site concentration in LTx and CON174
Table 7.4 Resting skeletal muscle metabolites 176
Table 7.5 Resting HR and Blood data for LTX and CON
Table 7.6 Peak data during incremental exercise test 178
Table 7.7 Decline in $[K^+]$ from peak exercise to 1, 2 and 5 min recovery

Chapter 1 Introduction

Tightly regulated, multitudinous cascades of events ensure the generation of muscular force necessary for humans to exercise. In skeletal muscle, depolarisation of the muscle t-tubular membrane induces Ca²⁺ release from the internal stores, the sarcoplasmic reticulum. This increases cytosolic [Ca²⁺] and enables actomyosin crossbridge interaction and force production. The depolarisation of the sarcolemma is a consequence of the movement of sodium (Na⁺) into the cell, whilst repolarisation occurs with potassium (K⁺) ion efflux from the cell. To maintain excitability, the steep Na⁺ and K⁺ concentration gradients are restored via the activation of the Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase enzyme (EC 3.6.1.37), otherwise known as the Na⁺,K⁺-pump (Clausen 1986; Nielsen & Overgaard 1996). Maintenance of Na⁺ and K⁺ gradients via Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity/activation is critical for muscular function to prevent the sarcolemmal membrane from becoming further depolarised, possibly leading to T-tubular block of action potential (AP) propagation. This AP block would abolish cell activation and induce complete loss of contractile force in that fibre leading to reduced muscular performance (Hanson & Person 1971).

As skeletal muscle has the largest pool of K⁺ in the body (Clausen & Everts, 1989), skeletal muscle reaccumulation of [K⁺] is critical to whole body [K⁺] regulation. During exercise, not all of the K⁺ exiting the contracting fibres is reaccumulated via the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, and consequently muscle interstitial and plasma [K⁺] rises. The relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content or activity and plasma [K⁺] responses in exercising humans has been investigated in very few studies (Green et al. 1993; Kjeldsen 1990b; McKenna et al. 1993). These studies showed that training-induced increases in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content did not correlate with reduced plasma [K⁺] during exercise. No studies have comprehensively examined Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content in human skeletal muscle in relation to acute exercise, training, chronic inactivity or $[K^+]$ response during exercise.

For complete functional determination of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, both content and activity should be measured. Previously, only content has been measured in human skeletal muscle and therefore the possibility of differential changes in content or activity cannot be determined. This is important, as studies may find no change in content of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase but a possible activity change may go undetected (Druml et al. 1988; Pickar et al. 1994). This thesis measured Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity using a modified and optimised K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity and measured Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content via [³H]-This maximal K^+ -stimulated phosphatase activity represents the ouabain binding. terminal phosphatase reaction in the process of ATP cleavage, Na^+ extrusion, and K^+ reaccumulation in the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase cycle (Elmosehli et al. 1994). Thus the assay does not indicate the physiological activity in vivo, but rather measures the in vitro maximal K^+ -stimulated phosphatase activity. The effects of human muscle fatigue on Na⁺, K^+ -ATPase activity, and the relationship to plasma of $[K^+]$ was examined. Further, an activity continuum, ranging from chronic muscle disuse in lung transplant recipients to long-term endurance or resistance trained individuals was used to investigate differences in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function and plasma [K⁺] responses.
Chapter 2 Literature Review

2.0 Historical overview of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and ionic regulation

The question of how cells maintain a relatively low [Na⁺] and high [K⁺], while surrounded by interstitial fluid with a reversed concentration ratio of these cations has been investigated for over 100 years. Fenn & Cobb (1936) noted that during electrical stimulation, rat and frog muscle gained Na⁺ and lost K⁺ and these movements reversed following electrical stimulation. Another early study in dogs found a rapid uptake of labelled ²²Na⁺ into red blood cells, indicating membrane permeability to Na⁺ (Cohn & Cohn 1939). One of the earliest studies in humans reported that venous [K⁺] increased 25% during short duration exhaustive exercise and that it fell precipitously in recovery (Keys 1937). Thus it was clear that Na⁺ and K⁺ flowed across the muscle membrane during muscle excitation and these movements reversed following electrical stimulation. The concept of active transport developed in the 1940's and 1950's (Skou 1998). The 'pump-leak concept' was developed where Na⁺ and K⁺ leaked down their electrochemical gradients but K⁺ had to be actively pumped into the cell against its concentration gradient (Dean 1941; Skou 1957, 1998). Despite this prevailing concept, the identity of this pump system and its relationship to cell metabolism was not clear.

Dean proposed a membrane pump theory in 1941, and from this work he concluded that "the muscle can actively move potassium and sodium against concentration gradients

...(but) this requires work. Therefore there must be some sort of a pump, possibly located in the fibre membrane, which can pump out sodium or, which is equivalent, pump in the potassium." It was subsequently shown that ATP was required for this transport and that the membrane transport pump could be poisoned by a cardiac glycoside (Hodgkin & Keynes 1956; Schatzmann 1953). The work of Jens Christian Skou identified this membrane transport pump. Skou fractionated a crab nerve homogenate into a microsomal component, which exhibited ATPase activity when stimulated by Na⁺. K⁺, and Mg²⁺ (Skou 1957). He conversed with Robert Post who indicated that the stoichiometry of Na⁺ extrusion out of and K⁺ entry into red blood cells was in the ratio of 3:2 (Post & Jolly, 1957; Post et al. 1957). Skou later reasoned that the previous identification of a cardiac glycoside (ouabain) suppressible cation pump (Schatzmann 1953) might indeed be the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme (Skou 1960). His hypothesis was further supported in subsequent publications, and Skou summarised the active transport of Na⁺ and K⁺ via the enzyme system in his classic 1965 review. In the following decade, his work was confirmed in a number of laboratories, with the importance of Skou's work recently recognised with the 1997 Nobel Prize for Chemistry (see Clausen & Persson 1998).

Between 1957 and the present day, research into the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme kinetics, structure, and molecular biology has generated over 10,000 papers (Clausen & Persson 1998). However there is a comparative lack of research on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function in humans (Clausen 1998). Overall, animal and human research has improved our understanding of the physiological role of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme in various tissues, including its role in skeletal muscle excitation, fatigue and training.

The Na^{*}, K^{*}-ATPase enzyme was first demonstrated in human skeletal muscle membrane fractions obtained from cadavers (Samaha & Gergely 1965, 1966). Samaha & Gergely and many of the earlier researchers attempted to identify the Na^{*}, K^{*}-ATPase in various tissues (Matsui & Schwartz 1966; Samaha & Gergely 1965, 1966; Sulakhe et al. 1971) using purification techniques to eliminate many of the unspecific ATPases found in skeletal muscle. The use of the vanadate-facilitated [³H]-ouabain binding technique enabled accurate quantification of Na^{*}, K^{*}-ATPase content in muscle biopsies or intact muscle fibres (Nørgaard et al. 1983, 1984a). This technique also avoided the problems associated with purification of sarcolemmal components (Hansen & Clausen 1996). Sensitive fluorescent techniques have been used to measure Na^{*}, K^{*}-ATPase activity in rodent muscle (Nørgaard et al. 1984b). The measurement of ouabain-suppressible K^{*} influx or Na^{*} efflux across the sarcolemma of isolated intact muscle preparations have also been used to quantify Na^{*}, K^{*}-ATPase transport rate (Clausen et al. 1987; Hansen & Clausen 1988). Analogues of K^{*} have also been used including ⁴²K and rubidium (⁸⁶Rb, Clausen et al. 1987).

The extent of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activation during muscle contractions can be estimated via arterio-venous [K⁺] differences across contracting muscle (Hallén et al. 1994; Juel et al. 1990; 1999; McKenna et al. 1997; Sjøgaard et al. 1985; Verburg et al. 1999; Vøllestad et al. 1994). There have also been attempts to link the functional consequences of alterations in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity or content. The relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and the plasma [K⁺] response during exercise has been explored (Green et al. 1993; Kjeldsen et al. 1990b; Klitgaard & Clausen 1989; Madsen et al. 1994; McKenna et al. 1993). Some of these studies have shown an increase in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content after training and a reduced hyperkalemia during exercise, but these variables were not significantly correlated (Green et al. 1993; Madsen et al. 1994).

The loss of K⁺ from contracting skeletal muscle was proposed to be due to inadequate Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase capacity and to be of importance in limiting contractile performance (Clausen 1990). This idea was given credence by researchers such as Sjøgaard (1990), Balog & Fitts (1996), Jones (1996), and Nielsen & Clausen (2000).

Research over the past three decades has convincingly shown that the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme is subject to both acute and long-term regulation (Clausen 1986). Important information gained includes the stimulatory effect of numerous hormones and other agents, possible translocation from intracellular stores to the sarcolemma, and the effects of physical training or detraining (eg Clausen 1996a; Green et al. 1993; Juel et al. 2000a; Lavoie et al. 1996; McKenna 1998). Molecular biology techniques have clarified some the various Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase isoform expression and their tissue-specific functions in both animal and human tissues (Hundal et al. 1993; Juel et al. 2000a; Lavoie et al. 1996).

In 1940 Fenn noted 'We are still far from being in a position to present the known facts concerning the physiology of potassium from the point of view of any well developed theory of potassium behaviour". This statement still has relevance today, despite 70 years of active research in potassium and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase regulation, many questions still remain unclear or unanswered. Notably the role of extracellular K⁺ and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function in muscle fatigue, and exercise training are not yet fully understood. This dissertation will examine Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and its role in muscle fatigue, the effects of training and chronic detraining, and its relationship with plasma [K⁺] during and following exercise.

2.1 Structure/ Function of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase

2.1.1 Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function

The Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase transports Na⁺ and K⁺ ions against their transmembrane concentration gradients and, in the case of Na⁺, against an electrical gradient as well. For human skeletal muscle the extracellular [Na⁺] and [K⁺] have been measured at ~134 and ~4.6 mmol 1⁻¹ respectively and the intracellular ion concentrations at ~9 mmol 1⁻¹ for [Na⁺] and ~160 mmol 1⁻¹ for [K⁺] (Sjøgaard 1983). Recently, interstitial [K⁺] has been measured in resting human muscle as 3.9-4.3 mmol 1⁻¹ using the microdialysis technique (Green et al. 1999b, Juel et al. 2000b). The above result for interstitial [K⁺] is lower than the Sjøgaard (1983) reported value, but it must be kept in mind that Green et al. 1999b and Juel et al. 2000b analysed interstitial [K⁺] using different techniques. Importantly the interstitial values reported during knee extensor exercise are much higher than published femoral venous [K⁺] (Bangsbo et al. 1996; Juel et al. 2000b). The [K⁺] response to exercise will be discussed further in 2.4.2.

The potential energy of the ionic chemical gradients maintained by the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase provides the driving force for the transport of other solutes, notably amino acids, creatine, glucose and phosphate (Ewart & Klip 1995; Sweeney & Klip 1998). This potential energy from the ionic gradients (namely Na⁺) also allows the removal of protons, calcium, and bicarbonate (Lechene 1988). It appears that the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is exquisitely regulated with changes in Na⁺ influx, that is, the leak of Na⁺ and the maintenance of this ionic gradient by the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase drive many co- and counter transport mechanisms. ATP hydrolysis is linked to the exchange of these ions where 3 Na⁺ ions are extruded and 2 K⁺ ions are reaccummulated back into the cell per ATP molecule split. A considerable amount of energy derived from cytosolic ATP breakdown is required to maintain these ion gradients and cellular processes. By restoring Na⁺ and K⁺ against their skeletal muscle membrane gradients, the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase modulates muscle membrane excitation and contraction.

2.1.2 Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase structure

The nomenclature for the sodium-potassium-adenosine triphosphatase (Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase) enzyme (EC 3.6.1.37) varies in the literature: Na⁺, K⁺-pump, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, sodium pump, but will be referred to in this thesis as Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. The Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme is a transmembranous protein situated in the lipid bilayer of virtually all excitable animal cells. This transmembranous protein actively extrudes three Na⁺ ions from cells and imports two K^+ ions into the cell, coupled to the hydrolysis of one ATP molecule. It is also referred to as the Na⁺, K⁺-pump as it pumps Na⁺ and K⁺ ions against their concentration gradients. The enzymatic structure (Figure 2.1) comprises a catalytic α subunit (molecular weight ~112kDa) which may span the membrane 10 times and a single span glycosylated β subunit (~55kDa, Fambrough et al. 1994; Lavoie et al. 1997). A third protein, termed the γ -subunit is a small hydrophobic polypeptide of 8-14kDa but its functional role is unclear (Blanco & Mercer 1998). The a subunit contains the ligand $(Na^+, K^+, Mg^{2+}, ATP, and Pi)$ binding sites as well as sites for the specific inhibitors, ouabain and digoxin, which bind to the extracellular surface (Jorgensen 1982). Several studies have shown that by combining with the α subunit, the β subunit is required for normal function and it may act as a chaperone, stabilising the correct folding of the subunit to facilitate its delivery to the plasma membrane (Blanco & Mercer 1998; McDonough et al. 1990; Sweadner, 1989). There is also the suggestion that the β subunit acts as an adhesion molecule, interacting with receptors on adjacent cells, guiding the

Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase to specific regions of the plasma membrane (Ackermann & Geering 1990; Ewart & Klip 1995). These subunits appear as a functional $\alpha\beta$ complex, which is the minimum functional unit to form the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase ion transporter (Jorgensen 1982, Levenson 1994; Lingrel 1992).

2.1.3 Location and content of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase

The Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is oriented in the membrane with part of the protein exposed at both faces (Fig 2.1). The region of the protein that faces the cytoplasm has three high-affinity sites for binding Na⁺ ions and one site for an ATP molecule. On the outer face the enzyme has two high-affinity binding sites for K⁺ ions as well as a binding site for ouabain and digoxin: cardiac glycosides that inhibit Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase (Jorgensen 1982; Rouho & Kyte 1974). Both ouabain and digoxin are cardiac glycosides which affect cardiac muscle by increasing vagal activity and slowing the rate of conduction through the AV node. The force of cardiac contraction is also increased as the binding of these glycosides to the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase causes intracellular [Na⁺] to rise and the cardiac muscle cell becomes depolarised. The raised intracellular [Na⁺] exchanges with Ca²⁺ through Na⁺ /Ca²⁺ exchanger resulting in increased intracellular [Ca²⁺] and force production. Both ouabain and digoxin can inhibit Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase (by binding to the K⁺ binding site) in cardiac as well as skeletal muscle.

In skeletal muscle the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is located in the sarcolemma (Sulakhe et al. 1971) as well as in the transverse tubules (Lau et al. 1977). There is also evidence for an intracellular pool that can translocate to the plasma membrane upon hormonal and exercise stimulation (Juel et al. 2000a; Lavoie et al. 1996; Omatsu-Kanbe & Kitasato 1990; Tsakirides et al. 1996). The sarcolemmal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, as estimated from [³H]-ouabain binding, ranges from 1000 μ mol.m⁻² in guinea pig muscle (Harrison et al. 1994) to 3500 μ mol.m⁻² in rat soleus muscle (Clausen & Hansen 1974; Erlij &

Grinstein 1976). The t-tubules represent up to 70% of the surface area (Eisenberg & Kuda 1976), but Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content measurements performed on frog muscle detubulated by glycerol pretreatment, showed that only ~20% of the total number of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase are located in the transverse tubules (Venosa & Horowitz 1981). Studies on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in t-tubule of mammalian muscle do not state the relative difference in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase expressed in t-tubules versus sarcolemma (Ariyasu et al. 1987; Horgan & Kuypers 1988). In spite of the much larger surface area, the transverse tubules contain only a minor proportion of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in skeletal muscle. The low density of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in the t-tubule combined with a smaller distribution volume for the released K⁺ than outside the sarcolemma, may predispose this site to action potential block, and failure of transmission during muscle contraction. This may have important consequences for fatigue especially during high intensity exercise (Balog & Fitts 1996; McKenna 1998).



Figure 2.1 Model of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase structure. The α subunit spans the membrane 10 times and while the glycosylated β subunit has a single span. (P denoted phosphorylation). From Fambrough et al. (1994).

2.1.4 Isoforms of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase

Since Sweadner (1989) identified 2 isoforms of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in rat brain, there has been considerable effort in identifying the various isoforms of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. The isoform expression is tissue-, organ- and maturation-dependent (Herrera et al. 1994; Levenson 1994; Munzer et al. 1994) and can be detected by specific antibodies (Lavoie et al. 1996; Sweadner 1993). The α and β subunits exist in three isoforms (α_1 , α_2 , α_3 , β_1 , β_2 , and β_3) with all except β_3 expressed in mammalian skeletal muscle. An α_4 isoform has also been identified in mammalian cells (Blanco & Mercer 1998; Shamraj & Lingrel 1994). Human skeletal muscle express α_1 , α_2 , and α_3 but their catalytic activity is only supported by the β_1 isoform (Hundal et al. 1994; Juel et al. 2000a). Tissues vary in their complement of α and β subunits, with α_1 present in most plasma membranes, α_2 present in muscle, heart, adipose tissue and brain, and α_3 predominantly present in heart and brain. The β_1 isoform is present in most cells except fast twitch glycolytic muscle fibres, which only express the β_2 isoform (Hundal et al. 1993). Our understanding of the physiological significance of why certain tissues such as brain, muscle and heart express different isoform subunits in the same cell is still evolving, but it may be related to the type of regulation that each can experience (Ewart & Klip 1995).

2.1.5 Isoform locations in skeletal muscle

Recent studies using molecular biology techniques, involving skeletal muscle membrane purification and labelling with specific antibodies, have shown various locations for the isoforms of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. Before discussing these isoforms of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase it is important to note that often less than 1% of the plasma membrane is recovered in these studies, so some of the interpretations may be misleading (Hansen & Clausen 1996). Hansen & Clausen (1996) noted that many studies involving isolation

procedures use a calculation with a purification factor and do not compare results to that of intact tissue. The assumption from many studies that the final product is sarcolemmal in origin and representative of a significant fraction of this structure can also be questioned. Accepting these limitations with regard to the use of enzyme activities for calculation of sarcolemmal recoveries, Hundal & Aledo (1996) suggest that this low yield fraction does provide useful information about membrane proteins. They support the use of these purification steps by showing that immunological assays with antibodies to specific membrane proteins show that they are present in the fraction termed plasma membrane. The results of some of these purification studies are presented below. In rat skeletal muscle the α_1 subunit was almost exclusively found in the sarcolemma (Hundal et al. 1992, 1993) while α_2 subunits were found in the sarcolemma but also in t-tubules and intracellular membrane fractions (Marette et al. 1993). As with the α_2 isoform, the β_1 subunits have been reported at both intracellular sites and at the surface membrane (Hundal et al. 1992, 1993). Due to the large amount of tissue required for purification of membrane fractions, studies on human tissue have been limited. Hundal and colleagues (1994) overcame these difficulties by accessing 20-30g of human soleus muscle from amputated limbs. They noted that the α_1 was found mainly in the sarcolemma in human skeletal muscle, while the α_2 isoform was located more in intracellular membrane fractions. They also noted that human skeletal muscle was distinct from rat tissue in that the α_3 isoform was also expressed. The β_2 isoform is not present in human skeletal muscle and the β_1 isoform is mainly located at the plasma membrane (Hundal et al. 1994). Juel et al. (2000a) confirmed the findings of Hundal et al. (1994) using the sarcolemmal giant vesicle technique. Juel et al. (2000a) showed that only the β_1 isoform was present in sarcolemma of human skeletal muscle and the α_1 isoform was primarily located at the plasma membrane. They also found that the α_2 subunit content was

increased in the sarcolemma after exercise and the α_1 subunit unchanged between plasma membrane and muscle homogenate measures. Juel et al. (2000a) concluded that the α_2 subunit may serve as a pool of subunits available for translocation. Therefore in human skeletal muscle, the α_1 , α_2 , and α_3 , combine with the β_1 isoform to form the functional heterodimer.

2.1.6 Isoform function

In human muscle the common isoforms display similar affinities for ATP, cytoplasmic Na^+ and extracellular K^+ , but some isoform-specific differences in affinity have been observed (Blanco & Mercer 1998; Lingrel et al. 1998; Munzer et al. 1994). The following table summarises some of these isoform specific affinities for various substrates.

Table 2.1 Kinetic characteristics of rat Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase isoform combinations (modified from Blanco & Mercer 1998, $K_{0.5}$: concentration required for half maximal activity, K_i: concentration required for complete ouabain inhibition).

isoform	Na ⁺ Activation	K ⁺ Activation	ATP Activation	Ouabain Inhibition
	K _{0.5} , mM	K _{0.5} , mM	K _{0.5} , mM	K _i , mM
$\alpha_1\beta_1$	16.4 ± 0.4	1.9 ± 0.2	0.46 ± 0.10	$4300 \pm 1900 \ge 10^{-8}$
$\alpha_2\beta_1$	12.4 ± 0.5	3.6 ± 0.3	0.11 ± 0.01	$17 \pm 1.0 \text{ x } 10^{-8}$
$\alpha_3\beta_1$	27.9 ± 1.3	5.3 ± 0.3	0.09 ± 0.01	$3.1 \pm 0.3 \times 10^{-8}$
$\alpha_2\beta_2$	8.8 ± 1.0	4.8 ± 0.3	0.11 ± 0.02	$15 \pm 2.0 \times 10^{-8}$
$\alpha_3\beta_2$	17.1 ± 1.0	6.2 ± 0.4	0.07 ± 0.02	$4.7 \pm 0.4 \ge 10^{-8}$

These isoforms have similar affinities for ouabain except for rat α_1 which is much lower than α_2 and α_3 (Lingrel et al. 1998). The α_1 isoform has been suggested to be a "housekeeping" form of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase which is capable of responding to typical physiological demands (Munzer et al. 1994). Changes in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase isoform expression in different tissues, subject to differences in age, electrolytes, and hormonal condition could have important physiological effects (Hansen 1998). Indeed the molar ratios of β to α subunits may serve to regulate the catalytic activity of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase (Lavoie et al. 1997).

2.1.7 Translocation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase subunits to the sarcolemma

Several studies have provided evidence that the location of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase isoforms is not fixed, but rather subunits can be recruited from an intracellular pool to the plasma membrane, under the stimulation of insulin (Lavoie et al. 1996; Omatsu-Kanbe & Kitasato 1990) or even exercise (Juel et al. 2000a; Tsakirides et al. 1996). It is likely that an increased number of functional Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase units at the plasma membrane increase Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity at this site, analogous to the insulin-induced translocation and increased activity of GLUT4 transporters in the plasma membrane (Hundal et al. 1992; Lavoie et al. 1996; Sweeney & Klip 1998). There is also evidence that the translocation occurs mainly in slow twitch fibres and that this is mediated by insulin (Lavoie et al. 1996; Marette et al. 1993). In rat soleus muscle, in vivo insulin stimulation resulted in 80% and 124% increases in the expression of α_2 and β_1 isoforms at the plasma membrane in oxidative fibres, as assessed by subcellular muscle fractionation and immunoblotting with isoform specific antibodies (Lavoie et al. 1996). However it must be acknowledged that these studies have not used a quantitative approach and the magnitude of this proposed effect has not yet been determined. Also, early studies reporting translocation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase subunits with insulin were later criticised as simply reflecting an increased ouabain binding rate in insulin-stimulated muscles (Clausen & Flatman 1987). Therefore further studies are required to confirm this insulin mediated translocation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase subunits. Finally it could be argued that insulin and exercise stimulate Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase subunit translocation via different mechanisms as plasma insulin levels fall during exercise. However there is increased muscle blood flow (Delp 1998) and skeletal muscle has an increased sensitivity to insulin, thus total insulin delivery to muscle is increased with exercise (Araujo-Vilar et al. 1997).

2.2 Mechanism of action of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase

The specific regions on the catalytic α subunit have been studied recently using techniques such as chemical modification (Arguello & Kaplan 1994), proteolytic digestion, and site-directed mutagenesis (Jorgensen et al. 1998). These studies indicate that the cytoplasmic loop between transmembrane segments M4 and M5, and the specific

amino acids therein, are important in the regulation of ATP hydrolysis and its modifications by cations (Kaplan et al. 1998). Prior to binding the cations in the cation binding, domain are sensed in the ATP binding domain (Kaplan et al. 1998), indicating that the coupling of cation binding and ATP hydrolysis is well regulated. However, the details of the mechanisms of coupling between the Na⁺ and K⁺ transport reactions and ATP cleavage remains relatively unknown. This implies that a great deal of research has investigated the functional role the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, but much less research has focussed on how the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase actually works (Apell et al. 1998). The following is a modified schema from Apell et al. (1998) divided into several steps (Fig 2.2). Firstly with the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase protein in one conformational state, termed E_1 , an ATP molecule and three Na⁺ ions bind to their respective sites on the cytoplasmic inner surface of the cell membrane (step 1-3 on Fig 2.2). In a reaction that requires a magnesium (Mg^{2+}) ion tightly complexed to the ATP (step 4 on Fig 2.2), the bound ATP is hydrolysed to ADP, while the liberated phosphate is transferred to an aspartate residue in the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, forming a high energy acyl phosphate bond. Once the ADP is released (step 5 on Fig 2.2) the protein then changes its conformation to another state termed E_2 . Then three Na⁺ ions are propelled out of the cell (steps 6-8 on Fig 2.2). Two K^+ ions subsequently bind to the extracellular face of the protein (step 9-10 on Fig 2.2) and the acyl phosphate is hydrolysed to aspartate and free phosphate (step 11-12 on Fig 2.2). Steps 9-12 are proposed to be the K^+ -dependent phosphatase activity of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme and assays such as the 3-O-MFPase are reported to represent this activity (Askari & Koyal 1968; Horgan & Kuypers 1987; Robinson and Flashner 1979). Ouabain also binds to the extracellular face of the enzyme and competes with K⁺ for the same binding site (Hansen 1982). Finally the enzyme returns to its original conformation (step 13 on Fig 2.2), and with the binding of ATP, the two K^+ ions are released into the



Figure 2.2. Scheme for mechanism of action of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. Modified from Apell et al. (1998) & Johnson & Chapman (1985). [#]vanadate binds to the phosphorylation site on the inner surface, *ouabain binding tightly to inner surface of enzyme at the K⁺ binding site . For [³H]-ouabain, vanadate binds to the inner surface of the membrane at the phosphorylation site. This is also the K⁺ binding site which is usually intracellular but accessible when homogenate vesicle are broken up by detergent treatment of freeze fracture. See text for details.

cell (step 13-14 on Fig 2.2). The net result is the hydrolysis of one ATP, and release of one ADP and P_i , extrusion of 3 Na⁺ ions and uptake of two K⁺ ions.

2.3 Quantification of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and activity

Various methods are available for studying skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, including measuring of content using [³H]-ouabain binding site content, or estimates of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity utilising related phosphatase activity, or inorganic phosphate (P_i) production (Akera 1984; Nørgaard et al. 1984a, 1984b). The above measures are often used to quantitate Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, with activity measures being converted to content by assuming a certain molar activity for the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme (Nørgaard et al. 1984b). Other measures used to estimate Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity *in-vivo* include the measurement of arterio-venous [K⁺] differences across an exercising muscle bed or limb (Hallén et al. 1994; Juel et al. 1990; McKenna et al. 1997; Verburg et al. 1999; Vøllestad et al. 1994). The following sections outline the most commonly used methods to determine Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and activity in skeletal muscle.

2.3.1 Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content

Complete recovery of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme is a prerequisite for quantitative measurements (Kjeldsen et al. 1988). The low recovery of enzyme activity with purification techniques can be avoided by measuring the binding of the radioactively labelled digitalis glycoside [³H]-ouabain to Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in the plasma membrane of skeletal muscle (Kjeldsen et al. 1984a, Nørgaard et al. 1984a). This technique measures all functional Na⁺, K⁺-ATPases as incubation in a buffer containing a saturating concentration of ouabain allows each Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase to tightly and specifically bind one

molecule of $[^{3}H]$ -ouabain (Clausen 1990). By measuring the amount of bound $[^{3}H]$ -ouabain, the total content of functional Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase can be readily determined.

Ouabain binding is a reversible second order reaction that requires ATP or other nucleotides, utilising Mg^{2+} as a co-factor, and is stimulated by Na⁺ but inhibited by K⁺ (Nørgaard 1986). Ouabain binding was initially performed on intact muscles or in vivo utilising ATP to promote the binding of $[^{3}H]$ -ouabain to Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase (Hansen 1979). As the content of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is relatively low in skeletal muscle compared to other tissues, vanadate (VO₄, a phosphate (PO₄) analog) has been used to promote binding of the glycoside to the receptor (Hansen 1979; Nørgaard et al. 1983). Vanadate, in the presence of Mg²⁺ binds to the phosphorylation site on the inner surface of the plasma membrane, and promotes high affinity ouabain binding on the plasma membrane (Hansen 1982). As a stoichiometric relationship exists between ouabain binding capacity and hydrolytic activity of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase (Hansen 1971), and identical binding capacities exist for ATP, ADP and ouabain (Hansen et al. 1971), [³H]-ouabain binding can used for the quantification of functional Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. In dissected muscle pieces, such as those obtained from muscle biopsy samples, vanadate ensures binding of [³H]ouabain to all functional Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase (Clausen 1996a; Nørgaard et al. 1983). The [³H]-ouabain binding site content can be expressed as the number of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase per gram of tissue wet weight or more commonly, as picomoles per gram tissue wet weight. In untrained human skeletal muscle, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase contents of approximately 300 pmol g⁻¹ wet wt have been reported (Dørup et al. 1988; Klitgaard & Clausen 1989, McKenna et al. 1993; Nørgaard et al. 1984a; Nørgaard 1986).

2.3.2 Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity

The capacity to reduce the net loss of K⁺ and gain in Na⁺ from skeletal muscle depends on the total content, as well as the maximal activity/extent of activation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. Although most authors have focussed on factors regulating the total content of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in muscle, it is apparent that under certain conditions, enzyme activity may be altered independently from the total content (Druml et al. 1988; Pickar et al. 1994). For example, Druml et al. (1988) showed that while basal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity was decreased by 30% in skeletal muscle of rats with chronic renal failure, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content was not affected. They concluded that Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase turnover rate was decreased. Pickar et al. (1994) showed that spontaneously hypertensive rats had increased soleus muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, but lower Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity than control rats. Thus, to fully quantitate muscle maximal Na⁺/K⁺ exchange capacity it is necessary to measure both Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and the total content of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase.

A common method for determining Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity is through measurement of radiolabelled ion fluxes, with this technique being applied during electrical stimulation of isolated intact muscle preparations (Clausen et al. 1987). Despite their widespread use, these techniques cannot be used to measure Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in human skeletal muscle samples obtained by needle biopsy. Biochemical methods used to quantify the maximal *in-vitro* Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in skeletal muscle samples include measurements of inorganic phosphate production in purified preparations (Bonting 1971), or the activity of related K⁺-dependent phosphatases, using substrates such as *p*-nitrophenyl phosphate (pNpp, Hundal et al. 1994; Judah et al. 1962), or 3-*O*-methylfluorescein phosphate (3-*O*-MFP, Kjeldsen et al. 1988). The use of purification procedures inevitably results in extremely low recovery of enzyme activity and therefore

has considerable limitations when used for quantification of total Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity (Hansen & Clausen 1996; Huang & Askari 1975; Nørgaard et al. 1984b). In contrast, complete membrane and enzyme recovery can be attained using the K⁺stimulated pNppase and 3-O-MFPase assays in rat muscle homogenates (Hansen & Clausen 1996). The K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase assay has a 2-3 times higher sensitivity, therefore requiring 50-100 times less tissue than the K⁺-stimulated pNppase (Nørgaard 1986). Thus, the K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase assay is the preferred method for studies investigating Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in muscle homogenates from small muscle biopsy samples and allows for complete recovery of enzyme activity.

2.3.3 3-O-MFPase activity

The activity of the K⁺ dependent 3-*O*-methylfluorescein phosphatase (3-*O*-MFPase), an enzyme performing part of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase reaction, can be determined at optimal conditions on crude muscle homogenates (Askari & Koyal 1968; Benders et al. 1992; Nørgaard et al. 1984b). This highly sensitive fluorimetric assay allows for the determination of the hydrolytic activity of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in preparations with low activity (crude homogenates), thereby avoiding complications due to isolation of the enzyme and ensuring that the total enzyme activity in the tissue is measured (Nørgaard et al. 1984b). Nørgaard et al. (1984b) reported maximal K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase activity values of 190-370 pmol.min⁻¹.g⁻¹ wet wt in rat skeletal muscle with values decreasing with age and K⁺ deficiency. In human skeletal muscle Benders et al. (1992) reported maximal K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase activity values of 382 nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ protein or 57 pmol.min⁻¹.g⁻¹ wet wt (assuming 15% protein). Therefore it is clear that human skeletal muscle has a lower inherent Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity compared to rat skeletal muscle.

2.4 Muscle ionic fluxes with exercise

2.4.1 Membrane activation

The most important ions influencing the resting membrane potential (resting E_m) are chloride (CI⁻), Na⁺, and K⁺ (Cunningham et al. 1971; Dean 1941). These ions develop a transmembranous electrochemical charge due to their separation across the membrane (Cunningham et al. 1971; Hodgkin & Huxley 1952). In a resting state, the cell is polarised with the potential difference across the membrane at rest being approximately – 90mV in human skeletal muscle (Cunningham et al. 1971; Sjøgaard et al. 1985). The resting E_m is calculated from the individual permeabilities and the sarcolemmal differences in chemical potential of the charged ions (Hodgkin & Horowitz, 1959).

Propagation of an action potential in neurons in order to excite a muscle fibre depends essentially on the difference in membrane permeability \cdot to Na⁺ and K⁺ and the maintenance of steep chemical gradients for Na⁺ and K⁺. During the action potential, E_m increases rapidly from -90 to ⁺40mV due to the opening of voltage-gated Na⁺ channels resulting in a large increase in membrane permeability to Na⁺ (Ruff et al. 1996).

2.4.2 Muscle \mathbf{Na}^{*} and \mathbf{K}^{*} fluxes

With each action potential, there is a net Na⁺ influx and K⁺ efflux (Creese et al. 1958; Clausen & Everts 1989; Everts & Clausen 1988). Reversing the flow of these ions is achieved via the activation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase (Clausen, 1986). Despite this Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activation, a net K⁺ efflux of about 9.6 pmol.cm² impulse⁻¹ and a net Na⁺ entry of about 15.6 pmol.cm² impulse⁻¹ were reported in electrically stimulated single frog muscle fibres (Hodgkin & Horowitz 1959). Others have calculated K⁺ efflux of 7-11 nmol.g wet wt⁻¹ contraction⁻¹ for rat muscle (Creese et al. 1958; Clausen & Everts 1989; Everts & Clausen 1988). Balog & Fitts (1996) used ion-selective electrodes to study the effects of fatiguing stimulation (150Hz) on $[Na^+]_i$ and $[K^+]_i$ in frog muscle. After the fatiguing stimulation $[Na^+]_i$ rose from 16mM to 49mM and $[K^+]_i$ fell from 142mM to 97mM. Correspondingly the membrane potential was depolarised from -83mV to -70mV after the fatiguing stimulation (Balog & Fitts 1996). Sjøgaard et al. (1985) studied the effects of fatiguing one-leg dynamic knee extensor exercise on intracellular and extracellular [Na⁺] and [K⁺] in humans. They measured the femoral a-v [K⁺] difference, estimated blood flow via the thermodilution technique and obtained muscle biopsies. Skeletal muscle extracellular fluid volume was determined from the inulin space. With an estimation of intracellular fluid volume the resultant ionic concentrations were determined. From these measurements it was calculated that [Na⁺]_i rose from 6 to 24 mM while [K⁺]_i dropped from 168 to 129 mM (Sjøgaard et al. 1985). There is a marked rise in plasma $[K^+]$ (from 4 to 7-8 mmol l^{-1}) during intense running or cycling exercise (Hermansen et al. 1984; Kowalchuk et al. 1988). The measurement of venous [K⁺] draining exercising muscle is likely to underestimate interstitial [K⁺] due to concentration gradients between the interstitium and blood as well as the dilution with blood arising from less active fibres (Juel et al. 2000b). The development of the microdialysis technique (Green et al. 1999b, Juel et al. 2000b) has enabled interstitial [K⁺] to be measured in human skeletal muscle. From resting values of 3.9-4.3mM, values of >9mM have been shown for interstitial $[K^+]$ during dynamic exercise at 50W (Juel et al. 2000b). These values are clearly higher than plasma [K⁺] values recorded during submaximal exercise (60% of max) of around 5.5mM (Vøllestad et al 1994).

2.5 Activation of the Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase enzyme

The Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme is rapidly activated upon exercise and this activation constrains the rise in $[Na^+]_i$ and $[K^+]_e$, limits membrane depolarisation and contributes to the maintenance of muscle excitability. The mechanisms for activation include a

combination of electrical, ionic and hormonal factors (Fig 2.3) and will be discussed in the following sections.



Figure 2.3 Regulatory factors controlling acute increases in activity/activation and longterm regulation influencing total content of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in skeletal muscle (From Clausen 1998).

2.5.1 Extent of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activation

At rest, the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme activity is only a few percent of its theoretical maximum (Clausen et al. 1987; Clausen & Everts, 1989; Everts & Clausen 1994; Hazeyama & Sparks 1979). It has been well documented that excitation of muscle stimulates the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase (Hazeyama & Sparks 1979; Juel 1986; Nielsen & Clausen 1997). The major factor underlying the rapid activation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase during exercise is related to events associated with the action potential. The Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase

pump rate increases with increasing frequency of contraction (Clausen & Everts, 1989, 1994). Using supraphysiological stimulation frequencies (120 Hz) with an unloaded isotonic mounting, all available membrane Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase can be fully activated following 10 seconds stimulation in rat soleus muscle (Clausen & Nielsen 1994a, 1994b). At the other end of the spectrum, stimulation at only 2Hz can activate the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase without changes in gross intracellular [Na⁺] or extracellular [K⁺] (Everts and Clausen 1994, Everts et al. 1988).

The physiological importance of these high stimulation frequencies has been questioned (Jones 1996). It is noteworthy that the motor unit discharge for standard bicycle ergometer exercise is around 25Hz (Sjøgaard et al. 1985). Frequencies in excess of 50Hz are rarely seen in human voluntary contraction (Jones 1996). This would theoretically only activate the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme to half its maximal capacity suggesting that in human skeletal muscle, the available Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase are never fully activated. A possible explanation for incomplete Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activation have alluded to cell depolarisation and muscle fatigue being a myoprotective mechanism (Green 1998). Others have suggested that the released [K⁺] is an important stimulus to various physiological functions including vasodilation and ventilation (Kjellmer 1965; Linton & Band 1985; Murphy & Brayden 1995; Paterson 1996; Wildenthal et al. 1968).

2.5.2 Role of intracellular Na⁺ in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activation

Hazeyama & Sparks (1979) showed that the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is activated by around 65% within the first 3 minutes of stimulation at 4 Hz. It has been suggested that this activation is the result of changes in intracellular Na⁺ and extracellular K⁺ (Juel, 1986). In mouse soleus muscle a 10.6mM increase in $[Na^+]_i$ resulting from 1 min electrical stimulation at 40Hz was followed by a rapid Na⁺ extrusion in recovery (Juel 1986). Resting membrane

potential also recovered within 0.9 min (Juel 1986). Everts & Clausen (1994) later showed that a 60Hz tetanic stimulation for 10 sec induced a 58% rise in $[Na^+]_i$, which was followed by a ouabain suppressible rapid efflux of Na⁺ corresponding to ~50% of the theoretical maximal transport capacity of available Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. They reasoned that the activation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase was linked to opening of sarcolemmal Na⁺ channels, as Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activation was blocked by tetrodotoxin, which is specifically blocks voltage sensitive Na⁺ channels. Further, increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity occurred in the presence of veratridine, which maintains Na⁺ channels in the open state (Everts and Clausen 1994). Lederer and colleagues (1990) introduced the notion of a subsarcolemmal "fuzzy space" which is defined by a functional compartment of the cytosol where diffusion of Na⁺ out of the fuzzy space seems to be restricted compared to other parts of the cytosol. This could give rise to a rapid localised increase in $[Na⁺]_i$ and could also contribute to Na^{*}, K⁺-ATPase activation without an increase in total cellular $[Na⁺]_i$ (Lederer et al. 1990; Semb & Sejersted, 1996).

Nielsen and Clausen (1997) demonstrated that mechanisms other than increases in intracellular $[Na^+]$ are also important in activating the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. They showed that the net extrusion of Na⁺ following 30s stimulation of rat soleus muscle at 60Hz continued for up to 10 min reducing intracellular $[Na^+]$ to values 30% below resting levels.

2.5.3 Maximal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activation

As 3 Na⁺ ions are pumped per ATP molecule split and each Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase molecule splits 8000 ATP molecules per minute at 37°C (Plesner & Plesner 1981) then a theoretical maximum Na⁺ transport capacity of 16,800 nmol.g wet wt⁻¹. min⁻¹ is derived. This is well above the maximum Na⁺ and K⁺ fluxes measured in rat soleus muscle (Clausen & Kohn 1977), indicating that the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase never reaches its theoretical maximal pumping rate *in vivo*. Clausen & Everts (1988) indicate that during maximal contractile activity, the net loss of K⁺ (around 4.6nmol.g⁻¹ wet wt. per rat soleus contraction, (Sreter, 1963)) from the working muscles is likely to exceed the capacity for reaccumulation via the Na⁺, K⁺ ATPase. Conversely, even a short recovery period is sufficient to reduce the previously elevated $[K^+]_e$ to near resting levels, illustrating the considerable functional capacity of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase (Clausen & Everts 1989).

2.5.4 Acute Hormonal activation

The Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is regulated by a number of hormones, which act acutely by increasing the activity of existing Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, eg. insulin, catecholamines and to a lesser extent, aldosterone (Clausen & Flatman 1977; Clausen & Hansen 1977). The mechanisms for rapid increases in Na⁺, K⁺ ATPase activity are brought about by variations in substrate concentrations, or by changes in intracellular signalling to initiate kinetic changes in the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. The Michaelis constant (K_m) of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase for ATP is 0.5-0.8mM (Sweeney & Klip 1998) which means that the ATP site on the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is likely to be saturated under most physiological conditions. Some of the proposed signalling cascades involved in the stimulation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity include 3', 5'-cyclic monophosphate (cAMP), protein kinase A, diacylglycerol activation of protein kinase C, and changes in intracellular free Ca²⁺ activation of calmodulin kinase (Ewart & Klip 1995). These signalling cascades generally result in phosphorylation of the Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase. Studies have demonstrated that direct phosphorylation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase α subunit can result in modulation of its activity (Middleton et al. 1993). Acute hormonal regulation involves changes in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase turnover number, affinity for substrates and or abundance at the sarcolemma through

translocation from intracellular storage areas. The stimulation of various hormones on Na⁺ efflux (indicating Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity) is well summarised by Clausen (1996b). The extent of hormonal stimulation in comparison to a theoretical maximum for electrical stimulation for rat soleus muscle is however, small, as shown in Fig 2.4.



Figure 2.4 Rates of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activation via various stimuli. From Clausen (1996b).

2.5.4.1 Catecholamines

During exercise, increased sympathetic nervous system activity stimulates the release of the catecholamines, adrenaline and noradrenaline (Allsop et al. 1990; Kjær 1989; Mazzeo 1991). Adrenaline and noradrenaline also provide for the fine-tuning of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase

enzyme activity in response to perturbations in the ionic environment. Catecholamines stimulate Na⁺-K⁺ transport via a β_2 -adrenoreceptor-mediated stimulation of adenylate cyclase (Clausen & Flatman 1977, 1980; Wang & Clausen 1976). Adrenaline has been shown to stimulate skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase *in vitro*, through second messengers (cAMP) and activation of protein kinase C (Clausen & Hansen 1977). Adrenaline and noradrenaline have been shown to stimulate K^+ uptake, as assessed by ouabainsuppressible ⁸⁶Rb⁺ uptake in rat soleus and extensor digitorum longus (EDL) muscles (Everts et al. 1988; Pfliegler et al. 1983). This effect is more pronounced in the fast twitch EDL than soleus muscle (Everts et al. 1988). Catecholamine-stimulated Na⁺-K⁺ transport leads to cell hyperpolarisation (8.5 mV) and a decreased intracellular Na⁺ to K⁺ ratio in rat soleus muscle (Ballanyi & Grafe 1988). In humans, intra-arterial injection of adrenaline was found to increase the positive arteriovenous difference for K^+ in the resting forearm, reflecting increased muscular K⁺ uptake (DeLalande et al. 1961). The regulatory significance of the stimulating effect of catecholamines on Na⁺ extrusion and K^+ reuptake via the Na⁺, K^+ -ATPase is illustrated by the observation that exerciseinduced hyperkalemia is increased with β -adrenoreceptor blockade (Hallén et al. 1994; Williams et al. 1984). However, β_2 -adrenergic stimulation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase does not promote K^+ clearance during exercise (Rolett et al., 1990). Thus it appears that adrenaline is an important stimulator of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in resting muscle but it has been suggested (Hallén et al., 1996) that there are more acute Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activators during exercise such as electrical stimulation or local rises in $[Na^+]_i$ (Semb & Sejersted, 1996).

Everts et al. (1988) noted that when 2 Hz electrical stimulation was added to adrenaline stimulation in rat soleus muscle, the effect on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity was not additive. This indicates that electrical stimulation and adrenaline stimulate Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase

activity via common steps. The release of catecholamines is predominantly centrally controlled (Anderson & Clausen 1993; Clausen 1986) and it has been proposed that their effect on skeletal muscle is reduced during contractile activity (Everts et al. 1988; Katz et al. 1985). It was believed that local factors such as contractile activity are more important in stimulating the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, as an increased rate of K⁺ loss from contracting muscles has been shown during the first minutes of exercise under β -adrenergic blockade (Gullestad et al. 1995; Hallén et al. 1994). Hallén (1996) suggested that this initial increased K⁺ loss would be balanced by intracellular Na⁺ gain which would compensate for the lack of catecholamine stimulation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase lag at the start of exercise (Hallén 1996). This line of reasoning is supported by the fact that intracellular [Na⁺] decreases when cells are exposed *in vitro* to terbutaline, a selective β_2 agonist (Juel 1988).

2.5.4.2 Insulin

In-vitro studies have shown that the anabolic hormone insulin increases the ouabain suppressible uptake of K⁺ and extrusion of Na⁺ in skeletal muscle (Clausen & Kohn 1977; Clausen et al. 1993; Creese 1961; Erlij & Grinstein 1976). The mechanisms whereby insulin increases Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity depends on the target tissue, but is thought to involve elevation of [Na⁺]; or increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase affinity for Na⁺;, and translocation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase subunits to the sarcolemma (Ewart & Klip 1995; Lavoie et al. 1996; Sweeney & Klip 1998). In isolated muscle preparations, insulin has been shown to stimulate the uptake of K⁺ via the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme (Clausen & Flatman 1987, Minaker & Rowe 1987) and increase Na⁺ efflux from isolated rat soleus muscle by between 25 and 70% (Chinet & Clausen 1984; Creese 1968). Flatman and Clausen (1979) showed that 100mU.ml⁻¹ of insulin increased ⁴²K Influx in rat soleus muscle by

20% compared to a control condition. It has also been suggested that a negative feedback exists between plasma [K⁺] and insulin secretion, whereby hyperkalemia induces increased levels of insulin, which in turn augments K⁺ reuptake into skeletal muscle (Clausen & Everts 1989). The insulin stimulation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in muscle, fat, liver and kidney (Clausen, 1986; Ewart & Klip 1995) will counteract the intracellular gain in [Na⁺] that occurs through insulin-induced amino acid and glucose uptake. Skeletal muscle is also a major storage site for dietary K⁺, so activation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase would remove this ion from the blood after a meal (Lavoie et al. 1996).

An increased plasma membrane Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase $\alpha_2\beta_1$ isoform expression with parallel decreases in expression of these isoforms in the isolated intracellular membrane fragment was shown after exposure of rat skeletal muscle to 30 min of 1.5 units of insulin (Hundal et al. 1992). Immuno electron microscopy has confirmed that insulin induces β_1 isoform redistribution (Lavoie et al. 1996).

2.5.5 Exercise-induced Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase isoform translocation

Two studies suggest that acute exercise can induce translocation of Na⁺, K⁺ ATPase isoforms to the plasma membrane (Tsakiridis et al. 1996, Juel et al. 2000a). Tsakiridis et al. (1996) showed that treadmill exercise of 1 hour duration (20m/min, 10% grade) increased the plasma membrane content of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase α_1 (64%) and α_2 (43%) subunits in oxidative muscles of rats. However, they could not demonstrate the existence of a donor pool of pre-existing Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase α subunits, with no significant change in subunit content found in the isolated intracellular fractions. A significant increase in β_1 subunits at the plasma membrane was found while the β_2 subunit expression in the plasma membrane increased in type IIb fibres of the rat (Tsakiridis et al. 1996). The amount of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase protein at the plasma membrane is dependent upon the rate of arrival, retrieval and degradation. Therefore it is conceivable that the increased presence of $\alpha_1\beta_2$ at the plasma membrane is due to decreased retrieval and degradation.

The observations of the Tsakiridis study are in agreement with Joreteg & Jogestrand (1986) who demonstrated increased digoxin binding to thigh muscle in human subjects undergoing 1hr of cycle ergometer exercise. The subjects exercised at 140-180W after two weeks of treatment with digoxin. Digoxin binding to thigh skeletal muscle increased 20% while serum digoxin concomitantly decreased by 40% (Joreteg & Jogestrand 1986). The increased binding of digoxin to skeletal muscle with exercise could be due to increased insertion of appropriate $\alpha_1\beta_2$ dimers at the plasma membrane and/or an increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activation promoting digoxin binding.

The study of possible isoform translocation in human skeletal muscle is limited given that 5-6g of tissue is usually required to assess Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase subunit translocation using membrane fractionation techniques. However, a recent study by Juel et al. (2000a) incorporated production of sarcolemmal giant vesicles (Juel 1991) to analyse the biopsied muscle. Juel et al. (2000a) showed that humans performing exhaustive knee extensor exercise (average 90W for 4.6 min) increased their sarcolemmal content of α_2 and β_1 -subunit isoforms by 70% and 26%, respectively.

2.5.6 Other hormones

Some other hormones which are of lesser importance during exercise have been shown to stimulate Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity (Andersen & Clausen 1993; Dørup & Clausen 1995). These hormones which increase the active Na⁺, K⁺ transport rate include amylin, calcitonin-gene related peptide (CGRP) and insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) (Anderson & Clausen 1993; Dørup & Clausen 1995). CGRP is present in both motor nerves and afferent free nerve endings (Sakaguchi et al. 1991). It is postulated that CGRP is released during nerve impulse activity (Sakaguchi et al. 1991; Sala et al. 1995) and that it's stimulatory action is catecholamine-like (Andersen & Clausen 1993). CGRP has been shown to increase ⁸⁶Rb uptake in rat soleus muscle by up to 77%, depending on age (Andersen & Clausen 1993). Amylin is colocalised in the pancreatic β -cells and is cosecreted with insulin where it can acutely increase Na⁺, K⁺ ATPase activity through increasing cAMP in the cell (Clausen 2000). In rat soleus muscle, amylin was found to induce a 45% stimulation of Na⁺ efflux and a 43% increase in ⁸⁶Rb uptake (Clausen 2000). It has similar structural similarity to CGRP and exerts a similar effect on active Na⁺ -K⁺ transport (Clausen 1996b). IGF-I induces hypokalemia in normal human subjects (Giordano & DeFronzo 1995), which may be due to its stimulatory effect on K⁺ uptake in skeletal muscle (Dørup & Clausen 1995). IGF-I has been shown to increase ⁸⁶Rb uptake by 54% in rat soleus muscle (Dørup & Clausen 1995). In regard to their capacity to activate the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme, these other hormones also have a relatively low quantitative importance in comparison to electrical stimulation (Clausen 1996, Fig 2.4).

2.6 Skeletal muscle fatigue

2.6.1 Sites of Muscle fatigue

Exercise-induced muscle fatigue is defined as a transient loss of power generating capacity resulting from preceding physical activity (Asmussen 1979). Fatigue is a gradual process from the beginning of exercise, is an integral part of physical activity (Bigland-Ritchie et al. 1986a, Gandevia 1998), and is a complex phenomenon with multiple factors involved. The importance of each is dependent on intensity and duration of exercise, muscle fibre type, recruitment pattern, and individual degree of physical training (Fitts 1994). Fatigue is associated with reductions in maximal isometric force,

shortening velocity and a slowing of relaxation (Allen et al. 1995; de Haan et al. 1989). Some of these factors will be discussed in the following section, before mention is made of the importance of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in the etiology of skeletal muscle fatigue. Both central and peripheral sites potentially involved in fatigue are discussed.

2.6.2 Central Fatigue

A combination of central and peripheral factors is proposed to induce the loss in force generating capacity in skeletal muscle (Gandevia 1998). Central fatigue is related to events of neural input to higher brain centres, recruitment of the alpha motor neurones, and the alpha motor nerves. The underlying mechanisms are not fully understood but Bigland -Ritchie et al. (1986b) showed that slowing of motor neuron firing rates during fatigue possibly resulted from feedback from muscle group III & IV afferents. Gandevia et al. (1992) demonstrated a progressive reduction in voluntary drive to motorneurones during isometric contractions, indicating central fatigue. However, James et al. (1995) found central fatigue to contribute to a relatively small effect (< 20%) to the total loss of power elicited by electrical stimulation in a human voluntary isokinetic contraction of knee extensors. Most research points to fatigue beyond the neuromuscular junction (Fitts 1994, Green 1998). The following sections therefore examine the factors contributing to peripheral muscular fatigue.

2.6.3 Peripheral fatigue

Research on peripheral factors in muscle fatigue have focussed on excitation-contraction coupling and metabolic energy supply. Each step in the activation process is a potential site for muscle fatigue. ATP is required at a number of sites including actin-myosin crossbridge cycling (Myosin ATPase) as well as ion transport processes involving the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and Ca²⁺ -ATPase enzymes.

2.6.4 Actin-myosin interaction

A decline in muscle force development has been associated with increases in muscle H⁺, lactate and P_i concentrations during high intensity exercise (Cady et al. 1989; Hogan et al. 1995; Wilson et al. 1988). A three to ten-fold increase in Pi (Bigland-Ritchie et al. 1983) and a decline in muscle pH from around 7.0 to 6.4 (Hermansen & Osnes 1972; Metzger & Fitts 1987; Thompson et al. 1992) have been associated with fatigue. Godt and Nosek (1989) showed that a low pH impeded skinned rabbit muscle crossbridge interaction (by interfering with Ca²⁺ binding to troponin C) and was an important component of the decline in force. More recent studies have challenged these findings, showing that the depressive effect of reduced pH on force is dependent upon muscle temperature (Pate et al. 1995; Westerblad et al. 1997). In skinned rabbit psoas muscle, at a temperature of 10°C, lowering the pH induced a large force decline, but only a 10% decline in force was evident at a muscle temperature of 30°C (Pate et al., 1995). Thus acidosis had little effect on force production at physiological temperature (Westerblad et al. 1997). The mechanism is likely to be associated with reduced myofibrillar Ca²⁺ sensitivity (Godt & Nosek 1989; Lamb et al. 1992; Westerblad & Allen 1991). Low [ATP] and increases in H⁺ and Pi also reduced myofibrillar ATPase activity in vitro (Parkhouse 1992).

2.6.5 Excitation-contraction coupling

Muscle excitation involves the spread of the action potential along the sarcolemma and down the t-tubules. Then the voltage sensor in the t-tubule responds to the depolarisation, inducing Ca^{2+} release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR, Rios et al. 1991). The

dihydropyridine receptor is the t-tubule voltage sensor and the ryanodine receptor is the SR Ca²⁺ release channel (Rios et al. 1991). Impaired SR Ca²⁺ release and reuptake have been implicated in the fatigue process (Booth et al. 1997; Favero et al. 1999; Hargreaves et al. 1998; Westerblad et al. 1993). A reduction in tetanic intracellular [Ca²⁺] during fatiguing contractions of single fibres (Westerblad & Allen 1996) suggests an impaired SR Ca²⁺ release and metabolic factors are important in this occurrence. Metabolic by-products such as P*i*, and Mg²⁺ inhibit Ca²⁺ release in isolated SR (Favero et al. 1995). However a rise in [H⁺] does not inhibit SR Ca²⁺ release in intact skeletal muscle fibres (Lamb 1994). A rise in intracellular Mg²⁺ would also reflect a decline in [ATP]. A decline in [ATP] may also inhibit SR Ca²⁺ release as the SR release channel requires ATP (Smith et al. 1985). Impaired SR Ca²⁺ uptake rates and SR Ca²⁺ -ATPase activity have been observed with fatigue induced by both prolonged and short-term exhaustive exercise (Booth et al. 1997; Byrd et al. 1989a, 1989b; Li 1999). Local depletion of [ATP] near the SR Ca²⁺ -ATPase and a potential link with glycogen have been proposed (Chin & Allen 1997; Cuenda et al. 1993).

A decline in muscle SR Ca²⁺ ATPase activity with long duration exercise in humans has been demonstrated (Booth et al. 1997). As pH, temperature and energy supply are not limited in the Booth et al. (1997) *in vitro* assay, the decline in SR release and reuptake suggest a long lasting structural alteration in the SR release channel. This structural alteration could be due to reactive oxygen species (Davies et al. 1992), elevated muscle temperature (Inesi et al. 1973), exercise-induced calcium activated proteases, (Belcastro et al. 1993), or other alterations in the Ca²⁺ release channel (Favero 1999; Gilchrist et al. 1992). The structural alteration may also explain the long-lasting, slow frequency fatigue observed following exercise (Westerblad et al. 1990). Due to structural homology of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and Ca²⁺ ATPase α subunits (Inesi et al. 1997), the factors that affect Ca²⁺ ATPase, may induce similar alterations in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function (Blanco & Mercier 1998; Lutsenko & Kaplan 1993).

2.7 Role of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in skeletal muscle fatigue

2.7.1 Membrane potential

During exercise, there is a net efflux of K⁺ from muscle, which occurs during both high intensity (Vøllestad et al. 1994) and long duration exercise (Sahlin & Broberg 1989). The resultant decline in intracellular [K⁺] and rise in extracellular [K⁺] has been hypothesised to induce a decline in sarcolemmal membrane potential (Sjøgaard et al. 1985) and impaired membrane activation. This depolarisation of the membrane may block action potential propagation especially in the t-tubules, due to both a reduced distribution volume for the released K⁺, and a lower density of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase (Venosa & Horowitz 1981). The important role of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in minimising this rise in extracellular [K⁺] and possible AP block was shown by Juel (1988) who showed that activation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase with the β_2 -agonist terbutaline during electrical stimulation of mouse soleus muscle decreased fatigue. This was attribute to decreased membrane depolarisation, a reduced fall in [K⁺]_i and a smaller rise in [Na⁺]_e (Juel 1988).

2.7.2 K⁺ gradients and fatigue

-

An extracellular [K⁺] in excess of 8-10mM has been shown to reduce excitability in skeletal muscle, due to membrane depolarisation and slow inactivation of voltage dependent Na⁺ channels (Cairns et al. 1995; Juel 1988; Lännergran & Westerblad 1986; Ruff et al. 1988). The amplitude and propagation velocity of the action potential is reduced (Balog & Fitts 1996; Hodgkin & Horowitz 1959; Juel 1988) leading to a loss of

contractile force (Holmberg & Waldeck 1980). Whilst only a 5% loss of contractile force in mouse soleus muscle was seen when $[K^+]_e$ was elevated to 7.5mM (Juel 1988), a 40% loss in contractile force was seen when $[K^+]_e$ was elevated to 10mM (Juel 1988). When extracellular $[K^+]$ was raised to 12.5mM there was a 95% loss in contractile force in rat skeletal muscle (Clausen et al. 1993). Muscle interstitial $[K^+]$ assessed via microdialysis has been reported above 9mM during dynamic exercise at 50W (Juel et al. 2000b), which would impair action potential propagation along the sarcolemma and t-tubule.

The blockage of action potential propagation in the t-tubule would then prevent activation of Ca²⁺ release channels in the sarcoplasmic reticulum and therefore prevent subsequent activation of actin for crossbridge interaction. This is supported by a study done in isolated single mouse fibres stimulated at 50Hz (Westerblad et al. 1990). These authors showed a reduction in $[Ca^{2+}]$ in the central region of the fibre, suggesting impaired ttubule conduction. Opposing this is the observation that intra-membrane charge movement (a measure of t-tubule voltage sensor activity) was found to be unaltered during fatigue, in spite of a decline in tetanic intracellular Ca²⁺ levels of ~ 1µM (Györke 1993).

2.7.3 Na⁺ gradients and fatigue

A reduced $[Na^+]_e$ has also been shown to reduce muscle excitability and contribute to the decline in muscle force (Bezanilla et al. 1972; Bouclin et al. 1995; Venosa 1974). It is possible that t-tubule $[Na^+]$ may fall during contractile activity, exposing this region to action potential block. Bezanilla et al. (1972) showed a reduction in tension in single fibres from frog semitendinosus muscle, while Venosa (1974) showed that frog sartorius twitch tension was completely abolished when $[Na^+]_e$ was decreased to 40mM. A 30% reduction in force was shown when extracellular Na⁺ was substituted with choline in
isolated rat soleus muscle (Overgaard et al. 1997). The reduced muscle excitability induced by lowering extracellular Na⁺ is more than likely related to the decreased sarcolemmal Na⁺ gradient and reduced AP amplitude (Nielsen & Overgaard 1996). The reduced AP amplitude would decrease or inactivate the t-tubular voltage sensor thus limiting SR Ca²⁺ and subsequent force generation (Balog & Fitts 1996).

2.7.4 Synergistic interaction of decreasing [Na⁺]_e and increasing [K⁺]_e with fatigue

An important finding is that the inhibitory effect of reduced $[Na^+]_e$ on force production is exacerbated by that of increased $[K^+]_e$ (Bouclin et al. 1995; Overgaard et al. 1997, 1999). In frog sartorius muscle an increase in $[K^+]_e$ from 3 to 7mM whilst reducing the $[Na^+]_e$ from 120mM to 100mM decreased the tetanic force by 31% (Bouclin et al. 1995). Reducing the $[Na^+]_e$ decreased the $[K^+]_e$ at which twitch force and tetanic force were decreased or abolished. Thus, the combined effects of decreasing $[Na^+]_e$ and increasing $[K^+]_e$ were greater than the sum of their individual effects (Bouclin et al. 1995; Overgaard et al. 1997). Overgaard and colleagues (1997) and Bouclin et al. (1995) went on to suggest that the effects on force of these altered ionic concentrations were not simply additive but synergistic in nature. The importance of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme in minimising the decrease in $[Na^+]_e$ and rise in $[K^+]_e$ will be discussed is the next section.

2.7.5 Role of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in maintenance of contractility

The importance of active Na⁺, K⁺ transport in maintaining muscle excitability and force generation was shown by stimulating the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase with salbutamol (Overgaard et al. 1997, 1999). Overgaard et al. (1997) showed that the loss of force in intact soleus muscle due to lowered [Na⁺]_e and increased [K⁺]_e could be 79% recovered by stimulating the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase with 10⁻⁵ M salbutamol. The recovery of force was completely

inhibited with 10⁻³ M ouabain (Overgaard et al. 1997). The importance of active Na⁺, K⁺ transport was also demonstrated by inducing Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase deficiency. In isolated rat soleus and extensor digitorum longus muscles, ouabain-induced a marked but reversible reduction in force development (Nielsen & Clausen 1996). Further, a reduction in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content of 54-69%, induced by K⁺ deficiency, caused a proportional loss in force during 60-90Hz stimulation in rat soleus muscle (Nielsen & Clausen 1994, 1996). The inhibitory effect of 12.5mM [K⁺]_e on muscle contractility was 75% recovered when Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase was stimulated with a combination of the β_2 agonist salbutamol (10⁻⁵ mM) and by insulin (100mU ml⁻¹, Clausen et al. 1993).

Clausen (1998) has also proposed that contractile performance is dependent on the leak/pump ratio for Na⁺. This implies that Na⁺ channel opening and influx of Na⁺ (leak) is an important consideration in addition to the amount of Na⁺ extrusion (pump) via the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. This was highlighted when rat soleus and EDL muscle were compared. The EDL muscle had 25% more Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content but a much lower fatigue resistance than soleus muscle. The fast-twitch EDL muscle possesses twice as many Na⁺ channels than soleus and therefore has a much larger Na⁺ influx per twitch (Everts & Clausen 1992; Hansen Bay & Strichartz 1980; Ruff 1996). Thus the ratio between Na⁺ channels to Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzymes in EDL is almost twice that of the soleus, which can be related to an increase muscle K⁺ loss and Na⁺ gain and thus decreased endurance and rate of force recovery (Harrison et al. 1997).

It is possible that metabolic changes within contracting skeletal muscle, such as a decline in the local [ATP] or increases in metabolites (P_i , H^+ , or ADP) could impair Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity (Körge & Campbell 1995). A local fall in [ATP] may partially inhibit Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity, as shown in cultured epithelial cells in the rabbit (Kuwahara et al. 1998). Kuwahara and colleagues (1998) showed that an episode of ATP depletion initiated by metabolic inhibitors such as rotenone, caused a partial inhibition of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity as measured by ⁸⁶Rb uptake. Some investigators have suggested that a physiological lowering of cellular [ATP] can alter the association of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase with the cytoskeleton (Molitoris et al. 1992) and cause internalisation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase molecules (Mandel et al. 1994). An impaired Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity would contribute to excessive [K⁺]_e accumulation, membrane depolarisation and thus, muscle fatigue. Excessive K⁺ efflux during fatigue has been partly attributed to the opening of ATP sensitive K⁺ channels (Renaud et al. 1996), which are discussed in the following section.

2.7.6 ATP-sensitive K⁺ channels

ATP-sensitive K⁺ channels or K⁺_(ATP) channels are voltage insensitive K⁺ channels that open in the absence of ATP and close when ATP binds on the intracellular side of the channel (Renaud et al. 1996; Spruce et al. 1985). K⁺_(ATP) channel opening increases K⁺ efflux and decreases the duration of the action potential (Renaud et al. 1996). These channels are not activated by low ATP levels, with half maximal inhibition between 20-140 μ M (Nichols & Lederer 1991; Spruce et al. 1987). Even during heavy muscular contractions, [ATP] have not been measured in the μ mol.L⁻¹ range, suggesting that the K⁺_(ATP) channels are less likely to be open in unfatigued and in fatigued muscle. Despite this, K⁺_(ATP) channels are open in fatigued muscle and it has been shown that the channel is activated by intracellular metabolites that accumulate with fatigue such as H⁺, ADP, and lactate (Davies 1990; Renaud et al. 1996; Spruce et al. 1987). The most likely activator appears to be the reduction in muscular pH during exercise (Davies et al. 1992).

Blocking $K^{+}_{(ATP)}$ channels with tolbutamide or glibenclamide (both $K^{+}_{(ATP)}$ channel blockers) prolonged the action potential, which was linked to $K^{+}_{(ATP)}$ channels directly

increasing K^+ efflux, and contributing to the reduction in force (Renaud et al. 1996; Standen 1992). Further, in intact single fibres from mouse skeletal muscle, glibenclamide attenuated the decline in tetanic force seen during fatigue (Duty & Allen 1995). Renaud et al. (1996) did not support this finding, showing that glibenclamide does not affect the rate of fatigue development, but does prolong the rate of force recovery.

2.7.7 Reactive Oxygen species

Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme activity is dependent upon an intact phospholipid bilayer and any modifications to the phospholipid moiety could modify the protein's function. Lipid peroxidation and protein oxidation due to the presence of reactive oxygen species (ROS) have been shown to disrupt membrane proteins including the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase (Kim & Akera 1987; Mishra et al. 1989). ROS or oxygen free radicals are produced in resting and exercising muscle in both the mitochondria and cytosol (Reid 1998). Davies and coworkers (1982) detected a 3-4 fold increase in free radical signals (via measurement of electron spin resonance, ESR) in rat hindlimb muscle after a single bout of exhaustive exercise. Subsequent ESR studies have confirmed this exercise-induced increase (Jackson et al. 1985; Kumar et al. 1992; Radak et al. 1995; Venditti & DiMeo 1997). It has been shown that ROS (including superoxides, hydroperoxides, lipid peroxyl radicals) may attenuate function and enhance fatigue in contracting oxidative muscle (Barclay et al. 1991; Powers & Lennon 1999; Reid 1996).

In the myocardium, the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is susceptible to ROS-induced lipid peroxidation, which induced a 90% depression in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in canine cardiac microsomal fractions (Kramer et al. 1984). The exact mechanism where Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity is compromised is not clear, but any disruption to the lipid bilayer (peroxidation) is likely to affect Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity (Robinson & Flashner 1979). Myocardium Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is susceptible to ROS- induced lipid peroxidation under ischaemic conditions as evidenced by a 3-fold increase in malondialdehyde, resulting in a 16% reduction in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity (Kim & Akera 1987). It has also been shown in pig coronary artery that the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase hydrolytic activity and transport of Rb⁺ are uncoupled upon exposure to peroxide or superoxide (Elmoselhi et al. 1994).

The effects of ROS on skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase have not been extensively studied. Only one study, Clough (abstract, 1996) reports a 70% decline in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in rat rectus femorus exposed to the free radical generating system of t-butylhydroperoxide and horseradish peroxidase. This inhibition of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in skeletal muscle probably involves disruption of the lipid bilayer, but the precise mechanism remains unresolved. It has been suggested that ROS have a significant impact on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, especially at the site on the enzyme bearing a sulphydryl (SH) group (Boldyrev et al. 1997; Körge 1998). Recent research also points to a role of metal-catalysed oxidation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in oxidative stress and possibly the fatigue process (Goldshleger et al. 1998). The extent to which this contributes to skeletal muscle fatigue remains to be determined.

2.7.8 Metabolic energy supply

The various cellular ATPases are potential sites for fatigue during exercise. A possible cause may be local decreases in ATP supply especially in relation to Ca^{2+} release (Allen et al. 1995; Owen et al. 1996). A criticism of this hypothesis is that muscle ATP levels are usually only reduced by 30-50% following intense exercise (McCartney et al. 1986; Söderlund & Hultman 1991; Spriet et al. 1987). The effect of these changes in [ATP] are unlikely to affect ATPase function as the [ATP] always remains up to an order of magnitude higher than the K_m for ATP for any muscle ATPase (Körge & Campbell

1995). However ATPase activity measurements are performed on whole muscle homogenates, therefore this does not exclude the possibility that in certain regions within the muscle, or within particular fibre types, the local [ATP] is limiting (Körge & Campbell 1995). Near the cellular ATPases with high ATP usage, it seems likely that the [ATP] will drop considerably below the total level in the cytoplasm (Lamb 1998). The possible impairment of ATPase function may be a safety mechanism limiting irreversible damage in fatiguing exercise. The concept of intracellular compartmentalisation of ATP may also play an important role (Körge & Campbell 1995). It could be speculated that skeletal muscle may protect itself from the rigor resulting from ATP depletion, through compartmentalisation of ATP levels.

2.7.9 Intracellular [Ca²⁺] in activation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase

Calcium ions are involved in the regulation of many processes in excitable cells (Breier et al. 1998; Racay et al. 1996; Sulová et al. 1998). Each action potential induces a pulse of Ca^{2+} release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum, causing a transient rise in intracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ (Rüegg, 1992). Whilst the Ca^{2+} transient actually decreases with fatigue, there is a progressive rise in the resting intracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ (Allen et al. 1995). In millimolar concentrations Ca^{2+} inhibits both the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase hydrolytic activity (Huang & Askari 1982; Yingst et al. 1992) and transport activity of the enzyme (Stankovicová et al. 1995). With the aid of Ca^{2+} channel blockers such as verapamil it has been shown that Ca^{2+} exerts its effect on the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase lipoprotein complex on the intracellular side of the sarcolemma (Stankovicová et al. 1995). It is possible that Ca^{2+} could exert its effect through calmodulin or calnactin as these Ca^{2+} binding proteins reduce the effective $[Ca^{2+}]$ necessary for Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase inhibition from submillimolar to submicromolar levels (Sulova et al. 1998; Yingst et al. 1992). Gissel and Clausen (1999) showed that

chronic low frequency stimulation of rat muscle led to increased sarcolemmal Ca^{2+} uptake via Na⁺ channels, and increased cytoplasmic [Ca²⁺] has been attributed to various cellular damage pathways (Duan et al. 1990; McCutcheon et al. 1990). However the exact mechanism whereby raised intracellular [Ca²⁺] affects the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase remains unclear and warrants further investigation.

2.8 K⁺ release during exercise

2.8.1 Plasma $[K^{\dagger}]$

Intense exercise results in the movement of fluid from the vascular compartment to the interstitium and contracting muscle (Lindinger & Heigenhasuer 1991; Watson et al. 1993). This reduces the plasma volume and will concentrate plasma ions (McKenna 1995), thereby partly explaining the exercise hyperkalemia. More importantly, K^+ is released from the working muscle as a consequence of inadequate sarcolemmal Na⁺, K^+ -ATPase activity and a failure to restore the K^+ gradient across the sarcolemma during excitation (Lindinger & Sjøgaard 1991; Verburg et al. 1999). The site for measurement of extracellular K^+ can alter interpretation as it can be measured in venous and arterial blood (Medbø & Sejersted 1990; McKenna et al. 1997) and more recently in the interstitium (Figure 2.5, Green et al. 1999b; Juel et al. 2000b). Clearly the highest [K⁺] values would be seen in the interstitium followed by venous blood draining the exercising muscle and [K⁺] values in arterial blood would be lower due to mixture of venous blood from exercising and non-exercising areas. The factors involved in muscle K⁺ release and reuptake and the sites for extracellular K⁺ determination are shown in Fig 2.5.

Increasing the muscle mass recruited during exercise increases the arterial plasma [K⁺] (McKenna 1995). During intense cycling exercise the widest arterio-femoral venous plasma [K⁺] difference was 0.5 mmol.l⁻¹, and arterial plasma [K⁺] peaked at 8 mM

(Vøllestad et al. 1994). A wider arterio-venous plasma $[K^+]$ of 1 mmol.l⁻¹ was shown during intense single knee extensor exercise but a lower peak arterial plasma $[K^+]$ of 6 mM was attained (Juel et al. 1990). The lower arterial plasma $[K^+]$ in single leg exercise compared to cycling has been attributed to a smaller muscle mass releasing less K⁺ combined with a larger inactive muscle mass enabling greater K⁺ clearance (McKenna 1995).



Figure 2.5 Schematic model of a muscle cell, interstitium and a capillary highlighting muscle K^+ efflux, reuptake and potential sites to measure extracellular K^+ . (From Hallén 1996).

A linear rise in plasma [K⁺], proportional to O_2 consumed, occurs during non steady state incremental exercise up to about 60% of $\dot{V}O_2$ max (Paterson et al. 1990). Thereafter there is an accelerated rise up to a maximum of around 6-7 mM in venous blood (Gullestad et al. 1989; Wilkerson et al. 1982). The curvilinear portion depends on the increasing power output and it has been suggested that the redistribution of K⁺ at higher workrates is less efficient partly owing to decreased flow to non-exercising muscle (Vøllestad et al. 1994). High intensity treadmill exercise results in a pronounced increase in arterial [K⁺] from 3.5 to 8.3 mM in untrained human subjects (Medbø & Sejersted 1990).

Endurance training and sprint training reduces the arterial and venous plasma [K⁺] during submaximal exercise at the same absolute workrate (Kiens & Saltin 1985; Kjeldsen et al. 1990a; Green et al. 1993, Table 2.2), and during all out sprint exercise (Harmer et al. 2000; McKenna et al. 1993, Table 2.2). This adaptation occurs rapidly with plasma [K⁺] 26% lower during exercise after 6 days of training (Table 2.2, Green et al. 1993). The decreased hyperkalemia after training has partly been attributed to increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content in trained muscle (see section 2.10.1 and Table 2.3).

Study	n	Training duration and mode	Intensity	∆ plasma [K⁺]
Kiens & Saltin 1985	5	8 wk constant load	70% pre-train	40 %↓ arterial [K ⁺]
		knee extension	maximum	
Kjeldsen et al. 1990a	15	Endurance training,	Heavy	8 % \downarrow arterialised-venous
		10 wk military	submaximal	[K ⁺] in submaximal
				exercise
Green et al. 1993	9	Endurance training,,	60% pretrain	26 % $\downarrow \Delta[K^{+}]$ during 60%
		6 days cycle 2h/day	• VO ₂ max	pretrain $\dot{V}O_2max$
McKenna et al. 1993	9	sprint, 7 wk cycle	maximal	27 % ↓ ∆[K ⁺] per unit
		3/wk		work
Harmer et al. 2000		sprint, 7 wk cycle	130% pretrain	11 % ↓ peak plasma [K ⁺]
		3/wk	\dot{VO}_2 peak	$31\%\downarrow plasma \Delta[K^*]$

Table 2.2Training effects on plasma [K⁺] during exercise in humans.

2.8.2 Physiological roles for K⁺ release during exercise

The importance of K^+ release from skeletal muscle in fatigue has been documented, but plasma $[K^+]$ also serves important physiological functions. These include hyperaemia,

the pressor response, arterial chemosensitivity and ventilation. Extracellular K⁺ may exert an influence on sensory afferent fibres located in the interstitium. Thus increased $[K^+]_e$ may ensure optimal conditions for the exercising muscle as long as this is compatible with maintaining homeostasis for the rest of the body. Elevated $[K^+]_e$ facilitates muscle contraction through stimulation of local vasodilation, muscle reflexogenic input to the medullary cardiovascular and respiratory control centres, and excitation of arterial peripheral chemoreceptors (Paterson 1992, 1996; Sjøgaard 1990). It is possible that the time lag between muscle K⁺ release and reuptake may not simply reflect inadequate uptake by the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase (Hallén 1996; Verburg et al. 1999), but rather may be a well regulated mechanism to ensure a sufficiently high $[K^+]_e$ to mediate central and local adjustments to meet the demands of exercising muscle.

2.9 Alterations in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content

2.9.1 Factors influencing Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content

The long-term regulation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in skeletal muscle is achieved by variations in its sarcolemmal content through an increased synthesis/translocation and/or decreased degradation rate. Many factors alter Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content in skeletal muscle, mainly due to chronic functional demand. These variations may occur as a physiological consequence of development and differentiation or alterations in physical activity with training, K⁺ depletion, and a number of disease states (Clausen et al. 1982; Jebens et al. 1995; Kjeldsen et al. 1987; Schmidt et al. 1994). Thyroid hormone, chronic electrical stimulation, sprint and endurance training have been shown to increase Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (Azuma et al. 1993; Evertsen et al. 1997; Green et al. 1992b, 1993, 1999a; Hicks et al. 1997; McKenna et al. 1993). The following sections review some of the factors inducing chronic alterations in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content.

2.9.1.1 Effect of age on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase

Early development and differentiation of individual skeletal muscles is associated with a marked increase in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (when expressed as pmol.muscle⁻¹) until maturity (adult form), when a plateau is reached (Kjeldsen et al. 1984a). Dauncey and Harrison (1996) showed that Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content increases by 13% in guinea pig muscle through late gestation and then rapidly declines in the post-partum period (Table 2.3). However in rat skeletal muscle, from birth to four weeks, [³H]-ouabain binding site content increased five-fold (Kjeldsen et al. 1984a), before decreasing by 58% from 4 to 12 weeks of age (Clausen et al. 1982). These values plateau to a mean content of around 250 pmol.g⁻¹ wet weight at maturity (22 weeks of age) and remained relatively stable (22-86 weeks, Kjeldsen et al. 1984a). The explanation for the difference in postnatal changes between guinea pigs and rats probably lies in the fact that guinea pigs are born relatively more mature (Dauncey & Harrison 1996).

Few studies have been carried out on the early postnatal ontogeny of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in humans. Kjeldsen and Grøn (1989) found no difference in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content from biopsies taken at autopsy from 2 month to 8 year old children. Most of these children died from sudden infant death syndrome (none had cancer and were not ill one week prior to death). Six older subjects (68yrs) tended to have a lower (14%) content of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase than younger subjects (25yrs), but this did not reach significance (Klitgaard & Clausen 1989). Nørgaard (1984a) reported no age differences in a study of twenty healthy human subjects ranging from 25 to 80 years old. In the rat hindlimb muscle, the α_1 isoform predominates through gestation and is not developmentally regulated, while mRNA for α_2 and α_3 don't appear until late gestation (Orlowski & Lingrel 1988). The abundance of β subunits increases during gestation. As the rat develops to the adult form, there is increased expression of the α_2 mRNA (Orlowski & Lingrel 1988). The β subunit mRNA increases significantly during the 14 days after birth but then declined to approx 50% after 55 days (Orlowski & Lingrel 1988).

Study	Species	Muscle	n	Age	change in Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase
					content
Dauncey &	guinea pig	soleus,	nr	-late gestation	1350 at 85 days, 1550 at birth,
Harrison 1996		EDL		-post partum	↓ post partum
Clausen et al.	rat	soleus	nr	4-12 wks	58% \downarrow from 4 to 12 wks
1982					
Kjeldsen et al.	rat	soleus	nr	0-4 wks	5-fold \uparrow from birth to 4 wks
1984a				4-12 wks	69% \downarrow from 4 to 12 wks
Kjeldsen & Grøn	human (post	vastus	18	0-8 years	ns
1989	mortum)	lateralis			
Nørgaard et al.	human	vastus	20	25 vs 80 yrs	ns
1984a		lateralis			

Table 2.3Effects of age on skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content

ns: not significant; nr not reported

2.9.1.2 Effect of gender on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase

The possibility of gender effects on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in humans is unclear. Nørgaard and co-workers (1984a) did not find a gender effect for Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content in vastus lateralis biopsies from 20 healthy subjects. However a recent study showed highly

trained male cross country skiers had an 18% higher Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content than highly trained females (Evertsen et al. 1997).

2.9.1.3 Effect of fibre type on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase

In animal studies there is evidence that Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and its subunits have a fibre type dependence (Clausen et al. 1982; Nørgaard 1986). Rat extensor digitorum long (EDL) muscle have a 20-30% higher Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content than soleus (Clausen et al. 1982; Nørgaard 1986). More recently, in opposition to this a moderate positive relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and oxidative potential was reported in rat skeletal muscle (Chin & Green 1993). Dauncey and Harrison (1996) found no significant fibre type dependence in guinea pigs. Most studies on human skeletal muscle utilise biopsies from the vastus lateralis muscle which has a mixed fibre composition (Grimby et al. 1982; Nygaard 1981). However, there was no clear indication of a fibre type dependence in human skeletal muscle (Benders et al. 1992; Dørup et al. 1988; Madsen et al. 1994; Nørgaard 1986).

Northern blot analyses of rat skeletal muscle using isoform specific cDNA probes demonstrate that there is a fibre type specific isoform expression (Hundal et al. 1993). The α_1 and α_2 mRNA were present in both fast and slow twitch muscle with greater proportions in slow twitch muscle. The α_2 mRNA was four-fold more abundant than α_1 in slow twitch muscle. The β_1 mRNA and protein contents were 3-fold higher in slow twitch (soleus) muscle, while the β_2 mRNA isoform was 8-fold higher in fast twitch EDL muscle (Hundal et al. 1993). Protein expression of the β_1 subunit was predominantly in slow twitch muscle while fast twitch expressed mostly the β_2 subunit. Despite differences in mRNA, protein expression of the α_1 , α_2 subunits were similar in both muscle fibre types. There are also potential differences in isoform translocation to the plasma membrane between slow and fast fibres (Lavoie et al. 1996) as discussed in section 2.1.7. The above analyses were performed on isolated membrane fragments and this technique has been severely criticised due to poor recovery of enzyme activity (Hansen & Clausen 1996).

This fibre type specific isoform expression is of importance in human skeletal muscle due to its heterogenous muscle fibre type expression. The importance of possible human skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase isoform specific function warrants investigation.

2.9.2 Chronic hormonal regulation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase

Changes in gene transcription and mRNA levels of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase subunits are often under the influence of regulatory hormones such as the thyroid hormones (Ewart & Klip 1995). There are a number of levels of long term hormonal regulation, from transcription to translation to stability of protein.

2.9.2.1 Thyroid hormone

Detailed reviews of the effect of thyroid hormone on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase can be found elsewhere (Clausen 1986, 1991; Ewart & Klip 1995; Ismail-Beigi 1993). Briefly, thyroid hormones (TH, including T₃ and T₄) have been shown to increase the content of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase molecules but not affect the specific activity of each enzyme (Ewart & Klip 1995; Kjeldsen et al. 1984c). Elevated TH in hyperthyroidism or injection of T₃ has been shown to increase Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content in rat and human skeletal muscle (Azuma et al. 1993; Kjeldsen et al. 1984c; Lin & Akera 1978; Nørgaard et al. 1983). TH stimulates an increase in mRNA levels, leading to more sarcolemmal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, which are isoform- and tissue-specific. There is also evidence that TH regulates the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in an isoform specific manner. Azuma et al. (1993) showed that the $\alpha_2\beta_1$ heterodimer is most responsive to TH regulation, while the effect on α_1 and β_1 were tissue specific. As the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase requires energy, it has been suggested that the increase in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content induced by TH could account for the thermogenic action, but this may only constitute around 15-20% of TH-induced thermogenesis (Biron et al. 1979; Clausen 1998; Ismail-Beigi & Edelman 1971).

2.9.2.2 Insulin

The chronic actions of insulin have been studied to a lesser extent compared to the shortacute effects of insulin on the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. This is most likely due to the fact that there are rarely states where insulin is elevated *in vivo*. However it is important to note that Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is 48% decreased in hyperinsulinemic states such as diabetes (Kjeldsen et al. 1987). As well as insulin's acute effect in increasing Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity, it has also been linked to the movement of new Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase units to the sarcolemma (Lavoie et al. 1996; Marette et al. 1993). This increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase expression was shown in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats with a 22% increase in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content after insulin administration (Schmidt et al. 1994). A 22% and 17% increase was also found in vastus lateralis muscle of humans with insulin-treated type I and type II diabetes respectively.

2.10 Chronic effects of increased physical activity on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase

The following review focuses on skeletal muscle responses to chronic exercise, with particular attention to the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase.

2.10.1 Effect of training on the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase

2.10.1.1 Response of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase to chronic electrical stimulation

Increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase expression has been shown in muscle exposed to chronic electrical stimulation (Green et al. 1992b; Hicks et al. 1997). In rabbit fast twitch EDL muscle, a 40% increased expression of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzymes occurred after four days of chronic low frequency (10Hz) electrical stimulation (Green et al. 1992b). This increased further to an 86% rise compared to controls after only 10 days of stimulation (Green et al. 1992b). Hicks et al. (1997) investigated chronic low frequency (10 Hz) stimulation of rabbit fast-twitch muscle. They showed a 60% increase in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content after 6 days and a doubling in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content after 20 days electrical stimulation. This Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase increase from stimulation of fast twitch muscle preceded changes in myofibrillar proteins and together with a decrease in Ca²⁺ATPase and ryanodine receptors, was suggested to be responsible for early functional alterations (Hicks et al. 1997). These functional alterations included increased fatigue resistance, absence of twitch potentiation and prolongation of the contraction and relaxation times. The increase in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content correlated with a recovery of the M-wave (Hicks et al. 1997), and this was further supported by Overgaard et al (1999) who showed a linear relationship between M-wave area and tetanic force. Overgaard et al (1999) also showed that M-wave area was recovered if muscles exposed to $9mM [K^+]_e$, and 85mM $[Na^+]_e$ were treated with the β_2 -adrenergic agonist, salbutamol which stimulated the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. These studies indicate that the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase plays a vital role in the restoration of the action potential and fatigue resistance.

đ

2.10.1.2 Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and exercise training.

Animal studies have shown that 6 weeks of swim training increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content by 46% in rat hindlimb muscle (Kjeldsen et al. 1986), whilst 3 weeks of run training increased guinea pig muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content by 25% (Leivseth et al. 1995). Knochel et al. (1985) showed that 6 weeks of treadmill running increased dog gracilis muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity by 165%. However these authors utilised extensive purification techniques which have been criticised due to poor membrane recovery (Kjeldsen et al. 1988). A number of studies have shown an increase in human skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content after physical training (see Table 2.4). Klitgaard & Clausen (1989) showed that 16 elderly men who were long term (>10yr) swim, run, or strength trained, had a higher content of ouabain binding sites (30, 32 and 45% respectively) compared to age-matched controls. Contrary to the increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content found in elderly-trained subjects, a study on young military conscripts showed no increase in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content after 10 weeks of physical conditioning (Kjeldsen et al. 1990a). A possible explanation for the two differing results in humans is that the training activity of the military conscripts was not intense enough to challenge Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase synthesis. However a subsequent endurance training study showed that Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content was increased by 13.6% after only one week of cycle ergometer training (Green et al. 1993). Two studies showed that previously trained runners and cross-country skiers could increase their Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content by 15-16% as a result of increasing the intensity of training (Evertsen et al. 1997; Madsen et al. 1994). In the study by Evertsen et al. (1997) the effects of moderate or intense increases in training (5 months) were investigated in both male and female elite cross country skiers. Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content increased 16% when the data was pooled, with no difference between the moderate or intense training groups, nor were there differences between gender in

response to intensified training. With the exception of Klitgaard & Clausen (1989) it is interesting that these training studies have reported similar relative increases in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content of around 13-16% (Evertsen et al. 1997; Green et al. 1993; Madsen et al. 1994; McKenna et al. 1993). However a recent study by Green and co-workers (1999a) found a 29% increase in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content after 11 weeks of endurance training, with most of the rise occurring in the first 3 weeks (22% increase). Green and coworkers (1999a) also found that 12 weeks of high intensity resistance training induced a 17% rise in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content.

2.10.1.3 Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, circulating [K⁺] and performance

Cross-sectional studies have shown that endurance training results in a blunting of the exercise-induced rise in plasma [K⁺] (McCoy & Hargreaves 1992; Medbø & Sejersted 1994; Tibes et al. 1974). Endurance training studies have also shown blunted hyperkalemia when exercise is conducted at the same HR (Kjeldsen et al. 1990) or workrate (Green et al. 1993) after training. This reduced hyperkalemia during exercise has partly been attributed to an increased content of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in skeletal muscle (Green et al. 1993; McKenna et al. 1995). McKenna et al. (1993) showed that seven weeks of sprint training increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content by 16%, but that this did not correlate with sprint performance. However, McKenna et al. (1993) did show that the delta (Δ) K⁺.work⁻¹ ratio during repeated 30 sec sprints was 27% lower after sprint training. There was no correlation with time to fatigue when performing submaximal contractions at 60% of max isometric force isometric in knee extensor exercise (Klitgaard & Clausen 1989), but there was a weak correlation between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and maximal isometric force. Green et al. (1999a) found that $\dot{v}O_2$ max correlated with Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content. This was supported by the correlation between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase

content and $\dot{v}O_2$ max, performance during a treadmill run, and the rank of the subject's performance as a cross country skier (Evertsen et al. 1997). However these authors cautioned that despite these correlations the content of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase was a poor predictor of performance. Similarly, the 15% rise in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content in previously trained subjects showed no correlation with $\dot{v}O_2$ max or time to exhaustion (Madsen et al. 1994).

It is unclear whether the stress of training induces increases in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content via circulating endocrine factors or via a general stress response in untrained skeletal muscle, such as the arms of runners or cyclists (Lindinger & Sjøgaard 1991). If it does, then the blunting of exercise-induced hyperkalemia would more likely be due to increased uptake of K⁺ by both active and inactive tissues, rather than just by trained muscle groups. No increase in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content was found in the diaphragm of rats with endurance training, in contrast to an increase of up to 46% in hindlimb muscles (Kjeldsen et al. 1986). However the diaphragm already has a 19% greater Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content in the untrained state compared to hindlimb gastrocnemius muscle (Kjeldsen et al. 1986). This increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content in the diaphragm may be linked to its role of repeated contractions and requirement for fatigue resistance.

Other factors that are likely to explain the reduced hyperkalemia seen after training might be a reduced muscle K^+ release via attenuated K^+ channel opening, reduced muscle blood flow, diluted K^+ in an expanded plasma volume (McKenna et al. 1995).

Table 2.4	Training effects	on human	vastus lateralis	muscle Na ⁺ , K	C ⁺ -ATPase	content
and muscle fur	nction.					

Study	n	age	Training	Results: ∆ [³ H]- ouabain binding sites	Functional Adaptations and Exercise Improvement
1	16	68	comparison	Trained 30-	linear relation b\w max isometric strength
			trained vs	40% > cf	and [Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase]
			untrained	untrained	
2	15	20	ET, 10 wk	ne Δ	blunted exercise-induced hyperkalemia
					after training, 7% \uparrow in running distance
3	9	19	sprint, 7 wk cycle	16% ↑	27 % \downarrow [K ⁺] per unit work
			3/wk		13% \uparrow work, fatigue index 6% \downarrow
4	9	20	ET, 6 days cycle	14% ↑	blunted rise in plasma $[K^+]$ during &
			2h/day		following exercise, 7% \uparrow in VO ₂ max
5	39	30	\uparrow intensity of ET	15% 1	6% \uparrow in VO ₂ max, 74% \uparrow in endurance
					time
6	11 (male)	18	↑ intensity of ET,	16% ↑	[Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase] correlated with VO_2 max
	9(female)		5 mo		& 20 min run time
7	7	21	11 wk prolonged	29% ↑	[Na ⁺ , K ⁺ -ATPase] correlated with VO_2 max
			ET		in prolonged ET
	9	20	11 wk high	17% ↑	
			intensity RT		

Klitgaard & Clausen 1989; 2. Kjeldsen et al. 1990a, 1990b; 3. McKenna et al. 1993; 4. Green et al. 1993,
 Madsen et al. 1994; 6. Evertsen et al. 1997; 7. Green et al. 1999a. ET, Endurance training; RT,
 Resistance training

2.10.2 Other effects of Training on Skeletal Muscle

The degree to which skeletal muscle responds to training varies due to a number of factors including the type of training and duration stimulus, the species being studied, muscle fibre composition, and individual variation. The responses to acute or chronic exercise differ, but the functional outcomes of these changes are to minimise the disturbance to homeostasis or to reduce the impact of fatigue on skeletal muscle function (Holloszy & Coyle 1984).

2.10.2.1 Endurance training, muscle morphology and metabolic adaptations

Endurance training results in an improved ability to sustain submaximal contractions and to resist fatigue (Coyle 1999; Green et al. 1992a; Ingjer 1979; Saltin & Golnick 1983). Numerous morphological, metabolic and ionic changes are induced in skeletal muscle. Prolonged endurance training increases the proportion of oxidative fibres as determined by histochemical staining or through identification of molecular alterations in the myosin heavy chain isoform expression (Baumann et al. 1987; Green et al. 1979; Howald 1982). These changes include an elevation of type I and or IIa fibre proportions, and a decrease in type IIb fibre proportions (Fitts 1996; Green et al. 1979). The differentiation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content between fibre types is pronounced in animals but is not evident in human skeletal muscle (Benders et al. 1992; Dørup et al. 1988; Madsen et al. 1994; Nørgaard 1986). Therefore the effects of fibre type changes may be of lesser importance to Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in human that in rat skeletal muscle.

The metabolic adaptations to endurance training have been reviewed by Coyle (1999). Briefly, these marked metabolic adaptations to endurance training enhance the capacity for aerobic metabolism (Gollnick et al. 1973; Green et al. 1992a; Taylor & Bachman 1999). Endurance training increases muscle capillary density, mitochondrial number and volume and the maximal activity of oxidative enzymes (Andersen 1975; Andersen & Henriksson 1977; Gollnick et al. 1973; Holloszy & Coyle 1984).

2.10.2.2 Resistance training

An increased force generating capacity occurs as a result of resistance training, due to initial neural adaptations and subsequent muscle hypertrophy (Moritani and De Vries 1979; Volek et al. 1999). The hypertrophy or increase in muscle cross sectional area results from increased contractile protein and occurs in both type I and type II fibres, but is more pronounced in type II fibres (Hather et al. 1991; Kraemer et al. 1995; MacDougall et al. 1980;, Staron et al. 1990; Volek et al. 1999). With resistance training there are no fibre type transitions between the two major fibre pools (Luthi et al. 1986; MacDougall et al. 1980; Thorstensson et al. 1976), rather a IIb→IIa transition has been shown (Adams et al. 1993; Kraemer et al. 1995). There is a close relationship between expression of type I, IIa and IIb myosin heavy chains (MHC) and myosin ATPase activity (Pette & Staron 1997). A 19 week resistance training study of human subjects showed that specific isoforms of myosin ATPase changed where the IIb myosin heavy chain (MHC) composition decreased from 19% to 7% and IIa MHC increased from 48% to 60% (Adams et al. 1993). This fibre type change confers an increased oxidative capacity in the fast twitch fibres (Staron et al. 1991). Little change in creatine kinase, myokinase, or glycolytic (eg phosphofructokinase and lactate dehydrogenase) enzyme activities have been found with resistance training (Thorstensson et al. 1976; Tesch et al. 1987, Tesch 1992).

2.11 Muscle disuse

2.11.1 Effects of disuse on intracellular electrolyte balance

Despite the vital role of Na^+ and K^+ in skeletal muscle function, the effects of disuse on muscle electrolyte regulation during contractile activity remain relatively unknown.

Wroblewski and Edström (1983) showed that following tenotomy in rat soleus muscle, $[Na^+]_i$ rose by ~230% compared to controls, whilst intracellular $[K^+]$ fell by ~28% from control levels. However, Jebens et al. (1995) showed K⁺ content (millimoles.kg⁻¹ fat free dry mass) of the sheep vastus lateralis was increased by 40% after 9 weeks immobilisation. It is possible that immobilisation and length of disuse could explain these different results.

Although denervation differs from immobilisation, the detrimental effects on electrolyte regulation are also evident. Leader et al. (1984) showed that 3 days denervation increased EDL $[Na^+]_i$ by 57%, but $[K^+]_i$ was unaffected. Clausen et al. (1982) showed that denervation for 1 wk increased rat soleus $[Na^+]_i$ by 38% and decreased $[K^+]_i$ by 4%. Thus muscular disuse/denervation profoundly effects resting muscle electrolyte contents, and these changes may be due to either muscle membrane permeability changes and/or changes in the content of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. No studies have investigated electrolyte contractile activity.

2.11.2 Effects of muscle disuse on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content

The decrease in metabolic and oxidative muscle fibre characteristics seen with muscle disuse are also evident in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content. These effects are summarised in Table 2.5. Inactivity induced by limb immobilisation causes a 20% reduction in the [³H]-ouabain binding site content in rat muscle (Kjeldsen et al. 1986). Detraining after six weeks of endurance training caused a decrease in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content to pre-training levels (Kjeldsen et al. 1986). Leivseth and colleagues (1992) showed that the [³H]-ouabain binding site content was decreased by 34% in guinea pig gastrocnemius muscle following 3 weeks of limb partial immobilisation. A more recent study by Jebens et al.

(1995) found that 9 weeks immobilisation in sheep vastus lateralis induced a 39% downregulation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in the immobilised limb. Further, the contralateral limb demonstrated a 22% reduction in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content.

The adaptability of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase to functional demand was best demonstrated when a previously immobilised limb was trained or remobilised (Jebens et al. 1995; Kjeldsen et al. 1982; Leivseth et al. 1992). After run training, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content increased 93% compared to the 2 week immobilised condition and a 39% increase was seen in the control (not previously immobilised) gastrocnemius (Leivseth et al. 1992). A 38% increase was seen in the remobilised sheep vastus lateralis (Jebens et al. 1995). The 93% difference in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content for trained control muscles compares favourably with the 83% difference seen between swim-trained and plaster immobilised rat soleus muscle (Kjeldsen et al. 1986). While a few animal immobilisation and muscle disuse models have been investigated, only one muscle disuse study exists in humans (Leivseth et al. 1994). This study showed Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content to decrease by 27% in the deltoid muscle of patients with shoulder impingement. Other studies have looked at patient groups (with their associated muscle disuse) and investigated Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme changes or ion regulation (Barlow et al. 1999; Hall et al. 1994; Nørgaard et al. 1990). This will be discussed in the next section with particular attention to lung transplant patients.

Table 2.5	Effects	of	reduced	physical	activity	on	skeletal	muscle	Na ⁺ ,	Κ	-ATPase
content and fu	nction.										

Study	Species	n	muscle	Intervention/ duration	Δ [³ H]-ouabain binding
					sites
Kjeldsen et al.	rat	n.r	soleus	hindlimb tenotomy, 1 wk	22%↓
1986				immobilisation, 1 wk	20%↓
Kjeldsen et al.	rat	n.r	soleus,	3 wks detraining after 6	\downarrow to near pre-trained
1986			EDL	wks endurance training	levels
Leivseth et al.	guinea	7	gastroc-	3 wks immobilisation, then	19% \downarrow , then 57% \uparrow with
1992	pig		nemius	3 wks run training	training
Leivseth and	human	6	deltoid	Patients with shoulder	27% ↓
Reikerås. 1994				impingement	
Jebens et al.	sheep	13	vastus	9 wks immobilisation	39%↓
1995			lateralis		

n.r not reported

2.11.3 Other morphological, metabolic and functional changes with immobilisation

In contrast to the vast literature on muscle adaptations seen with physical training, the morphological, metabolic, and functional changes in muscle with disuse have received relatively little attention. These are reviewed below.

2.11.3.1 Atrophy

Muscular disuse leads to a pronounced atrophy of muscle fibres and impairment of muscular function (Gibson et al. 1987). A common way to induce muscle disuse is immobilization, and these studies report muscular atrophy, evidenced by a decline in lean thigh volume and thigh cross sectional area, as well as a decline in muscle force (Halkjær-Kristensen & Ingemann-Hansen 1985; MacDougall et al. 1980). The decrement

in muscle mass has been attributed to both decreased protein synthesis within 6hr (Booth & Seider 1979) and increased protein degradation (Gibson et al. 1987; Goldspink 1977).

2.11.3.2 Fibre type alterations

A common finding in immobilisation studies with humans is a decrease in the proportion of type I fibres in quadriceps muscle (Halkjær-Kristensen & Ingemann-Hansen 1985), and/or atrophy of these fibres (Gibson et al. 1987, Häggmark & Eriksson 1981). These changes are summarised in Table 2.6. The proportion of type IIb fibres was increased in the soleus muscle after 6 weeks immobilisation (Häggmark & Eriksson 1979). In animal models, the suggested fibre transition during weightlessness is for a type I \rightarrow type IIa \rightarrow type IIb conversion (Martin et al. 1988; Pette & Staron 1997). Berg et al. (1997) does not support this in humans, with the percentages of type I, IIa, and IIb fibres, and the relative proportions of myosin heavy chain isoforms in vastus lateralis muscle, being unchanged after 6 weeks of bed rest. However a substantial atrophy in both type I and type II fibres has previously been shown (Hakkinen et al. 1985; MacDougall et al. 1980; Leivseth et al. 1987; Sargeant et al. 1977).

2.11.3.3 Metabolic changes

Only a few studies have investigated the effects of human skeletal muscle disuse on metabolic properties and these are summarised in Table 2.6. Immobilisation reduced muscle creatine phosphate and glycogen contents in human muscle (MacDougall et al. 1977). Activity of succinate dehydrogenase and cytochrome c oxidase as well as levels of GLUT4 protein concentration were reduced with 5-6 weeks of quadriceps immobilisation, while phosphofructokinase activity was unaffected (Halkjær-Kristensen & Ingemann-Hansen 1985; Häggmark et al. 1981; Blakemore et al. 1996).

2.11.3.4 Loss of muscle function

The functional consequences of the effects of disuse were investigated by measurement of muscular dynamic endurance in young soccer players (Halkjær-Kristensen & Ingemann-Hansen 1985). They showed a 27% decline in 6 minute maximal cycling performance in a group undergoing surgery followed by immobilisation, but only a 9% decline in those undergoing immobilisation. Sargeant et al. (1977) also reported a 15% decline in maximal O_2 consumption achieved during maximal one-legged cycling, after prolonged immobilisation. Healthy subjects undergoing 6 weeks bed rest showed a 25% decrease in maximum isometric knee-extensor torque (Berg et al. 1997). The combination of surgical trauma and subsequent muscle disuse also impair human isometric and dynamic muscle function (Sargeant et al. 1977).

Study	Subject	n	Duration	∆C.S.A	∆ fibre	Metabolic ∆	performance Δ
			of Immob-		proportion		
			isation				
1	Unilateral	7	4.5 mo	46%↓ type I			$17\% \downarrow$ in max
	leg fracture			37%↓type II			O ₂ uptake
				$12\%\downarrow$ leg vol.			
2	patients	9	5 wks	26%↓type I		21% ↓ SDH	
						no∆in PFK	
3	Injured	84	4-6 wks	37%↓type I	12%↓type I	$35\%\downarrow { m SDH}$	35%↓
	soccer				no ∆ type II	no Δ in PFK	isokinetic peak
	players					activity	torque
4	Tibial	6	5 wks	14%↓ type I	no Δ	↓ muscle protein	
	fracture					synthesis	
	patients						
5	Healthy	9	5 wks	6%↓upper		no Δ in ATP,	35% ↓ max
	subjects			arm girth		↓ CP 40%,	strength
	(T.B)					↓ glycogen 25%	
6	Tibial	6	6 wks	29% ↓ type I		\downarrow cytochrome c	
	fracture			26%↓ type II		oxidase,	
	patients					50% ↓ GLUT4	
7	Healthy	7	6 wk	19%↓ type I	no Δ		$25\%\downarrow { m max}$
	subjects		(bedrest)				isometric torque

Table 2.6Effects of immobilisation on human vastus lateralis muscle morphologyand metabolic and performance changes.

Sargeant et al. 1977; 2. Häggmark et al. 1981; 3. Halkjær-Kristensen & Ingemann-Hansen 1985; 4.
 Gibson et al. 1987; 5. MacDougall et al. 1987; 6. Blakemore et al. 1996; 7. Berg et al. 1997.
 C.S.A: cross sectional area; T.B Triceps Brachii; SDH: succinate dehydrogenase; PFK: phosphofructokinase, Δ changes in.

2.11.4 Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and transplant patients

Muscle disuse and chronic inactivity lead to reduced altered muscle morphology (see table 2.6), and lower Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (see table 2.5). Altered Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function with disuse was postulated to limit exercise capacity in transplant patients (Hall et al. 1994). In Hall and colleagues' study (1994), heart and lung transplant patients displayed impaired plasma K⁺ regulation, with a higher Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ ratio compared to matched controls. Nørgaard et al. (1990) showed that patients with congestive heart failure had 25% lower skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, and Barlow et al. (1994) also showed that such patients had higher arterial [K⁺] at similar low workloads to controls. Barlow and colleagues (1999) later measured Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ in CHF patients, but unfortunately did not compare these to healthy controls. However, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content was inversely correlated with Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ before and after treatment of these patients with balloon mitral valvotomy. Three months after treatment with balloon mitral valvotomy, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content increased 14% and Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ was reduced 36%.

2.11.5 Thoracic transplant patients and muscle disuse

For a considerable period of time before transplantation, lung transplant patients are usually chronically inactive and thus serve as an interesting model for muscular disuse. Lung transplantation has been shown to be an effective form of treatment for many forms of end-stage pulmonary disease, and allows most patients to return to near normal spirometry with only mildly impaired diffusion capacity (Williams et al. 1992). The exercise capacity of the transplant recipient increases post-operation (Pope et al. 1980; Theodore et al. 1987), but still remains only 50-60% of that seen in normal subjects (Williams et al. 1992). Transplant patients also exhibit an earlier rise in blood lactate in incremental exercise tests (Kavanagh et al. 1988; Otulana et al. 1992; Ross et al. 1993; Theodore et al. 1987). The transplant appears to be successful in removing the ventilatory limitation to exercise (Williams et al. 1992), so other reasons for this exercise limitation post-transplant include poor motivation, low haemoglobin levels, impact of immunosuppressive medication and peripheral muscle defects (Gibbons et al. 1991; Otulana et al. 1992; Ross et al. 1993; Theodore et al. 1987). The poor exercise performance of patients post-thoracic lung transplant has been attributed to anaemia and skeletal muscle deconditioning (Banner et al. 1989; Hall et al. 1994; Otulana et al. 1992; Rudas et al. 1992; Savin et al. 1990; Theodore et al. 1987). However, Evans et al. (1997) have shown that neither ventilation, arterial O2 saturation or mild anaemia could account for the decrease in aerobic capacity seen post lung transplantation. They showed that persistent abnormalities in skeletal muscle oxidative capacity with a resultant increased reliance on glycolytic energy supply was related to this low $\dot{V}O_2$ peak. Hall and colleagues (1994) suggested that peripheral muscle deconditioning contributed to the poor exercise performance post-thoracic lung transplantation, given that neither cardiac nor ventilatory function could account for the poor exercise performance. For example Williams and colleagues (1992) noted that although single and double lung transplant recipients had reduced $\dot{v}O_2max$ (46-50% of predicted) post-transplantation, the limitation did not appear to be ventilatory in nature.

2.12 Aims and Hypotheses

2.12.1 General Aims

This thesis examines the effect of acute exercise, chronic training and chronic disuse associated with lung transplantation on human skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and plasma [K⁺] responses during exercise. Techniques used to assess Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content were maximal K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase activity in crude muscle homogenates and [³H]-ouabain binding site content, respectively. The first study (Chapter 4) involved the modification of a sensitive technique for measurement of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in human skeletal muscle. The maximal K⁺ stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase was modified from previous techniques (Benders et al. 1992; Norgaard et al. 1984b) so that Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity could be reliably measured in human skeletal muscle.

There is a well known depressive effect of acute exercise on skeletal muscle SR Ca^{2+} ATPase activity (Booth et al. 1997) but no studies have looked at the effects of an acute bout of fatiguing exercise on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. The second study (Chapter 5) therefore investigated 3-*O*-MFPase activity in muscle biopsies taken from untrained males at rest and immediately after 50 maximal knee extensor contractions.

The third study (Chapter 6) investigated the effects of training on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content utilising endurance trained and resistance trained subjects. This study aimed to determine whether endurance trained and resistance trained muscle protected against any depressive effects of fatigue on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. The rationale for this study was that although endurance training (Green et al. 1993), and recently resistance training (Green et al. 1999a) have shown an increase in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, no studies had investigated changes in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content with training. A cross-sectional study design was chosen to maximise likely differences in

Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (Klitgaard & Clausen 1989) while the relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and plasma [K⁺] response during exercise was also explored.

The fourth study (Chapter 7) involved the other end of the physical activity spectrum, examining the effects of chronic muscle disuse associated with lung transplant patients. The study investigated skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content as well as plasma [K⁺] during exercise in these patients. Lung transplantation had removed the ventilatory limitation to exercise, so that the effects of other factors including chronic muscle disuse on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function in skeletal muscle could be evaluated.

2.12.2 Hypotheses

The hypotheses tested in this thesis were:

- Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity assessed by maximal *in vitro* 3-O-MFPase activity (Chapter 4) in vastus lateralis muscle from healthy untrained individuals will be depressed by intense fatiguing knee extensor exercise (Chapter 5).
- Chronic resistance and endurance trained subjects will show an increased maximal *in vitro* Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content (as assessed by [³H]ouabain binding) compared to control subjects (Chapter 6).
- 3. Chronic resistance and endurance trained subjects will be characterised by a smaller fatigue-induced depression in maximal *in vitro* Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity associated with improved muscular performance, and a lower [K⁺] response during exercise compared to control subjects (Chapter 6).
- 4. Lung transplant recipients will exhibit diminished maximal *in vitro* Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content and this will be associated with an exaggerated rise in plasma [K⁺] during exercise (Chapter 7).

Chapter 3 General Methods

3.0 Study Design

This dissertation examined Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase function in human skeletal muscle. After the development of an assay to measure maximal *in vitro* Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity of human skeletal muscle, the effects of acute and chronic exercise as well as chronic activity were examined. The secondary aspect of this thesis examined a possible relationship between plasma [K⁺] during and following exercise in humans and muscle Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase function.

In the first study, a method was developed to measure Na^+,K^+ -ATPase activity in untrained human skeletal muscle (Chapter 4). The second study examined the effects of fatigue on Na^+,K^+ -ATPase activity (Chapter 5). The third study utilised a cross sectional design to compare fatigue effects on skeletal muscle Na^+,K^+ -ATPase activity in endurance trained and resistance trained athletes in relation to untrained (Chapter 6). The fourth study explored whether muscle Na^+,K^+ -ATPase function and K^+ regulation was altered in a group of thoracic transplant recipients, who are characterised by extremely low levels of physical activity (Chapter 7).

3.1 Subjects

Subjects were informed of all test procedures and associated risks before completing a detailed medical questionnaire (Appendix A1) and giving written informed consent (Appendix A2) prior to commencing the study. All experimental protocols were approved by the Victoria University of Technology Human Research Ethics Committee

(Chapters 4, 5, 6, and 7). A total of 24 healthy subjects participated in the studies investigating acute and chronic effects of exercise on Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase function (Chapters 5, 6). This included 8 untrained (UT) control subjects in which the effects of fatigue were investigated (Chapter 5). The control subjects did not participate in regular physical training but were recreationally active in some cases. These subjects also served as a control group for the third study that involved 8 endurance-trained (ET) and 8 resistance-trained (RT) athletes (Chapter 6). The ET and RT subjects were recruited through the university, gymnasiums, and local competitive clubs and had been involved in resistance or endurance training for at least 2 years. The ET subjects were selected on the basis that their peak oxygen consumption during an incremental exercise test must have at least equalled 60 ml.min⁻¹.kg⁻¹. The ET group had typically performed run and/or cycle endurance training for 5-6 hours per week. The RT subjects were selected on the basis of being able to perform a powerlifting-style squat exercise with free weights at least 1¹/₂ times their body mass. The RT group had typically trained for approximately 1 hour, 4-5 times per week. Physical characteristics did not differ significantly between the UT, RT and ET subjects (Table 3.1). All subjects were male except for 1 RT female.

 Table 3.1 Physical characteristics of untrained, endurance trained and resistance trained

 subjects

	Untrained	Endurance trained	Resistance trained
Age (yr)	26.4 ±3.9	26.4 ± 3.1	26.8 ± 7.9
Height (cm)	183.0 ±5.7	177.2 ± 7.1	176.1 ± 4.7
Body mass (kg)	80.4 ±6.8	74.6 ± 9.9	81.6 ± 3.3

Values are n=8, mean \pm SD.

The fourth study involved 8 successful thoracic transplant recipients and 8 healthy, ageand gender-matched control subjects (Chapter 7). The thoracic transplant recipients were studied in collaboration with the Department of Respiratory Medicine, and The Heart & Lung Transplant Service, The Alfred Hospital, Melbourne. The Victoria University of Technology Human Research Ethics Committee and The Alfred Group of Hospitals Ethics Committee approved all protocols and procedures (Chapter 7). Physical characteristics did not differ significantly between controls and thoracic transplant recipients (Table 3.2). The mean (±SD) duration post-transplant was 13.5 ± 8.7 months, ranging from 3-24 months after receiving heart /lung (HLTx, n = 2), singlelung (SLTx, n = 2) or double-lung (DLTx, n = 4) transplants. The diagnosis, operation and medication records of the recipients are shown in Table 3.3. No control subjects reported taking any medication.

	Transplant patients	Controls
n (M, F)	8 (3, 5)	8 (3, 5)
Age (yrs)	37.8 ± 10.7	37.3 ± 9.7
Height (cm)	168.3 ± 7.8	169.5 ± 11.7
Body mass (kg)	65.3 ± 11.2	67.1± 12.8

 Table 3.2 Anthropometric data for transplant patients and controls.

Values mean ± SD
Patient	Diagnosis	Opera	Duration	Immunosuppressive Treatment			
		-tion	Post-operation	[CsA]	CsA	PNL	AZA
			(mo)	(ug/L)	(mg/d)	(mg/d)	(mg/d)
1	PDA+ ES	HLTx	24			25	100
2	IPF	SLTx	15	210	350	15	100
3	PL	SLTx	9	336	300	15	0
4	PPH	HLTx	24	393	450	10	25
5	PPH	DLTx	8	313	400	15	100
6	ВО	DLTx	21	198	500	15	100
7	CF+αAT	DLTx	3	222	300	20	75
8	CF	DLTx	4	221	450	15	100

Table 3.3 Clinical characteristics of thoracic transplant patients

Notes:

Diagnosis:

PDA, patent ductus arteriosis; ES, Eisenmengers Syndrome; PPH, primary pulmonary hypertension; PL, pulmonary lymphangiolieomatosis; IPF, idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis; CF, Cystic Fibrosis; α AT, α_l -anti-trypsin deficiency; BO, bronchiolitis obliterans.

Medication:

1. Immunosuppressive medication was used in virtually all post transplant recipients to prevent graft rejection: CsA, Cyclosporine A; [CsA] CsA concentration in blood, PNL, Prednisolone; AZA, Azathioprine. Corticosteroids.

 Other major medications included: Antihypertensive drugs: calcium channel blockers, Verapamil and Nifedipine; angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors: enalapril, captopril, Omeprazole, Ranitidine; Calcium, Potassium and Magnesium supplements.

3.2 Test procedures

All subjects in the second and third studies (Chapters 5 and 6) reported to the laboratory for four test sessions, with exercise tests separated by a minimum of 3, and a maximum of 14 days. The four tests involved anthropometric measurements, a muscle function test on a Biodex isokinetic dynamometer, a muscle fatigue test with muscle biopsies and arterialised-venous blood samples on a Cybex isokinetic dynamometer. The subjects were tested in the Human Performance Laboratory at the Footscray campus, except for the Biodex muscle function test, which was conducted in the Biomechanics laboratory at the City Campus. The fourth test involved an incremental $\dot{v}O_2$ peak test on a cycle ergometer with arterialised-venous blood samples. The transplant recipients, and thus age-matched controls, described in Chapter 7, did not perform the muscle function or fatigue tests for ethical reasons.

3.2.1 Anthropometric Measurements

All subjects were measured for height using a stadiometer (Novel Inc, Addison, Illinois, U.S.A) and body mass recorded with a sensitivity of 0.005 kg on an electronic scale (Sauter E1200, West Germany). Subcutaneous skinfold thickness was measured at 8 sites: tricep, bicep, subscapular, mid-axilla, suprailiac, abdominal, anterior thigh and medial calf, using Harpenden calipers (British Indicators, W. Sussex, United Kingdom). Sum of 8 skinfold thickness was determined and from body density using the following regression equations (Jackson & Pollock 1978; Jackson et al. 1980; Siri 1956).

The regression equation for men and women are shown in Equation 3.1 & 3.2 respectively.

Equation 3.1

 $BD = 1.112000 - 0.0004399 (X_1) + 5.5 \ 10^{-7} (X_1)^2 - 0.00028826 (X_2)$

where BD = body density, $X_1 = sum$ triceps, biceps, mid-axilla, subscapular, abdominal thigh and calf skinfolds, $X_2 = age$ (years)

Equation 3.2

BD = $1.096095 - 0.0006952 (X_1) + 1.1*10^{-6} (X_1)^2 - 0.0000714 (X_2)$

where BD = body density, $X_1 = sum$ triceps, abdominal supra-iliac, and thigh skinfolds (mm), $X_2 = age$ (years)

The % body fat was calculated using the Siri equation

Equation 3.3

% body fat = [(4.95/BD) - 4.50] * 100

Estimation of thigh volume for the muscle fatigue tests was determined anthropometrically using limb lengths and girths (Jones & Pearson 1969). With subjects standing erect and feet slightly apart, girths were measured with a flexible tape measure while segmental lengths were determined with an Harpenden anthropometer (Holtain, Dyfed, United Kingdom) to an accuracy of 1mm. Thigh muscle and bone cross sectional area was calculated from circumference and skinfold measures with these and the results for all subject's skinfold and limb volume measurements shown in Appendix B1: Tables B1.1-B1.5.

3.2.2 Lung Function Testing

All subjects performed spirometry to determine their vital capacity (VC) and forcedexpired volume in 1 second (FEV_1). Healthy subjects were tested on a spirometer (Minato, Osaka, Japan) whilst transplant recipients were tested on a Jaeger Masterlab 3.30 spirometer (Wuerzburg, W. Germany), but both spirometers were not crossvalidated. The results for all groups and comparison to predicted values (Crapo et al. 1981) are shown in Appendix B1.

3.2.3 Maximal Aerobic Power

Each subject refrained from vigorous exercise, alcohol and caffeine consumption for 24 hours prior to the test. All subjects had resting heart rate and blood pressure recorded. Subjects performed an incremental exercise test on an electrically braked cycle ergometer (Lode N.V. Groningen, Netherlands) to determine peak oxygen consumption ($\dot{v}O_2$ peak). Subjects maintained 60-80 rpm with workrate increased by 25 W each min until volitional exhaustion, defined as an inability to maintain pedal cadence above 50 rpm. Subjects breathed through a Hans-Rudolph two-way non-rebreathing valve, with expired air passing through low-resistance plastic tubing into a 4 L mixing chamber. Expired volume was measured using a flow transducer (KL Engineering, Sunnyvale, California, USA), and mixed expired oxygen and carbon dioxide contents were analysed by rapidly responding gas analysers (Applied Electrochemistry S-3A O₂ and CD-3A CO₂, Ametek, Pittsburgh, USA). Ventilatory gas data were calculated and averaged over 15s (TurboFit, California USA). The gas analysers were calibrated immediately prior to each test, and rechecked after the test, using commercially prepared gas mixtures. The ventilometer was calibrated prior to each test using a standard 3 L syringe. A 6-lead ECG was used at rest, during and following exercise to determine heart rate and monitor heart rhythm (Mortara, X- Scribe, Milwaukee, USA). Arterialised venous blood samples were collected from a dorsal hand vein at rest, each

min during graded exercise and at 1, 2, 5, 10, 20, and 30 min in recovery. Arterialisation was obtained by heating the hand as described in section 3.4.

3.2.4 Muscle Function Assessment

To characterise muscle function of the different subject groups, maximal muscle strength and fatigability of the right knee extensor muscle group was determined in two separate tests on an isokinetic dynamometer (Biodex Medical Systems, New York, USA). Prior to testing, subjects completed a 3 min warm up at 50W on an air- braked cycle ergometer. Subjects were then strapped to the Biodex chair using belts across the hips and chest, to restrict movement of upper body muscles, and across the thigh to stabilise the leg.

3.2.4.1 Muscle torque-velocity Relationship

The first test measured leg peak muscle torque at a series of limb velocities, from which a torque-velocity relationship was constructed. Subjects performed 2 practice maximal repetitions, followed by 1 min rest. Then 3 maximal repetitions were performed in order at each of 60, 120, 180, 240, 300 and 360 °/s, each separated by 2 min rest. After the 360°/s contraction, subjects rested for 3 min before being tested for isometric peak torque (0°/s). Peak torque was expressed in Nm, relative to body mass, and relative to an approximate measure of the lever arm, height (Schantz et al. 1983).

3.2.4.2 Muscle fatigue test

After 30 min recovery subjects completed a standard test designed to induce local fatigue of the knee extensor muscles, involving 50 repetitions of maximal knee extension (180°/s, 0.5Hz), modified from Thorstensson et al. (1976). The peak torque during the test was defined as the mean of the 5 strongest in the first 10 contractions. The final peak torque during the test was defined as the mean of the 5 weakest in the final 10 contractions. The fatigue index, expressed as a percentage, was calculated as

the decline in power from the initial five strongest to the final five weakest contractions (Equation 3.4):

Equation 3.4: Fatigue Index =
$$100 \times \left(\frac{\text{Peak Torque-Final Torque}}{\text{Peak Torque}} \right)$$

3.2.5 Muscle Fatigue Test with invasive measures

Each subject refrained from vigorous exercise, alcohol and caffeine consumption for 24 hours prior to an invasive muscle fatigue test performed on an isokinetic dynamometer (CybexII Lumex, Ronkoukowany, USA). Separate dynamometers were used for practical reasons. The Biodex dynamometer was preferred for characterisation of muscle function of the different subject groups, but was located at a different campus to the Exercise Physiology laboratory, where the invasive testing could took place. Therefore a Cybex dynamometer was used for the invasive muscle fatigue test, with collection of muscle biopsies and blood samples in the Exercise Physiology Laboratory, Footscray campus.

Muscle biopsies were taken at rest and immediately at the end of exercise while blood samples were taken at rest, during and following exercise (Figure 3.2). Subjects were strapped to the Cybex dynamometer chair using velcro belts to restrict upper body movement (Figure 3.1). As described in the Biodex fatigue test subjects were required to perform 50 maximal knee extensions (MFT 180°/s, 0.5Hz, Chapters 5 and 6). Peak torque and fatigue index was calculated as described for the Biodex fatigue test. Data was expressed in Nm and work done calculated from the area under the torque displacement curve.



Figure 3.1 Subject performing maximal knee extensions on a Cybex dynamometer with biopsy ready to be taken from vastus lateralis.



Figure 3.2 Blood and muscle sampling during fatigue test; Exercise: 50 maximal knee extensions on Cybex isokinetic dynamometer (180°/s, 0.5Hz). \uparrow denotes blood sampling and ECG recording; \downarrow denotes muscle biopsy.

3.3 Muscle Biopsy Sampling

3.3.1 Muscle Biopsies

Three muscle biopsies were taken in the supine position for each subject in Studies 2 and 3, comprising two biopsies at rest and one at the point of fatigue (Chapters 5 and 6). Two biopsies were taken at rest for subjects in Study 4 (Chapter 7). After injection of a local anaesthetic into the skin and fascia (1% Lignocaine), a small incision was made in the mid-portion of the vastus lateralis muscle of the right leg. Muscle samples (40 -120 mg) were taken, at a constant depth, using the percutaneous needle biopsy technique with suction (Bergström, 1962; Evans et al. 1982). Resting biopsies were analysed for muscle fibre type, Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity and content, as well as for substrate and metabolite contents. The fatigue biopsy sample was analysed for muscle Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity, as well as for substrate and metabolite content. Immediately after excision, muscles were separated into portions, with one portion rapidly frozen and stored in liquid nitrogen for subsequent metabolite and substrate determination. The remaining portion was blotted on filter paper, weighed, homogenised, and frozen in liquid nitrogen for subsequent determination of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity.

3.3.2 Muscle Morphology.

Approximately 10-15 mg was separated from the resting biopsy sample and was mounted using an embedding medium (Jung Embedding medium, Nussloch, Germany), quick-frozen in isopentane precooled in liquid nitrogen, and stored in liquid nitrogen until analysis. Muscle fibre types were analysed using the myofibrillar ATPase method (Brooke & Kaiser 1970). Fibre typing was performed on 10µm thick sections of muscle cut on a cryostat at -20° C (Microm GMBH D-6900 500, Heidelberg, Germany). Fibres were classified into type I (slow-twitch) and type IIA (fast oxidative) and IIB (fast-glycolytic) according to their myofibrillar ATPase staining pattern after preincubation at pH 10.3, 4.6 and 4.3.

3.3.3 Muscle Homogenisation

Muscle samples (30-40 mg) were immediately blotted on filter paper, weighed, then homogenised (5% w/v) at 0°C for 2 x 20s, 20000 rpm (Omni 1000, Omni International, Gainesville, Virginia, U.S.A.) in an homogenate buffer containing 250 mM sucrose, 2 mM EDTA, and 10 mM Tris (pH 7.40). Muscle homogenates were immediately frozen and stored in liquid N₂ until 3-O-MFPase activity determination.

3.3.4 3-O-MFPase Assay

Skeletal muscle Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity was determined using the 3-*O*-MFPase assay, modified from two previously established techniques for rat (Nørgaard et al. 1984) and human skeletal muscle (Benders et al. 1992). Development of this technique is described in Chapter 4. Before analysis, homogenates were freeze-thawed four times, then diluted 1/5 in cold homogenate buffer. The assay medium in which 3-*O*-MFPase activity was measured contained 5 mM MgCl₂, 1.25 mM EDTA, 100 mM Tris, and an 80 nM 3-*O*-MF standard (pH 7.40). The freeze-thawed, diluted homogenate (30µl) was incubated in 2.5ml of assay medium at 37°C for 5 min before addition of 40µl of 10 mM 3-*O*-MFP to initiate the reaction. After 60 seconds, 10µl of 2.58 M KCl (final concentration 10 mM) was added through an injection port to stimulate K⁺-dependent phosphatase activity, with the reaction measured for another 60 seconds. The K⁺stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase assays were performed at 37°C, using continuous stirring, on a spectrofluorimeter (Aminco Bowman AB2 SLM, Urbana, Illinois, U.S.A). Excitation wavelength was set at 475nm and emission wavelength 515nm, with 4nm slit widths. To calculate the K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity, the unspecific ATPase activity and spontaneous hydrolysis present before the addition of 10 mM KCl was subtracted from the activity obtained after KCl addition. Protein content of the homogenate was determined spectrophotometrically using bovine serum albumin as a standard (Lowry et al. 1951).

3.3.5 Muscle Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase content

Approximately 20mg of the frozen resting muscle for all subjects in studies 2-4 was used to determine the Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase content using the [³H]-ouabain binding method (Kjeldsen, 1986; Nørgaard et al. 1984a). All analyses were performed by the author and were performed in collaboration with the Medical Department B, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen Denmark. Each sample was packed in dry ice for shipment to Denmark. Samples were cut into small pieces of 2-4 mg wet weight. In all experiments freshly made vanadate solution was used.

Samples were washed at 0°C for 20 min, with a change of medium after 10 min (2 x10 min) in a buffer consisting of 10 mM tris (hydroxymethyl)aminomethane chloride, 250mM sucrose, 3mM MgSO₄, and 1 mM vanadate, pH 7.2-7.4. This procedure was used to thaw the samples, preincubate them with vanadate and to maintain low Na⁺ and K⁺ concentrations that would not interfere with vanadate-facilitated [³H]-ouabain binding. Subsequent incubations for vanadate-facilitated [³H]-ouabain binding took place in a buffer containing 2 μ Ci/ml [³H]-ouabain, and ouabain added to a final concentration of 1 μ M at 37°C for 2 hours with a change of medium after 1 hour. After incubations, a washout at 0°C in unlabeled buffer for 2 hours with a change of medium every 30 min (4 x 30min) was performed to reduce the [³H]-ouabain in the extracellular space and enhance the precision of the method. After washout, samples were blotted on

dry filter paper, weighed, and soaked overnight in minivials containing 0.5 ml of 5% trichloroacetic acid (TCA). The next day 2.5 ml of scintillator (Opti-fluor®) was added before liquid scintillation counting of the [³H]-ouabain activity was performed. The amount of ³H ouabain taken up and retained by the samples was calculated on the basis of the sample wet weight and the specific activity of the incubation medium and samples. Results are given as picomoles per gram wet weight.

3.3.6 Muscle metabolites and pH.

Muscle was freeze dried, dissected free of any connective tissue, weighed, powdered and extracted (Harris et al. 1974). Approximately 2mg of freeze dried muscle was extracted in PCA (0.5 M) and neutralized in KHCO₃ (2.1 M). Muscle extracts were analysed for ATP, CP, glycogen and creatine contents using fluorimetric techniques (Model 112 Turner Fluorometer California, USA) and for lactate content using spectrophotometric techniques (Shimadzu UV-120-02. Japan) according to the methods of Lowry and Passonneau (1972). Reverse-phase high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) was used to quantify ADP, AMP, and IMP contents (Wynants & Van Belle 1985). Muscle metabolites excepting glycogen and lactate were corrected for total creatine content. Muscle homogenate pH was determined in 2-4 mg freeze-dried tissue (1mg/100µl) with a pH microelectrode (MI-410/ Microelectrode Inc., USA) at 37 °C, in an homogenate buffer which contained sodium iodacetate (5 mM), KCl (145 mM) and NaCl (10 mM, Spriet et al. 1989).

3.4 Blood Analyses

3.4.1 Blood sampling

A catheter (20G, Jelco) was inserted into a superficial dorsal hand vein prior to the muscle fatigue test as well as the incremental aerobic power test. All blood samples were arterialised by heating the left hand in a hot (45°C) water bath for 10 min before samples were taken (McLoughlin et al. 1992). Two syringes of blood were drawn at each sampling time, the first for plasma gas and electrolyte concentrations (1.0 ml, Rapidlyte, Ciba Corning Diagnostics Corporation, Medfield, USA); the second for haematocrit and lactate measurements (5 ml, Terumo Medical Corporation, Elkton, USA). The catheter was kept patent by periodic infusions of heparinised isotonic saline (1 ml).

3.4.2 Blood processing and analyses

The blood was mixed well, air bubbles removed from the syringe, capped tightly and placed on ice for subsequent analysis of plasma acid-base status and gas tensions (pH, pCO_2 , pO_2), and electrolyte concentrations (K⁺, Na⁺, Cl⁻) in duplicate on an automated analyser (865 Ciba Corning, Medfield, USA).

Haemoglobin concentration ([Hb]) was determined in duplicate spectrophotometrically (Radiometer OSM2, Copenhagen, Denmark). From the second syringe 1ml of blood was portioned into an eppendorf tube and analysed in triplicate for haematocrit (Hct). Samples were spun for 8 minutes in a microcentrifuge (Hettich Zentrifugen D-7200, Tuttlingen, Germany, CV for Hct was 0.6%). All analytical instruments were calibrated before and during the analyses with precision standards.

A 1 ml aliquot of whole blood was centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 4 min, and the plasma separated. A 200µl aliquot of both plasma and whole blood were separately

87

deproteinised in 600 µl of cold 3M perchloric acid, vortexed, centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 4 min, the supernatant drawn off, then stored at -80°C. Blood and plasma lactate were later analysed in triplicate, using an enzymatic spectrophotometric technique (Lowry & Passonneau 1972).

3.4.3 Calculations

pH was converted to $[H^+]$ using equation 3.5

Equation 3.5 $[H^+] = 1 \times 10^{(-pH)}$,

The rise in plasma $[K^+]$ above rest ($\Delta[K^+]$) and the ratio of the rise in $[K^+]$ divided by the work done ($\Delta[K^+]$ / work, McKenna et al. 1993) were also calculated (Equation 3.6 and 3.7).

Equation 3.6 $\Delta [K^+] (mM) = [K^+] - [K^+]$ rest

Equation 3.7 $\Delta[K^+]$ /Work (nM.J⁻¹) = $\Delta[K^+]$ / Work Done

The decline in K^+ from peak exercise at one, two and five min recovery was also determined. The decline in plasma volume ($\Delta PV\%$) during exercise and recovery was calculated from changes in Hct and [Hb] (Equation 3.8, Edwards & Harrison 1984).

Equation 3.8
$$\% \Delta PV = 100^*$$

$$\begin{array}{c}
[Hb]_1 & x & (1-Hct_2) \\
\hline
[Hb]_2 & x & (1-Hct_1)
\end{array}$$

3.5 Statistical Analyses

Data are presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) except where stated otherwise. Statistical analyses were performed by paired *t* tests (eg Rest vs Fatigue, Chapter 5), or one-way analysis of variance for two variable comparisons (Chapter 6) whilst for non-paired data, an independent t-test was employed (eg transplant patient vs age-matched control, Chapter 7). A two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with

88

repeated measures on one variable was used where there were more than 2 variables compared. When a significant F-ratio was obtained in ANOVA procedures, data were further analysed with a Newman-Keuls post-hoc test. Relationships among variables were established by least squares linear regression analyses. Significance was accepted at an α -level of 0.05.

Chapter 4 Development of a method for measurement of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity in human skeletal muscle

4.0 Introduction

During skeletal muscle membrane excitation, each action potential is associated with sodium (Na⁺) influx and potassium (K⁺) efflux (Hodgkin & Horowitz 1959). The gain in intracellular [Na⁺] extracellular [K⁺] are minimised by the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme during repeated excitation of muscle (Clausen 1990). The rapid activation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme in contracting skeletal muscle therefore helps preserve muscle membrane potential, excitability, and reduces muscular fatigue (Everts & Clausen 1994).

The capacity to regulate excitation-induced Na⁺/K⁺ exchange depends on the total content, as well as the maximal activity of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme. Although most authors have focussed on factors regulating the total content of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in muscle (Clausen 1996a; McKenna et al. 1993), it is apparent that under certain conditions, the maximal enzyme activity may be altered independent of the total content (Druml et al. 1988; Pickar et al. 1994). Thus, to quantitate muscle Na⁺/K⁺ exchange capacity it is necessary to measure both maximal *in vitro* Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity and the total content of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase.

The total content of Na^+, K^+ -ATPase is best quantified by [³H]-ouabain binding measurements, as reviewed elsewhere (Nørgaard 1986). Perhaps the best quantitative method of maximal Na^+, K^+ -ATPase activity is through measurement of radiolabelled

ion fluxes and this technique has been applied during electrical stimulation of isolated intact muscle preparations (Clausen et al. 1987). However, these techniques cannot be used to measure maximal Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity in human skeletal muscle samples obtained by needle biopsy. Biochemical methods used to quantify the maximal *in-vitro* Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity in skeletal muscle samples include measurements of inorganic phosphate production in purified preparations (Bonting et al. 1961), or the activity of related K⁺-dependent phosphatases, using substrates such as p- nitrophenyl phosphate (pNpp, Hundal et al. 1994; Judah et al. 1962), or 3-Omethylfluorescein phosphate (3-O-MFP, Kjeldsen et al. 1988).

The use of purification procedures inevitably results in extremely low recovery of enzyme activity and therefore should not be used for quantifying total Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity (Hansen & Clausen 1996; Nørgaard et al. 1984b). In contrast, complete membrane and enzyme recovery can be attained using the K⁺-stimulated pNppase and 3-*O*-MFPase assays in rat muscle homogenates (Hansen & Clausen 1996). The K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase assay has a 2-3 times higher sensitivity, therefore requiring 50-100 times less tissue, than the K⁺-stimulated pNppase (Clausen et al. 1987). Thus, the K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase assay is the preferred method for studies investigating Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity in small human muscle samples obtained by needle biopsy.

To our knowledge there are only two reports of K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity in human skeletal muscle (Benders et al. 1992, 1993), based on an earlier method for rat skeletal muscle (Nørgaard et al. 1984b). However, during preliminary investigations in our laboratory, we were unable to reliably determine K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity in human skeletal muscle using this technique. The present paper describes several substantial modifications to earlier K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity assays (Benders et al. 1993; Kjeldsen et al. 1988) to optimise enzymatic conditions for measurement of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity in human skeletal muscle.

Five experiments were conducted using the revised K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase assay in crude human muscle homogenates. The first two experiments determined the optimal substrate and the K⁺-stimulating concentrations. The third experiment confirmed that maximal enzyme exposure, and therefore maximal activity, was obtained using a freeze-thaw treatment of the homogenate, whilst the fourth experiment assessed the inter- and intra- assay variability in human skeletal muscle. The final experiment investigated the specificity of the K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase assay using the Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase inhibitor, ouabain. On the basis of these experiments we report an improved and reliable K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase method suitable for the determination of *in vitro* Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity in human skeletal muscle.

4.1 Methods

4.1.1 Chemicals and Stock Solutions

All chemicals were of analytical grade with 3-O-methylfluorescein, 3-Omethylfluorescein phosphate, and ouabain obtained from Sigma Chemicals, St. Louis, Missouri, USA. A 4 mM 3-O-methylfluorescein standard solution was prepared in methanol. A 10 mM 3-O-methylfluorescein phosphate solution was prepared in assay medium with pH initially adjusted to 12.0 to allow 3-O-MFP to dissolve before readjustment of pH back to 7.40.

4.1.2 Needle biopsy and preparation of muscle homogenates:

Ethical approval was obtained from the Human Research Ethics Committee at Victoria University of Technology. After giving written informed consent, seven healthy, untrained male subjects volunteered for the study (mean \pm SD, age 29.7 \pm 7.6 yrs, height 177.1 \pm 9.2 cm, body mass 79.4 \pm 14.2 kg). Whilst resting supine on a couch, subjects had biopsies taken from the vastus lateralis muscle under local anaesthesia (1% lignocaine injection), using the percutaneous needle biopsy technique (Bergström 1962). Muscle samples (30-40 mg) were immediately blotted on filter paper, weighed, then homogenised (5% w/v) at 0°C for 2 x 20s, 20000 rpm (Omni 1000, Omni International, Gainesville, Virginia, U.S.A.) in an homogenate buffer containing 250 mM sucrose, 2 mM EDTA, and 10 mM Tris (pH 7.40). Muscle homogenates were immediately frozen and stored in liquid N₂ until analysis.

4.1.2 Assay

Before analysis, homogenates were freeze-thawed four times, then diluted 1/5 in cold homogenate buffer. The assay medium in which 3-*O*-MFPase activity was measured contained 5 mM MgCl₂, 1.25 mM EDTA, 100 mM Tris, and an 80 nM 3-*O*-MF standard (pH 7.40). The freeze-thawed, diluted homogenate (30µl) was incubated in 2.5ml of assay medium at 37°C for 5 minutes before addition of 40µl of 10 mM 3-*O*-MFP to initiate the reaction (Fig 4.1). After 60 seconds, 10µl of 2.58 M KCl (final concentration 10 mM) was added through an injection port to stimulate K⁺-dependent phosphatase activity, with the reaction measured for another 60 seconds. The K⁺stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase assays were performed at 37°C, using continuous stirring, on a spectrofluorimeter (Aminco Bowman AB2 SLM, Urbana, Illinois, U.S.A). Excitation wavelength was set at 475nm and emission wavelength 515nm, with 4nm slit widths.

4.1.3 Calculation of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity

To calculate the K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity, the unspecific ATPase activity and spontaneous hydrolysis present before the addition of 10 mM KCl was subtracted from the activity obtained after KCl addition. Protein content of the homogenate was determined spectrophotometrically (Lowry et al. 1951).

4.1.4 Optimising assay conditions

Four experiments were conducted to optimise conditions for the 3-O-MFPase assay for human skeletal muscle. Firstly the optimal substrate concentration was tested by measuring maximal K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity at 0, 20, 40, 100, 160, 200, and 400µM 3-O-MFP. Secondly the optimal K⁺-stimulating concentration was determined by measurement of 3-O-MFPase activity after the addition of 0, 2.5, 5.0, 10, 15, 20, and 25 mM KCl. The extent to which latent activity was exposed in this preparation was tested with four freeze-thaw cycles, compared to a non freeze-thaw treatment of the homogenate. Inter- and intra-assay variability were also reported.

4.1.5 Assay Specificity

The final experiment was to confirm the assay specificity for the Na^+,K^+ -ATPase enzyme. Ouabain was added to the homogenate at a final concentration of 1 mM and incubated at 37°C for either 10 or 30 minutes.

4.1.6 Statistics

Data are presented as mean ±sem. Statistical analyses were performed by one-way analysis of variance, with post-hoc analyses using the Student Newman-Keuls test.

Paired t-tests were performed for the freeze-thaw experiment. Significance was accepted at P < 0.05.

4.2 Results



Figure 4.1 (A) A typical K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase assay in a crude human skeletal muscle homogenate. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 160 μ M 3-O-MFP at 20 s, with K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity induced by addition of 10 mM KCl at 100 s. (B) Superimposed is a second assay with homogenate previously incubated with 1 M ouabain for 10 min. Note that K⁺-stimulated activity was abolished by ouabain. Activity is calculated by the difference in the two slopes in A.

4.2.1 Substrate velocity curve

The homogenate 3-O-MFPase activity progressively increased when 3-O-MFP was increased from 19.5 μ M to 160 μ M (P < 0.05), but was not significantly different at higher substrate concentrations (Fig 4.2). Thus, an optimal 3-O-MFP concentration of 160 μ M was chosen.



Figure 4.2 Substrate-velocity curve for 10 mM K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity (nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet wt) in crude human skeletal muscle homogenate (mean \pm SEM, n=3). The optimal [3-O-MFP] was 160 μ M.

4.2.2 Optimal K⁺ concentration

The K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase activity (using 19.5 μ M [3-*O*-MFP]) increased as the KCl concentration increased from 0 to 10 mM (*P* <0.05), did not differ from 10 mM at 15 and 20 mM KCl, and was lower than 10 mM at 25 mM KCl (*P* <0.05, Fig. 4.3). Thus 10 mM KCl was chosen as the optimal K⁺-stimulating concentration. Substrate concentration used throughout these experiments was 160 μ M 3-*O*-MFP.



Figure 4.3 Effect of different KCl concentrations on K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity (nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet wt) in crude human skeletal muscle homogenate (mean \pm SEM, n=3). Using 160µmol [3-O-MFP], the optimal KCl concentration was 10 mM.

4.2.3 Exposing latent activity

The four freeze-thaw cycles increased K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity by 24%, compared to a non freeze-thawed homogenate (P < 0.05).

4.2.4 Assay precision

The inter-assay variation (same homogenate on different days) for the 3-O-MFPase assay conducted on human skeletal muscle homogenate was 5.3% (n=5, mean 242±13 nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹). The intra-assay (repeated analysis of same homogenate) variation was 8.1% (n=6, mean 246±20 nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹).

4.2.5 Assay specificity

The ouabain inhibition of K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity is shown in Figure 4.1. Ten and thirty minute incubation with 1 mM ouabain inhibited K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity by $85\pm 3\%$ and $97\pm 2\%$ respectively (n=3).

4.2.6 Human skeletal muscle K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity

Using the optimised conditions described above, the maximal K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity in seven human skeletal muscle samples was 292 ± 10 nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹, or 1745 ± 84 pmol min⁻¹ mg⁻¹ protein.

4.3 Discussion

This study reports an improved K^+ -stimulated 3-O-MFPase assay that allows valid and reliable measurement of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in human skeletal muscle. The K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity in muscle obtained by needle biopsy from young untrained males was 292 nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹, which was five-fold higher than the only other published results for human skeletal muscle (Benders et al. 1992, 1993). The current assay optimised enzymatic conditions for human skeletal muscle and was modified from previous work using rat (Kjeldsen et al. 1988) and human (Benders et al. 1992) skeletal muscle.

The most important modification resulted from our finding that the optimal substrate concentration for the K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase assay was 160 μ M. This was eight times higher than the previously used concentration of 19.5 μ M, based on a purified enzyme preparation from rat skeletal muscle (Kjeldsen et al. 1988). Previous work had assumed 19.5 μ M 3-O-MFP to be optimal for human skeletal muscle (Benders et al. 1992). The 5-fold higher activity reported for human muscle in the present study can largely be attributed to this modification. Further increases in [3-O-MFP] above 160 μ M were avoided as this promoted an increased rate of spontaneous 3-O-MFP hydrolysis, that may mask the 3-O-MFPase activity specific to the Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase enzyme.

The major reason for the development of this assay was to overcome large inter and intra assay variability using the previous technique which compared K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase activity in one run against ouabain inhibited activity in another run (Benders et al. 1992). In the present assay, the K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase activity was determined in a single run, and this substantially reduced variability. We report low variability for the K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase assay, thus confirming the suitability of this assay for reliable measurement of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity in human skeletal muscle. The inter-assay variation (between different homogenates) for the 3-*O*-MFPase assay conducted on human skeletal muscle homogenate was 5.3% (n=5, mean 242 nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹). The intra-assay (repeated analysis of same homogenate) variation was 8.1% (n=6, mean 246 nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹).

Two important aspects of the 3-*O*-MFPase assay were confirmed for human skeletal muscle in this study. Firstly, it was clearly established that the modified 3-*O*-MFPase assay was specifically measuring Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity, with complete inhibition of activity after 30 min of incubation with ouabain. The greater inhibition after 30 compared to 10 min incubation, is consistent with other findings of slow ouabain inhibition (Huang & Askari 1975), and would also partially account for the higher activity reported in this study, compared to the 10 minute incubation used in the previous assay (Benders et al. 1992). Secondly, the optimal K⁺ activation for human skeletal muscle was achieved with 10 mM KCl, in agreement with other substrate assays for Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase (Izumi et al. 1966; Pitts & Askari 1971). Interestingly, the optimal K⁺-stimulating concentration is equivalent to the peak muscle interstitial [K⁺] reported during maximal muscular contractions in humans (Vyskocil et al. 1983).

Unmasking latent activity concealed in vesicles can be achieved if the vesicles are broken into membrane fragments to allow substrate and ligand access to the catalytic site of the enzyme. Breaking these vesicles and unmasking latent 3-O-MFPase activity could be performed with detergent treatment (Jorgensen et al. 1971) or by freeze-fracture (Benders et al. 1992). Using inorganic phosphate production as a measure of maximal Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity, Benders et al. (1992) showed that detergent treatment of cultured human muscle cells did not increase Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity, but did show an increase in activity when the samples were freeze thawed before analysis. However they did not report what effect these different treatments had on muscle biopsy homogenate Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity using the 3-O-MFPase assay. The present study showed that four freeze thaw cycles increased activity, consistent with increases seen in Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity shown by Benders et al. (1992). The use of SDS detergent also increased activity but the results were inconsistent (data not shown). Inconsistency could be due to the varying influence of pH, temperature, protein and detergent concentration, all of which influence a detergent's ability to expose enzyme activity trapped in vesicles (Jorgensen et al. 1971). As it is important to obtain the critical micelle concentration to achieve maximal activation it was decided that a more reliable method of exposing activity was achieved using the four freeze-thaw cycles just prior to analysis.

Caution must be taken if one wants to convert these activity measures to Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase concentration values, as there are uncertainties involved in determining the molecular activity of the enzyme (Kjeldsen et al. 1984a). It is also assumed that the number of molecules is the sole determinant of the maximal K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity. Calculations using previously established turnover rates from purified enzyme preparations (Kjeldsen et al. 1988) would be inappropriate under the modified conditions of the assay. With an increased rate of reaction new turnover rates appropriate for the modified conditions are required.

In conclusion, several important modifications were made to the K⁺ stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase assay. The maximal activity was five-fold higher than other reports for human muscle, predominantly due to use of an increased substrate concentration. Variability was reduced by measuring 3-*O*-MFPase activity in a single run. This modified, sensitive assay allows for reliable and valid measurement of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity in human skeletal muscle.

Chapter 5 Fatigue depresses maximal Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity in human skeletal muscle

5.0 Introduction

Muscle fatigue is a complex phenomenon involving multiple factors, with the importance of each factor dependent on the intensity and duration of exercise, muscle fibre composition and the individual degree of physical training (Fitts & Balog 1996; McKenna 1992). One postulated mechanism contributing to fatigue during intense exercise is an impairment of membrane excitability, caused by deterioration in transmembrane Na⁺ and K⁺ gradients, consequent to inadequate Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity (Clausen et al. 1987; Jones & Bigland-Ritchie 1986; Nielsen & Overgaard 1996; Overgaard et al. 1997; Verburg et al. 1999).

At rest the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme is activated to only a few percent of its theoretical maximum rate (Clausen et al. 1987; Clausen & Everts 1989; Everts & Clausen 1994; Hazeyama & Sparks 1979). However, during contractions the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme is rapidly activated, with the mechanism for activation being a combination of electrical, ionic, and hormonal factors (Clausen 1998; Green 1998; McKenna 1998). This activation constrains the excitation-induced rise in $[Na^+]_i$ and $[K^+]_e$ and thereby limits cellular depolarisation, thus acting to maintain muscle excitability. Despite this activation, Na⁺ and K⁺ gradients across the sarcolemma are not always maintained during muscle contractions induced by electrical stimulation (Clausen et al. 1987). This was clearly shown by Balog & Fitts (1996) who used ion-selective electrodes to study the effects of

fatiguing high frequency stimulation (150Hz) on $[Na^+]_i$ and $[K^+]_i$ in frog semitendinosus muscle. As a result of the fatiguing stimulation, $[Na^+]_i$ rose from 16mM to 49mM and $[K^+]_i$ fell from 142mM to 97mM. Consequently the membrane potential declined from – 83mV to –70mV (Balog & Fitts 1996). These excitation-induced changes in ion gradients have been shown to contribute to the development of fatigue through rapid membrane depolarisation, reduced action potential amplitude, and slow inactivation of voltage dependant Na⁺ channels (Hodgkin & Horowitz 1959; Juel 1988; Overgaard et al. 1999; Ruff 1996). An elevated extracellular $[K^+]$ can reduce excitability in skeletal muscle, with a 40% and 95% loss in contractile force evident when $[K^+]_e$ was elevated to 10mM and 12.5mM respectively (Cairns et al. 1995; Clausen et al. 1993; Juel 1988; Lännergran & Westerblad 1986). This problem is exacerbated when $[Na^+]_e$ is simultaneously reduced. Overgaard et al. (1999) showed that exposure to 85mM Na⁺ and 9 mM K⁺ decreased the M-wave area (compound action potential), by 54% and reduced tetanic force by 50% in isolated rat soleus muscle stimulated through the nerve.

The importance of active Na⁺, K⁺ transport in maintaining muscle excitability and force generation has been demonstrated by inducing acute Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activation or deficiency. The acute loss of force in intact soleus muscle exposed to lowered [Na⁺]_e and increased [K⁺]_e could be substantially recovered by stimulating Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity with 10⁻⁵ M of the β_2 agonist salbutamol (Bouclin et al. 1995, Overgaard et al. 1997). The recovery of force was completely inhibited with 10⁻³ M ouabain (Overgaard et al. 1997). In studies where Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content is acutely reduced by ouabain inhibition, force during repeated tetani is subsequently compromised (Clausen et al. 1993; Nielsen & Clausen 1996). In isolated rat soleus and extensor digitorum longus muscles, graded Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase inhibition with ouabain induced a marked reduction in force development (Nielsen & Clausen 1996). A 54% reduction in rat soleus muscle Na⁺, K⁺-

ATPase content induced by K^+ deficiency also caused a proportional loss in force (Nielsen & Clausen 1996). The resultant reduction in force with reductions in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content highlight the importance of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase to skeletal muscle contractile performance.

Whilst resting Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in skeletal muscle has been investigated in animal models (Hundal et al. 1994; Judah et al. 1962; Nørgaard et al. 1984b) and in humans (Benders et al. 1993; Chapter 4), the effects of fatiguing exercise on skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity have not been directly investigated. Sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase activity is depressed with fatigue in animal and human models, most likely due to a structural alteration in the enzyme (Booth et al. 1997; Byrd et al. 1989a,b; Li 1999). Given the structural homology of the α subunit of the Ca²⁺ ATPase and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzymes (Inesi et al. 1997), it is possible that structural alterations may be induced in both ion pumps with fatigue (Booth et al. 1997). Although numerous studies have looked at K⁺ regulation and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content in exercising humans (Green et al. 1993; Kjeldsen et al. 1990a,b; McKenna et al. 1993) these studies have been restricted to the plasma [K⁺] response and [³H]-ouabain binding site content. No studies have investigated the possibility that an acute depression of maximal in vitro Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity may occur with fatigue. Therefore this study tested the hypothesis that skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity would be depressed at fatigue.

5.1 Methods

Eight healthy untrained males volunteered for the study and gave informed consent as described (Chapter 3). All experimental procedures for exercise tests, muscle biopsies and blood sampling and analyses, and respiratory data analyses have been fully described

à

(Chapter 3) as have details and validation of the 3-O-MFPase assay (Chapter 4). Briefly, all subjects completed an incremental exercise test to fatigue and on a separate day completed a muscle fatigue test (MFT) comprising 50 maximal knee extensions. All subjects had a muscle biopsy taken from the vastus lateralis muscle at rest and immediately after completion of MFT. Muscle biopsy samples were analysed for 3-O-MFPase activity and [³H]-ouabain binding site content, fibre type proportions and metabolites. Arterialised-venous blood samples were taken from a dorsal hand vein before, during, and after the two exercise trials. Blood samples were analysed for blood [Hb], Hct, and plasma gases, [K⁺], [H⁺], and [lactate].

5.2 Results

5.2.1 Muscle fatigue test

Peak knee extensor muscle torque declined by 49.5 \pm 2.8 % during the 50 contractions on the Cybex dynamometer (P < 0.05, Figure 5.1). The cumulative work done was 10.68 \pm 0.32 kJ.



Figure 5.1 Knee extensor muscle peak torque during 50 maximal contractions on a Cybex isokinetic dynamometer. Mean \pm SEM; n=8.

5.2.2 Fatigue effects on maximal 3-O-MFPase activity

The maximal *in-vitro* 3-*O*-MFPase activity in resting skeletal muscle was $207 \pm 10 \text{ nmol}$ min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet wt. This was depressed by $13.8\pm4.1\%$ (P < 0.05) to $179 \pm 9 \text{ nmol}$ min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet wt at fatigue (Table 5.1). The depression with fatigue was similarly evident when activity was expressed relative to muscle protein content (-10.5±3.4%, P < 0.05, Figure 5.2, Table 5.1). (Note the 3-*O*-MFPase activity data for subject 3 was incomplete and was excluded from the table and future correlations with 3-*O*-MFPase activity.) A suboptimal K⁺ stimulating concentration of 5.5mM resulted in 3-*O*-MFPase activity that was approximately 75% of the maximal activity induced by 10mM [K⁺]. When the 5.5mM KCl was used, the 3-*O*-MFPase activity in fatigued muscle was not significantly altered from rest (n=6, P = 0.23, Table 5.2).

ž

Table 5.1 Maximal 3-O-MFPase activity (using 10mM KCl) in vastus lateralis muscle biopsied at rest and at fatigue in untrained subjects.

	3-O-MFPase	activity	3-O-MFPase activity		
	(nmol min ⁻¹ g ⁻¹ wet wt.)		(nmol min ⁻¹ g ⁻¹ protein)		
Subject	Rest	Fatigue	Rest	Fatigue	
1	227	202	1295	1123	
2	224	177	1232	1057	
4	167	130	951	790	
5	203	191	1172	1127	
6	234	179	1395	1148	
7	219	198	1253	1159	
8	170	177	1095	1002	
Mean ±SEM n =7	207 ± 10	179 ± 9*	1199 ± 54	$1058 \pm 49^{*}$	
Absolute decline		27 ± 8		141 ± 26	
(rest-fatigue)					
% decline		13 ± 4		12 ± 2	
(rest-fatigue)					
*fatigue < rest (<i>P</i> <0.05)					



Figure 5.2 Maximal 3-O-MFPase activity (nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet wt.) from vastus lateralis muscle biopsied at rest and at fatigue expressed relative to muscle wet weight. Data are mean \pm SEM; n=7; *P < 0.05.

	3-O-MFPase activity (nmol min ⁻¹ g ⁻¹ wet wt.)		3-O-MFPase activity (pmol min ⁻¹ mg ⁻¹ protein)		
Subject					
	Rest	Fatigue	Rest	Fatigue	
1	201	148	1144	824	
2	152	133	833	794	
4	133	80	756	483	
5	141	128	811	754	
6	153	159	912	1021	
8	133	159	855	902	
Mean ±SEM n= 6	152 ± 10	135 ± 12	885 ± 56	796 ± 74	
% of maximal activity	73%	75%	72%	75%	
Absolute decline		27 ± 8		141 ± 26	
(rest-fatigue)					
% decline		13 ± 4		12 ± 2	
(rest-fatigue)					

Table 5.2 Muscle 3-*O*-MFPase activity induced by a sub-optimal stimulating KCl concentration of 5.5mM, biopsied at rest and at fatigue in untrained subjects.

5.2.3 Muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content

The total Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content in resting muscle for the 8 untrained subjects measured by ³H ouabain binding was 306 ± 13 pmol.g⁻¹ wet wt (Table 5.3).

Table 5.3 Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content in vastus lateralis muscle biopsied at rest in untrained subjects.

Subject	Na ⁺ ,K ⁺ -ATPase content		
	(pmol.g ⁻¹ wet wt)		
1	329		
2	375		
3	305		
4	329		
5	250		
6	275		
7	285		
8	302		
Mean ±SEM	306 ± 13		

5.2.4 Muscle fibre type

The untrained subjects had $52.7 \pm 3.4\%$ type I and $47.3 \pm 3.4\%$ type II muscle fibres.

5.2.5 Fatigue effects on muscle metabolites

There was a decrease in muscle ATP (13.5%), PCr (62%), and glycogen contents (24%) with fatigue, whilst muscle $[H^+]$ (>2-fold) lactate (11-fold), IMP (40-fold) and creatine contents (> 2-fold) all increased with fatigue (P < 0.05, Table 5.4).

Table 5.4 Muscle substrate and metabolite contents in vastus lateralis muscle biopsied at rest and at fatigue in untrained subjects.

	Rest	Fatigue
ATP	25.67 ± 0.85	19.51 ± 1.71*
ADP	2.77 ± 0.18	2.90 ± 0.47
AMP	0.13 ± 0.02	0.15 ± 0.02
IMP	0.08 ± 0.01	3.26 ± 0.84*
PCr	93.3 ± 2.3	35.8 ± 3.5*
Cr	42.0 ± 2.6	99.5 ± 4.6*
Lactate	8.0 ± 0.8	$91.6 \pm 10.0^{*}$
[H ⁺]	68.4 ± 2.7	152.6 ± 13.3*
Glycogen	469 ± 34	356 ± 31*

Values are expressed as mmol.kg⁻¹ dry weight of muscle, except H⁺ (nmol.L⁻¹), and glycogen (mmol glucosyl units.kg⁻¹ dry muscle), n=8, Mean \pm SEM. * Rest different to fatigue, P < 0.05.

5.2.5.1 Relationships between muscle 3-*O*-MFPase activity and muscle metabolites at rest and fatigue

To determine whether the in vitro muscle 3-O-MFPase activity may be related to metabolic status the relationships between muscle 3-O-MFPase activity, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, muscle function and fibre type were determined. There was a significant positive relationship between 3-O-MFPase activity and muscle PCr contents in resting skeletal muscle (Fig 5.3A). In fatigued muscle there was a significant inverse relationship between muscle [H⁺] and 3-O-MFPase activity (Fig 5.3B), but this was largely dependent
ų.

on a single subject who displayed a high $[H^+]$ and low 3-O-MFPase activity at fatigue. There were no other significant relationships between 3-O-MFPase activity and metabolites in resting or fatigued muscle.



Figure 5.3 The relationships between (A) resting muscle maximal *in vitro* 3-*O*-MFPase activity (nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet wt) and PCr content, n=7, and (B) fatigued muscle maximal *in vitro* 3-*O*-MFPase activity (nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet wt) and fatigued muscle [H⁺], n=7.

ц.

، بر

When the rest and fatigue data were pooled, there was a moderate relationship between 3-O-MFPase activity and both ATP and PCr contents (P < 0.05, Fig 5.4 A,B) and an inverse relationship with lactate (P < 0.05, Fig 5.4 C). However, there were no significant relationships between the change in activity (rest –fatigue) and either the absolute or percentage changes in metabolites.



Figure 5.4 The relationships between maximal *in vitro* 3-*O*-MFPase activity (nmol.min⁻¹.g⁻¹ wet wt) and pooled (rest and fatigue) muscle ATP (A), PCr (B) and (C) lactate contents (mmol.kg⁻¹,dry wt) n=7.

5.2.5.2 Relationships between 3-O-MFPase activity, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, muscle

fibre type and muscle performance

There were no significant relationships between 3-O-MFPase activity, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, muscle fibre type or indices of muscle performance including fatigue index or total work.

5.2.6 Fluid and electrolytes changes during the MFT

5.2.6.1 Plasma volume changes during the MFT

Plasma volume decreased (P < 0.05) by 5.7 ± 1.3% during fatiguing exercise and for 5 min following exercise, then did not differ significantly from resting levels thereafter (Figure 5.5A).

5.2.6.2 Plasma [lactate] and $[H^+]$

Arterialised-venous plasma [H⁺] rose slightly from 37.5 ± 0.5 to 39.4 ± 0.6 nmol.l⁻¹ at the end of exercise, peaked at 5 min post and returned to resting levels by 20 min post-exercise (Figure 5.5B). Plasma [lactate] rose three-fold during MFT, peaked 2 min into recovery and slowly declined until not differing from resting levels by 20 min post (Figure 5.5C).

5.2.6.3 Plasma $[K^+]$ during MFT

Arterialised-venous plasma [K⁺] increased from 3.89 ± 0.07 mM at rest to 4.81 ± 0.17 mM at peak exercise (Figure 5.5D). The Δ [K⁺] at peak exercise was 0.92 ± 0.13 mM and the Δ [K⁺] expressed relative to work done was 85.7 ± 13.0 nmol.l⁻¹.J⁻¹. The rate of decline in [K⁺] from peak exercise to 1 and 2 min recovery was 0.42 ± 0.10 and 0.35 ± 0.07 mmol.l⁻¹.min⁻¹, respectively.



Figure 5.5 Arterialised venous (A) Δ Plasma volume, (B) plasma [H⁺], (C) plasma [Lactate], and (D) plasma [K⁺] at rest (R) and at fatigue (F) during the MFT (denoted by hatched bar) and 30 min of recovery. * different from rest, P < 0.05. Data: n=8, Mean \pm SEM.

5.2.7 Relationships between 3-O-MFPase activity, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, muscle performance and K⁺ response during MFT

To determine whether the absolute content or activity of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase might determine the plasma [K⁺] response, the relationships between 3-O-MFPase activity, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, muscle performance and K⁺ response during MFT were examined. Resting skeletal muscle 3-O-MFPase activity was not related to peak plasma [K⁺], but there was a significant inverse relationship with Δ [K⁺] and Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ ratio during the MFT (Fig 5.6A, B). Surprisingly, however, an inverse relationship was also found between 3-O-MFPase activity and fall in arterialise-venous plasma [K⁺] at 1 and 2 min post exercise during the MFT (Fig 5.6 C,D).



Figure 5.6 The relationship between maximal *in vitro* 3-*O*-MFPase activity in resting muscle (nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet wt) and (A) $\Delta[K^+]$, (mM) (B) $\Delta[K^+]$.work⁻¹ ratio (nmol.l⁻¹.J⁻¹) (C) Fall in [K⁺] at 1 min post and (D) Fall in [K⁺] at 2 min post for the MFT. n=7.

5.2.8 Cardiorespiratory measures during the incremental exercise test

The work output results and cardiorespiratory measures taken during the incremental exercise test are summarised in Table 5.5.

Table 5.5 Peak incremental exercise test cardiorespiratory and work output data for the untrained subjects. Mean \pm SEM, n = 8.

Peak variable	
• VO ₂ (l.min ⁻¹)	3.55 ± 0.40
$\dot{V}O_2$ (ml.kg ⁻¹ .min ⁻¹)	44.4 ± 1.8
\dot{V}_{E} (l.min ⁻¹)	167.0 ± 7.0
HR (b.min ⁻¹)	190 ± 2
Workrate (W)	313 ± 11
Total work (kJ)	128 ± 8

5.2.8.1 Plasma volume and plasma $[K^+]$ during incremental exercise test

Plasma volume decreased (P < 0.05) by 13.4% during the incremental exercise, then returned to resting levels by 30 min recovery (Figure 5.7A). Arterialised-venous plasma [K⁺] increased from 3.95 ± 0.06 mM at rest to 6.14 ± 0.17 mM at peak exercise (P < 0.05) and did not differ from resting levels from 5 min post-exercise (Figure 5.7B). The Δ [K⁺] at peak exercise was 2.19 ± 0.16 mM and the Δ [K⁺] expressed relative to work done was 18.5 ± 2.3 nmol.l⁻¹.J⁻¹. The rate of decline in [K⁺] from peak exercise to 1 min and to 2 min recovery was 0.52 ± 0.09 and 0.69 ± 0.06 mmol.l⁻¹.min⁻¹, respectively.



Figure 5.7 (A) Decline in arterialised venous plasma volume and (B) Plasma [K⁺] at rest, during incremental exercise and 30 min of recovery. Data: n=8, Mean \pm SEM. *significantly different from rest (P < 0.05), dashed line indicates zero change in plasma volume.

5.2.9 Relationship between 3-O-MFPase activity, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, and

plasma [K⁺] during the incremental exercise test

There was a tendency for an inverse relationship between 3-O-MFPase activity (wet wt) in resting muscle and $\Delta[K^+]$ (Fig 5.8A), but this was significant when $\Delta[K^+]$ was expressed relative to work performed (Fig 5.8B) in the incremental test. There was no significant relationship between 3-O-MFPase activity and fall in [K⁺] 1 and 2 min post incremental exercise (Fig 5.8C,D).



Figure 5.8 The relationship between maximal *in vitro* 3-O-MFPase activity at rest (nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet wt) and (A) Δ [K⁺], (mM) (B) Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ ratio (nmol.l⁻¹.J⁻¹) (C) Fall in [K⁺] at 1 min post and (D) Fall in [K⁺] at 2 min post incremental exercise.

5.3 Discussion

5.3.1 Depression in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity after intense fatiguing exercise

The most important finding from this study was the $13.8\pm4.1\%$ decrease in maximal K⁺ stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity in skeletal muscle with fatiguing exercise. This is the

first time this has been demonstrated and implicates Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase activity as another potential site for muscle fatigue during high intensity exercise in humans.

5.3.2 Critique of method used to measure Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity

As outlined in Chapter 4, the in vitro 3-O-methlyfluorescein phosphatase assay used to measure Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity was optimised for human skeletal muscle homogenates. There are no other established methods to directly measure Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in human skeletal muscle, and the in vitro 3-O-MFPase assay is the most sensitive assay currently used to indirectly measure Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. The specificity of the assay was confirmed with ouabain inhibition. Despite these positives, the assay does have several limitations. The first is that any acute *in vivo* effects on the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity is unlikely to be detected. These might include increases in muscle temperature, [H⁺] and changes in metabolites that are not detectable in the standardised conditions of this in vitro 3-O-MFPase assay. In addition, the activating effects of various hormones, and electrical events are clearly not measurable with this in vitro assay. Secondly the measurement of maximal activity may not be physiologically relevant since it has been suggested that the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme is only activated in the range of 15-50% of its theoretical maximum in human muscle (Hallén et al. 1994; Sejersted & Hallén 1987). Many studies have shown that the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is activated during muscle contraction (Clausen 1998; Clausen & Everts, 1989; Everts & Clausen 1994; Everts et al. 1988; Hazeyama & Sparks 1979) but the exact extent of activation in human skeletal muscle is not known. The results of this study showing a depression in maximal in vitro Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity with fatigue suggest a reduced reserve in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. The physiological significance of this reduced reserve is not clear from this study and remains to be elucidated.

Finally the maximal K^+ -stimulated phosphatase activity represents the terminal phosphatase reaction in the process of ATP cleavage, Na⁺ extrusion, and K⁺ reaccumulation in the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase cycle (Elmosehli et al. 1994). Thus the assay does not indicate the physiological activity *in vivo* in comparison to the *in vitro* maximal K⁺-stimulated phosphatase activity. It is possible therefore that this assay does not reflect the maximal activity of the complete Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase cycle. Despite these limitations a clear effect of fatigue has been shown on the maximal K⁺ stimulated 3-O-MFPase assay indicating a compromised reserve in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity.

5.3.3 Mechanisms for fatigue induced depression in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity

The fatigue-induced depression in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity was evident when the data were expressed relative to wet weight and relative to muscle protein content. This indicates that the lower activity at fatigue was not due to fluid shifts into muscle and therefore diluted Na⁺, K⁺ ATPase in the fatigued muscle. This, combined with the fact that the incubation medium was the same for rest and fatigue muscle, it is most likely that a structural alteration was the cause of the fatigue-induced depression in the *in-vitro* Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. The exact mechanisms for the proposed structural alterations to the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase actual alteration of Ca²⁺, reactive oxygen species, metabolic perturbations, and increased temperature. Due to structural homology of the catalytic subunits of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and Ca²⁺ ATPase (Inesi et al. 1997), factors that affect Ca²⁺ ATPase may also affect Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. Interestingly, Ca²⁺ ATPase activity is decreased in human muscle during both prolonged (Booth et al. 1997) and brief contractions (Li 1999). Structural alterations suggested to occur in Ca²⁺ ATPase with fatigue (Booth et al. 1997), has been proposed to be due to increased oxygen free radicals

(Davies et al. 1992), exercise-induced calcium activated proteases (Belcastro et al. 1993), or alterations (Gilchrist et al. 1992). No studies have investigated the effects of fatigue on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in relation to structural alterations, ROS or temperature changes. A possible explanation for the decreased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity is that structural alterations may decrease K⁺ affinity.

5.3.3.1 Metabolic Effects

During the MFT, significant associations were seen between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and the content of ATP and PCr, and muscle lactate using both rest and fatigue muscle. However this does not imply a causal relationship, rather it is possible that these marked metabolic changes reflect parallel processes occurring with fatigue. Any causal relationship between these metabolic perturbations and the depressed *in vitro* Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity would need to be the result of *in-vivo* structural changes that persisted when measuring the *in vitro* maximal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. Metabolic perturbations may be exacerbated in the *in vivo* situation and could be additional to structural effects on the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. It is also important to clarify that the metabolite measurements were global measures and do not reflect localised changes around the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase where some metabolic compartmentalisation has been proposed (James et al. 1996).

A link between glycolysis and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity has been demonstrated in rat skeletal muscle (James et al. 1996, 1999). Using monensin (Na⁺ ionophore) to raise intracellular [Na⁺] in isolated rat skeletal muscle, James et al. (1996) showed an ouabain-suppressible (60%) stimulation of glycolysis and increase in lactate production under fully aerobic conditions. The authors suggested that removal of glucose from their incubation medium would inhibit Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. James et al. (1996) also implied that a significant fraction of the ATP to fuel the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase must be supplied

by glycolysis, and that a high degree of metabolic compartmentalisation occurs. Thus the fuel for Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity seems to derive from glycolysis and any local changes in fuel supply may well compromise Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity *in vivo*, but this may not be detected in global cellular measures of metabolites or muscle homogenate Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity measures.

If the depressive effect of fatigue on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase was exacerbated in the *in vivo* situation where energy supply and pH are likely to be compromised, then its physiological importance in the etiology of muscle fatigue is paramount. Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity, when assessed via the 3-O-MFPase activity, has a broad pH range of However the inhibition of Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase activity (assessed through Pi 7.0-8.0. production) increases as pH falls below 7.0 (Huang & Askari 1984). The pH of the fatigued muscle in this study was 6.82 indicating that Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity may be further compromised, adding to any structural alterations that may have occurred. The compartmentalisation theory that the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase uses glycolysis to provide ATP (James et al 1996) may invoke a local pH drop due to the build up of lactic acid. The depressive effect of low muscle pH on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity is amplified by increases in intracellular Pi, which increases in fatigued muscle (Dawson et al. 1988; Huang & Askari 1984; Weiner et al. 1990). The inhibition of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase by Pi (half maximal inhibition at 2-3mM) occurs when the Pi is covalently incorporated into the same aspartyl residue of the enzyme that is phosphorylated in the course of ATP hydrolysis (Huang & Askari 1984; Mercer & Dunham 1981).

5.3.3.2 Reactive Oxygen Species

One possible mechanism underlying the depressed maximal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity found in fatigued muscle is an elevation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in muscle. Resting skeletal muscle produces free radicals and their production greatly increases during contraction (Davies et al. 1982, Reid et al. 1992). The Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme activity is dependent upon an intact phospholipid bilayer and any modifications to the phospholipid moiety could modify the protein's function. Impairment of sarcolemnal membrane integrity due to the effect of free radicals may occur, similar to lipid peroxidation observed in the SR membrane (Davies et al. 1982). The effect of ROS on skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase has not been extensively studied (Kourie 1998). I am only aware of one study to have investigated ROS effects on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in skeletal muscle (abstract, Clough 1996). Clough (1996) reported a 70% decline in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in rat rectus femoris muscle when exposed to the free radical generating system of t-butylhydroperoxide and horseradish peroxidase. This inhibition of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in skeletal muscle probably involves disruption of the lipid bilayer or oxidation of SH groups on the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, but the precise mechanism remains unresolved. However it is known that myocardial Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is susceptible to ROSinduced lipid peroxidation. Under ischaemic conditions, a 3-fold increase in malondialdehyde resulted in a 16% reduction in ouabain sensitive Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity, as calculated from Pi production (Kim & Akera 1987). In pig coronary artery, the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase hydrolytic activity and transport of Rb⁺ were uncoupled upon exposure to peroxide or superoxide (Elmoselhi et al. 1994).

It has been suggested that ROS have a significant adverse impact on a number of ATPases, especially those bearing a sulphydryl (SH) group which are susceptible to ROS (Boldyrev et al. 1997; Körge 1998). The extent to which ROS-induced disruption to

sarcolemmal membrane proteins such as Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase occurs and whether this contributes to skeletal muscle fatigue remains to be determined.

5.3.3.3 Ca^{2+} inactivation of Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase activity

Another possible mechanism for the depressed Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity with fatigue is a rise in intracellular [Ca²⁺] (Breier et al. 1998; Sulová et al. 1998). Whilst the Ca²⁺ transient during contractions actually decreases with fatigue (Westerblad et al. 1993), there is a progressive rise in the resting intracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ (Gissel & Clausen 1999). In millimolar concentrations Ca²⁺ inhibits both the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase hydrolytic activity (Huang & Askari 1982; Yingst et al. 1992) and transport activity of the enzyme (Stankovicová et al. 1995). The inhibitory concentrations of Ca²⁺ can be shifted from millimolar to micromolar levels by modulation with calmodulin or calnactin (Sulova et al. 1998). Okafor et al. (1997) showed that calmodulin-dependent phospholipase A_2 is involved in Ca²⁺-induced inhibition of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. Gissel and Clausen (1999) showed that chronic low frequency stimulation led to increased sarcolemmal Ca²⁺ uptake, and this increased cytoplasmic $[Ca^{2+}]$ has been attributed to various cellar damage pathways (Duan et al. 1990, McCutcheon et al. 1990). Increased intracellular [Ca²⁺] has been shown to decrease the hydrolytic activity, as well as the transport (and/or electrogenic) activities of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in resting muscle (Huang & Askari 1982; Stankovicová et al. 1995) and human red blood cells (Yingst et al. 1992). Thus it is possible that fatigue will induce a rise in intracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ and this may induce a conformational change in the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme, and thereby reduce its activity and impair muscle function. A localised increase in cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ may stop further release from the SR (Lamb et al. 1995) leading to excitation-contraction uncoupling. This uncoupling may in addition involve inhibition of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, protecting

against further contraction and deleterious increases in intracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$. Ca^{2+} induced inactivation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase may be an important mediator in a coordinated downregulation of contractile activity.

Factors that temporarily or permanently alter the structure of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase are likely to cause the observed depression in maximal *in vitro* Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. More than likely Ca²⁺ and ROS act additively or synergistically to compromise Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and/or reduce K⁺ sensitivity of the enzyme as they have both been shown to affect Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function (Huang & Askari 1982; Clough 1996; Stankovicová et al. 1995; Yingst et al. 1992). Whether it is allosteric modification, altered lipoprotein interaction or a conformational change that comprises this depressed Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity cannot be determined from this study, but certainly warrants further investigation. The metabolic changes that occurred during the fatiguing exercise are also unlikely to alter the structure of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase but these perturbations may act in addition to the structural changes to further reduce Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity *in vivo*.

5.3.4 Relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity, content, and muscle performance

There was no significant relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content. This finding is surprising given that activity should be largely determined by Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content. However, the relatively small sample size could skew results. In addition, each Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity measure has a variability of around 5% and ³H ouabain binding also around 5-10%, which increases the scatter of the data. This relationship is further examined with larger sample sizes and trained subjects in the next chapter. The relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content or activity and muscle force is of interest, given that a 50% decline in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content induced by K⁺ deficiency showed a proportional loss in force (Nielsen & Clausen 1996). However no relationships were evident between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity or content and indices of muscle performance during the muscle fatigue test. Part of the reason for discrepancy between present findings and those of Nielsen & Clausen (1996) is that the latter induced a 50% decrease in functional Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase which was 4-fold greater than the 13.5% decline in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase shown here. It may be that there is a threshold level of inactivation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase may represent some fibres with various gradations of activity loss from normal activity to complete inhibition. More severe exercise may lead to a greater loss of activity in more fibres, therefore a greater reduction in force.

Previous research has also investigated Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and indices of muscle performance in relation to training. Klitgaard & Clausen (1989) showed no correlation between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and knee extensor exercise endurance but did show a weak correlation with maximal isometric force in elderly trained subjects. Madsen et al. (1994) also found no relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and time to fatigue in endurance trained subjects. In contrast to the findings of Evertsen et al. (1997) and Green et al. (1999a), this study showed no relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and $\dot{v}O_2$ peak. This is probably due to the small sample size and the group homogeneity with respect to $\dot{v}O_2$ peak in the present study. The present study was not a training study, therefore the purpose was not to induce an increase in $\dot{v}O_2$ peak as was the design of the Green et al. 1999a study. These relationships are further examined with larger sample sizes and trained subjects in the next chapter.

5.3.5 Relationships between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and plasma [K⁺] during exercise Skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase plays a vital role in plasma [K⁺] regulation in muscle and blood during exercise, and therefore the relationships between Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity and [K⁺] during exercise were examined. Inconsistent relationships were found between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and the [K⁺] response during both the MFT and incremental exercise test. This could partly be explained by the site of blood sampling. Blood was sampled from a warmed hand vein which simulated arterial blood as PO₂ values were above 80 mmHg (Appendix B). The increases in plasma [K⁺] during the MFT would have been much larger if samples could have been taken from a femoral vein draining the contracting muscle (Juel et al. 1990). Such studies have not been approved for use in our laboratory. There would also be clearance of K⁺ from the blood through red blood cells and both inactive and contracting skeletal muscle Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase (Lindinger et al. 1999; Rolett et al. 1990). However Juel et al. (1999) recently showed that red blood cell [K⁺] during muscle activity was more likely to be due to water movements than a transmembrane flux of K⁺. Activation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase will rapidly decrease venous [K⁺] (Hallén 1996; McKenna et al. 1997) but the decrease in [K⁺] in arterialised-venous blood will be less rapid and smaller in magnitude. Recently Juel et al. (2000b) has measured interstitial [K⁺] from contracting muscle during dynamic exercise, and this is the most appropriate site for determination of relationships between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and [K⁺] from exercising muscle, as raised interstitial [K⁺] fatigue at this site increases cell depolarisation and therefore contributes to fatigue. However, a significant inverse relationship was found between in vitro Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and $\Delta[K^+]$ and $\Delta[K^+]$.work⁻¹ during the MFT. Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity was related to the $\Delta[K^+]$.work⁻¹ during the incremental exercise test. The incremental test induced a greater rise in $[K^+]$

and an increased activation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase compared to the MFT. However despite a twelve fold greater amount of work done, there was only a doubling of $\Delta[K^+]$, indicating much larger clearance of K⁺ during the incremental test as well.

In light of these sample site limitations, combined with a small sample size, the relationships in this study between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and the plasma [K⁺] response during both the incremental and fatigue tests must be viewed with caution. However Schmidt et al. (1995) showed that a 9% reduction in functional Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase as a result of digoxin treatment resulted a doubling of arterio-venous [K⁺] difference in CHF patients. Further, supra-physiological stimulation frequencies that induce large fluxes of Na⁺ and K⁺ across the sarcolemma, have been shown to exceed the capacity of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme to counter the flow of these ions (Clausen and Nielsen 1994b). It appears that even a small reduction in functional Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase capacity may have important effects in countering exercise hyperkalemia. Opposed to this notion is the report that the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme is only activated in the range of 15-50% of its theoretical maximum immediately (Hallen & Sejersted 1993). Therefore the maximal activity of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is of less importance than the *in vivo* activation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase during exercise.

5.4 Conclusions

This study confirms the hypothesis that a depression occurs in maximal *in vitro* Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity with intense exercise in human skeletal muscle. This is the first time this has been demonstrated in skeletal muscle. The mechanism(s) responsible for the fatigueinduced depression in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity cannot be directly deduced from this study, but most likely involve structural alterations in the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme. These structural alterations may be due to ROS or increases in intracellular [Ca²⁺]. It is possible that fatigue effects for *in vivo* Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity are even greater than the *in vitro* effects measured here, due to the combined effects of structural alterations and other metabolic and ionic perturbations.

The results of this study indicate a compromised Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase function at fatigue or at least a reduced reserve for Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase activation. Further work is required to determine the mechanism and likely impact of fatigue induced depression in Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase activity.

Chapter 6 Effect of Chronic Resistance Training and Endurance Training on Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase Function and Plasma [K⁺] During Exercise

6.0 Introduction

Although it is well established that endurance training induces an increase in muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (see Table 2.3), relatively few studies have investigated the effect of resistance training on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content. Green et al. (1999a) showed that resistance training for 7 weeks induced a 16% rise Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content. However this response to resistance training was inconsistent as this increase at 7 weeks did not persist with a further 5 weeks of training (Green et al. 1999a). Klitgaard & Clausen (1989) showed that elderly strength trained men had 45% higher Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content that untrained elderly men, although this relative change is exacerbated by the inactivity in the older untrained men. Despite this, the relative changes are much higher than other training studies, which show a change of around 15% with endurance training (Evertsen et al. 1997; Madsen et al. 1994; McKenna et al. 1993). Therefore the effects of resistance training on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase are variable and warrant further investigation. Of the studies that have investigated endurance training and resistance training effects on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, none have investigated changes in both Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content. Therefore the first aim of this study was to examine both Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and activity in endurance trained and resistance trained subjects.

The previous chapter showed that acute fatiguing exercise decreased the maximal *in vitro* skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in untrained subjects. The training effects on this fatigue-induced depression have not been examined. It is known that both resistance

training and endurance training induce a fibre transition from IIB to IIA and therefore increase the fibre oxidative potential (Adams et al. 1993; Fitts 1996; Green et al. 1979; Kraemer et al. 1995). It is not known whether resistance training and endurance training will attenuate the fatigue-induced decline in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity, and whether this will be influenced by the fibre type expression. Therefore the second aim of this study was to contrast the effects of fatigue on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in endurance trained, resistance trained and untrained muscle.

Training results in a blunting of the exercise-induced rise in plasma K⁺ concentrations (Green et al. 1993, Harmer et al. 2000; Kjeldsen et al. 1990), while McKenna et al. (1993) showed that seven weeks of sprint training resulted in a decreased rise in plasma [K⁺] relative to work done. This reduced hyperkalemia during exercise has partly been attributed to an increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content in skeletal muscle (Green et al. 1993). However no studies have related a reduction in hyperkalemia with a rise in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content or activity. There have been no reports of reduced hyperkalemia after resistance training. This study therefore explored the effects of chronic training on the relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, activity and the plasma [K⁺] during exercise.

Animal studies have shown a relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and muscle contractile performance (Clausen et al. 1993; Nielsen & Clausen 1996). The relationship between muscle function and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in humans is unclear. There was no correlation between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and time to fatigue after isometric contractions (Klitgaard & Clausen 1989) or work in repeated sprints (McKenna et al. 1993). However there was a weak correlation between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and maximal isometric force (Klitgaard & Clausen 1989). Therefore there are inconsistencies in the relationships between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, training, and performance and this requires further investigation.

This study therefore examined the influence of training status and fatigue on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in human skeletal muscle. The hypotheses tested were (1) Chronic resistance trained and endurance trained subjects will show an increased resting Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content compared to control subjects. (2) Chronic resistance trained and endurance trained subjects will be characterised by improved muscular performance, associated with a smaller fatigue-induced depression in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and a lower plasma [K⁺] response during exercise compared to control subjects.

6.1 Methods

Eight healthy untrained controls (UT, Chapter 5), eight resistance-trained subjects (RT) and eight endurance-trained subjects (ET) volunteered for the study and gave informed consent (Chapter 3). All experimental procedures for anthropometric tests, exercise tests, muscle biopsies and blood sampling and analytical procedures have been fully described earlier (Chapter 3 & 4). Briefly, all subjects completed anthropometric tests, a torque-velocity test and 50 maximal knee extensions on a Biodex isokinetic dynamometer. They also completed an incremental cycle ergometer exercise test with arterialised-venous blood samples taken from a dorsal hand vein before, during, and after the test. Blood samples were analysed for plasma acid-base status and gas tensions, [K⁺], [lactate], as well as [Hb] and Hct. On a separate day, subjects completed a muscle fatigue test (MFT) on a Cybex isokinetic dynamometer. All subjects had biopsies taken from the vastus lateralis muscle at rest and immediately after completion of the MFT. Resting muscle

biopsy samples were analysed for Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase activity and content, fibre type proportions and metabolites, while fatigue samples were analysed for Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase activity and metabolites. The same blood analyses for the incremental test were conducted for the MFT.

6.2 Results

6.2.1 Anthropometric Measures

The sum of 6 skinfolds and % body fat were less in ET than both UT and RT (P < 0.05, Table 6.1). RT tended to have a higher thigh cross-section area than UT (P = 0.09, Table 6.1).

6.2.2 Incremental exercise performance

The ET had a higher peak workrate, and peak $\dot{v}O_{2}$, than both UT and RT. RT had a lower peak HR than UT (P < 0.05, Table 6.2).

Table 6.1 Anthropometric characteristics in untrained (UT) resistance trained (RT), and endurance trained (ET) subjects, Values are mean \pm SD, n = 8 for each group.

	UT	RT	ET
Sum of 8 skinfolds (mm)	74.7 ± 24.4	58.3 ± 13.9	$45.4 \pm 16.3^{\dagger \pm}$
Body Fat (%)	14.5 ± 3.6	11.9 ± 2.3	$9.4 \pm 2.7^{\dagger \ \ddagger}$
Thigh muscle + bone C.S.A (cm^2)	207.5 ± 19.4	232.4 ± 16.2	219.9 ± 30.3

C.S.A, Cross-sectional area [†] different from UT; [‡] different from RT; all P < 0.05.

Table 6.2 Peak cardiorespiratory responses to incremental exercise in untrained (UT) resistance trained (RT), and endurance trained (ET) subjects; Values are mean \pm SE, n = 8 for each group.

	UT	RT	ET
Workrate (W)	313 ± 11	334 ± 18	$400 \pm 18^{+\ddagger}$
HR (b.min ⁻¹)	190 ± 3	$185 \pm 2^{+}$	188 ± 4
\dot{V}_{E} (l.min ⁻¹)	166.8 ± 7.0	154.1 ± 13.5	186.9 ± 7.6
$\dot{V}O_2(l.min^{-1})$	3.55 ± 0.14	3.53 ± 0.14	$5.55 \pm 0.28^{\dagger \ddagger}$
$vO_2(ml.kg^{-1}.min^{-1})$	44.4 ± 1.8	43.8 ± 3.6	67.6 ± 1.5 ^{†‡}

[†] different from UT; [‡] different from RT P < 0.05.

6.2.3 Non-Invasive isokinetic muscle function

6.2.3.1 Torque-velocity response

RT had a higher peak torque than ET during dynamic isokinetic contractions (main effect, Fig 6.1), surprisingly however peak isometric torque did not differ significantly between the groups.



Figure 6.1 The torque-velocity response during isometric and isokinetic contractions on a Biodex dynamometer, in untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained (RT, \Box) and endurance trained (ET, \blacktriangle) subjects. * For dynamic contractions main effect for group RT > ET, UT (P < 0.05), n = 8, mean ± SE.

6.2.3.2 Muscle fatigue test

Performance variables measured during the non-invasive fatigue test completed on the Biodex isokinetic dynamometer are shown in Table 6.3. Peak work was higher in RT than UT and ET (P < 0.05), but no differences were evident between groups in peak torque. The fatigue index (FI) was lower in ET than in UT and RT, by ~27% and 25% respectively (P < 0.05).

	UT	RT	ET
Peak Torque (Nm)	165.7 ± 15.3	185.5 ± 18.5	168.3 ± 8.32
Peak Torque (Nm.kg ⁻¹)	2.06 ± 0.11	2.27 ± 0.23	2.28 ± 0.14
Peak Work (J)	146.5 ± 4.7	$153 \pm 4.9^{\dagger}$	$118.9 \pm 3.3^{\dagger\ddagger}$
Peak Work (J.kg ⁻¹)	1.84 ± 0.18	1.88 ± 0.06	1.61 ± 0.07
FI (%)	52.3 ± 3.5	50.1 ± 3.3	$25.0 \pm 5.6^{\dagger \ddagger}$

Table 6.3 Non-invasive muscle fatigue test results in untrained (UT) resistance trained (RT), and endurance trained (ET) subjects, Values are mean \pm SE, n = 8 for each group

[†] different from UT; [‡] different from RT P < 0.05.

6.2.3.3 Invasive isokinetic muscle fatigue test

Peak torque declined in all groups during the 50 contractions conducted on the Cybex dynamometer (Fig 6.2, P < 0.05). There were no significant differences in the FI between the Biodex and Cybex tests. The FI_{torque} for the UT, RT, and ET were 49.5 ± 2.8%, 55.6 ± 4.8%, 33.3 ± 5.3% respectively. The ET showed significantly lower FI than UT and RT (P < 0.05).



Figure 6.2 Knee extensor muscle peak torque for untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained (RT, \Box), and endurance trained (ET, \blacktriangle), subjects during 50 maximal contractions on a Cybex isokinetic dynamometer. Means shown but error bars omitted for clarity, n=8 for each group.

6.3 Muscle fibre type

ET had a higher proportion of type I fibres, compared to UT and RT (P < 0.05, Fig 6.3). RT and UT did not differ in fibre type proportion.



Figure 6.3 Muscle fibre proportions for untrained (UT) resistance trained (RT), and endurance trained (ET). ^{†‡} ET > UT & RT (P < 0.05).

6.4 Maximal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity

The resting skeletal muscle maximal *in-vitro* Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity did not differ between UT, RT and ET, when the results were expressed relative to muscle wet weight or per milligram of protein (P = 0.185, Table 6.4). However an independent t-test indicated 20.3% higher resting 3-O-MFPase activity in ET compared with UT (P<0.05). A significant main effect was found for fatigue effects on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, with the decline being 15.9%, (P < 0.05, Figure 6.4). No significant interaction was seen, indicating that the decline in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity with fatigue was not different between the three groups. This fatigue-induced drop was also evident when the data was expressed relative to muscle protein content (-10.8%, P < 0.05).

ý

Table 6.4 Vastus lateralis muscle maximal 3-O-MFPase activity (using 10mM KCl) at rest and at fatigue in untrained (UT) resistance trained (RT), and endurance trained (ET) subjects

	Na ⁺ ,K ⁺ -ATPase activity (nmol min ⁻¹ g ⁻¹ wet wt.)		Na ⁺ ,K ⁺ -ATPase activity (pmol min ⁻¹ mg ⁻¹ protein)	
Group	Rest	Fatigue*	Rest	Fatigue*
UT (n = 7)	207 ± 10	179 ± 9	1199 ± 54	1058 ± 49
RT (n = 8)	229 ± 19	205 ± 18	1295 ± 88	1180 ± 121
ET (n = 7)	249 ± 13	190 ± 12	1359 ± 44	1200 ± 84

Mean \pm SEM * main effect fatigue < rest (P < 0.05) (Note the 3-O-MFPase activity data for UT subject #3, and ET #7 were incomplete and were excluded from the table and future results regarding 3-O-MFPase activity).



Figure 6.4 The maximal *in-vitro* 3-O-MFPase activity (nmol.min⁻¹.g⁻¹ wet wt.) in resting and fatigued skeletal muscle pooled for untrained (UT) resistance trained (RT), and endurance trained (ET). Data are mean \pm SEM; n=22, * Main effect, Fatigue < Rest (P < 0.05).

6.4.1 Absolute and relative changes in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity

To determine whether the depressive effects of exercise on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity differed between groups, the absolute and percentage decline were compared. There were no differences between groups in the absolute or percentage change in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity when the results were expressed relative to muscle wet weight or per milligram of protein (Table 6.5).

Table 6.5 Decline in 3-O-MFPase activity after MFT in untrained (UT) resistance trained (RT), and endurance trained (ET) subjects.

	Absolute decline in 3-O-MFPase		Percent decline in 3-O-MFPase	
	activity		activity	
	(nmol min ⁻¹ g	(pmol min ⁻¹ mg ⁻¹	(%)	(%)
	¹ wet wt.)	protein)		
UT	27 ± 8	141 ± 26	13 ± 4	12 ± 2
RT	24 ± 13	115 ± 93	9±6	8 ± 9
ET	60 ± 17	159 ± 88	22 ± 6	11 ± 6

Mean \pm SEM, n = 7 for UT RT, ET.

6.5 Muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content

The Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content for ET was 16.6% and 18.3% higher than UT and RT respectively (P < 0.05, Fig 6.5). There was a tendency for Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content to be related to 3-O-MFPase activity relative to wet weight (r = 0.34, P = 0.08, Fig 6.6) and relative to protein (r = 0.39, P = 0.09).



Figure 6.5 Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content for untrained (UT) resistance trained (RT), and endurance trained (ET), n=8, Mean \pm SEM, units pmol.g⁻¹ wet wt, * ET > UT and RT (P < 0.05).

١


Figure 6.6 The relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (pmol.g⁻¹ wet wt) and 3-O-MFPase activity (nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet wt) untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained (RT, \Box), and endurance trained (ET, \blacktriangle), n=22.

6.6 Muscle metabolites

Resting muscle

The only significant difference among the three groups in resting muscle metabolites was a higher PCr content in RT than in UT and ET (P < 0.05, Table 6.6).

Fatigued muscle

Muscle ATP content decreased with fatigue in UT and RT (P < 0.05), but this was not significant in ET. Muscle PCr and glycogen contents decreased, whilst lactate, Cr, IMP, and [H⁺] increased with fatigue in all groups (P < 0.05). IMP at fatigue was less in both

RT and ET compared to UT (P < 0.05). At fatigue, muscle lactate and Cr were less, whilst muscle PCr was greater, in ET compared to UT (P < 0.05).

Table 6.6 Skeletal muscle metabolites at rest and after fatigue in untrained (UT) resistance trained (RT), and endurance trained (ET) subjects.

	UT (n =8)		RT (n =8)		ET (n =6)	
	Rest	Fatigue	Rest	Fatigue	Rest	Fatigue
ATP	25.67 ± 0.85	19.51 ± 1.71*	26.28 ± 1.33	21.21 ± 1.29*	24.13 ± 1.37	20.80 ± 0.94
ADP	2.77 ± 0.18	2.90 ± 0.47	3.41 ± 0.24	3.52 ± 0.38	3.16 ± 0.25	3.58 ± 0.28
IMP*	0.08 ± 0.01	3.26 ± 0.84	0.09 ± 0.03	$1.47 \pm 0.62 \dagger$	0.08 ± 0.01	2.56 ± 0.39 † ‡
PCr*	93.3 ± 2.3	35.8 ± 3.5	104.8 ± 2.9†	41.8 ± 3.4	82.3 ± 2.3‡	54.6 ± 3.3† ‡
Cr*	42.0 ± 2.6	99.5 ± 4.6	43.9 ± 3.3	108.3 ± 3.2	49.0 ± 4.3	76.7 ± 3.6† ‡
Lactate*	8.0 ± 0.8	91.6 ± 10.0	9.6 ± 1.0	84.8 ± 9.1	6.7 ± 0.9	66.1 ± 7.2† ‡
$[\mathbf{H}^{+}]^{*}$	68.4 ± 2.7	152.6 ± 13.3	73.2 ± 3.5	185.2 ± 9.3	65.7 ± 3.2	133.3 ± 9.7
Glycogen*	469 ± 34	356 ± 30	498 ± 34	376 ± 21	510 ± 32	349 ± 29

Values are expressed as mmol.kg⁻¹ dry weight of muscle, except [H⁺] (nmol.L⁻¹) and glycogen (mmol glucosyl units.kg⁻¹ dry muscle), Mean \pm SEM; * Main effect rest different from fatigue (P < 0.05); † different from UT corresponding sample; ‡ different from RT corresponding sample, P < 0.05.

6.7 Relationships between muscle 3-O-MFPase activity, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content,

muscle function and fibre type

When data from the three groups were combined there was a significant relationship between 3-O-MFPase activity and percentage of type I fibres (r = 0.53, P < 0.05, Fig 6.7). However, there was no relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and muscle fibre type. A weak significant inverse relationship was found between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and fatigue index during the MFT (r= -0.42, P < 0.05, Fig 6.8). There were no other relationships between MFT peak torque, fatigue index, or work done, and 3-O-MFPase activity or Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content for the three groups.

6.7.1 Relationships between 3-O-MFPase activity and muscle metabolites at rest and

fatigue

There were no significant relationships between resting muscle 3-O-MFPase activity and muscle metabolites at rest or fatigue. When data for all three groups was pooled this also failed to show any relationships. The absolute changes in 3-O-MFPase activity and absolute changes in muscle metabolites during the MFT were not significantly related. However, the percentage drop in 3-O-MFPase activity was correlated to the percentage drop in muscle glycogen (r = 0.53, P < 0.05). There were no other relationships between 3-O-MFPase activity or Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and the percentage change in muscle metabolites from rest to fatigue.



Figure 6.7 The relationships between 3-O-MFPase activity (nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet wt) and type 1 fibre percent for untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained (RT, \Box), and endurance trained (ET, \blacktriangle) subjects (n=22).

Ņ



Figure 6.8 The relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (pmol.g⁻¹ wet wt) and Fatigue Index during the muscle fatigue test for untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained (RT, \Box), and endurance trained (ET, \blacktriangle),n=24.

6.8 Plasma volume and electrolyte changes during muscle fatigue test

6.8.1 Plasma volume, plasma [lactate] and [H⁺]

Plasma volume decreased significantly below resting levels at the end of the MFT and continued to fall until 2 min of recovery (P < 0.05). It had returned to within resting levels by 10 min recovery. There were no significant differences between groups.

A small rise in plasma $[H^+]$ occurred at the end of MFT, peaked at 5 min post and had returned to within resting levels by 20 min post exercise. (Figure 6.9A). ET recovered faster than UT and RT, with $[H^+]$ lower than UT and RT at 5 min post and had returned to resting levels by 10 min post. Plasma lactate rose three-fold during the 50 contractions, peaked 1-2 min into recovery and slowly declined until plasma lactate did not differ from resting levels by 20 min post for UT and RT (Figure 6.9B). Peak [lactate] was less and ET recovered faster than UT and RT where plasma lactate was lower than UT and RT at 5 min post and had returned to resting levels by 10 min post.



Figure 6.9 (A) Plasma [H⁺] and (B) lactate at rest (R), mid exercise and at the point of fatigue (F) in the muscle fatigue test and 30 min of recovery for untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained (RT, \Box) and endurance trained (ET, \blacktriangle) subjects. Data: n = 8 for UT and ET, n =7 for RT, Mean ± SEM. * main effect all groups different from rest (P < 0.05). ^{†‡} ET < RT and UT (P < 0.05).

6.8.1.2 Plasma K⁺ response during MFT

Arterialised-venous plasma [K⁺] increased from rest and peaked at the end of the MFT (Figure 6.10), but did not differ between the UT, RT and ET groups. The peak [K⁺], Δ [K⁺] and Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ were not different between the three groups (Table 6.7).



Figure 6.10 Plasma K⁺ concentration at rest (R), mid and at the point of fatigue (F) in the MFT and 30 min of recovery for untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained (RT, \Box) and endurance trained (ET, \blacktriangle) subjects. Data: n = 8 for UT and ET, n =7 for RT, Mean \pm SEM. * main effect all groups higher from rest (P < 0.05).

à

Table 6.7 Plasma $[K^+]$ variables during the MFT for untrained (UT) resistance trained (RT), and endurance trained (ET) subjects. n = 8 for UT and ET, n = 7 for RT.

	UT	RT	ET
Peak [K ⁺] (mmol.L ⁻¹)	4.81 ± 0.17	4.57 ± 0.17	4.60 ± 0.09
$\Delta[K^+] (mmol.L^{-1})$	0.92 ± 0.13	0.60 ± 0.12	0.85 ± 0.09
$\Delta[K^+].work^{-1} (nmol.l^{-1}.J^{-1})$	85.7 ± 13.0	59.7 ± 11.6	77.6 ± 8.5

6.8.2 Relationship between 3-O-MFPase activity, Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase content, and K⁺ regulation during MFT

There were no significant relationships between 3-O-MFPase activity or Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and $\Delta[K^+]$ or $\Delta[K^+]$.work⁻¹ for the MFT for the three groups.

6.8.3 Plasma volume and $[K^{\dagger}]$ response during incremental exercise test

There was no difference in the plasma volume response from rest to vO_2 peak during the incremental exercise test between the three groups (% ΔPV : UT -13.4 ± 1.5, RT -12.1 ± 1.4, ET -12.3 ± 2.6). The arterialised-venous plasma [K⁺] increased from rest to peak exercise but the response was not different between the 3 groups (Figure 6.11). Whilst peak [K⁺] and Δ [K⁺] were not different between the groups, the Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ ratio was 36% lower in ET (11.8 ± 0.4 nmol.J⁻¹) compared to UT (18.5 ± 2.3 nmol.J⁻¹, P < 0.05), and also tended to be lower than in RT (16.2 ± 2.2 nmol.J⁻¹, P = 0.09).



Figure 6.11 Plasma [K⁺] at rest, during the incremental test and during 30 min of recovery for untrained (UT, \bullet), n=8, resistance trained (RT, \Box), n=7, and endurance trained (ET, \blacktriangle), n=8 subjects. Horizontal error bars for peak values indicate mean \pm SEM workrate. The zero recovery time point is the peak exercise value replotted. * significant main effect for all groups different from rest (P < 0.05).

6.8.4 Relationships between 3-O-MFPase activity, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, $\dot{v}O_2$ peak, and muscle fibre type

Both muscle 3-O-MFPase activity expressed relative to wet weight and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content were significantly correlated with $\dot{V}O_2$ peak (r=0.46, r=0.65, respectively, P < 0.05, Fig 6.12A,B). There was also a relationship between $\dot{V}O_2$ peak relative to body mass and the percentage of type I fibres (r = 0.62, P < 0.05, Fig 6.12C).

Ş



Figure 6.12 Relationship between $\dot{V}O_2$ peak (l.min⁻¹) and (A) 3-O-MFPase activity (nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet wt) (B) (Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (pmol.g⁻¹wet weight) and (C) % type I fibres for pooled untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained (RT, \Box), and endurance trained (ET, \blacktriangle), n=23, (n = 22 for A, $\dot{V}O_2$ peak for C reported in ml.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹).

6.8.5 Relationship between muscle 3-*O*-MFPase activity, Na^+, K^+ -ATPase content, and plasma $[K^+]$ during the incremental exercise test

The Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ ratio was inversely related to 3-*O*-MFPase activity both when expressed relative to muscle wet weight (r = -0.53, *P* < 0.05, Fig 6.13A) and muscle protein (r = -0.57, *P* < 0.05) during the incremental exercise test. There was also a significant inverse relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ during the incremental test (r = -0.49, *P* < 0.05, Fig 6.13B). There was also a tendency for 3-*O*-MFPase activity to correlate with peak work during the incremental test (r = 0.39, *P* = 0.07) whilst Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content was related to peak work (r = 0.53, *P* < 0.05).



Figure 6.13 The relationship between $\Delta[K^+]$.work⁻¹ (nmol.l⁻¹.J⁻¹) and (A) 3-O-MFPase activity (nmol.min-1.g⁻¹ wet wt, n=22) and (B) Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (pmol.g⁻¹ wet wt, n=24) for the incremental test untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained (RT, \Box), and endurance trained (ET, \blacktriangle).

6.9 Discussion

The hypothesis that training reduces the decline in maximal *in vitro* Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase activity with fatigue was not supported by the findings of this study. This confirms the finding of an acute depression in Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase activity with fatigue shown in the previous chapter (5) with a larger subject population. This suggests that the observed depression in Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase activity with fatigue is an obligatory response with fatiguing muscular contractions, irrespective of training status. This study was also the first to show a relationship between Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase activity and type I fibres in human skeletal muscle.

6.9.1 Training does not prevent reduced Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity with fatigue

The important finding from this study was the similar decrease in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity whether expressed in relative or absolute terms for UT, RT, and ET. This indicates that training status has no clear effects on the depression in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase with fatiguing contractions. Thus the implied structural alterations to the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme observed in UT, occurred in the trained subjects. Unfortunately the extent to which intracellular Ca²⁺, temperature, oxygen free radicals or metabolic perturbations effect the structural integrity of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase cannot be qualified here. However the effects of training on some of these processes have been documented, therefore allowing speculation as to their importance.

6.9.1.1 Metabolic changes

The percentage decline in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity with fatigue across all groups was associated with the percentage change in muscle glycogen levels. Further, there was a

weak relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and the fall in PCr levels and rise in lactate levels with fatigue. As stated in Chapter 5, these metabolic changes may merely reflect an association between parallel changes with fatigue. These metabolic disturbances would only effect the *in vitro* Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase measure if they altered the enzymatic activity (eg alter structural integrity) of the enzyme. Despite this, if they are important in the etiology of fatigue-induced reductions in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity, they are likely to be even greater in the *in vivo* situation.

The link between glycolysis and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity was shown in rat skeletal muscle (James et al. 1996; 1999). James et al. (1996; 1999) indicated that the stimulation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase was linked to stimulation of glycolysis and the increase in lactate production under fully aerobic conditions and this was more marked in the EDL that in the oxidative soleus muscle. These authors also implied that a significant fraction of the ATP to fuel the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase must be supplied by glycolysis, and a high degree of metabolic compartmentalisation occurs (James et al. 1996). A local fall in ATP concentration may partially inhibit Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity, as shown in cultured epithelial cells in the rabbit (Kuwahara et al. 1998). Kuwahara and colleagues (1998) showed that an episode of ATP depletion initiated by metabolic inhibitors such as rotenone, caused a partial inhibition of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity (⁸⁶Rb uptake). The Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is reported to account for 20-30% of cellular ATP hydrolysis (Siems et al. 1984; Buck & Hochachka 1993). Therefore any local fall in ATP concentration is likely to affect the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase but the exact mechanism is not clear. Some investigators have suggested that lowered cellular ATP concentration can alter the association of Na⁺, K^+ -ATPase with the cytoskeleton (Molitoris et al. 1992) and cause internalisation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase molecules (Mandel et al. 1994). Endurance training would allow improved regulation ATP production and utilisation, as evidenced by the ET group in this study

showing a non significant drop in cellular ATP compared to the other two groups. However the reduction in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity with fatigue was not attenuated in any of the groups indicating at least that training effects on global metabolic measures (ie glycogen, ATP etc) did not significantly effect Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. This does not rule out local metabolic effects potentially compromising Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and/or exacerbating the effects of the *in vitro* decline in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in the *in vivo* situation.

6.9.1.2 Reactive Oxygen species

Aerobic production of energy results in a proportional rise in reactive oxygen species, while endurance training results in higher $\dot{v}O_2$ values than untrained individuals, thus a higher production of ROS is likely. However this is balanced by an increase in antioxidant enzyme activity (Powers & Lennon 1999; Vincent et al. 2000). Increases in both enzymatic and non-enzymatic cellular defence mechanisms occur, but the increase is restricted to highly oxidative fibres (Ji et al. 1988, Powers et al. 1994). The antioxidant enzymes superoxide dismutase, GPX (GSH peroxidase) but not catalase activities increase in trained skeletal muscle (Ji et al. 1988; Leewenburgh et al. 1994; 1997; Powers et al. 1994). Studies on non-enzymatic antioxidants and training are inconsistent but there is evidence for training to increase GSH and ubiquinone levels especially in rat and human oxidative fibres (Beyer et al. 1984; Karlsson et al. 1996; Leewenburgh et al. 1994; 1997; Powers & Lennon 1999). The benefits of ET in protecting against the deleterious ROS effects on the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase during the muscle fatigue test remains unclear. Further, no studies have investigated the effect of any of these factors on the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase during exercise.

6.9.1.3 Ca^{2+} inactivation of Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase activity

As outlined in Chapter 5, a possible mechanism for the depressed Na^{*}, K⁺-ATPase activity with fatigue is a rise in intracellular [Ca²⁺] (Breier et al. 1998; Sulová et al. 1998). Calcium ions are involved in the regulation of many processes in excitable cells (Breier et al. 1998; Racay et al. 1996; Sulová et al. 1998). In millimolar concentrations Ca²⁺ inhibits both the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase ATPase hydrolytic activity (Huang & Askari 1982; Yingst et al. 1992) and transport activity of the enzyme (Stankovicová et al. 1995). The effect of training on intracellular [Ca²⁺] is unknown and it is not possible from this study to elucidate the role Ca²⁺ plays in the fatigue-induced depression seen in the untrained and the chronically trained groups. However a higher proportion of type II fibres has been associated with a greater density of Na⁺ channels (Ruff 1996). This would invoke greater entry of Ca²⁺ during contraction, giving rise to a greater cytosolic [Ca²⁺]. This raised cytosolic [Ca²⁺] is likely to have invoke more deleterious effects on the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. However the ET actually tended to show the greatest decline in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity with fatigue, and paradoxically had the lowest percentage of type II fibres.

6.9.1.4 Fibre type

The increased proportion of oxidative fibres with ET was postulated to protect against the deleterious effects of fatigue on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. In this study, despite a relationship between type I fibre proportion and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity, this did not invoke protection against the detrimental effects of fatiguing exercise on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. Green & Chin (1993) have shown a relationship between oxidative potential and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content in rat skeletal muscle, however others have reported no clear indication of a Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase fibre type dependence in human skeletal muscle (Benders

et al. 1992; Dørup et al. 1988; Madsen et al. 1994; Nørgaard 1986). Similarly, no such finding was found in this study. Opposed to these finding however, a new finding in this study is a relationship between oxidative fibres and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity.

6.9.2 Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and training status

Despite the lack of a significant effect of training status on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity, the endurance trained group showed a significantly higher Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (17%). This ~17% higher Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content is consistent with other endurance training studies (Green et al. 1993; Evertsen et al. 1997; Madsen et al. 1994). No increase in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content was found in the RT group, which is contrary to the 16% increase with RT (Green et al. 1999a) and 45% higher Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content in chronic resistance trained older men (Klitgaard & Clausen 1989) respectively. The UT subjects average value for ³H ouabain binding site content was 306±18 pmol.g⁻¹ wet wt which is lower than other published values for untrained (or moderately active subjects) such as 333 and 339 pmol.g⁻¹ wet wt for McKenna et al. 1993 and Green et al.1993 respectively. Therefore it does not appear that our untrained subjects were a degree of absence from a sedentary state. The ET group were clearly more trained than UT with a 56% higher $\dot{v}O_2$ peak, however an unexpected limitation in this study was that the RT group did not differ greatly from UT in muscle mass or peak muscle torque, and the only clear difference being a greater dynamic torque generated. Unfortunately I was unable to recruit elite weight lifters as they were unwilling to undergo muscle biopsies. A functional criterion was used to differentiate RT from recreational gym users, but this may not have been stringent enough. Thus, the lack of an effect of RT on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content could be that this group was insufficiently trained in comparison to previous studies (Green et al. 1999a; Klitgaard & Clausen 1989). To investigate this question

further, a more highly trained group is required and a longitudinal design (eg Green et al. 1999a) may be more beneficial. Further, no measurements were made to confirm possible muscle fibre hypertrophy. The muscle fibre hypertrophy resulting from RT will result in less sarcolemmal surface area for a given mass of tissue (Harrison et al. 1994). Thus any increase in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme number with resistance training may be diluted by the increase in fibre cross sectional area relative to sarcolemmal area.

6.9.2.1 Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content vs activity

A surprising finding was the lack of a strong relationship (r =0.37, P < 0.05) between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and activity. The variability associated with each measure and the relatively small spread of data, may each have contributed to this weak relationship. When another group (age-matched controls for transplant patients, Chapter 7) was added the relationship was much stronger (r=0.61, P < 0.05). The direct association between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content has previously been established in rat skeletal muscle (Nørgaard et al. 1984b). In the Nørgaard et al. study (1984b) a molar activity or turnover number was calculated but in order to do this activity and content were determined from the same purified homogenate. The previously reported molecular activity values of 620 min⁻¹ was based on a partially purified muscle extracts (Nørgaard et al. 1984b). Utilising this turnover value for our Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity data gives values in the range of 330-400 pmol.g⁻¹ wet wt. which is comparable to our Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content determination of 300-360 pmol.g⁻¹ wet wt. The discrepancy is likely to lie in the fact that the 3-O-MFPase activity assay used here was modified from previously published techniques (Benders et al. 1992; Nørgaard et al. 1984b). Therefore a new molecular activity should be calculated for the changed conditions of the assay measuring 3-O-MFPase activity and $[^{3}H]$ -ouabain binding site content from the same homogenate, if

one wants to convert between activity and content. As this precise measurement was not performed, it is inappropriate to convert between Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase activity and content based on an assumed molecular activity. Further this calculation has not been performed as this study had independent measures of content and activity and the need to convert between the two measures is not required. It has previously been shown that it is not always appropriate to merely convert between the two distinct measures (Druml et al. 1988; Pickar et al. 1994).

6.9.3 Relationship between muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and performance

ET had a higher Na^{*}, K^{*}-ATPase content and also showed a smaller percentage drop in peak torque during the fatiguing exercise bout. There was also an inverse relationship between Na^{*}, K^{*}-ATPase content and the fatigue index. This finding differs from Klitgaard & Clausen (1989) who showed no correlation with time to fatigue when performing submaximal knee extensor contractions at 60% of max isometric force. Madsen et al. (1994) also failed to show a relationship between the increase in Na^{*}, K^{*}-ATPase content with intensified ET and the increase in endurance time after intensified training. The lack of association between the decline in Na^{*}, K^{*}-ATPase activity and muscle fatigue index may be due to the fact that Na^{*}, K^{*}-ATPase activity loss with fatigue may be greater in the *in vivo* situation. However other factors are clearly involved in the fatigue process including depressed SR Ca²⁺ release and re-uptake, and the deleterious metabolic and contractile effects of increased intracellular [H^{*}] and P*i* (Fitts 1994).

The relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content with $\dot{v}O_2$ peak supports the findings of previous human training studies (Evertsen et al. 1997; Green et al. 1999a; Madsen et al. 1994). In addition, this study also showed that maximal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity was related to $\dot{V}O_2$ peak. However, as with most of the above studies the relationship between this performance parameter and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase did not account for a large proportion of the variance, indicating that other factors are clearly involved in determining maximal O₂ uptake. There were no other associations between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content or activity and muscle function.

6.9.4 Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function and plasma [K⁺]

Previous studies have investigated the relationship between the decreased plasma [K⁺] and increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content after training (McKenna et al. 1993; Madsen et al. 1994). The ET subjects displayed a reduced Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ ratio during the incremental test compared to the UT subjects. These findings support the reduced Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ seen after sprint training (Harmer et al. 2000; McKenna et al. 1993) and reduced hyperkalemia after endurance training (Green et al. 1993; Kjeldsen et al. 1990a, Tibes et al. 1974). This decrease in Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ during the incremental test was associated with the higher Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content seen in this group. It is possible that the reduced Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ was due to reduced release of K⁺ from exercising muscle but this is less likely that the explanation that increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content or activity in exercising and non exercising muscle would clear more extracellular [K⁺] thus reduce the Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹

The reduced $\Delta[K^+]$.work⁻¹ seen in the incremental test was not evident during MFT. Possible reasons for this discrepancy may lie in the differences in muscle mass recruited relative to work done for the two tests. As mentioned in the previous chapter, the rise in circulating [K⁺] during one leg maximal exercise is lower, but the relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and circulating [K⁺] may be more evident when looking at the [K⁺] response during the incremental exercise test. This test utilising a larger muscle mass, induced a greater rise in $[K^+]$ and possibly an increased activation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. Further the ET group are more likely to display performance adaptions in response to training when challenged with more aerobic type exercise.

Similar to the comments in chapter 5, interpretation of relationships between plasma $[K^+]$ and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity or content should be interpreted with caution. There are limitations in the use of arterialised-venous blood samples, as well as the choice of exercise test. Further, the correlations were generally weak, indicating that other factors are clearly involved in regulating plasma $[K^+]$ during exercise. These include, muscle blood flow, K⁺ clearance by active and inactive tissues.

6.9.5 Conclusion

In summary, training did not alter resting Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. The RT did not differ from UT in relation to Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content or activity or performance parameters, whilst both forms of training did not attenuate or prevent the factors compromising Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity during fatiguing exercise. However the endurance trained had a higher Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and there were significant relationships between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and type I fibre percentage, muscle fatigue index and $\dot{v}O_2$ peak. The inverse relationship between $\Delta[K^+]$.work⁻¹ during the incremental test and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity or content confirms the important role the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in the plasma $[K^+]$ response.

Chapter 7 Thoracic organ transplantation and Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase function

7.0 Introduction

Recipients of thoracic transplants eg heart, heart-lung, and single or double lung transplants, suffer from severe exercise limitation both before and after transplantation. For a considerable period of time before transplantation, these patients are usually chronically inactive and thus serve as an interesting model for muscular disuse. Cardiopulmonary testing of transplant patients indicates a low peak work rate, early lactate threshold and peak O₂ consumption which are around one-half of predicted values for the healthy population (Ambrosino et al. 1996; Banner et al. 1989; Miyoshi et al. 1990; Theodore et al. 1987). Lung transplantation appears successful in removing the ventilatory limitation to exercise (Williams et al. 1992), so other reasons are given for this exercise limitation, including poor motivation, low [haemoglobin], impact of immunosuppressive medication and peripheral muscle defects (Gibbons et al. 1991; Otulana et al.1992; Ross et al. 1993; Theodore et al. 1987).

One of the peripheral muscle defects postulated to limit exercise capacity in transplant patients is altered Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function (Hall et al. 1994). In Hall and colleagues' study (1994), heart transplant patients displayed impaired plasma K⁺ regulation with a higher Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ ratio during incremental exercise compared to matched controls. Nørgaard et al. (1990) showed that patients with congestive heart failure had 25% lower

169

skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and Barlow et al. (1994) also showed that such patients had higher arterial [K⁺] at similar low workloads to controls. Muscle disuse and chronic inactivity lead to altered muscle morphology (see table 2.4), and lower Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (see table 2.5).

In Chapter 6 it was shown that chronic endurance training increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and that this was correlated with $\dot{V}O_2$ peak. The endurance trained individuals also had a higher proportion of type I fibres but this did not reflect in increased maximal *in vitro* Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity or [K⁺] regulation. In humans, 6 weeks of immobilisation increased the proportion of soleus type II fibres from 2.4% to 10.7% (Haggmark & Eriksson 1979). It was of interest to note if a transplant patient group characterised by chronic levels of inactivity, showed altered exercise performance, muscle fibre composition, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and [K⁺] regulation. Thus transplant patients serve as an interesting model where the ventilatory limitation to exercise has been removed with transplant and the effects of skeletal muscle disuse can be investigated. The skeletal muscle dysfunction may be due to disuse, medication or associated disease. The combined effects of these on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and plasma [K⁺] regulation were investigated in this chapter.

7.1 Methods

7.1.1 Subjects, Experimental overview

Eight thoracic transplant patients (LTx) and eight age- and sex-matched healthy controls (CON) participated in the study. LTx were studied in collaboration with the Department of Respiratory Medicine, and The Heart & Lung Transplant Service, The Alfred

Hospital, Melbourne, Victoria. All protocols and procedures were approved by Victoria University of Technology Human Research Ethics Committee and The Alfred Group of Hospitals Ethics Committee. LTx subjects in this study participated in 3 tests, comprising anthropometric measurements, a resting muscle biopsy and an incremental exercise test with arterialised-venous blood samples. Due to ethical considerations, all testing of patients was conducted at the Alfred Hospital, whereas CON were tested in the Human Performance Laboratory at Victoria University, using the same equipment and methods as subjects in Chapter 5 and 6. All measures taken at the two locations were compared and validated with no significant differences seen between workrates on ergometers, $\dot{v}O_2$, $\dot{v}CO_2$, \dot{v}_E , and blood analyses of [Hb], Hct, pO₂, PCO₂, plasma [lactate], [H⁺] and [K⁺]. Validation data appears in Appendix B3.

7.1.2 Anthropometric measurements

Age, height, body mass, skinfold thickness, and thigh volumes were determined as detailed in Chapter 3. Lung function measurements were performed as described in Chapter 3 and results were compared to predicted values as shown in Appendix B1.

7.1.3 Resting muscle biopsy

Two resting vastus lateralis muscle biopsies were taken in CON, as detailed in Chapter 3. LTx had two resting vastus lateralis biopsies taken during a routine surveillance bronchoscopy procedure, conducted while patients were sedated with the short-acting anaesthetic benzodiazipine, Midazolam. This procedure is unlikely to effect resting muscle biopsy measures, but the effects are unknown. The treatment of muscle for both groups was described in detail in Chapter 3. Muscle biopsy samples were analysed for 3-O-MFPase activity and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, fibre type proportions and metabolites. Respiratory data were also collected for the incremental exercise tests as described in Chapter 3. Arterialised venous blood samples were collected each min during the incremental test and analysed for pO_2 , pCO_2 , [Hb], [Hct], [H⁺], plasma [lactate], and [K⁺], as previously described (Chapter 3).

7.1.4 Incremental Exercise test

CON performed their incremental exercise test (as described in Chapter 3) in the Human Performance Laboratory at Victoria University of Technology. Patients performed an incremental test on an electrically braked cycle ergometer (Siemans-Elema AB, Sweden) at The Alfred Hospital. Patients increased the workrate by 16W each minute during the incremental test until volitional exhaustion. Expired air was measured for \dot{v}_E , $\dot{v}CO_2$, and $\dot{v}O_2$ using a SensorMedics metabolic measurement cart interfaced with an IBM compatible computer.

7.2 Results

Physical characteristics (Chapter 3) did not differ significantly between CON and LTx. The mean (\pm SD) duration post-transplant was 13.5 \pm 8.7 months, ranging from 3-24 months after receiving heart /lung (HLTx, n = 2), single-lung (SLTx, n = 2) or double-lung (DLTx, n = 4) transplants. The diagnosis, operation and medication records of the recipients are shown in Table 3.3 (Chapter 3). No control subjects reported taking any medication.

7.2.1 Muscle Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase function

7.2.1.1 Maximal K⁺-stimulated 3-O-MFPase Activity

The maximal *in-vitro* K⁺ stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity in skeletal muscle was 31% higher in LTx than in CON when expressed per gram wet weight (P < 0.05, Table 7.1). However this difference was not significant (17.0%), when expressed relative to muscle protein content (P = 0.13, Table 7.1). There was no difference in muscle protein content between LTx and CON (Table 7.2).

	3-O-MFPase activity		3-O-MFPase activity	
	(nmol min ⁻¹ g ⁻¹ wet wt.)		(pmol min ⁻¹ mg ⁻¹ protein)	
Subject	LTx	CON	LTx	CON
1	172	187	1011	1041
2	304	197	1785	1528
3	226	149	1677	1652
4	200	146	1129	1184
5	261	161	1710	1115
6	199	129	1101	962
7	194	203	1493	1172
8	203	170	1620	1095
Mean ±SEM	220 ± 15*	168 ± 9	1426 ± 110	1219 ± 86

Table 7.1 Maximal K⁺ stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity in LTx and CON

* LTx > CON (P < 0.05)

ŧ

	Protein		
Subject	LTx	CON	
1	16.98	17.92	
2	17.01	12.92	
3	13.48	9.02	
4	17.71	12.32	
5	15.29	14.46	
6	18.10	13.41	
7	13.00	17.36	
8	12.51	15.56	
Mean ±SEM	15.5 ± 0.8	14.9 ± 1.0	

Table 7.2 Muscle protein content (mg.100mg⁻¹muscle wet wt) in LTx and CON

7.2.1.2 Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content

Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase content, as determined from the [3 H]-ouabain binding site concentration, did not differ between the LTx and CON (*P* = 0.32, Table 7.3).

Table 7.3 Na^+,K^+ -ATPase content (pmol.g⁻¹ wet wt.) as determined from the [³H]ouabain binding site concentration in LTx and CON

	Na ⁺ ,K ⁺ -ATPase content		
Subject	LTx	CON	
1	264	277	
2	229	330	
3	305	209	
4	265	207	
5	225	191	
6	214	219	
7	395	263	
8	334	302	
Mean ±SEM	279 ± 22	250 ± 18	

7.2.1.3 Skeletal muscle fibre types and metabolites

LTx exhibited a higher proportion of type II fibres than CON (P < 0.05, Figure 7.1) Resting skeletal muscle metabolites are shown in Table 7.4. LTx had significantly lower resting muscle content of ATP, AMP and higher content of IMP, Lactate and [H⁺], (P < 0.05).



Figure 7.1 Skeletal muscle fibre type proportions in LTx and CON. Mean ± SEM n=7, * LTx different to CON.

¥

	LTx	CON
ATP	21.41 ± 1.16*	25.97 ± 1.3
ADP	2.81 ± 0.19	2.41 ± 0.14
AMP	$0.12 \pm 0.02^{*}$	0.24 ± 0.06
IMP	$0.26 \pm 0.04*$	0.05 ± 0.01
Cr	55.02 ± 4.48	46.88 ± 4.01
PCr	96.81 ± 4.96	93.18 ± 2.67
Lactate	16.26 ± 0.96*	8.40 ± 0.86
$[H^+]$	$86.8 \pm 2.6*$	77.4 ± 1.3
Glycogen	400 ± 80	462 ± 35

Table 7.4 Resting skeletal muscle metabolites

Values are expressed as mmol.kg⁻¹ dry weight of muscle, except H⁺ (nmol.L⁻¹), and glycogen (mmol glucosyl units.kg⁻¹ dry muscle), n=8, Mean \pm SEM. *LTx significantly different to CON (*P* < 0.05)

7.2.2 Relationship between skeletal muscle 3-*O*-MFPase activity, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content, metabolites, and drug treatment

There were no relationships between resting 3-O-MFPase activity, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and resting skeletal muscle metabolites. 3-O-MFPase activity was not correlated to $\dot{v}O_2$ peak in these subjects. There were no clear relationships between 3-O-MFPase activity or Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and the drug treatment that all patients received, Cyclosporine, Azathioprine, and Prednisilone.

7.3 Resting HR and blood data

Resting HR and blood data are shown in table 7.5. Resting heart rate, and pO₂ were not significantly different than CON. Adequate arterialisation was shown in both groups and the LTx displayed a 12% higher pCO₂ (Table 7.5). LTx were slightly anaemic in comparison to CON with [Hb] and Hct 16.3% and 5.3% lower respectively (P < 0.05). Resting plasma [lactate] was 56% higher in LTx in comparison to CON, P < 0.05, while plasma [H⁺] was lower at rest in CON (P < 0.05, Table 7.5). Arterialised-venous plasma [K⁺] was 28% higher at rest (LTx 4.85 ± 0.14 vs CON 3.80 ± 0.07 mmol.1⁻¹).

Table 7.5	Resting H	R and Blood	data for	LTX and	CON.
-----------	-----------	-------------	----------	---------	------

	LTx	CON
HR (b.min ⁻¹)	88 ± 5	76 ± 3
Haemoglobin (g.dl ⁻¹)	$11.6 \pm 0.3*$	13.8 ± 0.3
Haematocrit (%)	$34.5 \pm 0.8^*$	39.8 ± 0.5
pO ₂ (mmHg)	78.1 ± 3.2	71.9 ± 2.9
pCO ₂ (mmHg)	$38.5 \pm 1.0^*$	34.4 ± 1.3
$[H^+]$ (nmol.l ⁻¹)	$37.9 \pm 1.0^{*}$	36.7 ± 0.3
[lactate] (mmol.l ⁻¹)	1.55 ± 0.23*	0.99 ± 0.11
$[K^+]$ (mmol.l ⁻¹)	$4.85 \pm 0.14^*$	3.80 ± 0.07

n=8,mean \pm SEM, *LTx significantly different to CON (P < 0.05)

7.3.1 Cardiorespiratory measures during incremental exercise

The LTx performed significantly worse during incremental exercise (Table 7.6). The peak work rate and $\dot{v}O_2$ peak achieved by LTx were only 40% and 49% of that attained by CON (Figure 7.2). Peak HR and peak \dot{v}_E were 76% and 58% of CON (Figure 7.2, Table 7.6).

an c	LTx	CON
Workrate (W)	82 ± 11*	222 ± 28
Total work (kJ)	16.17 ± 3.32*	72.34 ± 17.33
$\dot{V}O_2$ (l.min ⁻¹)	$1.21 \pm 0.08*$	2.46 ± 0.34
$\dot{V}O_2$ (ml.kg ⁻¹ .min ⁻¹)	$18.8 \pm 1.5*$	35.7 ± 2.4
$\dot{V}CO_2$ (l.min ⁻¹)	$1.51 \pm 0.16*$	2.96 ± 0.37
V _E (l)	$64.0 \pm 6.1^{*}$	110.7 ± 13.7
RER	1.23 ± 0.08	1.21 ± 0.04
HR peak (b.min ⁻¹)	136 ± 5*	178 ± 5

 Table 7.6 Peak data during incremental exercise test

Mean \pm SEM, n = 8, RER = respiratory exchange ratio, *LTx <CON (P < 0.05)



Figure 7.2 Pulmonary $\dot{v}O_2$, \dot{v}_E , and Heart Rate at rest, during submaximal workrates and at peak exercise during incremental exercise for (O) LTx and (\blacksquare) CON. Horizontal error bars for peak values indicate mean and sem of peak workrate. Data: n=8, Mean ± SEM. * peak values for LTx < CON (P < 0.05)

7.3.2 Blood measures during incremental exercise

7.3.2.1 Changes in plasma volume

Plasma volume did not differ significantly from resting levels during exercise or recovery for LTx, while CON plasma volume decreased during exercise and had not returned to resting levels by 30 min post exercise. The change in plasma volume was significantly greater in CON at peak exercise and remained lower until 20 min post exercise (Figure 7.3).



Figure 7.3 Calculated percent change in plasma volume from rest, during submaximal workrates and at peak exercise during incremental exercise for (O) LTx and (\blacksquare) CON. Horizontal error bars for peak values indicate mean and sem of peak workrate. The zero recovery timepoint is the peak exercise value replotted. Data: n=8, Mean ± SEM. * CON lower than LTx (P < 0.05).

¢

7.3.2.2 Plasma [lactate] and [H⁺] during incremental exercise

Plasma [H⁺] and [lactate] are plotted against absolute workrate (Figure 7.4A,B) and against relative workrate ($\% \dot{v}O_2$ peak, Figure 7.4C,D). The peak exercise [H⁺] for CON was not significantly higher than LTx but [H⁺] peaked in recovery at 5 min post and this remained higher than LTx. CON [H⁺] had returned to within resting levels by 30 min post (Figure 7.4A). Peak plasma lactate was higher in CON (9.40 ± 1.22 mmol.l⁻¹) than LTx (5.75 ± 0.50 mmol.l⁻¹ P < 0.05) and was significantly higher in CON from 2-10 min post exercise (Figure 7.4B). The submaximal plasma [H⁺] and [lactate] were similar for LTx and CON when compared at a similar relative intensity (Figure 7.4C,D).



Figure 7.4 (A) Plasma [H⁺] and (B) plasma [Lactate] at rest, during incremental exercise and during 30 min of recovery for (O) LTx and (\blacksquare) CON. Horizontal error bars for peak values indicate mean and sem of peak workrate. The zero recovery timepoint is the peak exercise value replotted. (C) Plasma $[H^+]$ and (D) plasma [lactate] plotted against percent $\dot{V}O_2$ peak Data: n=8, Mean ± SEM. * CON > LTx, (P < 0.05).
7.3.2.3 Plasma $[K^+]$ response during exercise

Arterialised-venous plasma [K⁺] increased with exercise (P < 0.05 Figure 7.5), with peak plasma [K⁺] similar in both groups (LTx 5.93 ± 0.12 vs CON 5.86 ± 0.24 mmol.1⁻¹) despite a greater than two-fold higher workrate in CON. The plasma [K⁺] fell in recovery but remained higher in LTx than in CON at all times (P < 0.05). Submaximal plasma [K⁺] could not be directly compared as LTx and CON performed 16W and 25W increments respectively. However plasma [K⁺] was plotted against percent $\dot{v}O_2$ peak (Figure 7.6A). This shows LTx plasma [K⁺] was clearly greater than CON at low relative workrates, converging at 100% $\dot{v}O_2$ peak. As the change in [K⁺] is dependent on the amount of work done, the Δ [K⁺] and Δ [K⁺] work⁻¹ ratio were also examined. The peak rise in [K⁺] during exercise (Δ [K⁺]) was less (P < 0.05) in LTx (1.08 ± 0.15vs 2.06 ± 0.19, Figure 7.6B,C), and the Δ [K⁺] work⁻¹ ratio at peak exercise was greater than 2-fold higher in LTx (84.5 ± 15.9 vs 37.1 ± 5.9 nmol.1⁻¹.1⁻¹, Figure 7.6D, P < 0.05).



Figure 7.5 Plasma $[K^+]$ at rest, during incremental exercise and during 30 min of recovery for (O) LTx and (\blacksquare) CON. Horizontal error bars for peak values indicate mean and sem of peak workrate. The zero recovery timepoint is the peak exercise value replotted. Data: n=8, Mean ± SEM. * LTx > CON (P < 0.05).



Figure 7.6 (A) Plasma [K⁺] against percent $\dot{v}O_2$ peak (B) rise in plasma [K⁺] against (B) workload and (C) percent $\dot{v}O_2$ peak rise for (O) LTx and (\blacksquare) CON. Horizontal error bars for submax values indicate mean and sem of $\%\dot{v}O_2$ peak. (D) Δ [K⁺] work⁻¹ ratio for LTx and CON. Data: n=8, Mean ± SEM. *LTx < CON, P < 0.05.

7.3.2.4 Post-exercise decline in plasma $[K^+]$

There were no significant differences in the rate of decline in $[K^+]$ from peak exercise to 1 min recovery for LTx and CON while the rate of decline from peak to 2 min tended (*P*=0.06) to be slower in LTx. This rate was faster at 5 min recovery in CON compared to LTx (*P* < 0.05, Table 7.7).

185

Å,

Table 7.7 Decline in $[K^+]$ from peak exercise to 1, 2 and 5 min recovery. Mean \pm SEM

Recovery	Δ [K ⁺] _{recovery} (mmol.] ⁻¹ .min ⁻¹)	
	LTx	CON
+1 min (n=4)	0.40 ± 0.26	0.51 ± 0.08
+2 min (n =8)	0.44 ± 0.07	0.63 ± 0.06
+5 min (n =8)	$0.24 \pm 0.03^*$	0.40 ± 0.03

Mean \pm SEM, n = 8, *LTx <CON (P < 0.05)

7.3.3 Relationship between 3-*O*-MFPase activity, Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase content, and [K⁺] during exercise

The maximal *in vitro* 3-*O*-MFPase activity in skeletal muscle was not related to plasma $[K^+]$ variables during the incremental exercise for LTx and CON. $\dot{v}O_2$ peak was positively correlated to ΔK^+ but inversely related to the $\Delta [K^+]$.work⁻¹ ratio (Figure 7.7 A,B).



Figure 7.7 The relationships between $\dot{V}O_2$ peak (ml.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹) and A) $\Delta[K^+]$ (mmol.l⁻¹) and (B) $\Delta[K^+]$.work⁻¹ (nmol.l⁻¹.J⁻¹) for (O) LTx and (\blacksquare) CON, n=16.

7.4 Discussion

7.4.1 Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function in transplant patients

The most important finding from this study was the dissociation between muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and markers of abnormal plasma [K⁺] response during exercise. Patients demonstrated an increased [K⁺] at rest, increased Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹, but did not show a compromised Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content or activity in resting muscle compared to age-sex matched controls. The increased Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ confirm the results for transplant patients who had grossly impaired plasma [K⁺] response during incremental exercise (Hall et al. 1994) while the lack of downregulation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content opposes the findings in heart failure patients (Barlow et al. 1998; Nørgaard et al. 1990). Adding this to the finding of a lack of a correlation between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and plasma [K⁺] response, it could be concluded that factors in addition to Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase total content and activity are important in regulating plasma [K⁺]. This is supported by the finding by Kjeldsen et al. (1990a) that endurance training reduced exercise-induced hyperkalemia despite no change in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content.

An alternative explanation to the above finding could be the technique used to measure Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase activity. This technique measured maximal *in vitro* K^+ stimulated 3-O-MFPase activity *in vitro*, where it is possible that that this maximal activity as well as Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase content are maintained in the transplant patients but that *in vivo* the electrical, ionic or hormonal activation of the Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase is compromised.

The transplant patients had severe metabolic abnormalities at rest with a reduction in muscle ATP content as well as elevated IMP and lactate content. It has been suggested that local metabolic supply could affect Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function (James et al. 1996; Körge 1998). If these effects are exacerbated during exercise, then it is possible that *in vivo* Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity may be compromised, as opposed to the *in vitro* 3-*O*-MFPase assay where energy supply is not limiting. Of note is the fact that the transplant patients had a higher resting muscle [H⁺]. This finding is supported by the ³¹P-MRS study of Evans et al. (1997) in which transplant patients' quadriceps muscle intracellular [H⁺] was higher and increased earlier during incremental exercise compared to controls. This H⁺ disturbance may again influence *in vivo* Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity (Huang & Askari 1984) but would not be detected in the *in vitro* 3-*O*-MFPase assay used in this study, unless it caused a structural change in the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme.

7.4.1.1 Chronic disuse and disease effects on Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase

Lung transplant patients are characterised by chronic inactivity prior to transplant and inactivity due to limb immobilisation or disease states and these have been associated with a downregulation in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (Jebens et al. 1995; Kjeldsen et al. 1986; Leivseth et al. 1992, 1994; Nørgaard et al. 1990). Nørgaard et al. (1990) showed a

25% reduction in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content in patients with congestive heart failure, while Leivseth et al. (1994) showed that Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content was decreased by 27% in the deltoid muscle of patients with shoulder impingement. Druml et al. (1988) showed that while basal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity was decreased by 30% in skeletal muscle of rats with uraemic chronic renal failure, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content was not affected. They concluded that Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase turnover rate was decreased. The surprising result of the present study is that our patient group did not display the expected decline in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity or content seen with the above disease states. Possible reasons for this discrepancy include pre-existing disease alterations in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and drug treatment such as glucocorticoid administration.

Hypertension

Six of the eight patients were hypertensive, a condition known to increase soleus muscle Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase content in spontaneously hypertensive rats (Pickar et al. 1994). Our patients displayed increased Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase activity compared to controls, but this did not show a significant difference in Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase content compared to controls.

Cystic Fibrosis

Two of the eight transplant patient suffered from cystic fibrosis and this has been shown to alter Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function in epithelial cells and erythrocytes (Luczay et al. 1997; Resnik et al. 1986). Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in human bronchial epithelium was twofold higher in cystic fibrosis patients than controls (Peckham et al. 1997). Reznik et al. (1986) noted that the affinity of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase for K⁺ was significantly lower in erythrocytes of cystic fibrosis patient's compared to controls. If this phenomenon also occurred in the skeletal muscle of these patients it could help to partially explain the higher Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content but impaired K⁺ regulation in at least the two cystic fibrosis patients. These two patients had the highest Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (but not Na⁺, K⁺ ATPase activity) of the patient group but did not appear to differ from the other patients with respect to their plasma $[K^+]$ response to exercise.

7.4.1.2 Glucocorticoids

Glucocorticoids are commonly administered to transplant patients and often result in myopathy and muscle weakness (Ruff et al. 1982; Seene 1994). Ruff et al. (1982) showed that glucocorticoid-induced EDL muscle atrophy did not produce muscle weakness by impairing sarcolemmal excitability or excitation-contraction coupling. Further, glucocorticoid (dexamethasone) treatment has been shown to increase skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content by 31% in chronic obstructive lung disease patients (Ravn & Dørup 1997), with similar results shown in rat skeletal muscle (Dørup & Clausen 1997). This may partly explain why Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content was normal and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity increased in LTx. It is possible that this glucocorticoid-induced rise in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content may not subsequently invoke or maintain normal [K⁺] handling during and after exercise.

7.4.2 Altered muscle fibre types in transplant patients

Human vastus lateralis typically contains an even distribution of type I and type II muscle fibres (Saltin & Gollnick 1983). Lung transplant patients suffer from many years of muscle disuse and in this study lung transplant patients displayed a greater proportion of type II and a lower proportion of type I fibres. High proportions of Type II fibres have been reported in a variety of patients including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients (Jakobsson et al.1990; Satta et al. 1997), heart failure patients (Sullivan et al. 1990), and heart transplant recipients (Bussieres et al. 1997). All these patients suffer from chronic disuse and this is probably the most important factor underlying their

190

muscle fibre type abnormalities. It has been documented that skeletal muscle is adaptable to functional demand (see 2.10.1, Chapter 2). There is good evidence of a slow to fast fibre transformation in animal models with disuse (Gardiner et al. 1992), while the data for humans is not as extensive (Häggmark & Eriksson 1979; Halkjær-Kristensen & Ingemann-Hansen 1985; Satta et al. 1997; Sargeant et al. 1977).

7.4.2.1 Effect of altered muscle fibre type on Na^+ , K^+ -ATPase

The altered muscle fibre type seen in the transplant patients could possibly help to explain increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity seen in comparison to matched controls. Most studies showed human skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase does not display a fibre type dependence (Benders et al. 1992; Dørup et al. 1988; Nørgaard 1986) but Chin & Green (1993) indicated that a relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and oxidative potential in rat skeletal muscle. There is evidence for fibre type dependence in rat skeletal muscle, with fast twitch EDL muscle having 20-30% higher Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content than soleus (Clausen et al. 1982; Nørgaard 1986). However it is inappropriate to relate fibre type with Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in the LTx group as other factors also influence Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. These include medication and pre-existing diseases (Pickar et al 1994; Ravn & Dørup 1997; Reznik et al 1986).

7.4.3 Other factors influencing low exercise capacity in LTx

As shown by others (Ambrosino et al. 1996; Banner et al.1989; Theodore et al. 1987) the transplant patients' peak oxygen consumption was only 49% of the healthy control value. In the present study, the transplant patients as a group, demonstrated a mild mixed obstructive/restrictive ventilatory defect (as assessed by spirometry, Crapo et al. 1981; Hall et al. 1994; Williams et al. 1992). Only one of the eight transplant recipients

reached ventilatory limitation during exercise and no patients exhibited desaturation. It could be argued that the low HR peak in these patients largely influenced the low cardiac output seen, but the limitation has been attributed to early exercise cessation due to peripheral factors reducing muscle O₂ utilisation (Schwaiblmair et al. 1999; Williams et al 1992). This suggests that peripheral factors were primarily responsible for the severe exercise limitation observed in these patients. It has previously been stated that transplantation removes the cardiac or pulmonary limitation to exercise (Schwaiblmair et al. 1999; Williams et al. 1992). Therefore iatrogenic and/or deconditioning factors must be important factors for the persistent exercise limitation post transplantation (Hall et al. 1994; Pantoja et al. 1999; Schwaiblmair et al. 1999; Williams et al. 1992).

7.4.3.1 Iatrogenic effects

Despite the lack of a relationship between the medications that patients in this study received and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content or activity, other studies have indicated that these medications may alter skeletal muscle function including Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function.

7.4.3.2 Cyclosporine

Cyclosporine (CsA) is known to cause hyperkalemia due to either aldosterone deficiency or distal renal tubular dysfunction (Olyaei et al. 1999). All LTx received CsA and hence, this most likely explains the elevated resting [K⁺] in the transplant patients. No studies have investigated the effect of CsA on skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase but interestingly, clinical does of CsA were correlated with increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in erythrocytes of kidney transplant patients (Ferrer-Martínez et al. 1999). Although the mechanism whereby this might occur has not been elucidated, if a similar effect occurred in skeletal muscle, then CsA might help to explain the maintained Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and activity. An adverse effect of CsA is inhibition of mitochondrial respiration *in vitro* (Hokanson et al. 1995; Mercier et al. 1995). In a collaborative study with the patients used in this thesis, the rates of mitochondrial ATP production and mitochondrial enzyme activities were found to be markedly reduced in comparison to matched controls (Wang et al. 1999). This suggests that the skeletal muscle of LTx have energetic limitations.

7.4.4 Conclusion

The finding of a maintained or increased Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content in lung transplant patients was surprising given the chronic inactivity and the impaired plasma $[K^+]$ response seen in this group. Factors such as pre-existing medical conditions or drug treatment (glucocorticoids), may increase Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content without necessarily inferring improved $[K^+]$ handling during and after exercise. Further studies are required investigating the effect of these drugs, pre-existing disease states and their impact on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function, $[K^+]$ regulation and exercise capacity in these patients.

Chapter 8 General Summary

8.0 Introduction

Skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and activity are vital to the preservation of membrane excitability and have been implicated in several physiological processes, including muscle fatigue. In this thesis, the first study involved the modification of a sensitive *in vitro* measure of maximal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. The three studies examined factors that affect muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and activity and plasma [K⁺], including acute exercise, chronic training, and muscle disuse associated with severe disease culminating in lung transplantation. These studies enabled further exploration of the role of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in regulating the plasma [K⁺] response during exercise in humans.

8.1 Major Findings

8.1.1 Modification of 3-O-MFPase assay for measurement of human skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity

The first study modified the K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*-methylfluorescein phosphatase (3-*O*-MFPase) assay for measurement of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in human skeletal muscle. Assay specificity for the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase was confirmed, while homogenate treatment and ligand concentration were all optimised. The maximal K⁺-stimulated 3-*O*-MFPase activity in quadriceps muscle homogenates in seven healthy untrained subjects was (mean±SE) 292±10 nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet wt (1745±84 pmol min⁻¹ mg⁻¹ protein). These modifications optimised the 3-O-MFPase assay allowing valid, reliable measurements of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity in small samples of human skeletal muscle.

8.1.2 Fatiguing exercise depresses maximal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in human skeletal muscle and training does not attenuate this

The first hypothesis of this thesis was supported: acute fatiguing exercise of short duration (<2 min) reduced peak knee extensor torque by 49.5 ± 2.8 % and also depressed Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity by 13.5 %. This is the first report of a depressed Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity with fatiguing exercise in any species. The second hypothesis was not supported as there was no significant effect of endurance training or resistance training on 3-O-MFPase activity in resting muscle. However the endurance trained subjects did show a 17% higher Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content than untrained controls. The third hypothesis was not attenuated with training. The exact mechanisms underlying the acute impairment in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity as well as possible training effects in minimising these agents' effects on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase remains to be determined.

There were inconsistent relationships between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and muscle metabolites and these relationships most likely reflect parallel depressive processes as a result of exercise, rather than causal relationships. Due to the *in vitro* nature of the 3-O-MFPase assay, structural alterations in the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme are the most likely reason for the measured fatigue-induced depression in 3-O-MFPase activity. However it is likely that metabolic perturbations may further exacerbate these changes *in-vivo*. It is possible to speculate that the likely agents causing these structural alterations with fatigue include reactive oxygen species and raised intracellular [Ca²⁺].

8.1.3 Excessive Plasma [K⁺] responses to exercise are higher in lung transplant patients, despite normal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content

Despite the removal of the ventilatory limitation to exercise in the lung transplant patients by transplantation, they still exhibited severely limited exercise capacity. Lung transplant patients also showed an abnormally high Type II fibre proportion, consistent with chronic muscle disuse. The fourth hypothesis was not supported. An elevated plasma [K⁺] response was seen during incremental exercise in lung transplant patients evidenced by an excessive rise in the plasma [K⁺].work⁻¹ ratio during exercise. This was not explained by a lower Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content or activity since these were not significantly different from age-matched controls. Thus, an abnormal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activation, or reduced extracellular K⁺ clearance is indicated in the excessive hyperkalemia displayed in these patients.

8.1.4 Relationships between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content, fibre type, $\dot{v}O_2$ peak and age for all healthy subjects

All the healthy subjects, comprising untrained, endurance trained, resistance trained (Chapter 6), and age-matched controls (Chapter 7) were pooled to investigate the relationships between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content, plasma [K⁺] and muscle function. As discussed in Chapter 6, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity correlated with Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content when all four healthy groups were analysed (r = 0.61, P < 0.05, Figure 8.1). This relationship helps validate the modified 3-*O*-MFPase assay against the most widely accepted method for determining Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content ([³H]-ouabain binding). The moderate correlation is likely to be influenced by the variability in each Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity measure of around 5% and [³H]-ouabain binding of around 5-10%,

which increases the scatter of the data. Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity also correlated with $\dot{V}O_2$ peak (r = 0.46, P < 0.05), indicating a link with physical activity and thus an important role of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in skeletal muscle function. This relationship and the stronger correlation between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content and $\dot{V}O_2$ peak (r = 0.70, P < 0.05) confirm the relationship shown by Evertsen et al. (1997) and Green et al. (1999a) between these variables. A weak relationship between Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and the proportion of Type I fibres (r = 0.40, P < 0.05) was also evident. Age was also investigated but no relationships were found for any of the above variables.



Figure 8.1 The relationship between Na+, K+-ATPase content (pmol.g-1 wet wt) and 3-O-MFPase activity (nmol min-1 g-1 wet wt) untrained (UT, \bullet), resistance trained (RT, \Box), endurance trained (ET, σ), and age-matched controls (CON, ν), n=28.

8.1.5 Relationships of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content, with the exercise-

induced plasma [K⁺] response for all healthy subjects

All the healthy subjects, comprising untrained, endurance trained, resistance trained (Chapter 6), and age-matched controls (Chapter 7) were pooled to investigate the relationships of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content, with plasma [K⁺]. Variables used to describe the plasma $[K^+]$ response during the $\dot{V}O_2$ peak test included the peak $[K^+]$, $\Delta[K^+]$, and the $\Delta[K^+]$.work⁻¹, during exercise as well as the exercise fall in $[K^+]$ 1 and 2 min post exercise. However none of these variables correlated with skeletal muscle Na⁺, K^+ -ATPase content or activity when a larger muscle muss was sampled. Thus the larger population did not clarify the previous inconsistent relationship between the plasma $[K^+]$ response and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity or content (Chapter 5). The lack of relationship does not indicate a lack of functional significance of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase on circulating K⁺ during exercise. Rather it most likely reflects the fact that many other factors influence plasma [K⁺], including blood flow to active and inactive muscle, site of blood and muscle sampling, and K⁺ clearance rates in active and inactive muscle. The sampling of arterialised-venous blood samples from a dorsal hand vein was a long way removed from the interstitium of contracting muscle. It would clearly be more useful to compare femoral venous $[K^+]$ or quadriceps interstitial $[K^+]$ (Juel et al. 2000b) with v. lateralis Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity, as these sites are more representative of the conditions that the sarcolemmal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is exposed to.

8.2 Recommendations for further research

Studies conducted in this thesis have raised many further questions regarding the effects of acute exercise, training status, chronic inactivity and disease on skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function and [K⁺] responses during exercise in humans. Use of a longitudinal experimental design would be of benefit in studies investigating the time course of training effects on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and content in both healthy and diseased individuals, as well as the time course of progressive disease effects on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. Relatively little is known about the various subunits of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enzyme and the different substrate affinities during exercise. Possible alterations in expression of these subunits in response to training, altered muscle fibre type, fatigue and disuse remains to be explored. Intense fatiguing exercise induced a decline in maximal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity but the mechanisms underling this change remains unknown. Further, the time course of the recovery of this fatigue-induced depression in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity *in vitro* warrants further investigation. Reactive oxygen species and raised intracellular [Ca²⁺] are likely to be involved in the proposed Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase structural alterations and studies on these in relation to muscle fatigue would be appropriate.

The use of histochemical and immunocytochemical methods would be of great benefit to future work on human skeletal muscle. Such work might focus on the expression and location of the various isoforms of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, including the possibility of translocation, with acute exercise, training and chronic inactivity. The relative lack of studies investigating on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function in human skeletal muscle indicates a great need for further exploration of an important area for research. Research in this area can be expected to have considerable impact on understanding the mechanisms of fatigue and of exercise limitation in sporting and clinical domains, in the prevention or

attenuation of intracellular substructural changes. It is therefore likely that, ultimately, such research will result in enhanced exercise capacity in both healthy and diseased individuals.

C

, N

References

Ackermann, U., & K. Geering. 1990. Mutual dependence of Na,K-ATPase alpha- and beta-subunits for correct post-translational processing and intracellular transport. *FEBS Lett*. 269, 105-108.

Adams, G.R., Hather, B.M., Baldwin, K.M., & G.A. Dudley. 1993. Effect of short-term unweighting on human skeletal muscle strength and size. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 74, 911-915.

Adrian, R.H., & L.D. Peachey. 1973. Reconstitution of the action potential of frog sartorius muscle. *J. Physiol.* 235, 103-131.

Akera, T. 1984. Methods for studying digitalis receptors, Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase, and sodium pump activity in heart membranes and myocardium. In Dhaila, N.S. (Ed) Methods in Studying Cardiac Membranes, Vol II, CRC Press, Florida. 163-179.

Allen, D.G., Lännergren, J., & H. Westerblad. 1995. Muscle cell function during prolonged activity: cellular mechanisms of fatigue. *Exp. Physiol.* 80, 497-527.

Allsop, P., Cheetham, M., Brooks, S., Hall, G.M., & C. Williams. 1990. Continuous intramuscular pH measurement during the recovery from brief, maximal exercise in man. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 59, 465-470.

Ambrosino, N., Bruschi, C., Callegari, G., Baiocchi, S., Felicetti, G., Fracchia, C., & C. Rampulla. 1996. Time course of exercise capacity, skeletal and respiratory muscle performance after heart-lung transplantation. *Eur. Respir. J.* 9, 1508-1514.

Andersen, P. 1975. Capillary density in skeletal muscle of man. Acta Physiol. Scand. 95, 203-205.

Andersen, P., & J. Henriksson. 1977. Capillary supply of quadriceps femoris muscle of man: adaptive response to exercise. J. Physiol. 270, 677-690.

Andersen, S.L.V., & T. Clausen. 1993. Calcitonin gene-related peptide stimulates active Na⁺ -K⁺ transport in rat soleus muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 264 C419-C429.

Apell, H.J., Schneeberger, A., & V.S. Sokolov. 1998. Partial reactions of the Na,K-ATPase: kinetic analysis and transport properties. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* Suppl 643, 235-245.

Ariyasu, R.G., Deerinck, T.J., Levinson, S.R., & M.H. Ellisman. 1987. Distribution of $(Na^++K^+)ATP$ ase and sodium channels in skeletal muscle and electroplax. *J. Neurocytol.* 16, 511-522.

Arguello, J.M., & J.H. Kaplan. 1994. Glutamate 779, an intramembrane carboxyl, is essential for monovalent cation binding by the Na,K-ATPase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269, 6892-6899.

Askari, A., & D. Koyal. 1968. Different oligomycin sensitivities of the Na⁺+K⁺ -activated adenosinetriphosphatase and its partial reactions. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 32, 227-232.

Asmussen, E. 1979. Muscle fatigue. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 11, 313-321.

Azuma, K.K., Hensley, C.B., Tang, M.J., & A.A. McDonough. 1993. Thyroid hormone specifically regulates skeletal muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase and β 2 isoforms. *Am. J. Physiol.* 265, C680-C687.

Ballanyi, K., & P. Grafe. 1988. Changes in intracellular ion activity induced by adrenalin in human and rat skeletal muscle. *Pflügers*. *Archiv*. 411, 283-288.

Balog, E.M., & R.H. Fitts. 1996. Effects of fatiguing stimulation of intracellular Na⁺ and K⁺ in frog skeletal muscle. J. Appl. Physiol. 81, 679-685.

Bangsbo, J., Kiens, B., & E.A. Richter. 1996. Ammonia uptake in inactive muscles during exercise in humans. *Am. J. Physiol.* 270, E101-E106.

Banner, N.R., Hugh Lloyd, M., Hamilton, R.D., Innes, J.A., Guz, A., & M.H. Yacoub. 1989. Cardiopulmonary responses to dynamic exercise after heart and heart-lung transplantation. *Br. Heart. J.* 61, 215-223.

Bantle, J.P., Nath, K.A., Sutherland, D.E., Najarian, J.S., & T.F. Ferris. 1985. Effects of cyclosporine on the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system and potassium excretion in renal transplant recipients. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 145, 505-508.

Barclay, J.K., & M. Hansel. 1991. Free radicals may contribute to oxidative skeletal muscle fatigue. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 69, 279-284.

Barlow, C.W., Qayyum, M.S., Davey, P.P., Conway, J., Paterson, D.J., & P.A. Robbins. 1994. Effect of physical training on exercise-induced hyperkalaemia in chronic heart failure. Relation with ventilation and catecholamines. *Circulation*. 89, 1144-1152.

Barlow, C.W., Long, J.E., Manga, P., Meyer, T.E., Paterson, D.J., & P.A. Robbins. 1999. Exercise-induced hyperkalemia and concentration of Na,K-pumps in skeletal muscle in mitral stenosis: effect of balloon mitral valvotomy. *J. Heart Valve Dis.* 8, 430-439.

Baumann, H., Jaggi, M., Soland, F., Howald. H., & M.C. Schaub. 1987. Exercise training induces transitions of myosin isoform subunits within histochemically typed human muscle fibres. *Pflügers Arch.* 409, 349-360.

Belcastro, A.N., Gilchrist, J.S., & J. Scrubb. 1993. Function of skeletal muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum vesicles with exercise. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 75, 2412-2418.

Benders, A.A., Van Kuppelvelt, T.H., Oosterhof, A., Wevers, R.A, & J.H. Veerkamp. 1992. Adenosine triphosphatases during maturation of cultured human skeletal muscle cells and in adult human muscle. *Biochim Biophys. Acta*. 1112, 89-98.

Benders, A.A., Timmermans, J.A., Oosterhof, A., Ter Laak, H.J., Van Kuppelvelt, T.H., Wevers, R.A, & J.H. Veerkamp. 1993. Deficiency of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase and sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase in skeletal muscle and cultured muscle cells of myotonic dystrophy patients. *Biochem J*. 293, 269-274.

Berg, H.E., Larsson, L., & P.A. Tesch. 1997. Lower limb skeletal muscle function after six weeks of bed rest. J. Appl. Physiol. 82, 182-188.

Bergström, J. 1962. Muscle electrolytes in man. Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. 14 Suppl. 68, 1-110.

Beyer, R.E., Morales-Corral, P.G., Ramp, B.J., Kreitman, K.R., Falzon, M.J., Rhee, S.Y., Kuhn, T.W., Stein, M., Rosenwasser, M.J., & K.J. Cartwright. 1984. Elevation of tissue coenzyme Q (ubiquinone) and cytochrome c concentrations by endurance exercise in the rat. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 234, 323-329.

Bezanilla, F., Caputo, C., Gonzalez-Serratos, H., & R.A. Venosa. 1972. Sodium dependence of the inward spread of activation in isolated twitch muscle fibres of the frog. *J. Physiol.* 223, 507-523.

Bigland-Ritchie, B., Johansson, R.S., Lippold, O.C.J., & J.J. Woods. 1983. Contractile speed and EMG changes during fatigue of sustained voluntary contractions: central and peripheral factors. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 61, 421-429.

Bigland-Ritchie, B., Carafelli, E., & N.K Vøllestad. 1986a. Fatigue of submaximal static contractions. *Acta. Physiol. Scand.* 128 (Suppl 556) 137-148.

Bigland-Ritchie, B., Dawson, N.J., Johansson, R.S., & O.C.J. Lippold. 1986b. Reflex origin for the slowing of motorneurone firing rates in fatigue of human voluntary contractions. *J. Physiol.* 379, 451-459.

Biron, R., Burger, A., Chinet, A., Clausen, T., & R. Dubois-Ferriere. 1979. Thyroid hormones and the energetics of active sodium-potassium transport in mammalian skeletal muscles. *J. Physiol.* 297, 47-60.

Blakemore, S.J., Rickhuss, P.K., Watt, P.W., Rennie, M.J., & H.S. Hundal. 1996. Effects of limb immobilisation on cytochrome c oxidase activity and GLUT4 and GLUT5 protein expression in human skeletal muscle. *Clin. Sci.* 91, 591-599.

Blanco, G., & R.W. Mercer. 1998. Isozymes of the Na-K-ATPase: heterogeneity in structure, diversity in function. *Am. J. Physiol.* 275, F633-F650.

Boldyrev, A.A., Bulygina, E.R., Kramarenko, G.G., & A.F. Vanin. 1997. Effect of nitroso compounds on Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. 1321, 243-251.

Bonting, S.L. 1971. Sodium-potassium activated adenosine triphosphatase and cation transport. In Bittar, E.E. (Ed.) Membranes and Ion Transport. Wiley Interscience, New York. 258-363.

Booth, F. W & M.J. Seider. 1979. Early change in skeletal muscle protein synthesis after limb immobilization of rats. J. Appl. Physiol. 47, 974-977.

Booth, J., McKenna M.J., Ruell, P.A., Gwinn, T.H., Davis, G.M., Thompson, M.W., Harmer, A.R., Hunter, S.K., & J.R. Sutton. 1997. Impaired calcium pump function does not slow relaxation in human skeletal muscle after prolonged exercise. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 83, 511-521.

Bouclin, R., Charbonneau, E., & J.M. Renaud. 1995. Na⁺ and K⁺ effect on contractility of frog sartorius muscle: implication for the mechanism of fatigue. *Am. J. Physiol.* 268 C1528-C1536.

Braith, R.W., Welsch, M.A., Mills, R.M., Keller, J.W., & M.L. Pollock. 1998. Resistance exercise prevents glucocorticoid-induced myopathy in heart transplant recipients. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 4, 483-489.

Breier, A., Sulová, Z., & A. Vrbanová. 1998. Ca²⁺ -Induced inhibition of Sodium Pump: noncompetitive inhibition in respect of magnesium and sodium cations. *Gen. Physiol. Biophys.* 17, 179-188.

Buck, L.T., & P.W. Hochachka. 1993. Anoxic suppression of Na(⁺)-K(⁺)-ATPase and constant membrane potential in hepatocytes: support for channel arrest. *Am. J. Physiol.* 265, R1020-R1025.

Bussieres, L.M., Pflugfelder, P.W., Taylor, A.W., Noble, E.G., & W.J. Kostuk. 1997. Changes in skeletal muscle morphology and biochemistry after cardiac transplantation. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 79, 630-634.

Byrd, SK., Bode, A.K., & G.A. Klug. 1989a. Effects of exercise of varying duration on sarcoplasmic reticulum function. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 66, 1383-1389.

Byrd, S.K., McCutcheon, L.J., Hodgson, D.R. & P.D. Gollnick. 1989b. Altered sarcoplasmic reticulum function after high-intensity exercise. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 67, 2072-2077.

Cady, E.B., Jones, D.A., Lynn, J., & D.J. Newham. 1989. Changes in force and intracellular metabolites during fatigue of human skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 418, 311-325.

Cairns, S.P., Flatman, J.A., & T. Clausen. 1995. Relation between extracellular [K⁺], membrane potential and contraction in rat soleus muscle: modulation by the Na⁺-K⁺ pump. *Pflugers Arch.* 430, 909-915.

Chin, E.R., & D.G. Allen. 1997. Effects of reduced muscle glycogen concentration on force, Ca²⁺ release and contractile protein function in intact mouse skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 498, 17-29.

Chin, E.R., & H.R. Green. 1993. Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase concentration in different adult rat skeletal muscles is related to oxidative potential. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 71, 615-618.

References 207

Chinet, A., & T. Clausen. 1984. Energetics of active sodium-potassium transport following stimulation with insulin, adrenalin, or salbutamol in rat soleus muscle. *Pflügers. Arch.* 401, 160-166.

Clausen, T. 1986. Regulation of active Na⁺ -K⁺ transport in skeletal muscle. *Physiol. Rev.* 66, 542-580.

Clausen, T. 1990. Significance of Na⁺,K⁺-pump regulation in skeletal muscle. *News Physiol. Sci.* 5, 148-151.

Clausen, T. 1996a. The Na⁺,K⁺-pump in skeletal muscle: quantification, regulation and functional significance. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 156, 227-235.

Clausen, T. 1996b. Long-and short-term regulation of the Na⁺,K⁺-pump in skeletal muscle. *News Physiol. Sci.* 11, 24-30.

Clausen, T. 1998. Clinical and therapeutic significance of the Na⁺,K⁺-pump. *Clin. Sci.* 95, 3-17.

Clausen, T. 2000. Effects of amylin and other peptide hormones on Na⁺-K⁺ transport and contractility in rat skeletal muscle *J. Physiol.* 527, 121-130.

Clausen, T., & M.E. Everts. 1988. Is the Na,K-pump capacity in skeletal muscle inadequate during sustained work? In Skou, J.C. Nørby, G., Maunsbach, A,B., & M. Esmann. (Eds) *The Na*⁺, K^+ *-Pump*, Part B: Cellular aspects, Alan R. Liss, New York, 239-244.

Clausen, T., & M. Everts. 1989. Regulation of the Na,K-pump in skeletal muscle. *Kidney International*. 35, 1-13.

Clausen, T., & M.E. Everts. 1991. K⁺-induced inhibition of contractile force in rat skeletal muscle: role of active Na⁺-K⁺ transport. *Am. J. Physiol.* 261, C799-C807.

Clausen, T., & J.A. Flatman. 1977. The effect of catecholamines on Na⁺-K⁺ transport and membrane potential in rat soleus muscle. *J. Physiol.* 270, 384-414.

Clausen, T., & J.A. Flatman. 1980. β_2 -adrenoreceptors mediate the stimulating effect of adrenalin on active electrogenic Na-K-transport in rat soleus muscle. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 68, 749-755.

Clausen, T., & J.A. Flatman. 1987. Effects of insulin and epinephrine on Na⁺-K⁺ and glucose transport in soleus muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 252 E492-E499.

Clausen, T., & P.G. Kohn. 1977. The effect of insulin the transport of sodium and potassium in rat skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 265, 19-42.

Clausen, T., & O. Hansen. 1974. Ouabain binding and Na⁺-K⁺ transport in rat muscle cells and adipocytes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. 345, 387-404.

Clausen, T., & O. Hansen. 1977. Active Na⁺-K⁺ transport and the rate of ouabain binding. The effect of insulin and other stimuli on skeletal muscle and adipocytes. *J. Physiol.* 270, 415-430.

Clausen, T., Andersen, S.L., & J.A. Flatman. 1993. Na⁺,K⁺-pump stimulation elicits recovery of contractility in K⁺ paralysed rat muscle. *J. Physiol.* 472, 521-536.

Clausen, T., Everts, M.E., and K. Kjeldsen. 1987. Quantification of the maximum capacity for active sodium-potassium transport in rat skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 388, 163-181.

Clausen, T., & O.B. Nielsen. 1994a. Excitation-induced stimulation of active Na^+-K^+ transport in skeletal muscle approaches the maximum capacity of available Na-K pumps. *J. Physiol.* 477, 62P.

Clausen, T., & O.B. Nielsen. 1994b. The Na⁺,K⁺-pump and muscle contractility. Acta Physiol. Scand. 152, 365-373.

Clausen, T., Nielsen, O.B., Harrison, A.P., Flatman, J.A., & K. Overgaard. 1998. The Na⁺,K⁺-pump and muscle excitability. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 162, 183-190.

Clausen, T., & A.E.G Persson. 1998. Jens Christian Skou awarded the Nobel prize in chemistry for the identification of the Na⁺,K⁺-pump. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 163, 1-2.

Clausen, T., Everts, M.E., & K., Kjeldsen. 1987. Quantification of the maximum capacity for active sodium-potassium transport in rat skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 388, 163-181.

Clausen, T., Hansen, O., Kjeldsen, K., & A. Nørgaard. 1982. Effect of age, potassium depletion and denervation on specific displaceable [³H]-ouabain binding in rat skeletal muscle in vivo. *J. Physiol.* 333, 367-381.

Clausen, T., Kjeldsen, K., & A. Nørgaard. 1983. Effects of denervation on sodium, potassium and [³H]-ouabain binding in muscles of normal and potassium-depleted rats. *J. Physiol.* 345, 123-134.

Clausen, T., Van Hardeveld, C., & M.E. Everts. 1991. Significance of cation transport in control of energy metabolism and thermogenesis. *Physiol. Rev.* 71, 733-774.

Clough, D. 1996. Comparison of free radical sensitivity of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase from rat heart, liver, kidney, brain, skeletal muscle and lung. *The Physiologist*. 39, A15 (abstract).

Cohn, W.E., & E.R. Cohn. 1939. Permeability of red corpuscles of the dog to sodium ion. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 41, 445-448.

Coyle, E.F. 1999. Physiological determinants of endurance exercise performance. J. Sci. Med. Sport 2, 181-189.

Crapo, R.O., Morris, A.H., & R.M. Gardiner. 1981. Reference spirometric values using techniques and equipment that meet ATS recommendations. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 123, 659-664.

Creese, R., Haschish, S.E., & N.W. Scholes. 1958. Potassium movements in contracting diaphragm muscle. J. Physiol. 143, 307-324.

Creese, R. 1968. Sodium fluxes in diaphragm muscle and the effects of insulin and serum proteins. *J. Physiol.* 197, 255-278.

Cuenda, A., Nogues, M., Gutiérrez-Merino, C., & L. De Meis. 1993. Glycogen phosphorylis can form a metabolic shuttle to support Ca²⁺ uptake by sarcoplasmic reticulum membranes in skeletal muscle. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 196, 1127-1132.

Cunningham, J.N, Carter, N.W., Rector, F.C., and D.W. Seldin. 1971. Resting transmembrane potential difference of skeletal muscle in normal subjects and severely ill patients. *J. Clin. Invest.* 50, 49-59.

Dauncey, M.J., & A.P. Harrison. 1996. Developmental regulation of cation pumps in skeletal and cardiac muscle. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 156, 313-323.

Davies, K.J.A., Quintanilha, A.T., Brooks, G.A., & L. Packer. 1982. Free radicals and tissue damage produced by exercise. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 107, 1198-1205.

Davies, N.W. 1990. Modulation of ATP-sensitive K^+ channels in skeletal muscle by intracellular protons. *Nature*. 343, 375-377.

Davies, N.W., Standen, N.B., & P.R Stanfield. 1992. The effect of intracellular pH on ATP-dependent potassium channels of frog skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 445, 549-568.

Dawson. M.J. 1988. The relationship between muscle contraction and metabolism: studies by ³¹P nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 226, 433-448.

Dean, R.B. 1941. Theories of electrolyte equilibrium in muscle. Biol. Symp. 3, 331-348.

de Haan, A., Lodder, M.A., & A.J. Sargeant. 1989. Age-related effects of fatigue and recovery from fatigue in rat medial gastrocnemius muscle. *Q. J. Exp. Physiol.* 74, 715-726.

DeLalande, I.S., Manson, J., Parks, V.J., Sandison, A.G., Skinner, S.L., & R.F. Whelan. 1961. The local metabolic action of adrenaline on skeletal muscle in man. *J. Physiol.* 157, 177-184.

Druml, W., Kelly, R.A., May, R.C., & W.E. Mitch. 1988. Abnormal cation transport in uraemia. Mechanisms in adipocytes and skeletal muscle from uraemic rats [published erratum appears in J. Clin. Invest. 1988 Dec; 82(6):2181]. J. Clin. Invest. 81: 1197-1203.

Duan, C., Delp, M.D., Hayes, D.A., Delp, P.D., & R.B Armstrong. 1990. Rat skeletal muscle mitochondrial [Ca²⁺] and injury from downhill walking. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 68, 1241-1251.

Duty, S. & D.G. Allen. 1995. The effects of glibenclamide on tetanic force and intracellular calcium in normal and fatigued mouse skeletal muscle. *Exp. Physiol.* 80, 529-541.

Dørup, I., & T. Clausen. 1995. Insulin-like growth factor I stimulates active Na⁺-K⁺ transport in rat soleus muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 268, E849-E857.

Dørup, I., & T. Clausen. 1997. Effects of adrenal steroids on the concentration of Na⁺,K⁺pumps in rat skeletal muscle. *J. Endocrin*. 152, 49-57.

Dørup, I., Skajaa, K., & T. Clausen. 1988. A simple and rapid method for the determination of the concentrations of magnesium, sodium, potassium and sodium, potassium pumps in human skeletal muscle. *Clin. Sci.* 74, 241-248.

Dørup, I., Skajaa, K., & T. Clausen. 1995. A simple and rapid method for determination of the concentration of magnesium, sodium, potassium, and sodium, potassium pumps in human skeletal muscle. *Clin. Sci.* 74, 241-248.

Edman, K.A., & F. Lou. 1992. Myofibrillar fatigue versus failure of activation during repetitive stimulation of frog muscle fibres. *J. Physiol.* 457, 655-673.

Edwards, R.J., & M.H. Harrison. 1984. Intravascular volume and protein responses to running exercise. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 16, 247-255.

Eisenberg B.R., & A.M. Kuda. 1976. Discrimination between fiber populations in mammalian skeletal muscle by using ultrastructural parameters. *J. Ultrastruct. Res.* 54, 76-88.

Elmosehli, A.B., Butcher, A., Samson, S.E., & A.K. Grover. 1994. Free radicals uncouple the sodium pump in pig coronary artery. *Am. J. Physiol.* 266, C720-C728.

Erlij, D., & S. Grinstein. 1976. The number of sodium ion pumping sites in skeletal muscle and its modification by insulin. *J. Physiol.* 259, 13-31.

Evans, W.J., Pinney, S.D., & V.R. Young. 1982. Suction applied to a muscle biopsy maximises sample size. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 14, 101-102.

Evans, A.B., Al-Himyary, A.J., Hrovat, M.I., Pappagianopoulos, P., Wain, J.C., Ginns, L.C., & D.M. Systrom. 1997. Abnormal skeletal muscle oxidative capacity after lung transplantation by 31P-MRS. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 155, 615-621.

Everts, M.E., Retterstol, K., & T. Clausen. 1988. Effects of adrenalin on excitationinduced stimulation of the sodium-potassium pump in rat skeletal muscle. *Acta. Physiol. Scand.* 134, 189-198.

Everts, M.E., & T. Clausen. 1988. Effect of thyroid hormone on Na⁺-K⁺ transport in resting and stimulated rat skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 255, E604-E612.

Everts, M.E., & T. Clausen. 1992. Activation of the Na-K pump by intracellular Na in rat slow and fast-twitch muscle. *Acta. Physiol. Scand.* 145, 353-362.

Everts, M.E., & T. Clausen. 1994. Excitation-induced activation of the Na⁺,K⁺-pump in rat skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 266, C925-C934.

Evertsen, F., Medbø, J.I., Jebens, E., & K. Nicolaysen. 1997. Hard training for 5 mo increases Na⁺,K⁺-pump concentration in skeletal muscle of cross-country skiers. *Am. J. Physiol.* 272, R1417-R1424.

Ewart, H.S. & A. Klip. 1995. Hormonal regulation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase: mechanisms underlying rapid and sustained changes in pump activity. *Am. J. Physiol.* 269, C295-C311.

Fabiato, A., & F. Fabiato. 1978. Effects of pH on the myofilaments and the sarcoplasmic reticulum of skinned cells from cardiac and skeletal muscles. *J. Physiol.* 276, 233-255.

Fambrough, D.M., Lemas, M.V., Hamrick, M., Renaud, K.J., Inman, E.M., Hwang, B., & K. Takeyasu. 1994. Analysis of subunit assembly of the Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase. *Am. J. Physiol* 266, C579-C589.

Favero, T.G. 1999. Sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ release and muscle fatigue. J. Appl. Physiol. 87, 471-483.

Favero, T.G., Zable, A.C., Bowman, M.B., Thompson, A. & J.J. Abramson. 1995. Metabolic end products inhibit sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ release and [³H] ryanodine binding. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 78,1665-1672.

Fenn, W.O. 1940. The role of potassium in physiological processes. *Physiol. Rev.* 20, 377-415.

Fenn, W.O., and D.M. Cobb. 1936. Electrolyte changes in muscle during activity. Am. J. Physiol. 115, 345-356.

Ferrer-Martínez, A., Felipe, A., Barceló, P., Casado, F.J., Ballarín, J., & M. Pastor-Anglada. 1999. Lack of effect of clinical doses of cyclosporin A on erythrocyte Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase activity. *Clin Sci.* 97, 283-290. Fitts, R. H. 1994. Cellular mechanisms of muscular fatigue. Physiol. Rev. 74, 49-94.

Fitts, R. H. 1996. Muscle fatigue: The cellular aspects. Am. J. Sports Med. 24, 9-13.

Fitts, R.H., & E.M. Balog. 1996. Effect of intracellular and extracellular ion changes on E-C coupling and skeletal muscle fatigue. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 156, 169-181.

Flatman, J.A., & T. Clausen. 1979. Combined effects of adrenaline and insulin on active electrogenic Na⁺ -K⁺ transport in rat soleus muscle. *Nature*. 281, 580-581.

Gandevia, S.C. 1992. Some central and peripheral factors affecting human motorneuronal output in neuromuscular fatigue. *Sports Med.* 13, 93-98.

Gandevia, S.C. 1998. Mind over muscle: The role of the CNS in human muscle performance. In Hargreaves, M., & M. Thomson, (Eds). *Biochemistry of Exercise X*, Human Kinetics Champaign Illinois, 3-8.

Garcia, M.C., Gonzalez-Serratos, H., Morgan, J.P., Perreault, C.L., & M. Rozycka. 1991. Differential activation of myofibrils during fatigue in phasic skeletal muscle cells. J. *Muscle Res. Cell Motil.* 12, 412-424.

Gardiner, P.F., Favron, M., & P. Corriveau. 1992. Histochemical and contractile responses of rat medial gastrocnemius to 2 weeks of complete disuse. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol* 70, 1075-1081.

Gibbons, W.J., Levine, S.M., Bryan, C.L., Segarra, J., Calhoon, J.H., Trinkle, J.K., & S.G. Jenkinson. 1991. Cardiopulmonary exercise responses after single lung transplantation for severe obstructive lung disease. *Chest* 100, 106-111.

Gibson, J.N., Halliday, D., Morrison, W.L., Stoward, P.J., Hornsby, G.A., Watt, P.W., Murdoch, G., & M.J. Rennie. 1987. Decrease in human quadriceps muscle protein turnover consequent upon leg immobilisation. *Clin. Sci.* 72, 503-509.

ŝ,

Gilchrist, J.S., Wang, K.K., Katz, S., & A.N. Belcastro. 1992. Calcium-activated neutral protease effects upon skeletal muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum protein structure and calcium release. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267, 20857-20865.

Giordano, M., & R.A. DeFronzo. 1995. Acute effect of human recombinant insulin-like growth factor I on renal function in humans. *Nephron*. 71, 10-15.

Gissel, H., & T. Clausen. 1999. Excitation-induced Ca²⁺ uptake in rat skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 276, R331-R339.

Godt, R.E. & T.M. Nosek. 1989. Changes of intracellular milieu with fatigue or hypoxia depress contraction of skinned rabbit skeletal and cardiac muscle. *J. Physiol.* 412, 155-180.

Goldshleger, R., Bar Shimon, M., Or, E., & S.J. Karlish. 1998. Metal-catalysed cleavage of Na,K-ATPase as a tool for study of structure-function relations. *Acta Physiol. Scand*. Suppl 643, 89-97.

Goldspink, D.F. 1977. The influence of immobilisation and stretch on protein turnover in rat skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 264, 267-282.

Gollnick, P.D., Armstrong, R.B., Saltin, B., Saubert IV, C.W., Sembrowich, W.L., & R.E. Shepherd. 1973. Effect of training on enzyme activity and fibre composition of human skeletal muscle. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 34, 107-111.

Gollnick, P.D., Körge, P., Karpakka, J., & B. Saltin. 1991. Elongation of skeletal muscle relaxation during exercise is linked to reduced calcium uptake by the sarcoplasmic reticulum in man. *Acta. Physiol. Scand.*, 142, 135-136.

Gonzales-Serratos, H., Somolyo, A.V., McLellan, G., Shuman, H., Borrero, B.M., and P. Somolyo. 1978. Composition of vacuoles and sarcoplasmic reticulum in fatigued muscle: electron probe analysis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 75, 1329-1333.

1

Green, H.J. 1998. Cation pumps in skeletal muscle: potential role in muscle fatigue. Acta Physiol. Scand. 162, 201-213.

Green, H.J., Thompson, J.A., Daub, W.D., Houston, M.E., & D.A. Ranney, 1979. Fiber composition, fiber size and enzyme activities in vastus lateralis of elite athletes involved in high intensity exercise. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 41, 109-117.

Green, H.J., Helyar, R., Ball-Burnett, M., Kowalchuk, N., Symon, S., & B. Farrance. 1992a. Metabolic adaptations to training precede changes in muscle mitochondrial capacity. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 72, 484-491.

Green, H.J., Ball-Burnett, M., Chin, E.R., Dux, L., & D. Pette. 1992b. Time dependent increases in Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase content of low-frequency stimulated rabbit muscle. *FEBS Lett.* 310, 129-131.

Green, H.J., Chin, E.R., Ball-Burnett, M., & D. Ranney. 1993. Increases in human skeletal muscle Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase concentration with short term training. *Am. J. Physiol.* 264, C1538-C1541.

Green, H.J., Dahly, A., Shoemaker, K., Goreham, C., Bombardier, E., & M. Ball-Burnett. 1999a. Serial effects of high-resistance and prolonged endurance training on Na⁺ -K⁺ pump concentration and enzymatic activities in human vastus lateralis. *Acta. Physiol. Scand.* 165, 177-184.

Green, S. Bulow, J., & B. Saltin. 1999b. Microdialysis and the measurement of muscle interstitial K⁺ during rest and exercise in humans *J. Appl. Physiol.* 87, 460-464.

Grimby, G., Danneskjold-Samsøe, B., Hvid, K., & B. Saltin. 1982. Morphology and enzymatic capacity in arm and leg muscles in 78-81 year old men and women. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 115, 125-134.

Gullestad, L., Dolva, L.O., Nordby, G., Skaaraas, K., Larsen. S., & J. Kjekshus. 1989. The importance of potassium and lactate for maximal exercise performance during beta blockade. *Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest.* 49, 521-528.

٩.

Gullestad, L., Hallén, J., & O.M. Sejersted. 1995. K⁺ -balance of the quadriceps muscle during dynamic exercise with and without β -adrenoceptor blockade. J. Appl. Physiol. 78, 513-523.

Györke, S. 1993. Effects of repeated tetanic stimulation on excitation-contraction coupling in cut muscle fibres of the frog. *J. Physiol.* 464, 699-710.

Halkjær-Kristensen, J., & T. Ingemann-Hansen. 1985. Wasting and training of the human quadriceps muscle during treatment of knee ligament injuries. *Scand. J. Rehab. Med. Suppl.* 13, 3-37.

Hall, M.J., Snell, G.I., Side E.A., Esmore, D.S., Walters, E.H., & T.J. Williams. 1994. Exercise, potassium, and muscle deconditioning post-thoracic organ transplantation. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 77, 2784-2790.

Hallén, J. 1996. K⁺ balance in humans during exercise. Acta Physiol. Scand. 156, 279-286.

Hallén, .J, Gullestad, L., & O.M. Sejersted. 1994. K^+ shifts of skeletal muscle during stepwise bicycle exercise with and without β -adrenoceptor blockade. J. Physiol. 477, 149-159.

Hallén, .J, Saltin, B., & O.M. Sejersted. 1996. K⁺ balance during exercise and role of β -adrenergic stimulation *Am. J. Physiol.* 270, R1347-R1354.

Hallén, .J, & O.M. Sejersted. 1993. Intravasal use of pliable K⁺ -selective electrodes in the femoral vein of humans during exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 75, 2318-2325.

Hansen, O. 1971. The relationship between g-strophanthin binding capacity and ATPase activity in plasma membrane fragments from ox brain. *Biochim Biophys. Acta.* 233, 122-132.

Hansen, O. 1979. Facilitation of ouabain binding to $(Na^+ + K^+)$ - ATPase by vanadate at *in vivo* concentrations. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 568, 265-269.

Hansen, O. 1982. Studies on ouabain-complexed (Na⁺ + K⁺)- ATPase carried out with vanadate. *Biochim Biophys. Acta.* 692, 187-195.

Hansen, O. 1984. Interaction of cardiac glycosides with $(Na^+ + K^+)$ -activated ATPase. A biochemical link to digitalis-induced inotropy. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 36, 143-163.

Hansen, O. 1998. Determination of quantitative distribution of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase isoforms in tissue homogenates. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 163 Suppl. 643, 305.

Hansen, O., & T. Clausen. 1988. Quantitative determination of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase and other sarcolemmal components in muscle cells. *Am. J. Physiol.* 254, C1-C7.

Hansen, O., & T. Clausen. 1996. Studies on sarcolemmal components may be misleading due to inadequate recovery. *FEBS Lett.* 384, 203.

Hansen, O., Jensen, J., & J.G Nørby. 1971. Mutual exclusion of ATP, ADP and g-strophanthin binding to NaK-ATPase. *Nature*. 234, 122-124.

Hanson, J., & A. Persson. 1971. Changes in the action potential and contraction of isolated frog muscle after repetitive stimulation. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 81, 340-348.

Hansen Bay, C.M., and G.R. Strichartz. 1980. Saxitoxin binding to sodium channels of rat skeletal muscles. *J. Physiol.* 300, 89-103.

Hargreaves, M., McKenna, M.J., Jenkins, D.G., Warmington, S.T., Li, J.L., Snow, R.J., & M.A. Febbraio. 1998. Muscle metabolites and performance during high intensity, intermittent exercise. J. Appl. Physiol 84, 1-5.

Harmer, A.R., McKenna M.J., Sutton, J.R., Snow, R.J., Ruell, P.A., Booth, J., Thompson, M.W., Mackay, N.A., Stathis, C.G., Crameri, R.M. Carey, M.F., & D.M. Eager. 2000.
Skeletal muscle metabolic and ionic adaptations during intense exercise following sprint training in humans. J. Appl. Physiol. 89, 1793-1803.

Harris, R.C., Hultman, E., & L.-O. Nordesjö. 1974. Glycogen, glycolytic intermediates and high-energy phosphates determined in biopsy samples of musculus quadriceps femoris of man at rest. Methods and variance of values. *Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest.* 33, 109-120.

Harrison, A.T., Clausen, T., Duchamp, C., & M.J. Dauncey. 1994. Roles of skeletal muscle morphology and activity in determining Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase concentration in young pigs. *Am. J. Physiol.* 266, R102-R111.

Harrison, A.P., Nielsen, O.B., & T. Clausen. 1997. Role of Na⁺-K⁺ pump and Na⁺ channel concentrations in the contractility of rat soleus muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 272, R1402-1408.

Hather, B.M., Tesch, P.A., Buchanan, P., & G.A. Dudley. 1991. Influence of eccentric actions on skeletal muscle adaptation to resistance training. *Acta Physiol Scand.* 143, 177-185.

Hazeyama, Y., & H.V. Sparks. 1979. A model of potassium ion efflux during exercise of skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 236, R83-R90.

Häggmark, T., & E. Eriksson. 1979. Hypotrophy of the soleus muscle in man after Achilles tendon rupture. *Am. J. Sports Med.* 7, 121-126.

Häggmark, T., Jansson, E., & E. Eriksson. 1981. Fiber type area and metabolic potential of the thigh muscle in man after knee surgery and immobilization. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 2, 12-17.

Häkkinen, K., Alén, M., & P.V. Komi. 1985. Changes in isometric force- and relaxationtime, electromyographic and muscle fibre characteristics of human skeletal muscle during strength training and detraining. *Acta. Physiol. Scand.* 125, 573-585. Hermansen, L., Orheim, A., & O.M. Sejersted. 1984. Metabolic acidosis and changes in muscle water and electrolyte balance in relation to fatigue during maximal exercise of short duration. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 5, 110-115.

Herrera, V.L., Cova, T., Sassoon, D., & N. Ruiz-Opazo. 1994. Developmental cellspecific regulation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase alpha 1-,alpha 2-, and alpha 3-isoform gene expression. *Am. J. Physiol.* 266, C1301-1312.

Hicks, A., Ohlendieck, K., Göpel, S.O., & D. Pette. 1997. Early functional and biochemical adaptations to low-frequency stimulation of rabbit fast-twitch muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 273, C297-C305.

Hodgkin, A.L., & R.D. Keynes. 1956. Experiments on the injection of substances into squid giant axons by means of a microsyringe. *J. Physiol.* 131, 592-616.

Hodgkin, A.L., & P. Horowitz. 1959. Movement of Na and K in single muscle fibres. J. Physiol. 145, 405-432.

Hodgkin, A.L., & A.F. Huxley. 1952. A quantitative description of the membrane current and its application to conduction and excitation in nerve. *J. Physiol.* 117, 500-544.

Hogan, M.C., Gladden, L.B., Kurdak, S.S., & D.C. Poole. 1995. Increased [lactate] in working dog muscle reduces tension development independent of pH. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 27, 371-377.

Hokanson, J.F, Mercier, J.G., & G.A. Brooks. 1995. Cyclosporine A decreases rat skeletal muscle mitochondrial respiration in vitro. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 151, 1848-1851.

Holloszy, J.O., & E.F. Coyle. 1984. Adaptations of skeletal muscle to endurance exercise and their metabolic consequences. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 56, 831-838.

Holmberg, E., & B. Waldeck. 1980. The effect of insulin on skeletal muscle contractions and its relation to the effect produced by β -adrenreceptor stimulation. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 109, 225-229.

Horgan, D.J., & R.A. Kuypers. 1987. A fluorometric assay for the potassium-dependent phosphatase activity of the $(Na^+ + K^+)$ -adenosine triphosphatase. *Anal. Biochem.* 166, 183-187.

Horgan, D.J., & R. Kuypers. 1988. Biochemical properties of purified transverse tubules isolated from skeletal muscle triads. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 260, 1-9.

Howald, H. 1982. Training- induced morphological and functional changes in skeletal muscle. Int. J. Sports Med. 3, 1-12.

Huang, W., & A. Askari. 1975. (Na^++K^+) activated adenosinetriphosphatase: fluorimetric determination of the associated K⁺-dependent 3-O-methylfluorescein phosphatase and its use for assay of enzyme samples with low activities. *Anal. Biochem.* 6, 265-271.

Huang, W., & A. Askari. 1982. Ca²⁺ dependent activities of the (Na⁺+K⁺)-ATPase. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 216, 741-750.

Huang, W., & A. Askari. 1984. Regulation of (Na⁺+K⁺)-ATPase by inorganic phosphate: pH dependence and physiological implications. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 123, 438-443.

Hundal, H.S., & J.C. Aledo. 1996. Do subcellular fractionation studies of skeletal muscle yield useful information regarding sarcolemmal components? FEBS Lett. 384, 204-205.

Hundal, H.S., Marette, A., Mitsumoto, Y., Ramlal, T., Blostein, R., & A. Klip. 1992. Insulin induces translocation of the α_2 and β_1 subunits of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase from intracellular compartments to the plasma membrane in mammalian skeletal. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267, 5040-5043. Hundal, H.S., Marette, A., Ramlal, T., Liu, Z., & A. Klip. 1993. Expression of β subunit isoforms of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is muscle type specific. *FEBS Lett.* 328, 253-258.

Hundal, H.S., Maxwell, D.L., Ahmed, A., Darakhshan, F., Mitsumoto, Y., & A. Klip. 1994. Subcellular distribution and immumocytochemical localisation of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase subunit isoforms in human skeletal muscle *Mol. Membr. Biol.* 11, 255-262.

Inesi, G., Millman, M., & S. Eletr. 1973. Temperature-induced transitions of function and structure in sarcoplasmic reticulum membranes. *J. Mol. Biol.* 81, 483-504.

Inesi, G., Lewis, D., Sumbilla, C., Nandi, A., Kirtley, M., & C.P. Ordahl. 1997. ATPase gene transfer and mutational analysis of the cation translocation mechanism. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 834, 207-220.

Ingjer, F. 1979. Effects of endurance training on muscle fibre ATPase activity, capillary supply and mitochondrial content in man. *J. Physiol.* 294, 419-432.

Ismail-Beigi, F. 1993. Thyroid hormone regulation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase expression. *Trends. Endocrinol. Metab.* 4, 152-155.

Ismail-Beigi, F., & I.S. Edelman. 1971. The mechanism of the calorigenic action of thyroid hormone. Stimulation of Na + K -activated adenosine triphosphatase activity. J. Gen. Physiol. 57, 710-722.

Izumi, F., Nagai, K., & H. Yoshida. Studies on Potassium Dependent Phosphatase. 1966. *J. Biochem.* 60, 533-537.

Jackson, A.S., & M.L. Pollock. 1978. Generalized equations for predicting body density of men. Br. J. Nutr. 40, 497-504.

Jackson, A.S., Pollock, M.L., & A. Ward 1980. Generalised equations for predicting body density of women. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 12, 175-181.

Jackson, M.J., Edwards, R.H., & M.C. Symons. 1985. Electron spin resonance studies of intact mammalian skeletal muscle. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. 847, 185-190.

Jakobsson, P., Jorfeldt, L., & A. Brundin. 1990. Skeletal muscle metabolites and fibre types in patients with advanced chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), with and without chronic respiratory failure. *Eur. Respir. J.* 3, 192-196

James, C., Sacco, P., & D.A. Jones. 1995. Loss of power during fatigue of human leg muscles. J. Physiol. 484, 237-246.

James, J.H., Cheng-Hui, F., Schrantz, S.J., Hasselgren, P.O., Paul, R.J., & J.E. Fischer. 1996. Linkage of aerobic glycolysis to sodium-potassium transport in rat skeletal muscle. *J. Clin. Invest.* 98, 2388-2397.

James, J.H., Wagner, K.R., King, J.K., Leffler, R.E., Upputuri, R.K., Balasubramaniam, A., Friend, L.A., Shelly, D.A., Paul, R.J., & J.E. Fischer. 1999. Stimulation of both aerobic glycolysis and Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in skeletal muscle by epinephrine and amylin. *Am. J. Physiol.* 277, E176-E186.

Jebens, E., Steen, H., Fjeld, T.O., Bye, E., & O.M. Sejersted. 1995. Changes in Na⁺,K⁺adenosinetriphosphatase, citrate synthase and K⁺ in sheep skeletal muscle during immobilization and remobilization. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 71, 386-395.

Ji, L.L., Stratman, F., & H. Lardy. 1988. Antioxidant enzyme systems in rat liver and skeletal muscle. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 263, 150-160.

Johnson, E.A., & J.B. Chapman. 1985. A working mechanism of the Na⁺,K⁺-pump: Ion Binding. In Glynn, I. & G. Ellory. (Eds) 4th International Conference on the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, Company of Biologists, Cambridge, 613-619.

Jones, D.A. 1996. High- and low- frequency fatigue revisited. Acta Physiol. Scand. 156, 265-702.

Jones, D.A., & B. Bigland-Ritchie. 1986. Electrical and contractile changes in muscle fatigue. In Saltin, B. (Ed.) Biochemistry of Exercise: International series on Sport Science Human Kinetics Champaign Illinois, 377-392.

Jones, P.R.M., & J. Pearson. 1969. Anthropometric determination of leg fat and muscle plus bone volumes in young male and female adults. *J. Physiol.* 204, 63P-66P.

Joreteg, T., and T. Jogestrand. 1986. Physical exercise and digoxin binding to skeletal muscle: relation to exercise intensity. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 25, 585-588.

Jorgensen, P.L. 1982. Mechanism of the Na^+, K^+ pump. Protein structure and conformations of the pure ($Na^+ + K^+$)-ATPase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 694, 27-68.

Jorgensen, P.L., & J.C. Skou. 1971. Purification and characterisation of $(Na^+ + K^+)$ -ATPase. I. The influence of detergents on the activity of $(Na^+ + K^+)$ -ATPase in preparations from the outer medulla of rabbit kidney. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 233, 366-380.

Jorgensen, P.L., Nielsen, J.M., Rasmussen, J.H., & P.A. Pedersen. 1998. Structurefunction relationships based on ATP binding and cation occlusion at equilibrium in Na,K-ATPase. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* Suppl 643,79-87.

Judah, J.D., Ahmed, K., &. A.E. Mclean. 1962. Ion transport and phosphoproteins of human red cells. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. 65, 472-480.

Juel, C. 1986. Potassium and sodium shifts during in vitro isometric muscle contraction, and the time course of the ion-gradient recovery. *Pflügers. Archiv.* 406, 458-463.

Juel, C. 1988. Muscle action potential propagation velocity changes during activity. *Muscle & Nerve.* 11, 714-719.

Juel, C. 1991. Muscle lactate transport studied in sarcolemmal giant vesicles. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 1065, 15-20.

Juel, C., Bangsbo, J., Graham, T., & B. Saltin. 1990. Lactate and potassium fluxes from human skeletal muscle during and after intense, dynamic, knee extensor exercise. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 140, 147-159.

Juel, C., Hellsten, Y. Saltin, B., & J. Bangsbo. 1999. Potassium fluxes in contracting human skeletal muscle and red blood cells. *Am. J. Physiol.* 276, R184-R188.

Juel, C., Nielsen, J.J., & J. Bangsbo. 2000a. Exercise-induced translocation of Na⁺,K⁺pump subunits to the plasma membrane in human skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 278, R1107-R1110.

Juel, C., Pilegaard, H., Nielsen, J.J., & J. Bangsbo. 2000b. Interstitial [K⁺] in human skeletal muscle during and after dynamic graded exercise determined by microdialysis. *Am. J. Physiol.* 278, R400-R406.

Kaplan, J.H., Gatto, C., Holden, J.P., & S.J. Thornewell. 1998. Structural changes associated with the coupling of ATP hydrolysis and cation transport by the Na pump. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* Suppl 643, 99-105.

Karlsson, J., Lin, L., & C. Sylven. 1996. Muscle ubiquinone in healthy physically active males. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 156, 169-172.

Katz, A., Sahlin, K., & A. Juhlin-Dannfelt. 1985. Effect of β -adrenoceptor blockade on H⁺ and K⁺ flux in exercising humans. J. Appl. Physiol. 59, 336-341.

Kavanagh, T., Yacoub, M.H., Mertens, D.J., Kennedy, J., Campbell, R.B., & P. Sawyer. 1988. Cardiorespiratory responses to exercise training after orthotropic cardiac transplantation. *Circulation*. 77, 162-171.

Keys, A. 1937. Exchanges between blood plasma and tissue fluid in man *Science*. 85, 317-318.

Kim, M., & T. Akera. 1987. O₂ free radicals: cause of ischemia-reperfusion injury to cardiac Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase. *Am. J. Physiol.* 252, H252-H257.

Kjeldsen, K, & P Grøn. 1989. Skeletal muscle Na⁺,K⁺-pump concentration in children and its relationship to cardiac glycoside distribution. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 250, 721-725.

Kjeldsen, K., Nørgaard, A., & T. Clausen. 1985. Effects of ouabain, age and K-depletion on K-uptake in rat soleus muscle. *Pflügers Arch.* 404, 365-373.

Kjeldsen, K. 1986. Complete quantification of the total concentration of rat skeletal muscle Na-K dependant ATPase by measurements of ³[H]-ouabain binding. *Biochem. J.* 240, 725-730.

Kjeldsen, K., Richter, E.A., Galbo, H., Lortie, G., & T. Clausen. 1986. Training increases the concentration of [³H]-ouabain binding sites in rat skeletal muscle. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 860, 708-712.

Kjeldsen, K., Brændgaard, H., Sidenius, P., Larsen, J.S., & A. Nørgaard. 1987. Diabetes decreases Na⁺,K⁺-pump concentration in skeletal muscles, heart ventricular muscle, and peripheral nerves of rat. *Diabetes*. 36, 842-848.

Kjeldsen, K., Everts, M.E. & A. Nørgaard. 1988. Na,K-ATPase concentration in skeletal muscle: quantification, regulation and significance. In Skou, J.C. Nørby, G., Maunsbach, A,B., & M. Esmann. (Eds) *The Na*⁺, K⁺ *-Pump*, Part B: Cellular aspects, Alan R. Liss, New York, 251-256.

Kjeldsen, K., Nørgaard, A., & T. Clausen. 1984a. The age-dependant changes in the number of [³H]ouabain binding sites in mammalian skeletal muscle. *Pflügers Arch.* 402, 100-108.

Kjeldsen, K., Nørgaard, A., & T. Clausen. 1984b. Effects of K⁺ depletion on ³H ouabain binding and Na-K contents in mammalian skeletal muscle. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 122, 103-117.

ŝ

Kjeldsen, K., Nørgaard, A., Gotzsche, C.O, Thomassen, A., & T. Clausen. 1984c. Effect of thyroid function on number of Na-K pumps in human skeletal muscle. *Lancet* 7, 8-10.

Kjeldsen, K., Nørgaard, A., & C. Hau. 1990a. Exercise-induced hyperkalemia can be reduced in human subjects by moderate training without change in skeletal muscle Na,K-ATPase concentration. *Eur. J. Clin. Invest.* 20, 642-647.

Kjeldsen, K., Nørgaard, A., & C. Hau. 1990b. Human skeletal muscle Na,K-ATPase concentration quantified by ³[H]-ouabain binding to intact biopsies before and after physical conditioning. *Int. J. Sports. Med.* 11, 304-307.

Kjellmer, I. 1965. Studies on exercise hyperaemia. Acta Physiol. Scand. 64, 5-26.

Klitgaard, H., & T. Clausen. 1989. Increased total concentration of Na-K pumps in vastus lateralis muscle of old trained human subjects. *J. Appl. Physiol*. 67, 2491-2494.

Knochel, J.P., Blachely, J.D., Johnson, J.H., & N.W. Carter. 1985. Muscle cell electrical hyperpolarisation and reduced hyperkalemia in physically conditioned dogs. *J. Clin. Invest.* 75, 740-745.

Kolb, H.A. 1990. Potassium channels in excitable and non-excitable cells. *Rev. Physiol. Biochem. Pharmacol.* 115, 51-91.

Kourie, J.I. 1998. Interaction of reactive oxygen species with ion transport mechanisms. *Am. J. Physiol.* 275, C1-C24.

Kowalchuk, J.M., Heigenhauser G.J., Lindinger, M.I., Sutton, J.R., & N.L. Jones. 1988. Factors influencing hydrogen ion concentration in muscle after intense exercise. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 65, 2080-2089.

Kraemer, W.J., Patton, J.F., Gordon, S.E., Harman, E.A., Deschenes, M.R., Reynolds, K., Newton, R.U., Tripplett, N.T., & J.E. Dziados. 1995. Compatability of high-intensity strength and endurance training on hormonal and skeletal muscle adaptations. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 78, 976-989.

Kramer, J.H., Mak, I.T., & W.B. Weglicki. 1984. Differential sensitivity of canine cardiac sarcolemmal and microsomal enzymes to inhibition by free radical-induced lipid peroxidation. *Circ. Res.* 55,120-124.

Kumar, C.T., Reddy, V.K., Prasad, M., Thyagaraju, K., & P. Reddanna. 1992. Dietary supplementation of Vitamin E protects heart tissue from exercise-induced oxidant stress. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 111, 109-115.

Kuwahara, S., Chin, S., & N.A. Delamere. 1998. Partial inhibition of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity in cultured rabbit non-pigmented ciliary epithelium following an episode of cytoplasmic ATP depletion. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 164, 13-20.

Körge, P. 1998. Factors limiting ATPase activity in skeletal muscle. In Hargreaves, M., & M. Thomson, (Eds). Biochemistry of Exercise X, Human Kinetics Champaign Illinois, 125-134.

Körge, P., & K.B. Campbell. 1995. The importance of ATPase microenvironment in muscle fatigue: a hypothesis. *Int. J. Sports. Med.* 16, 172-179.

Lamb, G.D. 1998. Excitation- contraction coupling and fatigue in skeletal muscle. In Hargreaves, M., & M. Thomson, (Eds). Biochemistry of Exercise X, Human Kinetics Champaign Illinois, 99-114.

Lamb, G., Junaker, P.R., & D.G. Stephenson. 1995. Raised intracellular [Ca²⁺] abolishes excitation-contraction coupling in skeletal muscle fibers of rat and toad. *J. Physiol.* 489, 349-362.

Lamb, G.D., Recupero, E., & D.G. Stephenson. 1992. Effect of myoplasmic pH on excitation-contraction coupling in skeletal muscle fibres of the toad. *J. Physiol.* 448, 211-224.

Lännergren, J., & H. Westerblad. 1986. Force and membrane potential during and after fatiguing, continuous high-frequency stimulation of single Xenopus muscle fibres. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 128, 359-368.

Lau, Y.H., Caswell, A.H., & J.P. Brunschwig. 1977. Isolation of transverse tubules by fractionation of triad junctions of skeletal muscle. *J. Biol. Chem.* 252, 5565-5574.

Lavoie, L., Roy, D., Ramlal, T., Dombrowski, L., Martin-Vasello, P., Marette, A., Carpentier, JL., & A. Klip. 1996. Insulin-induced translocation of the Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase subunits to the plasma membrane is muscle fiber type specific. *Am. J. Physiol.* 270, C1421-C1429.

Lavoie, L., Levenson, R., Martin-Vasallo, P., & A. Klip. 1997. The molar ratios of alpha and beta subunits of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase differ in distinct subcellular membranes from rat skeletal muscle. *Biochem.* 36, 7726-7732.

Leader, J.P., Bray, J.J., Macknight, A.D., Mason, D.R., McCaig, D., & R.G. Mills. 1984. Cellular ions in intact and denervated muscles of the rat. *J. Membr. Biol.* 81, 19-27.

Lechene, C. 1988. Physiological role of the Na⁺,K⁺-pump. In Skou, J.C. Nørby, G., Maunsbach, A,B., & M. Esmann. (Eds) The Na⁺, K⁺ -Pump, Part B: Cellular aspects, Alan R. Liss, New York, 171-194.

Lederer, W.J., Niggli, E., & R.W Hadley. 1990. Sodium-calcium exchange in excitable cells: fuzzy space. *Science*. 248, 283.

Leewenburgh, C., Fiebeg, R., Chandwaney, R., & L.L. Ji. 1994. Aging and exercise training in skeletal muscle: responses to glutathione and antioxidant enzyme systems. *Am. J. Physiol.* 267, R439-R445.

Leewenburgh, C., Hollander, J., Fiebeg, R., Leichtweis, S., Griffith, M., & L.L. Ji. 1997. Adaptations of glutathione antioxidant enzyme system to endurance training are tissue and muscle fibre specific. *Am. J. Physiol.* 272, R363-R369.

Leivseth, G. & O. Reikerås. 1994. Changes in muscle fiber cross-sectional area and concentrations of Na,K-ATPase in deltoid muscle in patients with impingement syndrome of the shoulder. J. Orthop. Sports Phys. Ther. 19, 146-149.

Leivseth, G., Tindall, A., & R. Myklebust. 1987. Changes in guinea pig muscle histology in response to reduced mobility. *Muscle Nerve* 10, 410-414.

Leivseth, G., Clausen, T., Everts, M.E., & E. Bjordal. 1992. Effects of reduced joint mobility and training on Na, K-ATPase and Ca-ATPase in skeletal muscle. *Muscle Nerve* 15, 834-849.

Levenson, R. 1994. Isoforms of the Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase: family members in search of function. *Rev. Physiol. Biochem. Pharm.* 123. 1-45.

Li, J.L. 1999. Effects of altered physical activity on human skeletal muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium regulation. *Ph.D. thesis, Victoria University of Technology, Melbourne, Australia.*

Lin, M.H., & T. Akera. 1978. Increased (Na⁺,K⁺)-ATPase concentrations in various tissues of rats caused by thyroid hormone treatment. *J. Biol. Chem.* 253, 723-726.

Lindinger, M.I, & G.J. Heigenhauser. 1988. Ion fluxes during tetanic stimulation in isolated perfused rat hindlimb. *Am. J. Physiol.* 254, R117-R126.

Lindinger, M.I., & G. Sjøgaard. 1991. Potassium regulation during exercise and recovery. *Sports Med.* 11, 382-401.

Lindinger, M.I., Horn, P.L., & S.P. Grudzien. 1999. Exercise-induced stimulation of K⁺ transport in human erythrocytes. J. Appl. Physiol. 87, 2157-2167.

Lingrel, J.B. 1992. Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase isoform, structure, function and expression J. *Bioenerg. Biomembr.* 24, 263-270.

Lingrel, J.B., Croyle, M.L., Woo, A.L., & J.M. Argüello. 1998. Ligand binding sites of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 163 (Suppl) 643, 69-77.

Linton, R.A., & D.M. Band. 1985. The effect of potassium on carotid chemoreceptor activity and ventilation in the cat. *Respir. Physiol.* 59, 65-70.

Lowry, O.H., & J.V. Pasonneau. 1972. Flexible system of enzymatic analysis. New York, Academic Press.

Lowry, O.H., Rosebrough, N.J., Farr, A.L., & R.J. Randall. 1951. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J. Biol. Chem. 193, 265-275.

Luczay, A., Vasarhelyi, B., Dobos, M., Holics, K., Ujhelyi, R., & T. Tulassay. 1997. Altered erythrocyte sodium-lithium counter-transport and Na+/K(+)-ATPase activity in cystic fibrosis. *Acta Paediatr*. 86, 245-247.

Luthi, J.M., Howald, H., Claassen, H., Rosler, K., Vock, P., & H. Hoppeler. 1986. Structural changes in skeletal muscle tissue with heavy-resistance exercise. *Int. J. Sports. Med.* 7, 123-127.

Lutsenko, S., & J.H. Kaplan. 1993. An essential role for the extracellular domain of the Na,K-ATPase beta-subunit in cation occlusion. *Biochemistry* 32, 6737-6743.

MacDougall, J.D., Ward, G.R., Sale, D.G., & J.R. Sutton. 1977. Biochemical adaptation of human skeletal muscle to heavy resistance training and immobilisation. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 43, 700-703.

MacDougall, J.D., Elder, G.C., Sale, D.G., Moroz, J.R., & J.R. Sutton. 1980. Effects of strength training and immobilisation on human muscle fibres. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 43, 25-34.

Madsen, K., Franch, J., & T. Clausen. 1994. Effects of intensified endurance training on the concentration of Na, K-ATPase and Ca-ATPase in human skeletal muscle. *Acta*. *Physiol. Scand.* 150, 251-258.

Mandel. L.J., Doctor, R.B., & R. Bacallao. 1994. ATP depletion: a novel method to study junctional properties in epithelial tissues. II. Internalization of $Na^+, K(^+)$ -ATPase and E-cadherin. J. Cell. Sci. 107, 3315-3324.

Marette, A., Krischer, J., Lavoie, L., Ackerly, C., Carpenter, J.L., & A. Klip. 1993. Insulin increases the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase α_2 -subunit in the surface membrane of rat skeletal muscle: morphological evidence. *Am. J. Physiol.* 265, C1716-C1722.

Martin, T.P., Edgerton, V.R., & R.E. Grindeland. 1988. Influence of spaceflight on rat skeletal muscle. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 65, 2318-2325.

Matsui, H., & A. Schwartz. 1966. Purification and properties of a highly active ouabainsensitive Na⁺, K⁺-dependent adenosinetriphosphatase from cardiac tissue. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 128, 380-390.

Mazzeo, R.S. 1991. Catecholamines responses to acute and chronic exercise. *Med. Sci. Sport. Exerc.* 23, 839-845.

McCartney, N., Spriet. L.L., Heigenhauser. G.J., Kowalchuk, J.M., Sutton, J.R., & N.L. Jones. 1986. Muscle power and metabolism in maximal intermittent exercise. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 60, 1164-1169.

McDonough, A.A., Geering, K., & R.A. Farley. 1990. The sodium pump needs its β subunit. *FASEB J.* 4, 1598-1605.

McLoughlin, P., Popham, P., Linton, R.A., Bruce, R.C., & D.M. Band. 1992. Use of arterialised venous blood sampling during incremental exercise. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 73, 937-940.

McKenna, M.J. 1992. The roles of ionic processes in muscular fatigue during intense exercise. Sports. Med. 13, 134-145.

McKenna, M.J., Heigenhauser, G.J., McKelvie, R.S., MacDougall, J.D., & N.L. Jones. 1997. Sprint training enhances ionic regulation during intense exercise in men. *J. Physiol.* 501, 687-702.

McKenna, M.J. 1995. Effects of training on potassium homeostasis during exercise. J. Moll. Cell Cardiol. 27, 941-949.

McKenna, M.J., 1998. Role of the skeletal muscle Na⁺,K⁺-pump during exercise. In Hargreaves, M., & M. Thomson, (Eds). *Biochemistry of Exercise X*, Human Kinetics Champaign Illinois, 71-97.

McKenna, M.J., Heigenhauser, G.J., McKelvie, R.S., MacDougall, J.D., & N.L. Jones. 1997. Sprint training enhances ionic regulation during intense exercise in men. *J. Physiol.* 501, 687-702.

McKenna, M.J., Schmidt, T.A., Hargreaves, M., Cameron, L., Skinner, S.L., & K. Kjeldsen. 1993. Sprint training increases [³H]-ouabain binding site concentration and improves K⁺ regulation. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 75, 173-180.

McKenzie, D.K., Bigland-Ritchie, B., Gorman, R.B., & S.C. Gandevia. 1992. Central and peripheral fatigue of human diaphragm and limb muscles assessed by twitch interpolation. *J. Physiol.* 454, 643-656.

McCoy, M., & M. Hargreaves. 1992. Potassium and ventilation during incremental exercise in trained and untrained men. J. Appl. Physiol. 73, 1287-1290.

McCutcheon, L.J., Byrd, S.K., & D.R. Hodgson. 1992. Ultrastructural changes in skeletal muscle after fatiguing exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 72, 1111-1117.

Medbø, J.I., & O.M. Sejersted. 1990. Plasma potassium changes with high intensity exercise. J. Physiol. 421, 105-122.

Medbø, J.I., & O.M. Sejersted. 1994. Plasma K⁺ changes during intense exercise in endurance trained and sprint-trained subjects. *Acta. Physiol. Scand.* 151, 363-371.

Mercer, R.W., & P.B. Dunham. 1981. Biphasic effect of orthophosphate on the (Na, K)pump of human red cells. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 648, 63-70.

Mercier, J.G, Hokanson, J.F., & G.A. Brooks. 1995. Effects of cyclosporine A on skeletal muscle mitochondrial respiration and endurance time in rats. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 151, 1532-1536.

Metzger, J.M., & R.H. Fitts. 1987. Role of intracellular pH in muscular fatigue. J. Appl. Physiol. 62, 1392-1397.

Minaker, K.L., & J.W. Rowe. 1982. Potassium homeostasis during hyperinsulinemia: Effect of insulin level, β-blockade, and age. *Am. J. Physiol.* 242, E373-E377.

Middleton, J.P., Khan, W.A. Collinsworth, G., Hannun, Y.A., & R.M. Medford. 1993. Heterogeneity of protein kinase C-mediated rapid regulation of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in kidney epithelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 15958-15964.

Mishra, O.M., Delivoria-Papadopoulos, M., Cahillane, G., & L.C. Wagerle. 1989. Lipid peroxidation as the mechanism of modification of the affinity of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase active sites for ATP, K⁺, Na⁺ and Strophanthidin in vitro. *Neurochem. Res.* 14, 845-851.

Miyoshi, S., Trulock, E.P., Schaefers, H.J., Hsieh, C.M., Patterson, G.A., & J.D. Cooper. 1990. Cardiopulmonary exercise testing after single and double lung transplantation. *Chest* 97, 1130-1136.

Molitoris, B.A., Dahl, R., & A. Geerdes. 1992. Cytoskeleton disruption and apical redistribution of proximal tubule Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase during ischemia. *Am. J. Physiol.* 263, F488-F495.

Moritani, T., & H.A. deVries. 1979. Neural factors versus hypertrophy in the time course of muscle strength gain. Am. J. Phys. Med. 58, 115-130.

eş V Munzer, J.S., Daly, S.E., Jewell-Motz, E.A., Lingrel, J.B., & R. Blostein. 1994. Tissueand isoform-specific kinetic behaviour of the Na, K-ATPase. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 16668-16676.

Murphy, M.E, & J.E. Brayden. 1995. Nitric oxide hyperpolarizes rabbit mesenteric arteries via ATP-sensitive potassium channels. J. Physiol. 486, 47-58.

Nichols, C.G., & W.J. Lederer. 1991. Adenosine trisphosphate-sensitive potassium channels in the cardiovascular system. *Am. J. Physiol.* 261, H1675-H1686.

Nielsen, O. B., & T. Clausen. 1994. The significance of active Na⁺ and K⁺ transport for the maintenance of contractility in rat skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 477, 62P.

Nielsen, O.B., & T. Clausen. 1996. The significance of active Na^+,K^+ transport in the maintenance of contractility in rat skeletal muscle. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 157, 199-209.

Nielsen, O. B., & T. Clausen. 1997. Regulation of Na⁺, K⁺ -pump activity in contracting rat muscle. *J. Physiol.* 503, 571-581.

Nielsen, O. B., & T. Clausen. 2000. The Na⁺/K⁺-pump protects muscle excitability and contractility during exercise. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 28,159-164.

Nygaard, E. 1981. Skeletal muscle fibre characteristics in young women. Acta Physiol. Scand. 112, 299-304.

Nørgaard, A. 1986. Quantification of Na,K-pumps in mammalian skeletal muscle. Acta. Pharmacol. et Toxicol. 58, Suppl, 1-34.

Nørgaard, A., Kjeldsen, K., Hanson O., & T. Clausen. 1983. A simple and rapid method for the determination of the number of [³H]ouabain binding sites in biopsies of skeletal muscle. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 111, 319-325.

Nørgaard, A., Kjeldsen, K., & T. Clausen. 1981. Potassium depletion decreases the number of ³H-ouabain binding sites and the active Na-K transport in skeletal muscle. *Nature* 293, 739-741.

Nørgaard, A., Kjeldsen, K., & T. Clausen. 1984a. A method for the determination of the total number of $[{}^{3}H]$ ouabain binding sites in biopsies of human skeletal muscle. *Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest.* 44, 509-518.

Nørgaard, A., Kjeldsen, K., Hanson O. & T. Clausen. 1984b. Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity of crude homogenates of rat skeletal muscle as estimated from their K⁺ -dependent 3-*O*-methylfluorescein phosphatase activity. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. 770, 203-209.

Nørgaard, A., Bjerregaard, P., Baandrup, U., Kjeldsen, K., Reske-Nielsen, E., & P.E. Thomsen. 1990. The concentration of the Na,K-pump in skeletal and heart muscle in congestive heart failure. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 26, 185-190.

Okafor, M.C., Scheinbinger, J., & D.R. Yingst. 1997. Evidence of a calmodulin dependent phospholipase A₂ that inhibits Na,K-ATPase. *Am. J. Physiol.* 272, C1365-C1372.

Olyaei, A.J, de Mattos, A.M., & W.M. Bennett. 1999. Immunosuppressant-induced nephropathy: pathophysiology, incidence and management. *Drug Saf.* 21, 471-488.

Omatsu-Kanbe, M., & H. Kitasato. 1990. Insulin stimulated translocation of Na^+/K^+ -dependent ATPase molecules from intracellular stores to the plasma membrane in frog skeletal muscle. *Biochem. J.* 272, 727-733.

Orlowski, J., & J.B. Lingrel. 1988. Tissue-specific and developmental regulation of rat Na,K-ATPase catalytic alpha isoform and beta subunit mRNAs. *J. Biol. Chem.* 263, 10436-10442.

Otulana, B.A., Higenbottam, T.W., & J. Wallwork. 1992. Causes of exercise limitation after heart-lung transplantation. *J. Heart Lung Transplant.* 11, S244-251.

، ۲ Overgaard, K., Nielsen, O.B., & T. Clausen. 1997. Effects of reduced electrochemical Na⁺ gradient on contractility in skeletal muscle: role of the Na⁺,K⁺-pump. *Pflügers Arch.* 434, 457-465.

Overgaard, K., Nielsen, O.B., Flatman, J.A., & T. Clausen. 1999. Relations between excitability and contractility: role of the Na⁺ -K⁺ pump and Na⁺/K⁺ gradients. *J. Physiol.* 518, 215-225.

Owen, V.J., Lamb, G.D., & D.G. Stephenson. 1996. Effect of low [ATP] on depolarisation-induced Ca^{2+} release in skeletal muscle fibres of the toad. *J. Physiol.* 493, 309-315.

Pallotta, B.S. 1985. Calcium-activated potassium channels in rat muscle inactivate from a short-duration open state. *J. Physiol.* 363, 501-516.

Pantoja, J.G., Andrade, F.H., Stoki, D.S., Frost, A.E., Eschenbacher, W.L., & M.B. Reid. 1999. Respiratory and limb muscle function in lung allograft recipients. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 160, 1205-1211.

Parkhouse, W.S. 1992. The effects of ATP, inorganic phosphate, protons, and lactate on isolated myofibrillar ATPase activity. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 70, 1175-1181.

Pate, E., Bhimani, M., Frank-skiba, K., & R. Cooke. 1995. Reduced effect of pH on skinned rabbit psoas muscle mechanics at high temperatures: implications for fatigue *J. Physiol.* 486, 689-694.

Paterson, D.J. 1992. Potassium and ventilation during exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 72, 811-820.

Paterson, D.J. 1996. Role of potassium in the regulation of systemic physiological function during exercise. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 156, 287-294.

Paterson, D.J., Friedland, J.S., Bascom, D.A., Clement, I.D., Cunningham, D.A., Painter, R., & P.A. Robbins. 1990. Changes in arterial K⁺ and ventilation during exercise in normal subjects and subjects with McArdle's syndrome. *J. Physiol.* 429, 339-348.

Peckham, D., Holland, E., Range, S., & A.J. Knox. 1997. Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase in lower airway epithelium from cystic fibrosis and non-cystic-fibrosis lung. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 232, 464-468.

Pette, D. & R.S. Staron. 1997. Mammalian skeletal muscle fibre type transitions. *Int. Rev. Cytol.* 170, 143-223.

Pfleigler, G., Szabo, I., & T. Kovacs. 1983. The influence of catecholamines on Na, K transport in slow- and fast-twitch muscles of the rat. *Pflügers Arch.* 398, 236-240.

Pickar, J.G., Carlson, R.C., Atrakchi, A., & S.D. Gray. 1994. Increased Na⁺,K⁺-pump number and decreased pump activity in soleus muscles in SHR. *Am. J. Physiol.* 267, C836-C844.

Pitts, B.J., & A. Askari. 1971. A fluorimetric assay method for the K^+ phosphatase associated with the (Na⁺ + K⁺)-activated ATPase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. 227, 453-459.

Pope, E.S., Stinston, E.B., Daughters, G.T., Schroeder, J.S., Ingels, N.B., & E.L. Alderman. 1980. Exercise response of the denervated heart in long-term cardiac transplant recipients. *Amer. J. Cardiol.* 46, 213-218.

Powers, S.K., Criswell, D., Lawler, J., Li, L., Martin, DF., Herb, R., & G. Dudley. 1994. Influence of exercise and fibre type on antioxidant enzyme activity in rat skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 266, R375-R380.

Powers, S.K., & S.L. Lennon. 1999. Analysis of cellular responses to free radicals: focus on exercise and skeletal muscle. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* 58, 1025-1033.

Racay, P., Kaplan, P., & J. Lehotsky. 1996. Control of Ca²⁺ homeostasis in neuronal cells. *Gen. Physiol. Biophys.* 15, 193-210.

Radák, Z., Asano, K., Inoue, M., Kizaki, T., Oh-Ishi, S., Suzuki, K., Taniguchi, N., & H. Ohno. 1995. Superoxide dismutase derivative reduces oxidative damage in skeletal muscle of rats during exhaustive exercise. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 79,129-135.

Ravn, H.B., & I. Dørup. 1997. The concentration of sodium, potassium pumps in chronic obstructive lung disease (COLD) patients: the impact of magnesium depletion and steroid treatment. *J. Intern. Med.* 241, 23-29.

Reid, M.B. 1998. Redox modulation of skeletal muscle contraction by reactive oxygen and nitric oxide. In Hargreaves, M., & M. Thomson, (Eds). Biochemistry of Exercise X, Human Kinetics Champaign Illinois, 155-166.

Reid, M.B., Shoji, T., Moody M.R., & M.L. Entman. 1992. Reactive oxygen in skeletal muscle. I. Extracellular release of free radicals. J. Appl. Physiol. 73, 1805-1809.

Reid, M.B. 1996. Reactive oxygen and nitric oxide in skeletal muscle. *News Physiol. Sci.* 11, 114-119.

Renaud, J.M., Gramolini, A., Light, P., & A. Comtois. 1996. Modulation of muscle contractility during fatigue and recovery by ATP sensitive potassium channel. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 156, 203-212.

Reznik, V.M., Harwood, I.R., & S.A. Mendoza. 1997. K dependence of the Na-K pump is abnormal in erythrocytes from patients with cystic fibrosis and obligate heterozygotes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 137, 1021-1027.

Rios, E., Ma J.J., & A. Gonzalez. 1991. The mechanical hypothesis of excitationcontraction (EC) coupling in skeletal muscle. J. Muscle Res. Cell. Motil. 12, 127-135.

Robinson, J.D., & M.S. Flashner. 1979. The (Na⁺ + K⁺)-activated ATPase. Enzymatic and transport properties. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 549, 145-176.

Rolett, E.L., Strange, S., Sjøgaard, G., Kiens, B., & B. Saltin. 1990. β_2 -adrenergic stimulation does not prevent potassium loss from exercising quadriceps muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 258, R1192-R1200.

Ross, D.J., Waters, P.F., Mohsenifar, Z., Belman, M.J., Cass, R.M., & S.K. Koerner. 1993. Hemodynamic response to exercise after lung transplantation. *Chest* 103, 46-53.

Rouho, A., & J. Kyte. 1974. Photoaffinity labeling of the ouabain binding site on Na,K-ATPase. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 71, 2352-2356.

Rudas, L., Pflugfeder, P.W., McKenzie, F.N., Menkis, A.H., Novick, R.J., & W.J. Kostuk. 1992. Normalization of upright exercise hemodynamics and improved exercise capacity one year after orthotopic cardiac transplantation. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 69, 1336-1339.

Rüegg, J.C. 1992. Calcium in Muscle Contraction. Cellular and Molecular Physiology. (2nd Ed) Springer-Verlag, Berlin.

Ruff, R.L. 1996. Sodium channel slow inactivation and the distribution of sodium channels on skeletal muscle fibres enable the performance properties of different skeletal muscle fibre types. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 156, 159-168.

Ruff, R.L., Martyn, D., & A.M. Gordon. 1982. Glucocorticoid-induced atrophy is not due to impaired excitability of rat muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 243, E512-521.

Ruff, R.L., Simoncini, L., & W. Stühmer. 1988. Slow sodium channel inactivation in mammalian muscle: a possible role in regulating excitability. *Muscle Nerve* 11, 502-510.

Sahlin, K., & S. Broberg. 1989. Release of K⁺ from muscle during prolonged dynamic exercise. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 136, 293-294.

Sakaguchi, M., Inaishi, Y., Kashihara, Y., & M. Kuno. 1991. Release of calcitonin generelated peptide from nerve terminals in rat skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 434, 257-270. Sala, C., Andreose, J.S., Fumagalli, G., & T. Lomo. 1995. Calcitonin-gene related peptide: possible role in maintenance and formation of neuromuscular junctions. *J. Neurosci.* 15, 520-528.

Saltin, B., & P.D. Gollnick. 1983. Skeletal muscle adaptability: significance for metabolism and performance. In Peachy, L., Adrian, R.H, & S.R. Geiger (Eds), Handbook of Physiology: Section 10: Skeletal muscle. 555-631.

Samaha, F.J., & J. Gergely. 1965. Na⁺-and K⁺-stimulated ATPase in human striated muscle *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 109, 76-79.

Samaha, F.J., & J. Gergely. 1966. Studies on the Na⁺-and K⁺-activated adenosine triphosphatase in human striated muscle *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 114, 481-487.

Sargeant, A.J., Davies, C.T., Edwards, R.H., Maunders, C., & A. Young. 1977. Functional and structural changes after disuse of human muscle. *Clin. Sci. Mol. Med.* 52, 337-342.

Satta, A., Migliori, G.B., Spanevello, A., Neri, M., Bottinelli, R., Canepari, M., Pellegrino, M.A., & C. Reggiani. 1997. Fibre types in skeletal muscles of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients related to respiratory function and exercise tolerance. *Eur. Respir. J.* 10, 2853-2860.

Savin, W.M., Haskell, W.L., Schroeder, J.S., & E.B. Stinson. 1980. Cardiorespiratory responses of cardiac transplant patients to graded, symptom-limited exercise. *Circulation*. 62. 55-60.

Schantz, P., Randall-Fox, E., Hutchison, W., Tydén, A., & P.-O. Åstrand. 1983. Muscle fibre type distribution, muscle cross-sectional area and maximal voluntary strength in human. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 117, 219-226.

Schatzmann, H.J. 1953. Herzglycoside als Hemmstoffe fur den aktiven Kalium and Natrium Transport durch die Erythrocytenmembran. *Helv. Physiol. Pharmacol. Acta* 11, 346-354.

ì

Schmidt, T.A., Hasselbach, S., Farrel, P.A., Vestergaard, H., & K. Kjeldsen. 1994. Human and rodent muscle Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in diabetes related to insulin, starvation and training. J. Appl. Physiol, 76, 2140-2146.

Schmidt, T.A., Bundgaard, H., Olesen, L., Secher, N.H., & K. Kjeldsen. 1995. Digoxin affects potassium homeostasis during exercise in patients with heart failure. *Cardiovas. Res.* 29, 506-511.

Schwaiblmair, M., von Scheidt, W., Uberfuhr, P., Reichart, B., & C. Vogelmeier. 1999. Lung function and cardiopulmonary exercise performance after heart transplantation: influence of cardiac allograft vasculopathy. *Chest* 116, 332-339.

Seene, T. 1994. Turnover of skeletal muscle contractile proteins in glucocorticoid myopathy. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 50, 1-4.

Sejersted, O.M., & J. Hallén. 1987. Na,K homeostasis of skeletal muscle during activation. *Med. Sports Sci.* 26, 1-11.

Semb, S.O., & O.M. Sejersted. 1996. Fuzzy space and control of Na⁺,K⁺-pump rate in heart and skeletal muscle *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 156, 213-226.

Shamraj, O.I., & J.B. Lingrel. 1994. A putative fourth Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase alpha-subunit gene is expressed in testis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 12952-12956.

Siems, W., Dubiel, W., Dumdey, R., Muller, M., & S.M. Rapoport. 1984. Accounting for the ATP-consuming processes in rabbit reticulocytes. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 139, 101-107.

Siri, W.E. 1956. The gross composition of the body. In Lawrence J.H & C.A. Tobias (Eds.) Advances in Biological and Medical Physics, IV, New York, Academic Press. 4, 239-280.

Sjøgaard, G. 1983. Electrolytes in slow and fast muscle fibers of humans at rest and with dynamic exercise. *Am. J. Physiol.* 245, R25-R31.

1

Sjøgaard, G. 1990. Exercise-induced muscle fatigue: the significance of potassium. Acta Physiol. Scand. 593 Suppl, 1-63.

Sjøgaard, G., Adams, R.P., & B. Saltin. 1985. Water and ion shifts in skeletal muscle of humans with intense dynamic knee extension. *Am. J. Physiol.* 248, R190-R196.

Skou, J.C. 1957. The influence of some cations on an adenosine triphosphatase from peripheral nerves. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 23, 394-401.

Skou, J.C. 1960. Further investigations on a $Mg^{2+}+Na^+$ activated adenosinetriphosphatase, possibly related to the active, linked transport of Na⁺ and K⁺ across the nerve membrane. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 42, 6-23.

Skou, J.C. 1965. Enzymatic basis for the active transport of Na⁺ and K⁺ across the cell membrane. *Physiol. Rev.* 45, 596-617.

Skou, J.C. 1998. The identification of the Sodium-Pump *Bioscience Reports*. 18, 155-169.

Skou, J.C. 1989. The identification of the sodium-pump as the membrane bound Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase: a commentary by Jens Chr. Skou. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 1000, 435-438.

Smith, J.S., Coronado, R., & G. Meissner. 1985. Sarcoplasmic reticulum contains adenine nucleotide-activated calcium channels. *Nature*. 316, 446-449.

Söderlund, K., & E. Hultman. 1991. ATP and phosphocreatine changes in single human muscle fibres after intense electrical stimulation. *Am. J. Physiol.* 261, E737-E741.

Spriet, L.L., Söderlund, K., Thomson, J.A., & E. Hultman. 1986. pH measurement in human skeletal muscle samples, effect of phosphagen hydrolysis. J. Appl. Physiol. 61, 1949-1954.

Spruce, A.E., Standen, N.B. & P.R. Standfield. 1985. Voltage dependant ATP-sensitive potassium channels of skeletal muscle membrane. *Nature*. 316, 736-738.

Spruce, A.E., Standen, N.B., & P.R. Stanfield. 1987. Studies of the unitary properties of adenosine 5'-trisphosphate-regulated potassium channels of frog skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 382, 213-236.

Sreter, F.A. 1963. Cell water, sodium and potassium in stimulated red and white mammalian muscles. *Am. J. Physiol.* 205, 1295-1298.

Standen, N.B. 1992. Potassium channels, metabolism and muscle. Exp. Physiol. 77, 1-25.

Standen, N.B., Pettit, A.I., Davies, N.W., & P.R. Stanfield. 1992. Activation of ATPdependent K⁺ channels in intact skeletal muscle fibres by reduced intracellular pH. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci.* 247, 195-198.

Stankovicová, T., Zemkova, H., Breier, A., Amler, E., Burkhard, M., & F. Vyskocil. 1995. The effects of calcium and calcium channel blockers on sodium pump. *Pflügers Arch.* 429, 716-721.

Staron, R.S., Malicky, E.S., Leonardi, M.J., Falkel, J.E., Hagerman, F.C., & G.A. Dudley. 1990. Muscle hypertrophy and fast fiber type conversions in heavy resistance-trained women. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 60, 71-79.

Staron, R.S., Leonardi, M.J., Karapondo, D.L., Malicky, E.S., Falkel, J.E., Hagerman, F.C., & R.S. Hikida. 1991. Strength and skeletal muscle adaptations in heavy resistance-trained women after detraining and retraining. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 70, 631-640.

Sulakhe, P.V., Fedelesova, M., McNamara, D.B., & N.S. Dhalla. 1971. Isolation of skeletal muscle membrane fragments containing active Na⁺-K⁺ stimulated ATPase: Comparison of normal and dystrophic muscle sarcolemma. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 42, 793-800.

Sullivan, M.J., Green, H.J., & F.R. Cobb. 1990. Skeletal muscle biochemistry and histology in ambulatory patients with long-term heart failure. *Circulation* 81, 518-527.

Sulakhe, P.V., Fedelesova, M., McNamara, D.B., & N.S. Dhalla. 1971. Isolation of skeletal muscle membrane fragments containing active Na⁺, K⁺ stimulated ATPase: Comparison of normal and dystrophic muscle sarcolemma. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 42, 793-800.

Sulová, Z., Vyskocil, F., Stankovicová, T., & A. Breier. 1998. Ca²⁺ -Induced inhibition of Sodium Pump: effect of energetic metabolism of mouse diaphragm. *Gen. Physiol. Biophys.* 17, 271-283.

Sweadner, K.J. 1979. Two molecular forms of $(Na^+ + K^+)$ -stimulated ATPase in brain. Separation, and difference in affinity for strophanthidin. J. Biol. Chem. 254, 6060-6067.

Sweadner, K.J. 1989. Isozymes of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 988, 185-220.

Sweadner, K.J. 1993. Multiple digitalis receptors- a molecular perspective. *Trends in Cardiovasc Med* 3, 2-6.

Sweeney, G., & A. Klip. 1998. Regulation of the Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase by insulin: Why and how? *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 182, 121-133.

Taylor, A.W., & L. Bachman. 1999. The effects of endurance training on muscle fibre types and enzyme activities. *Can. J. Appl. Physiol.* 24, 41-53.

Tesch, P.A., Komi, P.V., & K. Häkkinen. 1987. Enzymatic adaptations consequent to long term strength training. *Int J. Sports Med.* 8 Suppl, 66-69.

Tesch, P.A. 1992. Short and long term histochemical and biochemical changes in muscle. In P. Komi (Ed). Strength and Power Sports. The Encyclopedia of Sports Medicine. Oxford, England, Blackwell, 239-248. Theodore, J., Conor, M.B., Antonius, V., Edward, B.S., & D.R. Eugene. 1987. Cardiopulmonary function at maximum tolerable constant work rate exercise following human heart-lung transplantation. *Chest* 92, 433-439.

Theodore, J., Jamieson, S.W., Burke, C.M., Reitz, B.A., Stinson, E.B., Van Kessel, A., Dawkins, K.D., Herran, J.J., Oyer, P.E., Hunt, S.A. et al. 1984. Physiologic aspects of human heart-lung transplantation. Pulmonary function status of the post-transplanted lung. *Chest* 86, 349-357.

Thompson, L.V., Balog, E.M., & R.H. Fitts. 1992. Muscle fatigue in frog semitendinous: role of intracellular pH. Am. J. Physiol. 262, C1507-C1512.

Thorstensson, A., Hultén, B., von Döbeln, W., & J. Karlsson. 1976. Effect of strength on enzyme activities and fibre characteristics in human skeletal muscle. *Acta. Physiol. Scand.* 96, 392-398.

Tibes, U., Hemmer, B., Schweigart U., Bonning, D., and D. Fotescu. 1974. Exercise acidosis as cause of electrolyte changes in femoral venous blood of trained and untrained man. *Pflügers Arch.* 347, 145-158.

Tsakiridis, T., Wong, P.P., Liu, Z., Rodgers, C.D., Vranic, M., & A. Klip. 1996. Exercise increases the plasma membrane content of the Na⁺,K⁺-pump and its mRNA in rat skeletal muscle. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 80, 699-705.

Venditti, P, & S. Di Meo. 1997. Effect of training on antioxidant capacity, tissue damage, and endurance of adult male rats. *Int. J. Sports. Med.* 18, 497-502.

Venosa, R.A. 1974. Inward movement of sodium ions in resting and stimulated frog's sartorius muscle. *J. Physiol.* 241, 155-173.

Venosa, R.A., & P. Horowitz. 1981. Density and apparent location of the sodium pump in the frog sartorius muscle. *J. Membr. Biol.* 59, 225-232.

Verburg, E., Hallén, J., Sejersted, O.M., & N.K. Vollestad. 1999. Loss of potassium from muscle during moderate exercise in humans: a result of insufficient activation of the Na⁺,K⁺-pump? *Acta. Physiol. Scand.* 165, 357-367.

Vincent, H.K., Powers, S.K., Stewart, D.J., Demirel, H.A., Shanely, R.A., & H. Naito. 2000. Short-term exercise training improves diaphragm antioxidant capacity and endurance. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 81, 67-74.

Volek, J.S., Duncan, N.D., Mazzetti, S.A., Staron, R.S., Putukian, M., Gomez, A.L., Pearson, D.R., Fink, W.J., & W.J. Kraemer. 1999. Performance and muscle fiber adaptations to creatine supplementation and heavy resistance training. *Med. Sci. Sports. Exerc.* 31, 1147-1156.

Vyskocil, F., Hník, P., Rehfeldt, H., Vejsada, R., & E. Ujec. 1983. The measurement of K⁺ concentration changes in human muscles during volitional contractions. *Pflügers Arch.* 399, 235-237.

Vøllestad, N.K., Hallén, J., & O.M. Sejersted. 1994. Effect of exercise intensity on potassium balance in muscle and blood of man. J. Physiol. 475, 359-368.

Vøllestad, N.K., & O.M. Sejersted. 1988. Biochemical correlates of fatigue. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 57, 336-347.

Wang, P., & T. Clausen. 1976. Treatment of attacks in hyperkalemic familial periodic paralysis by inhalation of salbutamol. *Lancet* 1(7953), 221-223.

Wang, X.N., Williams, T.J., McKenna, M.J., Li, J.L., Fraser, S.F., Side, E.A., Snell, G.I., Walters, E.H., & M.F. Carey. 1999. Skeletal muscle oxidative capacity, fiber type, and metabolites after lung transplantation. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 160, 57-63.

Watson, P.D., Garner, R.P., & D.S. Ward. 1993. Water uptake in stimulated cat skeletal muscle. Am. J. Physiol. 264, R790-R796.

Weiner, M.W., Moussavi, R.S., Baker, A.J., Boska, M.D., & R.G. Miller. 1990. Constant relationships between force, phosphate concentration, and pH in muscles with different fatigability. *Neurology*. 40, 1888-1893.

Westerblad, H., Lee, J.A., Lamb, A.G., Bolsover, S.R & D.G. Allen. 1990. Spatial gradients of intracellular calcium in skeletal muscle during fatigue. *Pflügers Arch.* 415, 734-740.

Westerblad, H., & D.G. Allen. 1993. The contribution of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ to the slowing of relaxation in fatigued single fibres from mouse skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 468, 729-740.

Westerblad, H., Duty, S., & D.G. Allen. 1993. Intracellular calcium concentration during low-frequency fatigue in isolated single fibres of mouse skeletal muscle. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 75, 382-388.

Westerblad, H., Bruton, J.D., & L. Lännergran. 1997. The effect of intracellular pH on contractile function of intact muscle fibres of the mouse declines with the increase in temperature. *J. Physiol.* 500, 198-204.

Westerblad, H., Duty, S., & D.G. Allen. 1996. Slowing of relaxation and $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ during prolonged tetanic stimulation of single fibres from Xenopus skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 492, 723-736.

Wildenthal, K., Mierzwiak, D.S., Skinner, N.S., & J.H. Mitchell. 1968. Potassiuminduced cardiovascular reflexes from the dog hindlimb. *Am. J. Physiol.* 215, 542-548.

Wilkerson, J.E., Horvath, S.M., Gutin, B., Molnar, S., & F.J. Diaz. 1982. Plasma electrolyte content and concentration during treadmill exercise in humans. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 53, 1529-1539.

Williams, M.E., Gervino, E.V., Rosa, R.M., Landsberg, L., Young, J.B., Silva, P., & F.H. Epstein. 1984. Catecholamine modulation of rapid potassium shifts during exercise. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 312, 823-827.

Williams, T.J., Patterson, G.A., McClean, P.A., Zamel, N., & J.R. Maurer. 1992. Maximal exercise testing in single and double lung transplant recipients. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 145, 101-105.

Wilson, J.R., McCully, K.K., Mancini, D.M., Boden, B., & B. Chance. 1988. Relationship of muscular fatigue to pH and diprotonated P_i in humans: a ³¹Pi-NMR study. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 64, 2333-2339.

Wroblewski, R., & L. Edstrom. 1983. Changes in elemental composition of single muscle fibres following tenotomy of the rat soleus muscle. *Muscle Nerve*. 6, 491-494.

Wynants, J.; & H. Van Belle. 1985. Single-run high-performance liquid chromatography of nucleotides, nucleosides, and major purine bases and its application to different tissue extracts *Anal. Biochem.* 144, 258-266.

Yingst, D.R., Ye-Hu, J., Chen, H., & V. Barrett. 1992. Calmodulin increases Cadependent inhibition of the Na,K-ATPase in human red blood cells. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 295, 49-54.

Appendices

•

Appendix A

Subject Information Sheet:	251
STANDARD CONSENT FORM FOR SUBJECTS	255
CARDIOVASCULAR RISK FACTOR QUESTIONNAIRE	256
MUSCLE BIOPSY QUESTIONNAIRE	257
Subject Information Sheet for age-matched controls for transplant patients	258

, ,

Footscray Campus

Department of Human Movement, Recreation and Performance

> Telephone: (03) 9688 4387 (03) 9688 4432 / Facsimile: (03) 9688 4539 International: 61 3 9688 4539

Subject Information Sheet:

Telephone

(03) 9688 4000

Facsimile

(03) 9688 4069

Victoria University of

Technology PO Box 14428

Melbourne

Australia

Footscray

Victoria 8001

Ballarat Road

MCMC

Effects of Training on Human Skeletal Muscle Ionic Regulation and Mitochondrial Function

Investigators:	
Dr. Michael McKenna	ph 9688 4499
Assoc. Prof. Mick Carey*	ph 9688 4298
Mr. Steve Fraser	ph 9688 4089

Department of Physical Education & Recreation, *Department of Chemistry & Biology, Victoria University of Technology, Footscray, Vic.

Dear

Thankyou for volunteering to participate in this study and for taking the time to read through this information. This study aims to compare muscle size, biochemistry, maximal strength and the development of fatigue during repeated contractions, between strength trained, endurance trained, untrained and a severely untrained patient group. This information sheet describes the nature of the study and the procedures involved for participants. Included are more detailed procedures and consent forms, which you need to complete and bring with you on the first day of testing. You will be required for testing on four occasions, three at the Human Performance Laboratory (Room L305, Building L, V.U.T Footscray campus) and the other test will be conducted at the C.R.E.S.S biomechanics laboratory in the basement of the City campus, 300 Flinders St. Maps are included showing the addresses of both places for testing.

Times that are suitable and the order of testing will be confirmed over the phone by Steve Fraser. Any queries in relation to the study can be directed to Steve Fraser on w:9688 4089 & h:9551 3764 or Dr. Michael McKenna on w:9688 4499, message 9688 4470.

Thankyou once again, Yours sincerely

Steve Fraser



Please refrain from vigorous exercise, alcohol or tobacco for 24 hours prior to each test. Avoid food for 2 hours prior and caffeine for 4 hours prior to each exercise test.

Day 1: VO₂ peak test with blood sampling. You will be required to attend the Human Performance Laboratory at Footscray to perform a maximal exercise test to exhaustion on a cycle ergometer to evaluate your maximal aerobic exercise characteristics. Blood samples will be taken from a hand vein at rest, during and following exercise to indicate your metabolic response to exercise (detailed procedures for blood sampling are outlined in the paragraph entitled "catheterisation & blood sampling"). Please bring runners, shorts, T shirt and a towel. This test will take approximately 1.5 hours. Shower facilities are available.

Day 2: Anthropometric measurements. At the Human Performance lab a range of noninvasive measurements will be taken including a lung function test where we will measure the capacity of your lungs and the rate at which you can breath air in and out, by getting you to blow air in/out of a special instrument. Other tests include underwater weighing and skinfolds for % body fat, as well as leg girth, length and volume measurements. Please bring shorts T shirt, bathers and a towel. This test will take approximately 1 hour. Shower facilities are available.

Day 3: Muscle function testing. Your maximal thigh muscle strength will be determined using a Biodex isokinetic dynamometer located in the C.R.E.S.S. biomechanics laboratory at the City Campus, 300 Flinders Street. The test will require you to perform several maximal contractions at different speeds of contraction. This will be followed by a test to fatigue your thigh muscles, involving 50 repeated contractions of your leg muscles. Please bring shorts, runners and T shirt. This test will take approximately 1 hour.

Day 4. Muscle biopsies and muscle fatigue testing. On the third visit to the Human Performance Laboratory, Footscray Campus, two resting muscle biopsies will be taken from your thigh muscle whilst you are lying on a couch. You will then be asked to perform the muscle fatigue test involving 50 repeated contractions of your thigh muscle, on the Cybex dynamometer. A muscle biopsy will be taken immediately after exercise finishes. Muscle biopsies are routinely carried out in our laboratory, with no adverse effects. The three possible complications with a muscle biopsy are pain, infection and internal bleeding. To prevent you from suffering pain, a local anaesthetic (needle) will be given in the skin overlying your thigh muscle. To prevent infection, only sterilised instruments will be used. To prevent excessive bleeding, pressure will be manually applied after biopsies have been taken and maintained through use of a pressure bandage. In addition, no major nerves or blood vessels are located in the vastus lateralis muscle that we biopsy (detailed procedures for muscle biopsy are outlined in the paragraph entitled "muscle biopsy procedure"). Blood samples will also be taken from a vein in the back of the hand. Please bring shorts, runners and T shirt. This test will take approximately 1.5 hours.

As a volunteer to participate as a subject, you are free to withdraw from the study at any time, without any adverse effects, reactions or discrimination.

Muscle Biopsy Procedure

The muscle biopsy is a relatively painless procedure that is used to obtain small samples of skeletal muscle tissue for metabolic analysis. A small incision is made in the skin overlying the muscle, under local anaesthetic. The biopsy needle is then inserted into the muscle and a small piece of tissue removed from the muscle. During this part of the procedure you may feel some pressure and a tendency for the muscle to cramp, however, this only persists for a few seconds. Following the biopsy the incision will be closed using a steri-strip and a pressure bandage will be applied which should be maintained for 24-48 hours. Steri-strip closure should be maintained for a few days. You should not exercise for 24-48 hours after biopsies and you should avoid heavy knocks. It is common for subjects to experience some mild soreness in the muscle over the next 2-3 days, however this passes and does not restrict movement. In some rare cases mild haematomas have been reported, but these symptoms disappear within a week. The whole procedure will be preformed under sterile conditions by a qualified medical practitioner. Although the possibility of infection and significant bruising is quite small, if by chance it does eventuate, inform us immediately and then consult your doctor.

Catheterisation and Blood Sampling

Blood samples (each 5 ml) will be drawn from a catheter inserted into a vein on the back of your hand. A catheter is a thin, flexible, sterile piece of tubing which sits inside your vein. With the use of a small tap, blood samples can be drawn from the catheter at specific times. A total of around 100 ml of blood will be taken during the VO₂max test and 50 ml during the biopsy fatigue test. (Normally 400 ml is taken when you donate at the Blood Bank). Blood samples will be analysed for haemoglobin, haematocrit, plasma pH, gases, ions, lactate and other metabolites.

The catheters used for drawing blood are routinely used for clinical purposes and exercise testing; however, slight bruising may occur at the site of catheter insertion. On very rare occasions, blood clots may form. Emergency equipment will be present at all tests. To avoid any risk of blood borne diseases all catheters, syringes and disposable items will be sterile, not previously used and discarded immediately following use. At specific intervals throughout the exercise test a small blood sample will be taken via a catheter placed into a hand vein. The catheter consists of a needle and Teflon tubing. The tubing is fed over the top of the needle (which has punctured the vein) and into the vein. The needle is then withdrawn, leaving only the Teflon tubing in your vein for the remainder of the experiment. A tap (stopcock) is placed into the tubing so the flow of blood along the tubing can be altered at will. This procedure allows the taking of multiple blood samples without the need for multiple venepunctures (puncturing of the vein). Each time a blood sample is taken, a small volume of sterile heparinised saline will be injected to clear the catheter and keep it patent. Catheterisation of subjects is slightly discomforting and can lead to the possibility of bruising and infection. The use of sterile, disposable catheters, syringes, swabs etc. will markedly reduce the possibility of infection caused by the catheterisation procedure. The use of qualified and experienced staff will reduce the likelihood of bruising as this is primarily caused by poor venepuncture techniques. Although the possibility of infection and significant bruising is quite small, if by chance it does eventuate, inform us immediately and then consult your doctor.

By signing the informed consent form you are indicating that the tests and procedures have been explained to you and are understood by you. Also, it is accepted by the investigators and by yourself that you are participating voluntarily in the study and that you are free to withdraw from the investigation at any time. A summary report of your results as well as some instant feedback will be given for all tests conducted. Thank you for your co-operation.
VICTORIA UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY

STANDARD CONSENT FORM FOR SUBJECTS

INVOLVED IN EXPERIMENTS

CERTIFICATION BY SUBJECT

I,of...... certify that I have the legal ability to give valid consent and that I am voluntarily giving my consent to participate in the experiment entitled :

"Effects of Training on Human Skeletal Muscle Ionic Regulation and Mitochondrial Function."

being conducted at Victoria University of Technology by :

Dr. Michael J. McKenna, Associate Professor Michael F. Carey

I certify that the objectives of the experiment, together with any risks to me associated with the procedures listed hereunder to be carried out in the experiment, have been fully explained to me by :

.....

and that I freely consent to participation involving the use on me of these procedures.

Procedures:

- 1. Anthropometric measurements, including underwater weighing
- 2. Lung function measurements
- 3. Maximal incremental exercise test on a cycle ergometer
- 4. Venous catheterisation and blood sampling during incremental exercise test
- 5. Biodex muscle function tests
- 6. Muscle biopsies at rest and following fatiguing knee extensor exercise on Cybex.
- 7. Venous catheterisation and blood sampling during Cybex fatigue test

I certify that I have had the opportunity to have my questions answered and that I understand that I can withdraw from the experiment at any time and that this withdrawal will not jeopardise me in any way.

I have been informed that the confidentiality of the information I provide will be safeguarded.

Signature:

Date.....

Witness other than the experimenter :

Signature:

Date.....

CARDIOVASCULAR RISK FACTOR QUESTIONNAIRE

In order to be eligible to participate in the experiment investigating:

	0	~ ~		-		<u> </u>	<u> </u>		
"Effect of	of Training on	n Human	Skeleta	l Muscle	Ionic	Regulat	ion	and Mito	chondrial
Functior	1"								

you are required to complete the following questionnaire, which is designed to assess the risk of you having a cardiovascular event occurring during an exhaustive exercise bout.

Nam	ne:	Date:			
Date Age:	of Birthyears Weight:	kg	Heig	ht:	cms
Give	a brief description of your average activity pa	ttern in	the pas	st 2 mo	nths:
	le the appropriate response to the following qu	estions.	Vas	No	Don't know
1. 2	Do you smoke?		Yes	No	Social
2.	Does your family have a history of prematu	re card	iovascu	lar pro	blems
5.	(eg. heart attack, stroke)?		Yes	No	Don't Know
4.	Are vou an asthmatic		Yes	No	Don't Know
5.	Are you a diabetic?		Yes	No	Don't Know
6.	Do you have a high blood cholesterol level	?	Yes	No	Don't Know
7.	Do you have high blood pressure?		Yes	No	Don't Know
8.	Are you on any medication?		Yes	No	
	If so, what is the medication?				
9.	Do you think you have any medical compla	int or a	.ny othe	er reaso	n, which you kno
	of which you think may prevent you from p	articipa	ating in	strenue	ous exercise? No
	Yes, please elaborate	•			
I,		, beli	eve tha	t the ar	nswers to these

Signed: _____ Date: _____

MUSCLE BIOPSY QUESTIONNAIRE

£:	AGE:		years
Have you or your family suffered fro haemophilia) or bruise very easily ?	om any tenc	lency to ble	ed excessively ? (e
If yes, please elaborate	Yes	No	Don't Knov
Are you allergic to local anaesthetic?	Vac	No	Don't Know
If yes, please elaborate	<u> </u>	INO	
Do you have any skin allergies?	Vac	No	Don't Know
If yes, please elaborate	105		
Have you any allergies that should be	e made kno	own?	Dealt Vers
If yes, please elaborate	165	100	
Are you currently on any medication	?	No	Der't Vrey
If yes, what is the medication?	ies	INO	
Do you have any other medical probl	em that she	ould be mad	e known?
Yes No If yes, please elaborate			

Signature: _____ Date: ____

Footscray Campus

Department of Human Movement, Recreation and Performance

> Telephone: (03) 9688 4387 (03) 9688 4432 Facsimile: (03) 9688 4539 International: 61 3 9688 4539

Subject Information Sheet

"Skeletal muscle analysis post thoracic transplantation: control subjects"

INVESTIGATORS:

Dr. Michael J. McKenna, ph: 9688 4499 message 9688 4470 Assoc. Prof. Michael F. Carey*, ph: 9688 4298 Mr. Steve Fraser ph: 9688 4089 Department of Physical Education & Recreation, *Department of Chemistry & Biology, Victoria University of Technology, Footscray, Vic. Dr. Trevor Williams, Dr. Michael Hall Department of Respiratory Medicine, The Alfred Hospital, Prahran, Vic.

Dear

Thankyou for volunteering to participate in this study and for taking the time to read through this information. This information sheet describes the nature of the study and the procedures involved for participants. Included are more detailed procedures and consent forms, which you need to complete and bring with you on the first day of testing. This study will compare your muscle composition and metabolism, as well as maximal exercise performance, with that of patients that have undergone heart, lung or heart and lung transplants. The study is designed to determine why these transplant patients have a reduced exercise performance.

You will be required for testing on three occasions, at the Human Performance Laboratory (Room L305, Building L, V.U.T Footscray campus). A map is included showing the address and parking. Times that are suitable and the order of testing will be confirmed over the phone by Steve Fraser. Any queries in relation to the study can be directed to Steve Fraser on w:9688 4089 & h:9551 3764 or Dr. Michael McKenna on w:9688 4499, message 9688 4470.

Thankyou once again,

Yours sincerely Steve Fraser (Ph.D. Student)



Victoria University of Technology PO Box 14428 Telephone (03) 9688 4000 MCMC Melbourne Facsimile Victoria 8001 (03) 9688 4069 Australia Ballarat Road Footscray

Please refrain from vigorous exercise, alcohol or tobacco for 24 hours prior to each test. Avoid food for 2 hours prior and caffeine for 4 hours prior to each exercise test.

Day 1: VO₂max test with blood sampling. You will be required to attend the Human Performance Laboratory at Footscray to perform a maximal exercise test to exhaustion on a cycle ergometer to evaluate your maximal aerobic exercise characteristics. Blood samples will be taken from a hand vein at rest, during and following exercise to indicate your metabolic response to exercise (detailed procedures for blood sampling are outlined in the paragraph entitled "catheterisation & blood sampling"). Please bring runners, shorts, T-shirt and a towel. This test will take approximately 1.5 hours. Shower facilities are available.

Day 2: Anthropometric measurements. At the Human Performance lab a range of noninvasive measurements will be taken including a lung function test where we will measure the capacity of your lungs and the rate at which you can breath air in and out, by getting you to blow air in/out of a special instrument. Other tests include underwater weighing and skinfolds for % body fat, as well as leg girth, length and volume measurements. Please bring shorts T-shirt, bathers and a towel. This test will take approximately 1 hour. Shower facilities are available.

Day 3. Resting muscle biopsies . On the third visit to the Human Performance Laboratory, Footscray Campus, two resting muscle biopsies will be taken from your thigh muscle whilst you are lying on a couch. Muscle biopsies are routinely carried out in our laboratory, with no adverse effects. The three possible complications with a muscle biopsy are pain, infection and internal bleeding. To prevent you from suffering pain, a local anaesthetic (needle) will be given in the skin overlying your thigh muscle. To prevent infection, only sterilised instruments will be used. To prevent excessive bleeding, pressure will be manually applied after biopsies have been taken and maintained through use of a pressure bandage. In addition, no major nerves or blood vessels are located in the vastus lateralis muscle that we biopsy (detailed procedures for muscle biopsy are outlined in the paragraph entitled "muscle biopsy procedure"). Please bring shorts. This test will take approximately 0.5 hours.

Subject participation:

By signing the informed consent form you are indicating that the tests and procedures have been explained to you and are understood by you. Also, it is accepted by the investigators and by yourself that you are participating voluntarily in the study and that you are free to withdraw from the investigation at any time without any adverse effects, reactions or discrimination. A summary report of your results as well as some instant feedback will be given for all tests conducted. Thank you for your co-operation.

Appendix B Individual data

Appendix B Individual data
Appendix B1 Subject Physical Characteristics, Lung Function Testing261
Appendix B2 HR and blood data for muscle fatigue test for UT, RT, ET268
Appendix B2 HR and blood data for incremental test for UT, RT, ET, LTx & CON
Appendix B3 Comparison of data collected for incremental exercise test used in
Chapter 7
Appendix B4 Muscle data collected from resting biopsies for UT, RT, ET, CON
and LTx and fatigue biopsies for UT, RT and ET293

Appendix B1 Subject Physical Characteristics

_		Thigh volumes											
subject	: Ag (yı	ge)	Height (cm)	Boo	dy mass (kg)	Total t volur (J& P)	high ne) (1)	m+b volume(l)	thigh mu (C	uscle C.S.A cm ²)			
1	24	4	186.0		85.6	5.51		4.48	21	11.0			
2	2′	7	188.5		80.6	5.46		4.75	19	98.7			
3	20	C	172.0		65.9	4.17		3.51	10	59.2			
4	20	6	181.0		80.9	5.83		4.61	19	93.7			
5	20	5	182.2		84.7	7.22	2	5.81	23	34.4			
6	2	7	184.7		82.7	6.09		4.96	20	04.5			
7	34 181.4 79		79.9	6.53	3	5.61	22	16.4					
8	2	7	190.5		87.2	5.4	7	4.31	18	36.2			
n	8		8		8	8		8		8			
mean	26	.4	183.3		80.9	5.8		4.8	20)1.8			
SD	3.	9	5.7		6.6	0.9	I	0.7	1	9.8			
		-											
	Skinf	folds											
subject	Tricep (mm)	Bicep (mm)	Sub- scapular (mm)	Mid – axilla (mm)	Supra- iliac (mm)	Ab- dominal (mm)	anterio thigh (mm)	or medial a calf) (mm)	sum of 8 (mm)	% body fat (skinfolds)			
1	10.9	5.7	9.9	7.9	12.1	23.1	16.3	8.2	94.1	11.9			
2	6.2	5.1	11.1	9.4	22.3	31.5	10.9	7.1	103.6	13.8			
						_							

Table B1.1 Anthropometric data for untrained controls

		orab								
subject	Tricep (mm)	Bicep (mm)	Sub- scapular (mm)	Mid – axilla (mm)	Supra- iliac (mm)	Ab- dominal (mm)	anterior thigh (mm)	medial calf (mm)	sum of 8 (mm)	% body fat (skinfolds)
1	10.9	5.7	9.9	7.9	12.1	23.1	16.3	8.2	94.1	11.9
2	6.2	5.1	11.1	9.4	22.3	31.5	10.9	7.1	103.6	13.8
. 3	7.0	3.4	6.9	5.3	7.1	7.1	11.7	7.0	55.6	5.6
4	15.5	8.6	25.3	17.6	27.3	32.3	17.5	9.5	153.5	20.0
5	11.5	5.7	12.9	10.9	23.3	22.1	17.8	12.5	116.7	14.7
6	12.1	3.6	8.7	7.0	10.2	22.5	15.9	8.0	87.9	11.3
7	8.0	3.1	11.9	9.1	9.8	15.2	11.7	5.8	74.5	10.5
8	10.4	5.8	11.5	7.2	15.2	22.4	18.2	18.7	109.3	12.9
n	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
mean	10.2	5.1	12.3	9.3	15.9	22.0	15.0	9.6	99.4	12.6
SD	3.1	1.8	5.6	3.8	7.5	8.2	3.0	4.2	29.4	4.1

(J & P) = method of Jones and Pearson 1969, m+b = muscle + bone volume, C.S.A. = Cross sectional area

. 5

				Thigh volur	nes	
subject	Age (yr.)	Height (cm)	Body mass (kg)	Total thigh volume (J& P) (1)	m+b volume(l)	thigh muscle C.S.A (cm ²)
1	25	189.4	89.7	6.06	5.51	259.7
2	25	184.0	80.0	5.95	5.61	228.3
3	29	177.0	73.8	4.61	4.21	207.7
4	25	174.8	65.4	4.14	3.74	188.3
5	22	168.5	66.5	4.92	3.91	207.7
6	32	169.0	59.5	4.07	3.59	176.8
7	25	179.0	75.9	4.92	4.12	191.0
8	28	176.0	83.4	6.11	4.95	249.0
n	8	8	8	8	8	8
mean	26.4	177.2	74.3	5.1	4.5	213.6
SD	3.1	7.1	10.1	0.8	0.8	29.7

Table B1.2 Anthropometric data for endurance trained subjects

	Skinf	folds								
subject	Tricep (mm)	Bicep (mm)	Sub- scapular (mm)	Mid – axilla (mm)	Supra- iliac (mm)	Ab- dominal (mm)	anterior thigh (mm)	medial calf (mm)	sum of 8 (mm)	% body fat (skinfolds)
1	10.5	6.2	14.7	12.7	17.3	17.3	18.2	9.3	106.1	21.6
2	5.2	6.3	18.5	11.3	18.8	25.3	13.0	7.4	105.7	17.3
3	18.7	7.1	9.7	15.1	17.2	27.8	27.8	15.4	138.7	29.2
4	19.3	7.5	10.2	11.0	11.5	20.3	27.6	13.3	120.7	25.7
5	8.4	4.7	7.7	7.9	16.0	14.9	22.5	9.4	91.5	20.8
6	14.8	8.1	11.0	11.2	11.8	19.8	25.8	13.0	115.4	24.0
7	11.5	5.7	12.9	10.9	23.3	22.1	17.8	12.5	116.7	14.8
8	10.4	5.8	11.5	7.2	15.2	22.4	18.2	18.7	109.3	12.9
n	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
mean	12.3	6.4	12.0	10.9	16.4	21.2	21.4	12.4	113.0	20.8
SD	4.9	1.1	3.4	2.5	3.8	4.2	5.4	3.6	13.7	5.5

(J & P) = method of Jones and Pearson 1969, m+b = muscle + bone volume, C.S.A. = Cross sectional area

. .

						Thigh	volum	es		
subjec	t A	ge r.)	Height (cm)	Bo	dy mass (kg)	Total t volu (J& P	high me	m+b volume(l)	thigh mu (4	uscle C.S.A cm ²)
1	2	0	170.5		81.6	5.5	7	5.05	2	29.3
2	3	7	173.5		88.1		8	5.05	2	55.8
3	3	7	173.5		88.1	5.7	8	5.05	2	55.8
4	2	0	183.0		79.3	5.4	1	4.81	2	04.9
5	2	7	188.5		80.6	5.4	6	4.75	1	98.7
6	2	6	183.6		82.9	5.5	7	4.99	2	27.2
7	1	8	172.9		82.4	4.8	7	4.12	2	26.3
8	3	9	173.0		81.4	6.1	9	5.50	24	42.0
n	8	3	8		8	8		8		8
mean	28	8.0	177.3		83.0	5.6	5	4.9	2.	30.0
SD	8.	.6	6.7		3.3	0.4	ļ	0.4	2	21.1
	Skin	folds								
subject	Tricep (mm)	Bicep (mm)	Sub- scapular (mm)	Mid – axilla (mm)	Supra- iliac (mm)	Ab- dominal (mm)	anteric thigh (mm)	or medial calf (mm)	sum of 8 (mm)	% body fat (skinfolds)
1	6.3	7.0	16.4	12.5	20.4	22.2	7.6	11.1	103.5	12.3
2	3.8	2.8	10.9	11.2	12.0	14.5	11.2	3.9	70.2	10.5
3	3.8	2.8	10.9	11.2	12.0	14.5	11.2	3.9	70.2	10.5
4	5.5	3.3	8.3	7.1	9.3	9.0	8.9	5.0	56.3	6.1
5	6.2	5.1	11.1	9.4	22.3	31.5	10.9	7.1	103.6	21.2
6	4.9	3.2	12.6	8.4	20.0	19.8	8.4	6.1	83.4	10.8
7	7.9	4.1	8.6	6.9	12.0	13.5	13.3	7.8	73.9	8.1
8	8.1	2.9	9.6	7.3	16.3	12.7	9.9	5.3	71.9	10.8
n	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8

Table B1.3 Anthropometric data for resistance trained subjects

.

mean

SD

5.8

1.6

3.9

1.5

11.1

2.6

9.2

2.2

15.5

4.9

(J & P) = method of Jones and Pearson 1969, m+b = muscle + bone volume, C.S.A. = Cross sectional area

17.2

7.1

6.3

2.4

79.1

16.8

11.3

4.5

10.2

1.9

				Thigh volur	nes	
subject	Age (yr.)	Height (cm)	Body mass (kg)	Total thigh volume (J& P) (l)	m+b volume(l)	thigh muscle C.S.A (cm ²)
1	43	161.0	48.0	3.40	2.27	116.8
2	53	176.0	86.5			
3	49	165.7	66.0	6.14	5.37	162.3
4	43	160.5	64.4	6.06	3.88	137.9
5 34 17		171.5	58.8	5.23	3.77	147.5
6	26	158.5	73.6	5.57	3.81	196.2
7	29	178.0	59.4	3.37	3.02	116.4
8	25	175.0	61.7	4.04	2.52	114.1
n	8	8	8	7	7	7
mean	37.8	168.3	64.8	4.80	3.50	141.6
SD	10.73	7.80	11.38	1.21	1.04	30.2
	Skinfolds					

Table B1.4 Anthropometric data for lung transplant patients

	DIM	UIUS								
subject	Tricep (mm)	Bicep (mm)	Sub- scapular (mm)	Mid – axilla (mm)	Supra- iliac (mm)	Ab- dominal (mm)	anterior thigh (mm)	medial calf (mm)	sum of 8 (mm)	% body fat (skinfolds)
1	11.7	9.8	7.4	6.4	12.3	15.9	25.3	12.3	100.9	21.8
2										
3	12.5	8.2	7.2	14.3	19.6	15.0	10.2	12.0	98.9	19.8
4	21.3	13.0	23.2	21.1	33.1	29.4	31.2	24.6	196.8	36.1
5	10.0	5.1	23.2	9.3	14.9	14.0	23.2	12.0	111.5	21.4
6	14.7	5.4	23.2	10.2	32.1	31.5	30.7	18.9	166.7	33.9
7	4.3	2.4	23.2	4.7	6.4	8.9	6.8	3.9	60.5	8.0
8	13.2	10.5	23.2	10.3	15.5	14.3	29.5	14.0	130.5	16.3
n	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7
mean	12.5	7.8	18.7	10.9	19.1	18.4	22.4	13.9	123.7	22.5
SD	5.12	3.67	7.76	5.42	10.04	8.55	9.97	6.45	45.67	9.8

(J & P) = method of Jones and Pearson 1969, m+b = muscle + bone volume, C.S.A. = Cross sectional area

н Э

12.9

109.3

ţ.

18.7

						Thigh	volun	nes			
subjec	t Ag	ge r.)	Height (cm)	Bo	dy mass (kg)	Total t volur (J& P	high me) (l)	m+b volume(l)	thigh m) (uscle C.S.A cm ²)	
1	3	9	154.5		50.4	3.9	5	3.03	1	142.77	
2	5	3	165.5	65.7		3.4	7	2.86	1:	51.24	
3	4	6	167.5		64.0		1	2.02	13	33.89	
4	4	3	170.1		65.5		0	3.85	18	82.53	
5	3	5	166.5	62.9		5.14	4	3.76	10	67.95	
6	2	8	159.5		56.2	3.70	C	2.55	14	43.31	
7	2	7	182.2		84.7		2	5.81	23	34.45	
8	2	7	190.5		87.2	5.47		4.31	18	86.24	
n		3	8		8	8		8		8	
mean	37	7.3	169.5		67.1	4.7	,	3.5	1	67.8	
SD	9.	.7	11.7		12.8	1.4		1.2		33.1	
	Skin	folds									
subject	Tricep (mm)	Bicep (mm)	Sub- scapular (mm)	Mid – axilla (mm)	Supra- iliac (mm)	Ab- dominal (mm)	anter thig (mn	ior medial h calf 1) (mm)	sum of 8 (mm)	% body fat (skinfolds)	
1	10.5	6.2	14.7	12.7	17.3	17.3	18.	2 9.3	106.1	21.6	
2	5.2	6.3	18.5	11.3	18.8	25.3	13.	0 7.4	105.7	17.3	
3	18.7	7.1	9.7	15.1	17.2	27.8	27.	8 15.4	138.7	29.2	
4	19.3	7.5	10.2	11.0	11.5	20.3	27.	6 13.3	120.7	25.7	
5	8.4	4.7	7.7	7.9	16.0	14.9	22.	5 9.4	91.5	20.8	
6	14.8	8.1	11.0	11.2	11.8	19.8	25.	8 13.0	115.4	24.0	
7	11.5	5.7	12.9	10.9	23.3	22.1	17.	8 12.5	116.7	14.8	

Table B1.5 Anthropometric data for age-matched controls

n	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
mean	12.3	6.4	12.0	10.9	16.4	21.2	21.4	12.4	113.0	20.8
SD	4.9	1.1	3.4	2.5	3.8	4.2	5.4	3.6	13.7	5.5
								_		

10.4 5.8 11.5 7.2 15.2

22.4

18.2

8

(J & P) = method of Jones and Pearson 1969, m+b = muscle + bone volume, C.S.A. = Cross sectional area

Table	B1.6	Measured	and	predicted	spirometry	data	for	untrained,	endurance	trained	and
resista	ince t	rained.									

Untrai	ned				Endu	rance			Resis	tance		
	FVC		FEV ₁		FVC		FEV ₁		FVC		FEV ₁	
	m	р	m	р	m	р	m	р	m	р	m	р
1	5.0	6.0	4.7	4.9	6.2	6.2	4.7	5.0	5.2	5.2	4.0	4.4
2	7.1	6.1	5.4	5.0	5.4	5.9	4.3	4.8	3.9	5.0	3.0	4.1
3	5.1	5.2	4.4	4.4	6.7	5.3	5.5	4.4	3.9	5.0	3.0	4.1
4	4.4	5.7	3.6	4.7	5.2	5.3	4.0	4.4	5.8	5.9	4.9	4.9
5	5.2	5.7	4.0	4.7	4.6	5.0	3.8	4.2	7.1	5.1	5.4	4.1
6	5.8	5.9	4.1	4.8	6.2	4.8	4.6	4.0	7.3	5.8	6.5	4.8
7	5.2	5.5	4.3	4.5	4.4	5.6	3.9	4.6	5.9	5.3	5.2	4.5
8	5.0	6.2	4.4	5.0	5.2	5.3	4.8	4.4	5.2	4.9	4.3	4.0
n	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
Mean	5.3	5.8	4.4	4.8	5.5	5.4	4.4	4.5	5.6	5.3	4.5	4.4
SE	0.28	0.11	0.19	0.08	0.28	0.1	0.20	0.11	0.45	0.12	0.42	0.12

VC Vital Capacity (l), FEV_1 Forced expired volume in 1 second (l), m measured, p predicted for age and height (Crapo et al. 1981)

Table	B1.7	Measured	and	predicted	spirometry	data	for	age-matched	controls	and
transp	lant pa	tients.								

LungI	ranspl	ant P	atients		Age-n	natch	ed con	trols
	FVC		FEV ₁		FVC		FEV ₁	
	m	р	m	р	m	р	m	р
1	3.4	3.5	2.8	2.8	4.3	3.2	2.8	2.7
2	4.8	5.0	2.1	3.8	4.2	4.1	3.8	3.4
3	3.5	3.6	1.4	2.8	4.7	3.6	3.6	2.9
4	3.4	3.5	2.4	2.8	4.2	3.8	3.3	3.1
5	4.1	4.2	3.5	3.4	5.5	3.8	4.4	3.2
6	3.6	3.8	3.2	3.1	4.6	3.6	3.8	3.1
7	5.4	5.6	3.4	4.5	5.2	5.7	4.0	4.7
8	5.3	5.6	2.6	4.4	5.0	6.2	4.4	5.0
n	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
Mean	3.5	4.2	2.7	3.4	4.7	4.3	3.7	3.5
SE	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3

VC Vital Capacity (l), FEV₁ Forced expired volume in 1 second (l), m measured, p predicted for age and height (Crapo et al. 1981)

Appendix B2 HR and blood data for muscle fatigue test for UT, RT, ET.

K⁺ variables: peak [K⁺], delta [K⁺], delta [K⁺].work⁻¹, fall 1 min post, fall 2 min post.

subject	C	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE
HR (b.min ⁻¹)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	6# 68 115 128 95 92 80 80 80 80 79	67 98 150	59 104 99 70 65 54 57 55 56	72 123 105 91	84 103 110 82 73 72 78 74	66 93 116 63 58 59 61 64 61	58 120 152 68 63 62 69 64	55 137 141 90 69 68 60 59 70	8 8 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	66 110 128 84 75 69 68 66 66 67	3.3 5.7 7.8 7.8 6.5 4.8 4.0 3.8 5.1
bl [lac] (mmol.J ⁻¹)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	0.80 1.47 2.45 3.43 3.67 2.17 1.36 1.37 1.04	0.75 1.39 2.38 3.73 4.04 3.60	0.85 1.60 3.60 1.69 6.41 5.35 5.22 2.88 1.97	0.52 1.67 3.97 5.48 6.08 6.77 6.52 4.07 2.54	1.22 2.06 4.73 7.61 4.83 4.40 3.18 2.20 1.56	0.60 1.40 1.87 3.89 4.60 4.69 3.52 1.74 1.02	1.17 1.85 3.19 4.59 5.78 5.51 4.03 2.48 1.78	1.07 1.33 1.23 3.03 3.86 4.09 2.84 0.97 0.75	8 8 8 8 8 8 7 7 7 7	0.87 1.60 2.93 4.18 4.91 4.57 3.81 2.25 1.52	$\begin{array}{c} 0.09\\ 0.09\\ 0.41\\ 0.63\\ 0.37\\ 0.49\\ 0.63\\ 0.39\\ 0.24 \end{array}$
[Hb] (g.dl ⁻¹)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	14.6 15.0 15.5 15.4 15.3 14.9 14.7 14.4 14.3	14.0 14.1 14.5 14.6 14.6 14.3 14.1 13.6 14.0	14.9 15.3 15.8 16.1 16.0 15.9 15.3 15.0 14.6	15.4 15.9 16.5 16.7 16.8 16.4 16.1 15.3 15.5	15.7 15.7 16.1 15.9 15.7 15.7 15.7 15.3 15.3	14.7 15.2 15.6 15.6 15.6 15.4 15.3 14.9 14.6	14.4 15.0 15.2 15.3 15.1 14.7 14.7 14.4 14.1	13.5 14.0 14.3 14.7 14.5 13.8 13.6 13.5 13.1	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	14.6 15.0 15.4 15.5 15.4 15.1 14.9 14.5 14.4	0.3 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3
dPV (%)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	0.0 -4.1 -8.6 -7.3 -8.2 -3.9 -4.3 -0.5 2.0	0.0 -1.1 -0.2 -5.6 -5.0 -3.0 -3.5 5.5 0.6	0.0 -6.1 -10.3 -13.1 -10.7 -15.0 -7.9 -5.0 -0.4	0.0 -3.5 -9.9 -8.0 -13.3 -9.3 -6.2 3.4 -1.0	0.0 1.7 -1.4 -2.7 -2.4 -2.6 0.6 3.5 2.6	0.0 -4.4 -6.3 -6.2 -7.5 -5.6 -3.4 -1.9 1.7	0.0 -4.7 -7.2 -7.3 -3.5 -2.5 0.7 3.4	0.0 -1.1 -4.5 -4.7 -5.4 -4.8 4.1 2.1 7.3	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	0.0 -2.9 -5.7 -6.9 -7.5 -5.9 -2.9 1.0 2.0	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0\\ 0.9\\ 1.3\\ 1.1\\ 1.2\\ 1.5\\ 1.3\\ 1.2\\ 0.9 \end{array}$
[H*] (nmol.l ⁻¹)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	36.4 37.6 39.6 38.5 39.2 38.3 38.6 38.5 38.5 36.9	35.2 35.2 36.5 38.2 37.5 39.2 38.3 37.3 36.9	39.0 36.6 38.5 44.0 45.1 45.5 42.0 40.7 39.8	37.1 34.8 39.2 42.9 43.0 47.0 46.4 40.2 40.0	38.2 38.7 42.4 42.3 42.0 41.2 40.1 39.9 37.3	37.1 39.3 40.6 41.4 42.3 42.3 39.4 39.4 38.8	38.9 39.2 39.0 42.8 42.7 42.9 40.8 37.3 40.2	38.2 37.5 39.2 41.4 41.4 41.5 39.8 37.8 37.5	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	37.5 37.4 39.4 41.4 41.6 42.2 40.7 38.9 38.4	$\begin{array}{c} 0.5\\ 0.6\\ 0.6\\ 0.7\\ 0.8\\ 1.0\\ 0.9\\ 0.5\\ 0.5\\ \end{array}$
[K ⁺] (mmol.l ⁻¹)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	4.01 4.32 4.79 4.57 4.14 3.99 4.02 3.86 3.84	3.73 4.09 4.57 4.30 4.24 3.88 3.89 3.59 3.73	4.08 4.44 5.01 4.73 4.35 4.07 4.13 4.21 4.09	4.17 4.71 5.81 4.79 4.19 3.78 3.87 3.93 4.18	3.76 3.79 4.39 3.90 3.84 3.82 3.82 3.82 3.73 3.64	3.78 3.91 4.16 4.09 3.93 3.83 3.93 3.84 3.80	3.94 4.33 4.86 4.39 4.07 3.76 3.94 3.96 3.79	3.66 4.48 4.91 4.39 4.06 3.52 3.79 3.70 3.68	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	3.89 4.26 4.81 4.39 4.10 3.83 3.92 3.85 3.84	$\begin{array}{c} 0.07\\ 0.11\\ 0.17\\ 0.11\\ 0.06\\ 0.06\\ 0.04\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ \end{array}$

à

Table B2.1.1 Blood data for UT muscle fatigue test

, A

subject		#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE
HR (b.min ⁻¹)	Sam R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	ple# 79 124 135 76 69 70 65 70 70 70 70	77 98 102 79 80 80 74 71 73	99 127 132 88 94 84 78 76 76	70 136 136 86 84 77 82 73 75		65 114 123 86 73 62 72 72 72 72 74		59 84 85 68 58 52 50 55 55	6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6	75 114 119 81 76 71 70 70 70 71	5.7 8.0 8.5 3.1 5.1 4.9 4.7 3.0 3.2
bl [lac] (mmol.l ⁻¹)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	1.98 2.43 3.42 4.74 5.76 6.09 4.55 2.74 1.98	1.24 1.44 1.76 2.59 2.80 3.97 3.81 2.88 2.00	1.50 2.59 3.38 4.02 2.40 1.70	0.88 2.03 3.87 5.31 6.76 7.44 6.22 3.10 1.72	0.70 1.87 3.38 4.40 4.04 5.05 4.58 2.59 1.70	0.29 2.18 3.01 4.81 4.81 3.48 2.71 1.54 1.51		0.66 1.29 1.85 2.47 2.82 1.97 1.78 1.27 1.00	7 7 6 6 7 7 7	$1.04 \\ 1.97 \\ 2.95 \\ 4.05 \\ 4.50 \\ 4.67 \\ 3.95 \\ 2.36 \\ 1.66$	0.22 0.18 0.31 0.50 0.65 0.80 0.54 0.26 0.13
[Hb] (g.dJ ⁻¹)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	$16.1 \\ 16.0 \\ 16.3 \\ 16.4 \\ 16.3 \\ 15.8 \\ 15.7 \\ 15.5 \\ 15.4$	14.3 14.3 14.5 14.7 14.6 14.7 14.4 14.0 13.7	15.1 15.7 16.1 15.7 15.4 15.1 14.8	$15.2 \\ 16.0 \\ 16.0 \\ 16.1 \\ 16.2 \\ 16.0 \\ 15.5 \\ 15.1 \\ 15.4$	13.2 13.2 14.0 14.1 14.0 13.6 13.4 13.0 13.1	15.4 15.5 15.8 15.9 15.6 15.3 15.3 15.1 15.5		14.2 14.2 14.7 15.1 15.0 14.5 14.4 14.2 14.3	7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	14.8 15.0 15.3 15.4 15.3 15.1 14.9 14.6 14.6	$\begin{array}{c} 0.4 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.4 \end{array}$
dPV (%)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	0.0 -2.4 1.2 -1.7 -4.2 -1.5 1.3 3.5 5.9	0.0 3.5 -1.9 -2.4 -2.6 -3.0 2.2 5.1 8.5	0.0 -2.3 -9.6 -4.3 -6.1 -3.9 2.7	0.0 -6.9 -5.4 -6.4 -7.1 -6.6 -2.1 4.4 2.8	0.0 -4.4 -9.8 -10.7 -12.5 -5.7 -3.2 0.0 -2.3	0.0 2.3 2.7 -0.8 -0.4 8.8 7.6 1.0 0.1		0.0 -2.4 -4.5 -9.5 -8.1 -6.0 -4.2 0.0 -4.6	7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	0.0 -1.8 -3.9 -5.3 -5.8 -2.6 -0.7 1.4 1.9	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0 \\ 1.4 \\ 1.8 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.8 \\ 2.0 \\ 1.8 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.7 \end{array}$
[H*] (nmol.l ⁻¹)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	36.9 31.7 33.2 37.2 38.2 40.1 38.2 34.1 32.8	38.3 40.5 42.4 40.8 42.8 44.0 43.2 40.5 39.4	38.1 38.2 38.5 40.2 39.1 38.2 38.1	38.5 38.1 38.8 44.2 46.3 47.6 44.2 42.0 37.8	36.2 35.3 39.9 40.0 41.1 44.2 42.0 38.9 36.9	36.3 33.0 35.6 41.5 42.1 40.7 38.3 36.4 36.4		38.1 37.9 39.9 40.4 40.8 39.7 38.2 37.8 35.3	7 7 6 6 7 7 7 7 7	37.5 36.4 38.3 40.7 41.9 42.4 40.4 38.3 36.7	$\begin{array}{c} 0.4 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.1 \\ 0.9 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 0.8 \end{array}$
[K ⁺] (mmol.i ⁻¹)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	3.78 3.85 4.18 4.10 3.93 3.53 3.68 3.80 3.85	3.98 4.08 4.27 4.14 4.22 4.19 4.12 3.96 3.99	3.77 4.15 4.27 3.61 3.81 3.78 3.72	4.56 4.77 5.16 4.99 4.63 4.32 4.30 4.31 4.41	4.08 4.48 5.31 4.56 4.11 3.78 3.92 3.95 4.47	3.75 3.93 4.41 3.96 3.60 3.39 3.62 3.65 3.74		3.86 4.02 4.41 4.28 4.11 3.85 3.95 3.90 3.91	7 7 6 6 7 7 7 7 7	3.97 4.18 4.57 4.34 4.10 3.81 3.91 3.91 3.91 4.01	0.11 0.12 0.17 0.15 0.14 0.13 0.09 0.08 0.12

Table B2.1.2 Blood data for RT muscle fatigue test

subject	C. 1	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE
HR (b.min ⁻¹)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	74 129 150 101 82 72 72 72 72 72 70	60 126 127 69 60 63 60 55 60	54 105	46 104 111 59 51 58 52 53 62	72 116 136 115 69	75 148 170 75	67 145 157 99 53 70 64 66	70 115 123 69 72 68 72 68 68 68	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	65 124 139 85 64 65 66 62 67	3.7 5.9 7.9 9.2 5.9 3.0 3.3 3.7 2.2
bl [lac] (mmol.l ⁻¹)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	1.39 1.94 2.86 3.84 3.62 3.19 2.45 1.74 1.78		$\begin{array}{c} 0.83 \\ 1.51 \\ 1.77 \\ 2.47 \\ 2.71 \\ 2.35 \\ 1.54 \\ 1.49 \\ 0.69 \end{array}$	1.40 1.91 2.24 3.75 4.09 3.35	0.92 1.98 2.92 3.65 3.40 3.96 3.11 1.84 1.57	$1.07 \\ 1.58 \\ 2.89 \\ 3.87 \\ 4.54 \\ 4.44 \\ 3.76 \\ 2.24 \\ 1.61 \\$	$1.06 \\ 1.24 \\ 1.88 \\ 1.94 \\ 2.66 \\ 1.54 \\ 1.20 \\ 0.93 \\ 0.26$	1.10 1.13 2.88 3.36 2.55 2.72 1.77 1.17 0.89	7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	$1.11 \\ 1.61 \\ 2.49 \\ 3.27 \\ 3.37 \\ 3.08 \\ 2.30 \\ 1.57 \\ 1.17$	0.08 0.13 0.19 0.29 0.29 0.37 0.40 0.19 0.21
[Hb] (g.dl ⁻¹)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	14.0 14.6 14.5 14.1 14.2 14.1 13.9 13.6	14.6 14.4 14.9 15.2 14.8 14.8 14.0 13.9 14.2	15.5 15.7 15.9 15.8 15.9 14.8 15.3 15.1 15.2	$15.1 \\ 15.5 \\ 16.1 \\ 16.0 \\ 16.0 \\ 15.5 \\ 15.6 \\ 15.3 \\ 15.0 \\$	$16.1 \\ 16.2 \\ 16.7 \\ 16.6 \\ 16.5 \\ 15.8 \\ 15.4 \\ 15.9 \\ 15.6 \\$	14.3 14.6 14.9 14.7 15.0 14.3 14.4 13.9 14.2	13.6 14.0 14.2 14.4 14.2 13.6 13.7 13.5 13.7	15.5 15.7 15.9 16.0 16.0 15.5 15.5 15.4 15.4	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	14.8 15.1 15.4 15.4 15.3 14.8 14.7 14.6 14.6	0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3
dPV (%)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	0.0 -7.3 -5.5 -6.7 -3.2 -2.8 -3.1 -0.2 3.6	0.0 3.2 -2.3 -4.3 -2.5 -0.9 4.1 5.6 5.7	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0 \\ -3.0 \\ -2.1 \\ -4.2 \\ -7.6 \\ 4.6 \\ 1.5 \\ 6.9 \\ 1.2 \end{array}$	0.0 -5.8 -11.4 -11.3 -10.3 -9.1 -7.6 -5.3 -3.4	0.0 -0.1 -0.6 -5.9 -3.9 2.7 4.6 1.0 2.8	0.0 -1.8 -5.9 -5.7 -6.5 2.3 -0.5 4.6 3.5	0.0 -7.4 -7.9 -7.2 -3.4 -1.5 1.5 -2.4	0.0 4.9 -8.0 -9.9 -8.4 -2.9 3.8 -5.1 -5.7	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	0.0 -2.2 -5.4 -7.0 -6.2 -1.2 0.2 1.1 0.7	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0\\ 1.6\\ 1.3\\ 0.9\\ 1.0\\ 1.5\\ 1.5\\ 1.6\\ 1.4 \end{array}$
[H ⁺] (nmol.l ⁻¹)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	36.9 36.3 37.7 39.0 39.7 39.3 37.7 38.1 36.8	38.4 39.2 41.3 42.5 42.3 40.9 40.5 38.0 37.2	36.9 36.8 37.9 38.2 38.2 37.3 37.1 35.7 35.9	37.1 37.5 39.0 40.7 40.5 40.6 39.2 37.7 37.1	38.1 36.2 36.8 42.8 44.7 44.3 40.6 39.4 37.6	36.3 35.0 36.0 40.3 41.8 41.4 39.7 37.7 36.7	39.1 36.7 38.1 38.4 38.9 39.4 38.5 37.5 38.7	38.4 37.2 39.9 38.9 40.1 38.4 38.5 31.8 36.5	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	37.6 36.9 38.3 40.1 40.8 40.2 39.0 37.0 37.0	0.3 0.4 0.6 0.6 0.7 0.8 0.4 0.8 0.3
[K ⁺] (mmol.] ⁻¹)	R E1 E2 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	3.85 4.24 4.80 4.42 3.83 3.79 3.89 3.90 3.71	3.83 3.85 4.43 4.31 4.01 3.72 3.72 3.62 3.74	3.54 3.97 4.31 4.06 3.91 3.50 3.70 4.03 3.98	3.78 4.27 4.83 4.35 4.01 3.67 3.91 3.76 3.78	3.79 4.12 4.61 4.26 3.86 3.54 3.76 3.82 3.91	3.68 4.03 4.47 4.17 3.89 3.50 3.70 3.74 3.86	3.77 4.57 5.05 4.69 4.30 3.95 4.06 3.96 3.85	3.80 4.06 4.32 3.99 3.74 3.57 3.78 3.66 3.79	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	3.75 4.14 4.60 4.28 3.94 3.65 3.81 3.81 3.81 3.83	0.04 0.08 0.09 0.08 0.06 0.06 0.04 0.05 0.03

Table B2.1.3 Blood data for ET muscle fatigue test

UT peak [K⁺] total work $\Delta [K^+]$ Δ [K⁺].work⁻¹ fall in [K⁺] 1 min post fall in [K⁺] 2 min post $(mmol.l^{-1})$ $(mmol.l^{-1})$ (J) $(nmol.l^{-1}).J^{-1}$ $(mmol.l^{-1})$ $(mmol.l^{-1})$ #1 4.79 11174 0.78 69.80 0.22 0.65 #2 4.57 11775 0.84 70.91 0.27 0.33 #3 5.01 9960 0.93 93.37 0.28 0.66 #4 5.81 10236 1.64 159.72 1.02 1.62 4.39 #5 11358 0.63 55.47 0.49 0.55 #6 4.16 9568 0.38 39.71 0.07 0.23 #7 4.86 9954 0.92 92.43 0.47 0.79 4.91 11920 #8 1.25 104.45 0.52 0.85 8 8 8 n 8 8 8 4.81 10743 mean 0.92 86 0.42 0.71 0.49 917 SD 0.38 37 0.29 0.42 SEM 0.17 324 0.13 13 0.10 0.15 RT peak [K⁺] total work $\Delta [K^+]$ Δ [K⁺] .work⁻¹ fall in [K⁺] 1 min post fall in [K⁺] 2 min post $(mmol.l^{-1})$ (mmol.1⁻¹) (J) $(nmol.l^{-1}).J^{-1}$ $(mmol.l^{-1})$ $(mmol.l^{-1})$ 8423 #1 4.18 0.41 48.08 0.08 0.13 #2 4.27 8730 0.02 0.29 32.65 0.13 #3 4.27 11892 0.50 42.05 #4 5.16 10530 0.60 56.98 0.17 0.27 #5 5.31 9854 1.24 125.33 0.76 0.60 #6 4.41 13643 0.66 48.01 0.45 0.40 #7 7593 #8 4.41 8443 0.55 65.14 0.13 0.15 7 7 7 n 8 6 6 4.57 9888 0.60 60 0.28 0.26 mean SD 0.46 2048 0.30 31 0.27 0.21 SEM 0.17 724 0.12 12 0.11 0.09 ЕΤ total work fall in [K⁺] 1 min post fall in [K⁺] 2 min post peak [K⁺] Δ [K⁺] .work⁻¹ ∆ [K*] (mmol.l¹) $(mmol.l^{-1})$ (nmol.l⁻¹).J⁻¹ $(mmol.l^{-1})$ $(mmol.l^{-1})$ (J) 0.95 #1 4.8 12164 78.10 0.38 0.49 #2 4.43 10824 55.43 0.12 0.21 0.60 0.25 #3 4.31 9957 0.77 77.33 0.20 #4 4.83 98.39 0.48 0.41 10672 1.05 #5 4.61 72.98 0.35 0.38 11304 0.83 4.465 0.30 0.29 #6 10822 0.79 72.54 0.38 #7 5.05 10527 1.29 122.07 0.36 0.29 44.09 0.33 #8 4.32 11793 0.52 8 8 8 8 8 8 n 0.33 mean 4.60 11008 0.85 78 0.32 SD 0.10 0.10 0.27 713 0.25 24 0.04 0.04 **SEM** 0.09 252 9 0.09

. م

Table B2.1.4 Plasma [K⁺] response during the muscle fatigue test for UT, RT, and ET

subject

UT VO2 peak test	Work- load		subject										
[bl lac] (mmol.I ⁻¹)	Watts 0 25 50 75 100 125 150 175 200 225 250 275 300 325 350 375 400 425 450 475	Sample# R E1 E2 E3 E4 E5 E6 E7 E8 E9 E10 E11 E12 E13 E14 E15 E16 E17 E18 E19	#1 0.48 1.00 0.96 1.44 1.37 1.43 1.68 2.18 2.59 3.23 4.16 5.62 9.59 8.72	#2 0.52 0.56 1.24 1.06 0.76 1.21 2.10 2.32 3.12 4.10 5.08 5.25 5.39	#3 0.82 0.72 0.98 1.03 1.46 1.91 2.48 3.51 3.76 5.51 6.60 9.64 12.14	#4 0.87 1.37 1.19 1.43 1.87 1.94 2.72 3.20 4.21 5.22 6.43 7.97 10.64	#5 0.52 0.60 0.70 0.71 1.03 0.88 1.46 1.94 2.47 3.61 5.41 5.89 7.68	#6 0.51 0.48 0.99 1.54 2.14 2.97 3.51 3.80 6.24 8.16 9.68 9.75 12.55	#7 0.75 0.69 0.79 1.03 1.16 1.16 1.50 2.15 2.65 3.58 4.86 5.58 8.43 10.65	#8 0.32 0.50 0.82 0.76 0.87 1.09 1.03 1.71 2.14 2.68 3.86 3.93 6.59 8.59 10.62	n 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	mean 0.60 0.74 0.89 1.15 1.42 1.54 1.88 2.51 3.23 4.25 5.41 6.62 8.89 8.21 10.62	SE 0.07 0.11 0.06 0.11 0.17 0.25 0.33 0.31 0.51 0.68 0.73 0.78 0.99 0.85
[Hb]	Work-		11.07 11.24 11.32 9.53 5.45 2.64 subject	10.64 10.67 10.53 9.77 7.10 3.62	14.14 13.30 14.39 9.42 9.33 5.51	10.57 11.48 12.44 12.80 11.11 6.50	10.02 10.49 10.17 8.79 4.92 2.62	18.74 16.00 20.31 15.55 5.95 4.58	12.35 15.31 13.49 12.42 8.39 5.94	13.23 14.09 14.05 13.95 11.21 6.96	8 8 8 8 8	12.59 12.82 13.34 11.53 7.93 4.80	1.01 0.76 1.14 0.88 0.87 0.60
(σdl^{-1})	load Watts	Sample#	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE
(g.dl ⁻¹)	$\begin{array}{c} 0\\ 25\\ 50\\ 75\\ 100\\ 125\\ 150\\ 175\\ 200\\ 225\\ 250\\ 275\\ 300\\ 325\\ 350\\ 375\\ 400\\ 425\\ 450\\ 475\\ 500\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} R \\ E1 \\ E2 \\ E3 \\ E4 \\ E5 \\ E6 \\ E7 \\ E8 \\ E9 \\ E10 \\ E11 \\ E12 \\ E13 \\ E14 \\ E15 \\ E16 \\ E17 \\ E18 \\ E19 \\ E20 \\ \end{array}$	14.7 15.1 15.3 15.1 15.4 15.5 15.4 15.7 15.5 15.6 16.0 16.3 16.3	14.3 14.4 14.8 14.7 14.8 14.9 14.7 15.0 15.2 15.1 15.1 15.3 15.4	15.7 15.8 16.0 16.1 16.3 16.6 16.6 16.6 16.7 17.1 17.3 17.4 17.9	15.9 16.3 16.5 16.7 17.1 17.0 17.0 15.5 17.3 17.4	15.2 15.1 15.3 15.4 15.5 15.6 15.7 15.5 15.7 16.0 16.1 16.3 16.5	14.8 15.1 15.0 15.1 15.0 15.3 15.4 15.5 15.7 15.8 16.0 16.2 16.5	14.2 14.6 14.4 14.7 14.8 14.9 15.2 15.2 15.3 15.4 15.4 15.7 15.8	14.4 14.2 14.7 14.6 15.0 14.9 15.0 14.9 15.2 15.6 15.7 16.3 16.6	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	14.9 15.1 15.2 15.3 15.4 15.5 15.6 15.4 15.8 16.0 15.9 16.0 16.6 15.9 16.6	0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3
		+1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	16.1 15.9 15.7 15.2 15.0 14.8	15.7 15.4 15.3 14.1 13.7	16.7 15.7 16.6 16.3 15.9 15.5	16.1 16.9 16.6 16.3 15.9 15.5	17.0 16.9 16.5 16.2 15.7 15.7	16.4 16.5 16.3 16.0 15.3 14.8	16.1 16.0 15.8 15.7 14.9 15.0	16.8 16.9 16.2 16.1 15.6 15.3	8 8 8 8 8 8	16.4 16.3 16.1 16.0 15.3 15.0	0.2 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.1

Table B2.2.1 Blood data for UT for incremental exercise test (Δ plasma volume and [H⁺])

dPV	Work-		subject										
(%)	Watts 0 25 50 75 100 125 150 175 200 225 250 275 300 325 350 375 400 425 450 475 500	Sample# R E1 E2 E3 E4 E5 E6 E7 E8 E9 E10 E11 E12 E13 E14 E15 E16 E17 E18 E19 E20	#1 0.0 -7.7 -6.4 -8.2 -9.5 -10.0 -7.4 -9.9 -9.6 -12.1 -11.7 -13.6 -15.5	#2 0.0 2.9 2.0 3.0 0.5 -0.9 0.4 -1.0 -4.4 -3.5 -4.6 -4.2 -6.3	#3 0.0 2.4 -2.4 0.2 -1.3 -4.2 -6.9 -6.0 -8.5 -11.7 -12.0 -14.3 -15.6	#4 0.0 -1.2 -0.8 -2.0 -4.1 -6.8 -4.9 5.2 -6.0 -8.0	#5 0.0 0.2 -0.6 -1.4 -3.6 -3.1 -3.4 -3.3 -3.8 -6.9 -11.0 -10.7 -11.5 -12.8	#6 0.0 -5.3 -3.1 -6.2 -5.6 -6.7 -8.0 -9.4 -9.7 -11.8 -12.7 -14.2 -16.2	#7 0.0 -2.3 -0.9 -4.4 -6.2 -4.9 -6.7 -7.1 -7.1 -7.1 -11.1 -9.7 -11.3 -13.6	#8 0.0 1.0 -2.1 -0.3 -3.1 -4.9 -3.5 -5.1 -9.0 -10.1 -14.0 -4.5 -19.1	n 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 7 7 7 5 4 1	mean 0.0 -1.2 -1.8 -2.4 -4.0 -5.1 -5.4 -4.3 -7.3 -9.0 -10.3 -11.5 -14.1 -9.8 -19.1	SE 0.0 1.3 0.9 1.3 1.0 0.9 1.1 1.6 0.8 1.2 1.0 1.3 0.8 2.6
[H ⁺]	Work-	+1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	-14.0 -12.1 -10.6 -6.0 -7.6 -1.4 subject	-11.8 -7.3 -6.4 1.9 11.0	-11.9 -0.1 -7.4 -1.6 2.8 0.9	-1.7 -10.1 -7.4 -1.6 2.8 0.9	-13.3 -15.5 -14.4 -10.3 -6.5 -3.8	-16.9 -17.2 -18.4 -16.4 -7.9 -3.6	-17.9 -17.9 -16.6 -18.8 -12.1 -12.0	-21.7 -24.9 -20.4 -19.5 -13.6 -14.3	8 8 8 8 8	-13.7 -13.1 -12.7 -10.6 -5.0 -2.8	2.1 2.7 1.9 2.9 2.4 2.8
(nmol.1 ⁻¹)	load Watts 0 25 50 75 100 125 150 175 200 225 250 275 300 325 350 375 400 425 450 475 500	Sample# R E1 E2 E3 E4 E5 E6 E7 E8 E9 E10 E11 E12 E13 E14 E15 E16 E17 E18 E19 E20 +1 +2 +5	#1 35.8 36.7 38.0 38.2 38.9 39.6 40.5 41.5 42.1 44.7 46.9 47.5 51.5 51.5	#2 38.1 38.4 38.3 39.5 41.1 42.6 43.7 45.2 46.6 48.3 49.7 54.0 57.9 69.6 71.4 76.1	#3 39.9 39.6 40.0 41.0 42.5 43.5 45.5 45.5 50.4 53.2 56.9 62.9 64.3	#4 38.0 36.3 35.8 36.4 39.9 39.9 40.6 40.8 41.7 41.4 42.2 43.6 52.4 53.4 54.3	#5 37.7 38.2 39.4 40.2 40.9 41.3 41.9 42.2 43.3 43.7 44.0 45.6 45.8 54.2 56.7 60.3	#6 36.4 38.1 39.2 38.6 39.0 39.1 39.4 39.9 40.3 40.7 42.2 45.6 54.1 55.3 61.7	#7 38.1 38.6 39.7 37.5 39.3 40.0 40.0 40.1 40.6 41.7 42.6 43.7 44.9 50.6 63.9 67.6 75.8	#8 37.3 37.6 38.0 38.5 39.6 39.7 40.6 41.2 42.0 43.1 43.0 44.0 45.0 45.0 45.8 50.6 57.2 59.7 62.8	n 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 7 7 7 5 3 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	mean 37.6 37.9 38.6 38.7 39.9 40.5 41.4 42.0 43.1 44.3 43.9 45.1 46.1 46.3 50.6 58.1 60.7 64.6	SE 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.8 0.9 1.3 1.6 1.3 1.7 2.4 1.4 0.0 2.0 2.2 2.7
		+10 +20 +30	60.8 48.8 41.8	70.6 55.0 45.9	63.0 53.8 47.2	51.5 43.0 39.5	58.1 48.7 42.6	60.6 50.4 43.8	73.6 65.3 51.1	60.4 50.1 43.4	8 8 8	62.3 51.9 44.4	2.5 2.3 1.3

ų,

Table B2.2.1 Blood data for UT for incremental exercise test $([K^+])$

[K ⁺]	Work-		subject										
	load	The Party State of the Party of	e1										
$(mmol.l^{-1})$	Watts	Sample#	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE
	0	R	4.03	4.18	3.80	3.88	3.66	3.94	4.04	4.09	8	3.95	0.06
	25	E1	4.24	4.13	3.94	5.00	3.63	3.97	4.23	4.29	8	4.18	0.14
	50	E2	4.36	4.39	4.10	5.02	3.84	4.05	4.21	4.55	8	4.31	0.13
	75	E3	4.52	4.47	4.25	5.10	3.96	4.13	4.37	4.59	8	4.42	0.12
	100	E4	4.47	4.61	4.48	5.23	4.05	4.23	4.48	4.64	8	4.52	0.12
	125	E5	4.44	4.63	4.66	5.39	4.16	4.36	4.49	4.72	8	4.61	0.13
	150	E6	4.58	4.79	4.86	5.42	4.27	4.52	4.62	5.42	8	4.81	0.15
	175	E7	4.65	4.86	4.94	5.77	4.32	4.61	4.74	4.77	8	4.83	0.15
	200	E8	4.63	4.47	5.14	5.68	4.46	4.90	4.94	4.97	8	4.90	0.14
	225	E9	4.53	5.08	5.50	5.96	4.68	4.99	5.12	5.57	8	5.18	0.17
	250	E10	4.72	5.26	5.75		5.02	5.12	5.36	5.64	7	5.26	0.14
	275	E11	4.99	5.46	6.05		5.36	5.46	5.65	5.63	7	5.51	0.12
	300	E12	5.29		6.64		5.29	5.75	5.86	6.22	6	5.84	0.22
	325	E13	5.72	6.07			5.65		6.28	7.39	6	6.22	0.31
	350	E14								7.02	1	7.02	
	375	E15								100			
	400	E16											
	425	E17											
	450	E18								COLUMN TWO IS NOT			
	475	E19								South Section			
	500	E20										= 11	0.10
		+1	4.85	5.67	5.92	5.82	5.43	5.12	5.52	6.60	8	5.61	0.19
		+2	3.98	5.18	4.80	4.69	4.63	4.28	4.70	5.74	8	4.75	0.19
	and a set	+5	3.58	4.46	4.03	4.08	3.86	3.80	4.09	4.74	8	4.08	0.13
		+10	3.60	4.72	4.16	4.13	3.80	3.97	3.90	4.50	8	4.11	0.13
		+20	3.72	4.55	4.36	4.27	3.64	3.82	3.92	4.58	8	4.11	0.13
		+30	3.71	4.64	4.26	4.17	3.68	3.78	4.08	4.31	В	4.08	0.12

```
Table B2.2.2 Blood data for RT for incremental exercise test (blood [lactate] and [Hb])
```

RT VO2 neak test	Work- load		subject										
[bl lac] (mmol.l ⁻¹)	Watts 0 25 50 75 100 125 150 175 200 225 250 275 300 325 350 375 400 425 450 475 500	Sample# R E1 E2 E3 E4 E5 E6 E7 E8 E9 E10 E11 E12 E13 E14 E15 E16 E17 E18 E19 E20	#1 0.90 0.66 0.99 0.95 1.39 1.42 1.59 2.30 2.47 2.77 3.78 4.96 6.35 7.76	#2 1.07 1.02 1.07 1.29 1.77 2.28 2.82 3.59 4.08 5.74 7.08 8.43	#3 0.82 1.20 1.19 1.45 1.80 2.12 2.58 3.37 4.02 5.00 8.10 10.07 12.56	#4 0.46 0.37 0.65 1.25 1.49 2.43 3.09 3.79 4.60 5.79 6.33 7.36 9.64 11.43 13.04	#5 0.67 0.76 1.24 1.47 1.50 2.04 2.48 3.22 4.29 5.72 8.02	#6 1.09 1.37 1.76 1.57 1.81 2.20 1.58 2.52 2.84 3.33 3.83 4.81 6.26 6.93 9.00 12.40	#7 0.80 1.09 1.14 1.51 1.57 1.70 1.67 1.70 1.67 1.70 1.93 2.34 2.78 2.25 4.44 5.04 7.03	#8 1.12 1.19 1.33 1.26 1.60 0.49 2.00 2.65 3.77 3.99 4.50 4.23 8.11 9.53	n 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	mean 0.87 0.96 1.17 1.34 1.62 1.77 2.23 2.89 3.48 4.25 5.45 6.03 7.62 7.09 9.00 8.72 7.03	SE 0.08 0.12 0.11 0.07 0.06 0.24 0.21 0.26 0.35 0.55 0.80 1.02 1.36 1.89 1.77 3.68
		+1 +2 +5	9.92 11.36 20.04	10.37 10.62 10.76	15.96 15.66 15.20	14.80 14.76 15.62	9.70 9.60 10.0 1	13.98 15.81 11.39	7.34 15.81 10.97	†4.92 15.60 14.59	8 8 8	12.12 13.65 13.57	1.12 0.94 1.21
[Hb]	Work-	+10 +20 +30	10.86 6.68 4.49 subject	9.71 7.43 3.88	20.35 10.02 6.24	15.65 12.06 6.79	8.52 6.56 4.58	10.17 6.46 3.87	5.41 3.33 1.83		7 7 7	11.52 7.50 4.52	1.87 1.06 0.62
(σdl^{-1})	Watts	Sample#	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE
	0 25 50 75 100 125 150 175 200 225 250 275 300 325 350 375 400 425 450 475 500	$\begin{array}{c} R \\ E1 \\ E2 \\ E3 \\ E4 \\ E5 \\ E6 \\ E7 \\ E8 \\ E9 \\ E10 \\ E11 \\ E12 \\ E13 \\ E14 \\ E15 \\ E16 \\ E17 \\ E18 \\ E19 \\ E20 \\ \end{array}$	15.1 15.5 15.5 15.8 15.8 16.2 16.0 16.3 16.0 16.3 16.6 16.8 16.9 17.1 17.2	14.3 14.4 14.7 14.6 14.8 15.0 15.2 15.3 15.6 16.1 16.0 16.3	15.3 15.7 15.8 15.9 16.0 16.2 16.2 16.2 16.2 16.2 16.4 16.6 16.6	15.5 15.7 15.9 16.0 16.1 16.2 16.4 16.4 16.4 16.5 16.7 16.8 17.0 17.1 17.4	13.6 13.9 14.0 13.9 14.2 14.2 14.2 14.4 14.6 14.7	16.1 16.6 16.4 16.5 16.4 16.5 16.4 16.5 16.6 16.7 16.5 16.8 16.8 16.8 17.1 16.7	15.1 15.3 15.3 15.1 15.3 15.5 15.4 15.4 15.4 15.4 15.4 15.2 15.5 15.7 15.5	14.6 14.9 15.2 14.8 15.2 15.0 15.1 15.4 15.3 15.6	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	14.9 15.2 15.4 15.3 15.5 15.6 15.7 15.7 15.8 15.9 16.3 16.4 16.6 16.7 17.2 16.7	$\begin{array}{c} 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.1 \end{array}$
		+1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	17.5 17.2 16.9 16.5 15.7 15.5	16.3 16.3 16.0 15.5 15.1 14.6	17.0 16.9 16.8 16.4 15.8 15.3	17.3 17.3 17.0 16.5 15.8 15.7	15.3 14.0 13.6	17.1 16.8 16.3 12.8	15.8 15.6 15.6 14.7 14.1	16.3 15.7 15.5 15.0 13.8	567788	16.7 16.6 16.4 16.1 15.3 14.4	0.4 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.4

Table B2.2.2 Blood data for RT for incremental exercise test (Δ plasma volume and [H⁺])

dPV	Work- load	:	subject										
(%)	Watts	Sample	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE
	0 25 50 75 100 125 150 175 200 225 250 275 300 325 350 375 400 425 450	 # R E1 E2 E3 E4 E5 E6 E7 E8 E9 E10 E11 E12 E13 E14 E15 E16 E17 E18 	0.0 -5.3 -5.6 -6.1 -5.3 -9.1 -9.4 -8.8 -9.0 -11.7 -11.4 -13.0 -14.2 -16.3 -16.2	0.0 -2.7 -2.7 -3.1 -4.7 -6.3 -7.8 -8.1 -12.4 -15.0 -15.8 -15.8	0.0 1.9 -4.2 -4.3 -6.4 -8.0 -8.6 -8.5 -10.1 -8.1 -10.4 -12.9 -12.7 -13.9	0.0 8.2 -7.0 0.9 -2.2 -8.1 -3.1 -3.9 -8.0 -13.1 -10.3 -12.0 -13.2 -18.6 -13.3	0.0 -6.2 -4.7 -5.9 -9.2 -9.6 -11.5 -11.6 -14.0	0.0 -1.8 -4.1 -2.3 -5.6 -4.5 -7.5 -0.7 -5.3 -4.6 -5.2 -3.9 -6.9 -3.9 -9.1 -9.7	0.0 -5.2 -4.8 -3.7 -6.5 -2.0 -3.5 -3.7 -2.8 -9.8 -4.9 -5.2 -9.9 -5.8	0.0 -3.3 -0.6 -0.8 -4.8 -0.3 -2.8 -2.1 -3.7 -7.9	8 8 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 6 6 5 5 3 1	0.0 -1.8 -4.2 -2.8 -5.2 -5.9 -6.5 -5.9 -7.9 -10.5 -9.7 -10.5 -11.4 -11.7 -12.9 -9.7	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0\\ 1.7\\ 0.7\\ 0.9\\ 0.5\\ 1.2\\ 1.0\\ 1.3\\ 1.3\\ 1.3\\ 1.3\\ 1.7\\ 1.9\\ 1.3\\ 2.9\\ 2.1\\ \end{array}$
[H ⁺]	475 500 Work-	E19 E20 +1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	-19.7 -19.0 -17.4 -15.2 -4.9 -2.8 subject	-17.3 -18.5 -17.0 -10.7 -8.1 -1.5	-16.5 -16.8 -15.0 -11.3 -6.5 0.6	-10.9 -8.5 -15.0 -6.6 0.1 0.4	-17.1 -4.1 -0.7	-10.3 -6.4 2.1	-9.5 -11.5 -5.7 -13.7 7.1	-13.1 -9.4 -5.7 0.5 11.0	5 6 7 7 8 7	-16.3 -14.2 -13.7 -8.8 -4.3 2.0	1.5 1.9 1.2 1.4 1.8 1.9
(nmol.l ⁻¹)	Watts	Sample	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE
	0 25 50 75 100 125 150 175 200 225 250 275 300 325 350 375 400 425 450 475 500	# R E1 E2 E3 E4 E5 E6 E7 E8 E9 E10 E11 E12 E13 E14 E15 E16 E17 E18 E19 E20 E3 E4 E5 E6 E7 E1 E3 E4 E5 E6 E7 E8 E9 E10 E11 E12 E13 E4 E5 E6 E7 E8 E9 E10 E11 E12 E13 E4 E5 E6 E7 E8 E9 E10 E11 E12 E13 E14 E15 E10 E11 E12 E13 E14 E15 E10 E11 E12 E13 E14 E15 E10 E11 E12 E13 E14 E15 E16 E17 E11 E12 E13 E14 E15 E16 E17 E17 E18 E19 E10 E11 E12 E13 E14 E15 E16 E17 E13 E14 E15 E16 E17 E18 E17 E18 E19 E11 E12 E13 E14 E15 E16 E17 E17 E18 E17 E18 E17 E18 E17 E18 E18 E19 E11 E12 E13 E14 E15 E16 E17 E17 E17 E16 E17 E17 E17 E17 E18 E17 E16 E17 E17 E17 E17 E18 E17 E17 E17 E18 E17 E17 E18 E17 E18 E17 E17 E18 E17 E18 E17 E18 E17 E18 E19 E17 E18 E19 E17 E18 E19 E19 E17 E18 E19 E19 E19 E19 E17 E18 E19 E20 E19 E20 E19 E20 E19 E20 E19 E20 E19 E20 E19 E20 E19 E20 E19 E20 E19 E20 E30 E19 E30 E30 E30 E30 E30 E30 E30 E30	34.0 37.8 39.6 40.8 41.6 42.5 42.6 44.8 45.7 47.6 49.2 50.7	36.6 37.3 38.0 39.9 41.1 41.9 43.0 44.2 44.0 44.5 47.0 50.9	38.7 34.2 33.3 35.8 39.2 41.4 42.9 43.2 45.2 46.8 48.1 50.0 51.8 54.0 59.8	34.5 34.5 35.5 36.3 38.3 39.1 38.9 40.4 42.8 44.4	35.7 36.1 35.6 37.2 39.4 38.5 38.9 39.9 39.5 38.5 39.0 41.4 43.9 47.6	$\begin{array}{c} 38.1\\ 36.6\\ 39.1\\ 39.9\\ 40.4\\ 39.8\\ 40.7\\ 41.2\\ 41.7\\ 41.8\\ 42.1\\ 42.1\\ 42.1\\ 42.5\\ 35.1\\ 40.5\\ 40.5\\ 40.5\\ \end{array}$	36.5 37.8 38.6 39.0 38.5 39.8 39.9 40.9 39.3 39.6 36.1 29.8 34.8 38.9	$\begin{array}{c} 35.8\\ 36.4\\ 37.2\\ 37.9\\ 39.4\\ 40.4\\ 40.8\\ 41.8\\ 42.6\\ 43.5\\ 43.1\\ 42.7\\ 43.8\\ 46.5\\ 47.4\\ 43.9\\ 40.5\\ \end{array}$	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 7 7 6 6 4 3 2	36.2 36.3 37.2 37.9 39.3 40.3 40.7 41.6 42.5 43.4 43.0 42.7 43.4 46.0 46.5 44.0 40.5	$\begin{array}{c} 0.6\\ 0.5\\ 0.7\\ 0.7\\ 0.5\\ 0.4\\ 0.5\\ 0.6\\ 0.8\\ 1.1\\ 1.8\\ 2.7\\ 2.3\\ 2.3\\ 5.1\\ 2.1\\ 0.0\\ \end{array}$
	200	+1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	54.1 55.0 54.7 53.8 46.6 42.2	60.8 62.8 67.1 64.0 49.9 42.6	66.5 68.1 70.3 62.7 49.0 42.1	56.4 47.3 50.7 51.1 40.9 41.6	59.0 55.0 45.4 38.1	44.4 51.1 52.3 47.4 42.7 40.8	50.0 67.3 73.6 73.5 57.1 46.5	55.9 58.5 60.8 57.9 47.1 41.6	7 7 8 8 8 8 8	55.4 58.6 61.1 58.2 47.3 41.9	2.7 3.0 3.0 2.9 1.8 0.8

Table B2.2.2 Blood data for RT for incremental exercise test $([K^+])$

RT	VO2

peak test

[K ⁺]	Work- load		subject										
(mmol.J ⁻¹)	Watts	Sample	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE
	0	# D	267	0 77	4.01	2.04	4.01	4 4 5	4.07	4.00	•	2.00	0.00
	0	R E1	3.07	3.11	4.01	3.94	4.01	4.15	4.07	4.08	8	3.90	0.00
	25	EI	3.80	3.85	4.03	3.98	4.20	4.17	4.17	4.33	8	4.07	0.06
	50.	E2	3.89	4.04	4.05	4.14	4.37	4.31	4.22	4.46	8	4.19	0.07
	75	E3	4.01	4.10	4.24	4.24	4.48	4.37	4.29	4.44	8	4.27	0.06
	100	E4	4.19	4.22	4.40	4.36	4.62	4.31	4.43	4.58	.8	4.39	0.05
	125	E5	4.37	4.34	4.45	4.45	4.75	4.41	4.48	4.61	8	4.48	0.05
	150	E6	4.46	4.44	4.60	4.57	5.05	4.35	4.54	4.63	8	4.58	0.07
	175	E7 ,	4.63	4.58	4.62	4.65	5.07	4.45	4.62	4.61	8	4.65	0.06
	200	E8	4.74	4.84	4.60	4.81	5.23	4.45	4.61	4.72	8	4.75	0.08
	225	E9	4.89	5.09	4.79	4.92	5.49		4.62	4.98	7	4.97	0.10
	250	E10	5.08	5.43	4.93	5.21		4.68	4.67	4.87	7	4.98	0.11
	275	E11	5.21	6.51	5.21	5.54		4.92	4.82	5.89	7	5.44	0.22
	300	E12	5.37		5.50	5.74		5.09	5.37	5.98	6	5.51	0.13
	325	E13	5.79		5.92	6.35		5.19	5.37	6.35	6	5.83	0.20
	350	E14	6.13			6.27		5.51	5.45		4	5.84	0.21
	375	E15						5.99	5.83		2	5.91	0.08
	400	E16							5.88		1	5.88	
	425	E17											
	450	E18											
	475	E19											
	500	E20											
	e o u	+1	5.54	5.51	5.47	5.33	5.50		4.97	5.83	7	5.45	0.10
	NE SAL	+2	4.78	4.62	4.40	4.45	4.85		4.08	5.05	7	4.60	0.12
		+5	4.13	3.81	3.94	4.12	3.91	3.99	3.95	3.93	8	3.97	0.04
		+10	4.06	3.86	4.07	2.60	3.76	4.10	4.03	3.91	8	3.80	0.18
		+20	4 10	3.92	4.23	2.57	3.79	3.97	3.97	3.96	8	3.81	0.18
		+30	4.10	3.80	4.20	4.10	3.66	2.69	3.80	3.75	8	3.76	0.17

```
Table B2.2.3 Blood data for ET for incremental exercise test (blood [lactate] and [Hb])
```

ET VO2	Work-		subject											
peak test	load													
[bl lac]	Watts	Sample#	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SF	l
$(mmol.l^{-1})$	0	R	1.10	1.09	0.46	1.00	1 21	1 23	0.66	1 30	g	1.02	0.11	
(/	25	F 1	1 20	1 24	1.30	1 10	1 21	1 20	1.07	0.55	0	1.02	0.11	
	50	F2	1 19	1 43	1.00	1.17	1.21	1.33	1.07	2 00	0	1.14	0.09	
	75	E2 E3	1 1 1	1.40	1.20	1.51	1.20	1.37	1.02	3.00	0	1.57	0.52	
	100	EA	1.14	1 20	1.12	1.30	1.24	1.74	1.00	1.23	0	1.30	0.08	
	100	L4 E5	0.07	1.39	1.10	1.39	1.39	1.70	0.8/	1.40	8	1.32	0.09	
	125	E	1.00	1.47	1.13	1.13	1.4/	2.39	1.10	1.29	8	1.38	0.16	
	175	E0 E7	1.00	1.40	1.47	1.78	1.54	2.82	1.20	1.56	8	1.60	0.19	
	200	E/	1.07	1.53	1.47	1.80	1.81	3,46	1.36	1.85	8	1.79	0.26	
	200	ES	1.03	1.39	1.80	2.10	2.28	4.21	1.49	0.45	8	1.84	0.40	
	225	E9	1.00	1.98	1.88	2.86	2.47	5.91	1.50	2.18	8	2.68	0.56	
	250	E10	1.26	2.21	1.88	3.39	4.44	1.57	1.99	2.03	8	3.10	0.73	
	215	EII	0.79	2.54	2.25	3.97	5.75	10.88	2.65	3.76	8	4.07	1.10	
	300	E12	1.56	3.69	2.96	4.71	7.78	13.48	3.12	3.25	8	5.07	1.36	
	325	E13	1.63	4.11	3.75	6.60	7.95		4.14	1.60	7	4.25	0.89	
	350	E14	2.00	4.61	4.54	/.58	9.93		6.53	1.91	7	5.30	1.11	
	3/5	EIS	2.58	5.18	5.07	10.27			7.85	2.74	6	5.61	1.22	
	400	E16	2.03	8.15	8.12	10.53				11.52	5	8.07	1.65	
	425	EI/	4,41	9.91	8.66						3	7.66	1.66	
	450	E18	5.86								1	5.86		
	4/5	E19	7.64									7.64		
	. 500	E20	10.00	40.40	10.45	1000								
	P & P P	+1	12.22	13.18	10.45	12.06	11.62		8.99	11.98	8	11.50	0.52	Į
		+2	11.89	13.28	13.15	12.10	11.22	20.94	9.86	10.05	8	13.21	1.36	ł
		+5	11.52	14.16	12.46	11.79	11.21	20.87	8.78	13.95	8	13.09	1.26	į
		+10	8.48	12.09	9.99	10.91	10.87	18.83	6.72	5.59	8	10.43	1.43	į
		+20	4.94	6.77	5.55	1.26	5.08	2.54	4.97	5.18	8	5.29	0.50	į
		+30	3.26	4.48	3.90	4.54	3.63	1.57	3.33	1.94	8	3.33	0.38	ł
[Hb]		0 1 1												
$(g.dl^{-1})$	Watts	Sample#	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE	
	0	R	14.6	15.0	15.5	15.0	16.1	14.9	15.1	16.1	8	15.3	0.2	į
	25	E1 .	14.2	15.7	15.4	15.3	16.3	15.3	14.8	16.2	8	15.4	0.2	į
	50	E2	14.7	15.6	15.7	16.0	16.2	15.6	14.6	16.7	8	15.6	0.3	į
	75	E3	14.7	15.5	15.6	16.2	16.3	15.3	15.0	16.8	8	15.7	0.3	į
	100	E4	14.7	15.6	15.4	16.1	16.9	15.8	15.0	16.7	8	15.8	0.3	
	125	E5	14.9	15.7	15.9	16.1	16.8	15.4	15.2	16.8	8	15.8	0.3	l
	150	E6	14.7	16.1	16.2	15.9	16.6	15.8	15.4	16.7	8	15.9	0.2	į
	175	E7	14.8	15.6	16.2	16.1	17.0	15.5	15.0	16.9	8	15.9	0.3	į
	200	E8	15.0	15.8	16.3	16.3	17.0	15.6	15.3	17.0	8	16.0	0.3	l
	225	E9.	15.0	16.1	16.4	16.3	17.0	15.8	15.3	17.3	8	16.2	0.3	Į
	250	E10	15.0	16.0	16.3	16.4	17.1	16.2	15.5	17.0	8	16.2	0.3	į
	275	E11		16.2	16.1	16.4	17.3	15.6	15.3	17.2	8	16.3	0.3	į
	300	E12		16.4	16.6	16.9	17.5	15.6	15.7	17.2	8	16.6	0.3	į
	325	E13	14.6	16.1	16.8	16.7	17.5	16.0	15.7	17.2	8	16.3	0.3	į
	350	E14	15.1	16.3	17.0	16.9	17.6		15.9	18.1	7	16.7	0.4	Į
	375	E15	14.6	16.2	16.9	17.0			16.1	18.1	6	16.5	0.5	i
	400	E16		16.7	17.4	17.0				18.5	5	17.4	0.4	l
	425	E17		16.7	17.3						2	17.0	0.3	į
	450	E18		16.5							2	16.5		l
	475	E19	14.8								1	14.8		I
	500	E20	2.10							1				Į
8	2111	Lav U				17 (170	166	150	10 0		171	0.0	4
	,500	+1		167	169	1/6	- 1.A	10.0	13.9	18.5	8	1/.1	0.3	1
	500	+1+2	16.2	16.7 16.5	16.9 17 1	17.6 17.4	17.8	16.6	15.9	18.5 18.5	8	17.1	0.3	
	300	+1 +2	16.2 15.8	16.7 16.5 16.7	16.9 17.1 16.3	17.6 17.4 16.3	17.8 17.9 17.2	16.6 16.6 13.8	15.9 16.0 15.6	18.5 18.5 17.6	8 8 8	17.1 17.0 16.2	0.3 0.3 0.4	A DECEMBER OF A
	,500	+1 +2 +5	16.2 15.8	16.7 16.5 16.7	16.9 17.1 16.3 15.7	17.4 16.3	17.8 17.9 17.2 17.1	16.6 13.8 13.8	15.9 16.0 15.6 15.0	18.5 18.5 17.6 17.4	8 8 8 8	17.1 17.0 16.2 15.9	0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4	A DE LA DE L
	.500	+1 +2 +5 +10	16.2 15.8 15.2	16.7 16.5 16.7 16.7	16.9 17.1 16.3 15.7	17.6 17.4 16.3 16.1	17.8 17.9 17.2 17.1	16.6 16.6 13.8 13.8	15.9 16.0 15.6 15.0 14.9	18.5 18.5 17.6 17.4 16.3	8 8 8 8 7	17.1 17.0 16.2 15.9 15.7	0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.3	A REAL PROPERTY AND ADDRESS OF THE OWNER ADDRESS OF
	.300	+1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	16.2 15.8 15.2 14.3	16.7 16.5 16.7 16.7 16.2	16.9 17.1 16.3 15.7 15.8 15.9	17.6 17.4 16.3 16.1 15.7	17.8 17.9 17.2 17.1 16.4	16.6 16.6 13.8 13.8	15.9 16.0 15.6 15.0 14.9 14.8	18.5 18.5 17.6 17.4 16.3 15.8	8 8 8 8 7 7 7	17.1 17.0 16.2 15.9 15.7 15.6	0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.3 0.2	A DESCRIPTION OF A DESC

1 N

Table B2.2.3 Blood data for ET for incremental exercise test (Δ plasma volume and [H⁺])

Ioad No R H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H <th>dPV</th> <th>Work-</th> <th></th> <th>subject</th> <th></th>	dPV	Work-		subject											
(6) Watts Sample# #1 #2 #3 #4 #5 #6 #7 #8 n mean SE 25 E1 10.4 -0.6 -0.6 -5.3 0.8 -9.3 1.8 5.9 8 -0.6 2.1 75 E3 0.8 5.8 8.5 -11.1 -1.7 -4.9 6.6 8 -1.0 -2.2 3.3 125 E5 2.2 6.4 -2.1 -10.1 -3.7 -6.6 6.6 8 -2.9 -2.2 105 E6 1.1 2.3 -6.6 6.07 -9.7 -7.13 3.2 -6.8 8 -5.1 -2.2 -3.7 1.6 200 E8 0.7 -0.7 -6.1 1.3.0 -4.7 -7.0 -8.8 8 -8.1 3.1 -3.7 8 -3.2 1.7 200 E8 0.7 -1.07 -1.6 -1.5 1.5 1.1 <		load	March Transformer Story & Constant												
0 R 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	(%)	Watts	Sample#	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE	
25 EI 10.4 -0.6 -0.6 -3.3 0.8 -3.3 1.8 -5.9 8 -1.6 -2.2 75 E3 0.8 5.8 8.5 11.1 -1.7 -9.0 9.2 1.4 -9.6 8 -1.0 -2.2 100 E4 11.7 1.9 -1.0 -1.0 -1.3 -2.6 -6.6 8 -2.9 -2.2 150 E6 1.1 2.3 -8.6 -10.7 -7.5 0.5 8.4 7 -3.7 1.6 200 E8 0.7 -0.7 -6.1 1.30 4.7 7.0 0.8 9.6 8 -2.2 1.7 225 F91 1.23 0.2 -6.6 -3.0 1.4 -3.3 -1.1 3.1 1.3.7 8 -2.2 2.5 300 E12 -1.9 -5.7 1.5 1.5 1.10 8 -2.4 -7.2 2.7 7 <t< td=""><th></th><td>0.</td><td>R</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>8</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td></td></t<>		0.	R	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	8	0.0	0.0	
50 E2 3.0 7.0 -3.7 -8.5 -0.9 -9.2 1.4 -9.6 8 -2.0 2.2 100 E4 11.7 1.9 -1.0 -1.37 0.5 -6.6 8 -2.9 3.3 125 E5 5.2 6.4 -2.1 -10.1 -3.7 9.3 2.6 6.6 8 -2.9 2.3 125 E5 5.2 6.4 -2.1 -0.1 -1.0 -3.7 3.2 -6.8 8 5.1 2.2 125 E7 0.5 -1.7 -9.5 -0.7 -6.3 0.5 -8.4 7.3 7.2 5.7 1.6 200 E18 -2.0 -1.6 -1.3 -1.7 1.5 -1.30 1.3 1.3 3.1 3.7 7.7 7.2 7.5 2.6 -1.2.0 2.2 -1.2.0 2.2 -1.4 -1.2 -1.2.0 3.3 1.37 7.1 5.3 3.3 <th></th> <td>25</td> <td>E1</td> <td>10.4</td> <td>-0.6</td> <td>-0.6</td> <td>-5.3</td> <td>0.8</td> <td>-9.3</td> <td>-1.8</td> <td>-5.9</td> <td>8</td> <td>-1.6</td> <td>2.1</td> <td></td>		25	E1	10.4	-0.6	-0.6	-5.3	0.8	-9.3	-1.8	-5.9	8	-1.6	2.1	
75 B3 0.8 5.8 8.5 11.1 1.7 4.9 0.5 6.0 8 1.0 2.10 2.10 2.10 1.11 1.17 1.10 1.0 1.37 9.3 2.6 6.6 8 2.9 3.33 100 E6 1.1 2.3 8.6 1.07 9.7 1.13 3.2 6.8 8 5.1 2.2 100 E8 0.7 -0.7 6.1 1.30 4.7 7.0 0.8 9.6 8 5.2 1.1 250 E10 1.8 4.2 4.8 1.58 9.3 1.35 3.1 1.37 8 7.2 2.5 300 B12 -1.5 1.55 1.15 1.19 1.9 1.02 7 7.5 2.6 300 B12 -1.5 1.51 1.30 7.6 1.51 7 7.7 7.7 7.7 7.7 7.7 7.7 7.7 7.7		50	E2	3.0	7.0	-3.7	-8.5	-0.9	-9.2	1.4	-9.6	8	-2.6	2.2	
100 E4 11.7 1.9 1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -2.9 -3.2 125 E5 2.2 -2.2 -3.7 -3.7 -3.6 -6.8 8 -2.9 -2.2 175 E7 -0.5 -1.7 -9.5 -0.7 -6.3 0.5 -8.4 7 -3.7 1.6 200 E8 0.7 -0.7 -6.1 -1.3 -0.8 -6.8 -5.2 1.7 225 E10 -1.8 4.2 -1.5 -1.5 -1.1 1.0 7 -7.0 8.6 -3.2 1.1 3.0 7 -2.0 -1.5 -1.1 7.6 -1.0 7 -7.2 2.5 275 E13 0.8 -9.9 -1.0 -5.1 1.6 -3.5 -1.6 -3.6 -1.0 7 -7.2 2.6 1.3 -5.1 7 7 -7.5 -2.6 -1.1 -1.0 -1.0 </th <th></th> <th>75</th> <th>E3</th> <th>0.8</th> <th>5.8</th> <th>8.5</th> <th>-11.1</th> <th>-1.7</th> <th>-4.9</th> <th>0.5</th> <th>-6.0</th> <th>8</th> <th>-1.0</th> <th>2.2</th> <th></th>		75	E3	0.8	5.8	8.5	-11.1	-1.7	-4.9	0.5	-6.0	8	-1.0	2.2	
125 150 52 6.4 -9.1 -9.3 -2.6 -6.8 9.5 -2.2 150 E6 1.1 2.3 -8.6 -0.7 -9.7 -1.3 3.2 -6.8 8 -5.1 2.2 150 E7 -0.7 -6.1 -1.30 -4.7 -7.0 0.8 9.6 8 5.2 1.7 225 E9 1.23 0.2 -6.6 -6.6 -1.34 -8.8 2.2 -1.26 6.3 3.1 1.37 8 -7.2 2.5 200 E10 -1.8 4.2 -4.8 -1.53 -1.5 -1.19 -1.10 -1.5 -1.55 -1.5 -1.10 -7.6 -1.51 -7.5 -1.6 -7.7 -7.6 -1.51 -7.6 -1.51 -7.7 -7.7 -7.7 -7.7 -7.7 -7.7 -7.7 -7.7 -7.7 -7.7 -7.7 -7.7 -7.7 -7.7 -7.7 -7.7 -7.7		100	E4		11.7	1.9	-11.0	-1.0	-13.7	0.6	-8.9	7	-2.9	3.3	
$ \left[H^2 \right] \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		125	E5	5.2	6.4	-2.1	-10.1	-3.7	_93	-2.6	-6.6	8	-29	22	
$ \left[\mathbf{H}^{7} \left[\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		150	E6	1.1	2.3	-8.6	-10.7	-97	-113	3.2	-6.8	8	-5.1	2.2	
$ [II'] = \begin{array}{ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		175	E7 :		0.5	-17	_9.5	-0.7	-63	0.5	-0.0	7	-3.1	1.6	
$ \left[\mathbf{H}^{-1} \right] = \begin{bmatrix} 123 & 0.2 & 0.6 & -0.6 & -1.3.4 & -8.5 & -3.3 & -3.0 & 0 & -3.2 & -1.3 & -1.3 \\ 250 & E10 & -1.8 & 4.2 & -4.8 & -1.5 & -3.5 & -3.1 & -1.3.7 & 8 & -7.2 & -2.5 \\ 300 & E12 & -1.9 & -6.7 & -1.7 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.1 & -1.0 & 7 & -7.5 & -2.6 \\ 300 & E12 & -1.9 & -6.7 & -1.7 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -1.5 & -$		200	F8	07	-0.7	-6.1	-13.0	-0.7	-0.5	0.5	-0.4	0	-5.7	1.0	
$ \left[\mathbf{I}^{-1} = \mathbf{V} $		225	E0	123	0.7	-0.6	-15.0	-4.7 12.4	-7.0	-0.0 2 2	-9.0	0	-5.2	1./	
$ \left[\mathbf{H}^{2} \right] \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		250	E10	18	1.2	.4.8	-9.0	-13.4	-0.0	2.2	-12.0	0	-3.0	5.1	
$ \left[II^*] \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		275	E11	-1.0	-2.0	-4.0	-15.0	-9.5	-15.5	-3.1	-13.7	-7	-1.2	2.5	
$ \left[\mathbf{I}^{*} \right] \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		300	E17		10	-1.5	-13.3	-11.5	-11.9	1.9	-12.0	1	-/.5	2.0	
$ \left[II^*] \begin{array}{ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		325	E12	0.0	-1.5	-0.7	-17.5	-15.1	-13.0	-7.0	-10.0	1	-10.5	2.0	
$ \left[\mathbf{H}^{-1} \right] \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		250	E13	0.0	-3.0	-0.9	-10.0	-0.5	-14.0	-0.3	-11.0	8	-8.3	2.0	
$ [I^*] \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		275	E14	1.0	-4.4	-9.9	-19.0	-13.0		-7.6	-15.1	1	-9.7	2.7	
$ \left[H^* \right] \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		313	EIS	0.2	-12.7	-11.9	-20.1			-9.8	-21.2	6	-12.6	3.2	
$ \begin{array}{c cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		400	Elo		-3.8	-14.9	-21.4					3	-13.3	5.1	
		425	EI/		-5.2	-13.0						2	-9.1	3.9	
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		450	E18		-7.2							1	-7.2		
$ \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{i} \\ \mathbf{i}$		4/5	E19	1.5								1	1.5		
$ \left[\mathbf{H'} \right] \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		500	E20												
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			+1		-8.0	-12.0	-26.9	-16.2	-19.1	-2.4	-23.7	7	-15.5	3.3	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		der an an	+2	-11.9	-5.1	-16.4	-25.2	-17.6	-21.4	-10.2	-19.3	8	-15.9	2.3	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			+5			-11.6	-15.6	-13.3	-5.5	-9.3	-13.3	6	-11.4	1.5	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			+10			-4.6	-18.4	-9.4	0.5	-4.9	-13.2	6	-8.3	2.8	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			+20			-6.9	-6.8	-3.8		1.7	-5.6	5	-4.3	1.6	
			+30			-2.2	-3.2	1.4		1.1	-2.7	5	-1.1	1.0	
Ioad Watts Sample# #1 #2 #3 #4 #5 #6 #7 #8 n mean SE 0 R 37.2 37.4 36.6 35.2 38.2 37.8 31.7 40.5 88 36.8 0.9 25 E1 38.3 37.7 35.2 35.1 39.7 37.4 36.7 38.9 88 37.4 0.6 50 E2 37.7 38.4 36.5 35.7 40.5 37.4 30.4 88 37.9 0.5 75 E3 38.5 39.3 36.8 36.6 41.0 39.4 39.4 88 38.6 0.5 100 E4 37.7 38.8 85.5 37.4 40.1 39.4 40.4 40.1 8 39.0 0.4 125 E5 37.5 38.8 48.2 37.4 40.1 39.4 40.4 40.1 8 39.8 0.4 200 E8 38.5 40.0 38.2 38.4 41.7 40.6 </th <th>$[\mathbf{H}^{+}]$</th> <th>Work-</th> <th></th> <th>subject</th> <th></th> <th>and a state</th>	$[\mathbf{H}^{+}]$	Work-		subject											and a state
$ \begin{array}{ $	1	load	C. C. Market Street												
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	(nmol.l ⁻¹)	Watts	Sample#	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		0	R	37.2	37.4	36.6	35.2	38.2	37.8	31.7	40.5	8	36.8	0.9	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		25	E1	38.3	37.7	35.2	35.1	39.7	37.4	36.7	38.9	8	37.4	0.6	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		50	E2	37.7	38.4	36.5	35.7	40.5	37.4	37.6	39.4	8	37.9	0.5	i.
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		75	E3	38.5	39.3	36.3	36.8	41.0	38.9	39.4	38.9	8	38.6	0.5	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		100	E4	37.7	38.7	36.8	36.6	41.1	38.7	41.0	40.2	8	38.9	0.6	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		125	E5	37.5	38.8	38.5	37.4	40.1	39.4	40.4	40.1	8	39.0	0.4	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		150	E6	38.4	40.5	38.3	38.5	41.3	39.8	40.8	42.2	8	40.0	0.5	EE.
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		175	E7	38.8	40.2	37.8	38.6	41.2	40.9	40.7	40.4	8	39.8	0.4	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		200	E8	38.5	40.0	38.2	38.4	41.7	40.6	43.2	41.3	8	40.2	0.6	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		225	E9	38.0	40.5	38.4	39.8	42.4	33.3	42.7	42.3	8	39.7	1.1	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		250	E10	38.9	40.8	39.7	39.6	44.4	36.1	43.0	43.8	8	40.8	1.0	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$. 275	E11		40.7	40.6	41.6	45.6	36.6	43.5	43.9	7	41.8	1.1	110
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		300	E12		41.5	43.4	42.2	48.0	44.7	44.0	46.9	7	44.4	0.9	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		325	E13	39.1	42.7	43.6	44.7	49.1	38.1	45.8	47.2	8	43.8	1.3	ALM N
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		350	E14	40.3	44.3	46.7	48.5	51.4		46.1	50.6	7	46.8	1.4	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		375	E15	40.4	46.3	49.8	53.7			49.5	52.8	6	48.8	2.0	No.
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		400	E16		48.4	54.5	57.7				58.3	4	54.7	2.3	Contraction of the second
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		425	·F17	39.0	51.1	57.3	0.11					3	49.1	5.4	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		450	E18	38.0	54.3	07.0						2	46.2	8.2	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		475	E10	44.2	54.0							1	44.2		· ·
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		500	E19 E20	44.2								and the second	17.2		
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		300	E20		60.0	644	66.0	60 4	71 1	56 5	50.2	7	62 5	22	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			+1	60 đ	03.0	04.4	00.2	00.1	14.1 C17	50.5	61 1	0	62.0	0.0	
+5 61.2 69.7 65.9 67.3 66.7 71.9 57.3 69.5 8 60.2 1.7 +10 53.8 61.4 58.1 60.8 57.8 69.2 48.5 67.1 8 59.6 2.4 +20 44.8 49.8 43.0 47.2 46.2 44.3 53.3 7 46.9 1.4 +30 41.5 43.7 38.8 41.4 42.1 39.6 45.2 7 41.7 0.8			+2	03.1	0.00	03.4	08.4	03.8 007	04./	59.0	04.1 60 F	0	66.3	17	
+10 53.8 61.4 58.1 60.8 57.8 69.2 48.5 67.1 8 59.6 2.4 +20 44.8 49.8 43.0 47.2 46.2 44.3 53.3 7 46.9 1.4 +30 41.5 43.7 38.8 41.4 42.1 39.6 45.2 7 41.7 0.8			C+	61.2	69.7	65.9	67.3	66.7	71.9	57.J	09.0	0	50.0	1./	
+20 44.8 49.8 43.0 47.2 46.2 44.3 53.3 7 46.9 1.4 +30 41.5 43.7 38.8 41.4 42.1 39.6 45.2 7 41.7 0.8			+10	53.8	61.4	58.1	60.8	57.8	69.2	48.5	67.1	0	59.0	2.4	100
+30 41.5 43.7 38.8 41.4 42.1 39.6 45.2 7 41.7 0.8			+20	44.8	49.8	43.0	47.2	46.2		44.3	53.3	1	46.9	1.4	
			+30	41.5	43.7	38.8	41.4	42.1		39.6	45.2	1	41.7	0.8	

. 1

Table B2.2.3 Blood data for ET for incremental exercise test $([K^+])$

$[\mathbf{K}^{+}]$	Work-		subject										
	load												
$(mmol.l^{-1})$	Watts	Sample#	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE
	0	R	4.41	4.19	3.67	3.77	3.89	3.84	4.45	3.83	8	4.01	0.11
	25	E1	4.42	4.26	3.70	3.90	3.97	3.89	4.49	3.99	8	4.08	0.10
	50	E2	4.77	4.38	3.81	4.25	4.15	3.99	4.60	4.18	8	4.27	0.11
	75	E3	4.78	4.44	3.88	4.34	4.29	4.16	4.81	4.34	8	4.38	0.11
	100	E4	4.84	4.53	3.84	4.41	4.35	4.24	4.84	4.58	8	4.45	0.12
	125	E5	4.98	4.46	4.13	4.70	4.43	4.26	4.82	4.66	8	4.55	0.10
	150	E6	4.91	4.49	4.24	4.65	4.41	4.36	4.94	4.61	8	4.58	0.09
	175	E7	5.02	4.72	4.27	4.78	4.50	4.43	4.92	4.75	8	4.67	0.09
	200	E8	5.12	4.81	4.26	4.73	4.56	4.47	5.02	4.62	8	4.70	0.10
	225	E9	5.07	4.75	4.34	5.03	4.63	4.73	5.13	4.72	8	4.80	0.09
	250	E10	5.19	4.88	4.45	5.10	4.75	4.87	5.17	4.78	8	4.90	0.09
	275	E11	1111	5.03	4.53	5.23	4.86	5.18	5.34	4.88	7	5.01	0.10
	300	E12		5.20	4.67	5.20	5.08	5.64	5.57	5.12	7	5.21	0.12
	325	E13	5.53	5.32	4.82	5.57	5.35	5.76	5.81	5.41	8	5.45	0.11
	350	E14	6.78	5.48	5.42	5.75	5.63		6.19	5.36	7	5.80	0.19
	375	E15	7.83	5.47	5,68	6.03			6.44	5.85	6	6.22	0.35
	400	E16		5.83	6.09	6.35				6.28	4	6.14	0.12
	425	E17	6.84	6.13	6.22						3	6.40	0.22
	450	E18	7.98	6.83							2	7.4	0.57
	475	E19	7.89								1	7.9	
	500	E20							_		<u> 이</u> 글 문화		
		+1		5.63	5.42	5.96	5.27	5.61	5.77	4.78	7	5.49	0.15
		+2	6.00	4.62	4.53	4.53	4.23	4.32	4.69	4.66	8	4.70	0.19
		+5	5.05	4.66	3.47	3.51	3.51	4.27	4.21	3.77	. 8	4.06	0.21
		+10	5.62	4.63	3.45	3.62	3.48	4.00	4.14	4.03	8	4.12	0.26
	the state	+20	5.32	4.58	3.55	3.71	3.59		4.24	3.89	7	4.13	0.24
		+30	5.31	4.53	3.62	3.70	3.65		3.98	3.79	7	4.08	0.24

Table B2.2.4 Blood data for LTx for incremental exercise test (blood [lactate] and [Hb])

LTx VO2	Work-	5	subject											
peak test	load													
[bl lac]	Watts	Sample I #	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n.	mean	SE	
(mmol.l ⁻¹)	0 · ·	R	0.7	1.3	1.6	1.3	2.3	0.8	2.4	2.0	8	1.6	0.2	
	16	E1	0.9	1.4	1.9	1.5	2.7	1.0	2.4	2.2	. 8	1.8	0.2	
	-33	E2	1.1	1.7	2.7	2.1	3.6	1.5	2.8	2.7	8	2.3	0.3	
	49	E3	1.6	2.7	3.9		5.0	2.2	3.4	3.4	7	3.2	0.4	
	65	E4	2.1	3.8		4.3		3.4		4.5	5	.3.6	0.4	
	82	E5	2.9	5.5			6.1	4.4	5.6	5.5	6	5.0	0.5	
	98	E6	3.8					5.8		6.8	3	: 5.5	0.9	
	114	E7	5.4					8.4			3	6.9	1.5	
	131	E8												
	C. S. S.	E9												
		E10												
	1	E11												
	C'aller a	+1	7.3		6.4		8.1	10.7		8.6	5	8.2	0.7	
		+2	8	6	6.5	5.1	8.6	10.8	8.7	8.9	8	7.8	0.7	
		+5	7.9	6.2	6.1	4.7	8.4	10.3	8.9	8.9	8	7.7	0.7	
		+10	7.1	5.7	5.5	3.9	7.7	9.1	7	7.7	8	6.7	0.6	
	BUILT	+20	5.2	3.9	4.2	2.6	5.6	6.3	3.9	5.5	8	4.7	0.4	
		+30	3.3	2.6	3.1	2.1	4.3	4.1	2.8	3.9	8	3.3	0.3	
[Hb]	Work-		subject											
	load													
$(g.dl^{-1})$	Watts	Sample #	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE	
	0	R	11.9	12.1	9.7	11.6	11.3	11.5	12.6	11.8	8	11.6	0.3	
	16	El	11.9	12.2		11.6	11.3	11.5	12.6	11.9	7	- 11.9	0.2	
	33	E2	12.0	12.0	10.3	11.5	11.6	11.5	12.6	12.0	8	11.7	0.2	
	49	E3	12.0	12.2	10.5	11.7	11.3	11.7	12.6	12.0	8	11.8	0.2	
	65	E4	12.0	12.4		11.7		11.5		12.1	5	11.9	0.2	
	82	E5	11.8	12.6			11.7	11.8	13.0	12.2	6	12.2	0.2	
	98	E6	12.1					11.9	12.9	12.4	4	12.3	0.2	
	114	E7	12.0					12.0			2	12.0	0.0	
	131	E8												
		E9												
	7-1-1	E10									Line of the			
	and the second	E11									English			
		+1	12.4		10.8		11.4	12.1		12.4	5	11.8	0.3	
		+2	12.3	12.2	10.7	11.9	11.6	12.0	13.5	12.2	8	12.1	0.3	
		+5	12.3	12.4	10.6	11.9	11.1	11.7	12.7	12.0	8	11.8	0.2	
		+10	12.2	12.3	10.4	11.7	10.9	11.7	12.6	11.7	8	11.7	0.3	
		+20	12.1	12.2	10.4	11.4	10.7	11.4	12.8	11.7	8	11.6	0.3	
	Tren in Ist	+30	12.0	11.9	10.3	11.3	10.6	11.2	12.6	11.8	8	11.5	0.3	125

•

Table B2.2.4 Blood data for LTx for incremental exercise test (Δ plasma volume and [H⁺])

dPV	Work-		subject										
	load	No. Company The											
(%)	Watts	Sample	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE
	0	# R	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0	0.00	0.00
	16	F1	0.00	-0.83	./ 01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0	0.00	0.00
	33	E2	-0.83	0.05	-5.83	0.00	2 50	-0.01	0.01	-0.04	0	-0.02	0.00
	49	F3	-0.05	-0.82	-7.63	0.87	-2.39	1 71	0.00	-1.07	6	-1.15	0.79
	65	F4	-0.84	-0.02	-7.05			-1./1	-0.01	-1.07	2	1 07	0.54
	82	E5	0.85	-2.42				.2.54		-2.49	0	2.24	1.07
	98	E6	-1.66	-3.70				-2.54		-4.85	4	-2.24	0.02
	114	E7	-0.85					-4.18		4.05	2	-2.51	1.66
	131	E8	0.00					4.10				21	1.00
		E9											
		E10											
		E11											
		+1	-4.04		-10.48		-1.23	-4.96		-5.19	5	-5.18	1.50
		+2	-3.27		-9.35		-2.58	-4.17		-3.28	5	-4.53	1.23
	Des title	+5	-3.26	-2.42	-8.49	-2.51	1.80	-1.70	-0.79	-1.67	8	-2.38	1.03
		+10	-2.47	-1.63	-6.72	-0.85	3.68	-1.70	0.01	0.86	8	-1.10	1.05
		+20	-1.66	-0.81	-6.73	1.76	5.62	0.89	-1.56	0.85	8	-0.21	1.25
		+30	-0.83	1.68	-5.82	2.65	6.60	2.68	0.00	0.01	8	0.87	1.26
[H ⁺]	Work-		subject										
(1.r ¹)	load	Comolo	211	#2	<i>щ</i> о	<i>щ</i> л	40	#6	ш л	40			FF
(nmol.l ⁻)	watts	Sample #	#1	#4	#3	#4	#5	#0	# /	#ð	n	mean	SE
	0	R	41.5	37.6	32.6	39.6	38.0	36.1	39.6	37.8	8	37.9	1.0
	16	E1	41.6	38.1	33.3	39.4	37.2	36.3	39.9	37.4	8	37.9	0.9
	33	E2	42.0	39.2	33.7	40.4	39.9	36.7	40.0	37.6	8	38.7	0.9
	49	E3	43.0	40.0	35.6	41.2	39.8	38.0	40.3	38.5	8	39.5	0.8
	65	E4	43.7	40.6		43.7		38.4		38.5	5	41.0	1.2
	82	E5	44.0	40.6			39.6	38.9	42.7	39.5	6	40.9	0.8
	98	E6	45.8					40.0	42.8	40.4	4	42.2	1.3
	114	E7	46.5					40.2			2	43.3	3.1
	131	E8											
		E9									147-54		
		E10											
		E11			40.0		40.4	40.0		40.0		111	10
		+1	49.1	45.0	40.0	A A 7	42.4	46.9	17 C	43.8	5	44.4	1.0
		+2	51.2	45.2	41.6	44./	45.0	49.1 50.5	47.0	44.8	0	40.1	1.1
	The second	+5	55.2	46.3	39.3	45.1	40.1	J2.5 ⊿0.0	47.4	43.9	0	47.2	1.7
		+10	52.0	45.0	39.1	43.0	47.4	40.9 /1 g	42.1 20.1	40.9	8	40.8	1.4
	Carlo lee	+20	43.8	40.J 22 0	33.9 33.9	41.0	42.9 11 1	38.6	35 9	38.4	8	38.9	1.2
	1	+30	43.8	38.9	33.8	40.6	41.4	38.6	35.9	38.4	8	38.9	1.1

Table B2.2.4 Blood data for LTx for incremental exercise test ([K⁺]) [K⁺] Work-subject

	load													
(mmol.l ⁻¹)	Watts	Sample	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE	
	0	R	4.3	4.8	5.3	5.3	4.9	48	5.1	43	8	4.85	0.14	
	. 16	E1	4.4	4.7	5.5	5.5	5.2	4.9	5.3	4.3	8	4.98	0.17	
	33	E2	4.5	4.9	5.7	5.7	5.3	5.1		4.4	7	5.09	0.20	
	49	E3	4.7	5.3		5.9	5.9	5.1	5.5	4.6	7	5.29	0.20	
	65	E4	4.8	5.7		5.9		5.4			4	5.45	0.24	
	82	E5	5.1	6.1				5.6	5.8	5	5	5.52	0.21	
	98	E6	5.5					5.9	6.3	5.3	4	5.75	0.22	
	114	E7	5.9					6.3			2	6.10	0.20	
	131	E8												
		E9												
	CARLES &	E10 F11												
		+1	5.6		6			5.5		4.5	4	5.40	0.32	
		+2	5.1	5	5.5	5.4	5.2	4.9	5.1	4.2	8	5.05	0.14	
		+5	4.3	4.5	5.1	5.3	5	4.6	4.9	4.1	8	4.73	0.15	
	Bin Shine	+10	4.2	4.5	5.1	5.2	4.9	4.9	5.1	4.3	8	4.78	0.14	
		+20	4.3	4.6	5.2	5.4	4.6	4.9	5.1	4.1	8	4.78	0.16	
	a dela	+30	4.4	4.5	5.1	5.4	4.5	4.8	5.1	4.1	8	4.74	0.15	

¥

Table B2.2.5 Blood data for CON for incremental exercise test (blood [lactate] and [Hb])

CON VO2 neak test	Work- load		subject										
[bl lac]	Watts	Sample #	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	# 7	#8	n	mean	SE
(mmol.I ⁻¹)	0 25 50 75 100 125 150 175 200 225 250 275 300 325 350 375	 " R E1 E2 E3 E4 E5 E6 E7 E8 E9 E10 E11 E12 E13 E14 F15 	1.49 1.97 2.58 3.70 5.69 7.20	1.34 1.20 1.33 1.57 1.97 2.78 4.20 5.39 7.65 8.65	1.16 1.98 2.74 2.11 3.89 4.68 6.16	0.85 0.87 1.04 1.29 1.81 2.38 3.90 6.03 8.76	0.89 4.24 6.64 11.96	0.87 1.16 1.68 2.57 3.65 4.63 7.94	0.52 0.60 0.70 0.71 1.03 0.88 1.46 1.94 2.47 3.61 5.41 5.89 7.68	0.80 0.92 1.12 1.21 1.50 1.87 2.54 3.09 4.46 5.91 7.88 7.85 12.46 16.88	8 7 7 6 8 7 4 5 3 2 2 2 2 1	$ \begin{array}{c} 1\\ 1\\ 2\\ 3\\ 4\\ 5\\ 4\\ 7\\ 5.19\\ 4.76\\ 6.65\\ 6.87\\ 10.07\\ 16.88\\ \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 0.1 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.9 \\ 1.82 \\ 1.15 \\ 1.24 \\ 0.98 \\ 2.39 \end{array}$
		+1	11.15	10.06	9.09	8.82	14.14	9.49	10.0 2	17.18	8	11.2	1.0
		+2	11.98	11.68	24.04	12.23	15.64	10.61	10.4 9	20.87	8	14.7	1.8
		+5	12.67	12.47	25.29	12.7 1	15.22	11.16	10.1 7	21.29	8	15.1	1.9
[[4]]5]	Work	+10 +20 +30	11.69 7.65 1.47 subject	10.11 4.09	25.59 10.53 0.66	10.67 7.47 5.49	10.87 8.92	10.45 7.33 4.92	8.79 4.92 2.62	19.44 16.38 10.89	8 7 7	13.5 9.0 4.3	2.1 1.4 1.3
(11-1)	load	Samila	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE
(g.ur)	0 25 50 75 100 125 150 175 200 225 250 275 300 325 350 375 400 425 450 475 500	# R E1 E2 E3 E4 E5 E6 E7 E8 E9 E10 E11 E12 E13 E14 E15 E16 E17 E18 E19 E20	12.5 12.9 13.1 13.5 13.7 13.9	13.6 13.9 14.0 14.1 14.3 14.9 14.7 14.5 15.1 15.3	13.5 13.6 14.5 14.7 14.0 14.4 14.8 14.8	13.2 13.7 13.7 13.8 13.9 14.0 14.4 14.4 14.6 14.8	15.5 15.0 16.7 17.3	13.7 13.5 14.2 14.3 14.6 14.6 14.8	14.2 14.6 14.4 14.7 14.8 14.9 15.2 15.3 15.4 15.4 15.7 15.8	14.4 14.2 14.7 14.6 15.0 14.9 15.0 14.9 15.2 15.6 15.7 16.3 16.6	8 7 7 7 8 7 5 5 3 2 2 1 2 2 1 2	14 14 14 14 15 15 15 15 15.13 15.48 15.55 15.70 16.05	$\begin{array}{c} 0.3\\ 0.2\\ 0.2\\ 0.2\\ 0.2\\ 0.1\\ 0.3\\ 0.1\\ 0.5\\ 0.17\\ 0.07\\ 0.15\\ 0.25\\ \end{array}$
		+1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	14.2 13.8 14.4 14.4 13.8	15.2 15.2 14.3 14.2 13.9 13.9	14.9 15.0 13.7 13.6 14.1 13.5	14.8 14.7 14.3 13.3 13.5	16.9 17.1 17.3 17.0 16.5 16.3	15.2 14.9 12.8 13.8 13.4 12.9	16.1 16.0 15.8 15.7 14.9 15.0	16.8 16.9 16.2 16.1 15.6 15.3	8 8 7 7 8 8	15.5 15.4 14.9 15.0 14.5 14.3	0.3 0.4 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.4

Table B2.2.5 Blood data for CON for incremental exercise test (Δ plasma volume & [H⁺])

CON VO2	2 peak												
dPV	Work- load		subject										
(%)	Watts	Sample #	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE
	0 25 50 75 100 125 150	R E1 E2 E3 E4 E5 E6	0.0 -3.3 -4.1 -9.4 -10.5	0.0 -5.0 -6.9 -5.7 -9.5 -8.6 -11.7	0.0 -2.7 -8.4 -4.0 -1.3 -4.7 -8.9	0.0 -4.8 -6.2 -7.2 -5.6 -7.2 -12.1	0.0	0.0 2.4 -5.3 -5.8 -9.9 -10.7 -8.6	0.0 -2.3 -0.9 -4.4 -6.2 -4.9 -6.7	0.0 1.0 -2.1 -0.3 -3.1 -4.9 -3.5	8 7 7 6 7 8 7	0 -2 -5 -5 -6 -6 -9	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.2 \end{array}$
	175 200	E7 E8		-9.9 -13.4	-7.3	-12.3 -11.2	-		-7.1 -7.1	-5.1 -9.0	5 5	-8 -11	1.3 1.4
	225 250 275 300 325 350 375	E9 E10 E11 E12 E13 E14 E15 E22		-16.0		-13.4	14.9		-11.1 -9.7 -11.3 -13.6	-10.1 -14.0 -4.5 -19.1	3 2 1 1 1	-13.49 -9.92 -12.64 -13.63 -4.53 -19.05	1.40 0.19 1.32
	500	E20 +1	-17.1	-5.4	-12.5	-17.3	-	-15.6	-17.9	-21.7	8	-14.8	1.8
		+2 +5	-15.2	-12.6 -9.3	-12.1 -4.1	-14.5 -12.2	- 18.0	-14.2 1.1	-17.9 -16.6	-24.9 -20.4	7 7	-15.9 -11.4	1.7 3.0
		+10	-18.8	-5.6	-3.4		- 15.6	-6.7	-18.8	-19.5	7	-12.6	2.7
		+20	-13.8	-5.6	-5.2	-3.2	- 12.6	-0.6	-12.1	-13.6	8	-8.3	1.9
[H⁺]	Work-	+30	-9.5 subject	-4.6	-0.5	-3.7	-6.5	7.4	-12.0	-14.3	8	-5.5	2.4
(nmol.l ⁻¹)	Watts	Sample #	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE
	0 25 50 75 100 125 150 175 200 225 250 275 300 325 350 400	 # R E1 E2 E3 E4 E5 E6 E7 E8 E9 E10 E11 E12 E13 E14 E16 	36.9 38.8 40.0 41.8 43.7 44.7	37.5 37.7 38.5 38.7 38.8 39.1 40.1 39.5 43.7 41.9	35.0 36.7 37.2 37.2 38.7 39.8 40.4 40.3	37.2 36.9 37.5 38.9 39.6 40.7 41.6 43.5 46.8 46.9	36.7 42.3 40.1 43.8	36.0 37.3 38.4 39.9 40.0 39.4 40.6	36.4 38.1 39.2 38.6 39.0 39.1 39.4 39.2 39.9 39.9 40.3 40.7 42.2 45.6	38.1 38.6 39.7 37.5 39.3 40.0 40.0 40.1 40.6 41.7 42.6 43.7 44.9 50.6	8 7 7 7 7 8 7 5 5 4 2 2 2 2 1	36.7 37.7 38.6 38.9 39.9 40.6 40.3 40.5 42.8 42.3 41.0 41.7 42.9 45.2 50.6	$\begin{array}{c} 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.8 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.6 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.3 \end{array}$
		+1 +2 +5 +10 +20 +30	52.6 48.8 55.1 53.6 49.7 40.3	46.1 48.6 51.3 48.6 40.7 39.4	44.7 44.5 48.1 49.4 44.3 42.3	53.0 52.4 55.0 52.2 46.1 42.3	50.4 52.5 56.0 61.2 55.0 45.5	44.4 44.9 48.8 47.6 44.3 40.0	54.1 55.3 61.7 60.6 50.4 43.8	63.9 67.6 75.8 73.6 65.3 51.1	8 .8 8 8 8 8	51.1 51.8 56.5 55.9 49.5 43.1	2.3 2.6 3.2 3.1 2.7 1.4

.

, `\

Table B2.2.5 Blood data for CON for incremental exercise test ([K⁺])

CON VO2 peak

test	

[K ⁺]	Work-		subjec										
(mmol.l ⁻¹)	Watts	Sample	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7	#8	n	mean	SE
		#											
	0	R	3.66	3.96	3.68	3.81	3.69	3.51	4.04	4.09	8	3.80	0.07
	25	E1	3.96	3.91	4.06	4.07		3.52	4.23	4.40	7	4.02	0.10
	50	E2	4.17	4.19	4.23	4.19		3.99	4.21	4.55	. 7	4.22	0.06
	75	E3	4.48	4.30	3.99	4.36		4.24	4.37	4.59	7	4.33	0.07
	100	E4	4.68	4.51	4.32	4.52		4.49	4.48	4.64	7	4.52	0.04
	125	E5	5.05	4.68	4.44	4.61	5.22	4.78	4.49	4.72	8	4.75	0.10
	150	E6		4.87	4.62	4.83		5.24	4.62	5.42	7	4.93	0.13
	175	E7		5.03	5.20	5.10			4.74	4.77	5	4.97	0.09
	200	E8		5.37		5.45	6.33		4.94	5.24	5	5.46	0.23
	225	E9		5.84		5.96			5.12	5.57	4	5.62	0.19
	250	E10							5.36	5.64	2	5.50	0.14
	275	E11							5.65	5.63	2	5.64	0.01
	300	E12							5.86	6.22	2	6.04	0.18
	325	E13							6.28	7.39	2	6.83	0.55
	350	E14								7.02		7.02	
	375	E15											
	400	E16											
	425	E17											
	450	E18											
	475	E19											
	500	E20	- 10	4	4.00			4.00		0.00	7	5 57	0.20
	the unit	+1	5.16	5.24	4.86	6.77		4.83	5.52	6.60	1	3.57	0.30
		+2	4.10	4.59	4.42	4.86	4.47	3.93	4.70	5.74	8	4.00	0.19
	PLATRICES.	+5	3.89	3.74	3.37	3.79	4.22	2.94	4.09	4.74	8	2.05	0.19
		+10	3.99	3.89	3.67	3.89	3.61	3.38	3.96	4.50	8	3.07	0.12
		+20	3.99	4.18	4.05	3.89	3.78	3.38	3.92	4.58	8	3.97	0.12
	gining the state	+30	4.01	4.04	3.76	3.76	3.94	3.28	4.08	4.31	8	3.90	0.11

UT	peak K⁺	delta K ⁺	dK ⁺ /work	peak WR	rest K⁺	fall in K ⁺ 1 min	fall in К ⁺ 2 min
#1	5.72	1.70	12.42	325	4.03	0.88	0.87
#2	6.07	1.89	13.85	325	4.18	0.40	0.45
#3	6.64	2.85	24.32	300	3.80	0.72	0.92
#4	5.96	2.17	32.07	225	3.88	0.14	0.64
#5	5.65	2.00	14.62	325	3.66	0.23	0.51
#6	5.75	1.82	15.51	300	3.94	0.64	0.74
#7	6.28	2.25	16.45	325	4.04	0.76	0.79
#8	7.02	2.93	18.60	350	4.09	0.42	0.64
n	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
mean	6.14	2.20	18.48	309	3.95	0.52	0.69
SD	0.49	0.46	6.60	38	0.17	0.27	0.17
SEM	0.17	0.16	2.33	13	0.06	0.09	0.06
RT	peak K⁺	delta K⁺	dK⁺/work	peak WR	rest K⁺	fall in K ⁺ 1 min	fall in K ⁺ 2 min
#1	613	2 46	15.62	350	3 67	0.59	0.68
#2.	6.51	2.74	27.68	275	3.77	1.00	0.95
#3	5.92	1.91	13.99	325	4.01	0.45	0.76
#4	6.27	2.33	14.79	350	3.94	0.94	0.91
#5	5.485	1.48	21.85	225	4.01	-0.01	0.32
#6	5.99	1.85	10.25	375	4.15		
#7	5.88	1.82	8.90	400	4.07	0.91	0.90
#8	6.35	2.27	16.63	325	4.08	0.52	0.65
n	8	8	8	8	8	7	7
mean	6.07	2.11	16.21	328	3.96	0.63	0.74
SD	0.32	0.41	6.09	56	0.16	0.36	0.22
SEM	0.11	0.15	2.15	20	0.06	0.14	0.08
ET	peak K⁺	delta K⁺	dK⁺/work	peak WR	rest K ⁺	fall in K ⁺ 1 min	fall in K ⁺ 2 min
#1	7.89	3.48	12.21	475	4.41	1.00	0.95
#2	6.83	2.645	10.31	450	4.19	1.20	1.11
#3	6.22	2.55	11.11	425	3.67	0.80	0.85
#4	6.35	2.58	12.65	400	3.17	0.39	0.91
#5	5.63	1.74	11.05	350	3.89	0.36	0.70
#6	5.76	1.92	14.07	325	3.84	0.15	0.72
#7	6.44	1.99	11.06	375	4.45	0.67	0.88
#8	6.28	2.45	12.01	400	3.83	1.50	0.81
n	8	8	8	8	8	7	8
mean	6.43	2.42	11.81	400	4.01	0.72	0.86
SD	0.70	0.55	1.19	50	0.30	0.48	0.13
SEM	0.25	0.19	0.42	18	0.11	0.18	0.05

ł

Table B2.3 Plasma [K⁺] response during the incremental test for UT, RT, and ET K⁺ response during VO2 peak test

Table B2	2.4 Plasma	[K ⁺] respon	nse during th	e incrementa	al test for (CON and LTx	
CON	peak K⁺ 🕺 delta K [∓]		dK ⁺ /work	peak WR	rest K^+	fall in K ⁺ 1 min	fall in K ⁺ 2 min
#1	5.05	1.39	61.78	125	3.66		0.48
#2	5.835	1.88	27.85	225	3.955	0.6	0.62
#3	5.2	1.525	36,31	175	3.675	0.34	0.39
#4	5.96	2.155	31.93	225	3.805		0.55
#5	6.33	2.64	48.89	200	3.69		0.93
#6	5.235	1.73	54.92	150	3.505	0.405	0.65
#7	6.28	2.245	16.45	325	4.035	0.76	0.79
#8	7.02	2.93	18.60	350	4.09	0.42	0.64
n	8	8	8	8	8	5	8
mean	5.86	2.06	37.09	222	3.80	0.51	0.63
SD	0.68	0.54	16.68	80	0.21	0.17	0.17
SEM	0.24	0.19	5.90	28	0.07	0.08	0.06
LTx	peak K⁺	delta K⁺	dK ⁺ /work	peak WR	rest K⁺	fall in K⁺ 1 min	fall in K⁺ 2 min
#1	5.9	16	0.00	114 33	43	03	0.4
#2	6.1	13	0.00	81.66	4.8		0.55
#3	5.7	0.4	0.00	32.66	5.3	-0.3	0.1
#4	5.9	0.6	0.00	65.33	5.3		0.25
#5	5.9	1	0.00	48.99	4.9		0.35
#6	6.3	1.5	0.00	114.33	4.8	0.8	0.7
#7	6.3	1.2	0.00	97.99	5.1		0.6
#8	5.3	1	0.00	97.99	4.3	0.8	0.55
n	8	8	8	8	8	4	8
mean	5.93	1.08	0.00	82	4.85	0.40	0.44
SD	0.33	0.42	0.00	30	0.39	0.52	0.20
SEM	0.12	0.15	0.00	11	0.14	0.26	0.07

SEM

, ¥

Appendix B3 Comparison of data collected for incremental exercise test

used in Chapter 7
Table B3.1 Ventilatory data for 3 subjects for comparison of incremental exercise tests conducted at Victoria University of Technology (VUT) and The Alfred Hospital (AH). t-tests revealed no significant differences between the variables measured at the two institutions.

VUT				AH						
Time (min)	Workrate (Watts)	• VO ₂ (1 min ⁻¹)	• VCO ₂ (1 min ⁻¹)	• VO ₂ (ml min ⁻¹ kg ⁻¹	• VE) (1 min ⁻¹)	• VO ₂ (I min ⁻¹)	• VCO ₂ (I min ⁻¹)	• VO ₂ (ml min ⁻¹ kg ⁻¹)	• (1 min ⁻¹)	
Subject						·				
1 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14	0 25 50 75 100 125 150 175 200 225 250 275 300 325 350	$\begin{array}{c} 0.55\\ 0.97\\ 0.88\\ 1.04\\ 1.31\\ 1.49\\ 1.89\\ 2.21\\ 2.38\\ 2.88\\ 3.09\\ 3.3\\ 3.36\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.49\\ 1.13\\ 1.42\\ 1.25\\ 1.49\\ 1.57\\ 1.6\\ 2.14\\ 2.23\\ 3.1\\ 3.58\\ 4.16\\ 4.34 \end{array}$	6.06 10.68 9.68 11.51 14.45 16.49 20.92 24.39 26.26 31.81 34.17 36.43 37.16	20.78 43.36 58.22 50.87 59.37 59.24 54.93 70.52 70.84 93.97 110.04 144.1 191.1	$\begin{array}{c} 0.47\\ 0.77\\ 0.88\\ 1.09\\ 1.17\\ 1.54\\ 1.57\\ 1.87\\ 2.03\\ 2.26\\ 2.51\\ 2.73\\ 3.09\\ 3.52\\ 3.89\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.65\\ 0.91\\ 0.97\\ 1.16\\ 1.14\\ 1.49\\ 1.53\\ 1.81\\ 1.9\\ 2.11\\ 2.46\\ 2.9\\ 3.35\\ 3.98\\ 4.25 \end{array}$	5.22 8.55 9.82 12.07 13.03 17.08 17.48 20.8 22.53 25.07 27.85 30.37 34.36 39.07 43.18	26.9 31.87 35.83 42.53 55.67 56.17 65.23 63.97 64.37 73.23 88.47 104.37 144.43 193.35	
Subject										
2 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12	0 25 50 75 100 125 150 175 200 225 250 275 300	$\begin{array}{c} 0.41\\ 0.56\\ 0.84\\ 1.03\\ 1.3\\ 1.55\\ 1.84\\ 2.06\\ 2.46\\ 2.73\\ 3.01\\ 3.06\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.35 \\ 0.46 \\ 0.65 \\ 0.86 \\ 1.14 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.92 \\ 2.25 \\ 2.72 \\ 3.16 \\ 3.68 \\ 4.16 \end{array}$	5.16 7.04 10.6 13.06 16.43 19.55 23.18 26.06 31.11 34.46 37.95 38.58	$\begin{array}{c} 13.33\\ 16.15\\ 20.16\\ 24.77\\ 31.17\\ 40.02\\ 51.27\\ 60.75\\ 75.48\\ 92.94\\ 114.24\\ 153.34 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.37 \\ 0.62 \\ 0.65 \\ 0.93 \\ 1.13 \\ 1.35 \\ 1.51 \\ 1.86 \\ 2.12 \\ 2.29 \\ 2.84 \\ 2.92 \\ 3.41 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.28 \\ 0.48 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.74 \\ 0.94 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.148 \\ 1.91 \\ 2.22 \\ 2.51 \\ 3.15 \\ 3.43 \\ 4.17 \end{array}$	4.63 7.77 8.21 11.76 14.26 17.05 19.07 23.54 26.73 28.95 35.82 36.89 42.99	10.5 16.73 16.17 21.8 26.8 33.2 39.43 51.17 61.2 72.87 92.9 113.23 156.7	
Subject	t									
3 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12	0 25 50 75 100 125 150 175 200 225 250 275 300	$\begin{array}{c} 0.3 \\ 0.63 \\ 0.88 \\ 1.08 \\ 1.38 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.91 \\ 2.25 \\ 2.57 \\ 2.91 \\ 3.07 \\ 3.56 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.31\\ 0.48\\ 0.67\\ 0.86\\ 1.13\\ 1.4\\ 1.76\\ 2.2\\ 2.63\\ 3.07\\ 3.44\\ 4.38\end{array}$	2.92 6.18 8.58 10.61 13.52 15.69 18.77 22.01 25.22 28.52 30.07 34.94	15.42 17.55 21.95 26.62 33.54 38.73 45.27 55.63 65.83 76.97 89.65 124.28	$\begin{array}{c} 0.3 \\ 0.68 \\ 0.88 \\ 1.09 \\ 1.27 \\ 1.54 \\ 1.72 \\ 2.01 \\ 2.24 \\ 2.46 \\ 2.78 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.36 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.28\\ 0.51\\ 0.7\\ 0.89\\ 1.07\\ 0.88\\ 1.54\\ 1.91\\ 2.21\\ 2.46\\ 2.85\\ 3.31\\ 3.71\\ 3.71\end{array}$	2.92 6.68 8.6 10.71 12.42 15.08 16.82 19.67 22.01 24.1 27.27 30.43 32.9	12.6 17.8 21.63 25.9 29.73 35.23 40.5 49.83 57.27 63.37 74.5 87.6 103.6	
13	325					3.67	3.97	35.9	114.4	

Table B3.2 Blood data for 3 subjects for comparison of incremental exercise tests conducted at Victoria University of Technology (VUT) and The Alfred Hospital (AH). t-tests revealed no significant differences between the variables measured at the two institutions.

Time	Workrate	VUT HR	[K ⁺]	bl [Lac]*	[H⁺]	AH HR	[K ⁺]	bl [Lac]	[H ⁺]*
(min) Subject 1	(Watts)	(b.min ⁻¹)	(mmol.J ⁻¹)	(mmol.l ⁻¹)	(nmol.l ⁻¹)	(b min ⁻¹)	(mmol. ^{j**})	(mmol.l ⁻¹)	(nmol.l ⁻¹)
0	0 25	91 126	4.7		36.5	82 93	4.9	0.8	
2	50 75	128 126	4.7		30.5	87 95	4.6	1.1	
4	100 125	135	4.8		31.0	98 110	4.8	1.8	
6 7	125 150 175	146 159	5.0		36.3	115	5	3.1	
/ Q	200	159	5 1		30.8	134	54	49	
0	200	171	5.1		39.7	145	5.4	6.6	
9 10	220	171	5.4 5.6		40.9	153	5.7	84	
10	230	182	5.0		40.9	161	6	10.8	
12	275	102	6.0 6.4		46.0	167	64	13.8	
12	225		0.4		40.0	173	0.4	15.0	
13	323					168			
14 Subject 2	550					100			
	0	84	17		30.6	70	47	0.6	
0	0	130	4./		59.0	70 79	4.7	0.0	
1	2 <i>5</i> 50	125	18		30 /	82	4 99	0.9	
2	JU 75	125	ч. 0		57.4	86	1.22	0.0	
3	100	120	5.1		40.8	96	52	19	
4	100	150	5.1		40.0	104	5.2	***	
5	123	120	5.6		12.6	113	5.8	3.6	
0	175	159	5.0		42.0	122	5.0	5.0	
/	200	170	6.0		437	132	59	6.3	
0	200	170	6.1		46.0	142	6.2	82	
9 10	223	170	0.1 6 0		40.0	153	6.6	11	
10	230	170	0.0 6 7		44.4	163	6.8	13	
11	275	172	0.7		40.0	165	0.0	15	
12	300					100			
Subject 3	0	84	4.6		38.7	84	5.2	0.7	
1	25	90				90			
2	50	92	4.9		40.5	92	5.5	0.8	
3	20 75	97				97			
4	100	103	52		41.7	103	5.6	1.4	
5	125	110	5.2			110			
6	150	116	54		42.9	116	6	2.3	
7	175	110	5.7		1212	119			
8	200	132	57		44.3	132	6.5	4.2	
9	200	1//	5.7 6.0		46.0	144	6.3	5.9	
10	250	155	63		47 3	155	6.6	7.7	
10	230	160	6.0		18.4	162	7	10.5	
10	200	102	0.7		T.0T	173		-	
12 12	205	177				177			
10	323	1//				× / /	· · ·		

* due to technical difficulties, blood lac was not measured at VUT and plasma $[H^+]$ was not measured at AH.

ŷ

4

Appendix B4 Muscle data collected from resting biopsies for UT, RT,

ET, CON and LTx and fatigue biopsies for UT, RT and ET.

Table B4.1 3-O-MFPase activity for UT, RT, ET, at rest after muscle fatigue test.

Abbreviations: r, rest; f, fatigue; prot, pmol min⁻¹ mg⁻¹ protein; wet wt nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet weight; 5.5, 5.5mM stimulating [K⁺]

ŬT	prot r	wet wt r	prot r 5.5	wet wt r	prot f	wet wt f	prot f 5.5	wet wt f
1	1295	227	1144	201	1295	1123	824	5.5 148
2	1232	224	833	152	1172	1123	794	133
3	1202	221	000	192	11/2	1127	121	100
4	951	167	756	133	1395	1148	483	80
5	1172	203	811	141	1253	1159	754	128
6	1395	234	912	153	1095	1002	1021	159
8 7	1253	219	12	100	1232	1057	947	162
8	1095	170	855	133	951	790	902	159
n	7	7	8	6	7	7	8	7
mean	1199	206	885	152	1199	1058	818	138
SE	54	10	48	10	54	49	62	11
RT								
1		189		166		922	745	150
2	1119	172	687	106	1119	778	665	133
3	1342	270	929	187	1342	1135	1013	210
4	965	189	668	131	965	1311	1117	208
5	1167	179	971	149	1308	1089	430	72
6.0	1308	214	847	138	1564	1576	833	126
7.0	1564	303	952	185	1600	1558	1361	220
8	1600	313	1247	244	1167	813	1426	240
n	7	8	7	8	7	8	8	8
mean	1295	229	900	163	1295	1148	949	170
SE	88	20	74	15	88	110	122	21
ET							1000	1.00
1	1487	271	1237	226	1487	1416	1002	100
2	1158	212	864	158	1158	11001	833	105
3	1321	224	998	169	1321	1128	909	123
4	1313	220	955	160	1313	1523	1270	107
5	1350	243	1205	216	1350	1070	009	130
6	1388	297	1072	230	1388	1320	920	130
7				107	1407	042	707	116
8	1496	278	1006	187	1496	94 <i>3</i>	121	110
n	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7
mean	1359	249	1048	192	1359	1200	934	148
SE	44	12	51	12	44	84	65	9

Table B4.1 3-O-MFPase activity for CON and LTx at rest.

Abbreviations: r, rest; f, fatigue; prot, pmol min⁻¹ mg⁻¹ protein; wet wt nmol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ wet weight; 5.5, 5.5mM stimulating [K⁺]

CON	prot r	wet wt r	prot r 5.5	wet wt r
	•		-	5.5
1	1041	187	669	120
2	1528	197	1358	176
3	1652	149	1283	116
4	1184	146	797	98
5	1115	161	933	135
6	962	129	551	74
7	1172	203	811	141
8	1095	170	855	133
n	8	8	8	8
mean	1219	168	907	124
SE	86	9	99	11
LTx				
1	1011	172	849	144
2	1785	304	1286	219
3	1677	226	1143	154
4	1129	200	888	157
5	1710	261	1550	237
6	1101	199	1010	183
7	1493	194	1206	157
8	1620	203	1173	147
n	8	8	8	8
mean	1441	220	1138	175
SE	110	15	80	12

ŝ

Table B4.2 Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase content (pmol.g⁻¹ wet wt) measured via ³H ouabain binding site content for UT, RT, ET, CON and LTx at rest.

	UT	RT	ET	CON	LTx
	329	292	384	277	264
	375	211	379	330	229
	305	278	394	209	305
	329	259	351	207	265
	250	331	344	191	225
	275	364	355	219	214
	285	362	305	250	395
	302	318	344	302	334
n	8	8	8	8	8
mean	306	302	357	248	279
SE	14	19	10	18	22

í,

Table B4.3 Muscle fibre type proportion and protein determination for UT, RT, ET CON and LTx at rest, protein also determined at fatigue for UT, RT, ET.

UT	Fast twitch (%)	Slow twitch (%)	Muscle protein	Muscle protein fatigue (%)	CON	Fast twitch (%)	Slow twitch (%)	Muscle protein
1	47.7	52.3	13.6	17.5	1	47.6	52.4	12.9
2	36.3	63.7	14.5	14.9	2	47.7	52.3	9.0
3	62.8	37.2	17.7	20.2	3	62.8	37.2	12.3
4	48.7	51.3	12.6	12.8	4	57.3	42.7	14.5
5	64.2	35.8	15.1	15.7	5	60.7	39.3	13.4
6	56.4	43.6	17.8	16.2	6	50.3	49.7	17.4
7	59.3	40.7	16.7	17.4	7	60.1	39.9	15.6
8	46.4	53.6	16.0	17.8	8	56.4	43.6	
n	8	8	8	8	n	8	8	7
mean	52.7	47.3	15.5	16.6	mean	55.4	44.6	13.6
SE	3.4	3.4	0.7	0.8	SE	2.1	2.1	1.0
RT					LTx			
1	33.1	66.9		20.1	1			
2	33.8	66.2	15.4	20.0	2	31.6	68.4	17.0
3	59.5	40.5	20.2	20.7	3	34.7	65.3	13.5
4	43.5	56.5	19.6	18.6	4	15.7	84.3	17.7
5	58.7	41.3	15.3	16.8	5	16.2	83.8	15.3
6.0	35.9	64.1	16.3	15.1	6	3.2	96.8	18.1
7.0	67.3	32.7	19.4	16.2	7	23.3	10.7	13.0
8	64.8	35.2	19.6	16.9	8	50.3	49.7	12.5
n	8	8	7	8	n	7	7	7
mean	49.6	50.4	18.0	18.0	mean	25.0	/5.0	15.3
SE	5.1	5.1	0.8	0.7	SE	5.8	5.8	0.9
ET								
1	67.5	32.5	18.2	16.5				
2	65.0	35.0	18.3	19.6				
3	61.3	38.6	17.0	13.8				
4	77.0	23.0	16.7	14.7				
5	69.8	30.2	18.0	15.8				
6	73.2	26.8	21.4	15.0				
7	76.7	23.3	16.7	19.5				
8	48.5	51.5	18.6	16.0				
n	8	8	8	8				
mean	67.4	32.6	18.1	16.4				
SE	3.3	3.3	0.5	0.8				

Table B4.4 Muscle metabolites for UT, RT, ET at rest.

Values are expressed as $mmol.kg^{-1}$ dry weight of muscle, except $[H^+]$ (nmol.L⁻¹) and glycogen (mmol glucosyl units.kg⁻¹ dry muscle)

UT	ATP	ADP	AMP	IMP	Lactate	Glycogen	PCr	Cr	$[\mathrm{H}^{+}]$
1	24.22	2.06	0.11	0.1	10.99	446	91.7	32.5	64.6
2	22.31	3.34	0.11	0.03	6.53	645	90.1	45.4	60.3
3	27.71	3.16	0.2	0.04	5.02	451	105.4	44.0	74.1
4	22.8	2.22	0.09	0.09	9.82	433	83.2	44.4	77.6
5	24.74	3.16	0.16	0.09	10.82	579	93.9	34.5	75.9
6	29.16	2.3	0.07	0.07	7.13	445	99.2	53.0	64.6
7	23.12	3.19	0.22	0.09	6.07	409	91.8	47.9	57.5
8	23.63	2.74	0.11	0.11	7.93	344	90.8	34.6	72.4
n	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
mean	24.71	2.77	0.13	0.08	8.04	469	93.3	42.0	68.4
SE	0.87	0.18	0.02	0.01	0.80	34	2.3	2.6	2.7
RT									
1	31.2	3.05	0.07	0.15	10.64	555	108.5	49.7	83.2
2	30.1	2.8	0.09	0.03	6.64	563	109.4	38.7	/4.1
3	23.08	2.57	0.06	0.15	12.19	513	101.3	34.6	69.2
4	28.12	2.89	0.07	0.21	11.26	337	104.4	42.0	01.3
5	24.32	3.66	0.18	0.01	5.3	625	89.3	43.3	91.2
6.0	25.71	4.57	0.29	0.1	13.2	471	105.6	36.2	60.1
7.0	24.32	3.75	0.19	0.05	7.98	404	118.7	43.3	09.2 72.4
8	27.43	3.99	0.08	0.04	9.63	520	101.2	03.3	72.4
n	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
mean	26.79	3.41	0.13	0.09	9.61	498	104.8	43.9	73.2
SE	1.03	0.24	0.03	0.03	0.98	33	3.0	3.2	3.5
ΕT									50.5
1					8.76	457		10.0	52.5
2	22.11	2.67	0.19	0.1	2.94	572	76.6	48.2	60.3
3					9.74	416	74.0	55.0	52.0
4	23.16	2.63	0.37	0.04	4.89	517	/6.8	21.1	38.9 74.1
5	30.78	4.02	0.35	0.09	7.33	579	89.2	50.0	74.1 66 1
6	23.41	2.67	0.63	0.07	4.75	370	/8.3	50.9	00.1 72.4
7	23.67	3.26	0.26	0.11	8.97	642	87.0	02.4	72.4
8	21.65	3.71	0.08	0.09	5.83	527	85.9	43.8	79.4
n	6	6	6	6	8	8	6	6	8
mean	24.13	3.16	0.31	0.08	6.65	510	82.3	49.0	05.7
SE	1.37	0.25	0.08	0.01	0.86	32	2.3	4.3	3.2

Table B4.5 Muscle metabolites for CON and LTx at rest

Values are expressed as $mmol.kg^{-1}$ dry weight of muscle, except [H⁺] (nmol.L⁻¹) and glycogen (mmol glucosyl units.kg⁻¹ dry muscle)

CON	ATP	ADP	AMP	IMP	Lactate	Glycogen	PCr	Cr	[H⁺]
1	33.33	2.49	0.47	0.07	4.6	309	98.9	58.5	79.4
2	26.05	2.41	0.14	0.02	6.7	336	96.3	39.3	81.3
3	24.74	2.34	0.37	0.1	10.8	359	79.2	48.7	81.3
4	23.5	2.15	0.07	0.06	8.5	371	92.7	55.2	75.9
5	24	2.29	0.29	0.03	10.9	550	100.5	57.3	75.9
6	26.54	2.06	0.11	0.04	9.4	351	93.9	34.5	75.9
7	23.63	3.16	0.2	0.04	7.9	321	90.8	34.6	72.4
8									
	7	7	7	7	-	-	-	-	-
n	05.07	/	/	1	7	7	7	1	
mean	25.97	2.41	0.24	0.05	8.40	371	93.2	46.9	77.4
SE	1.30	0.14	0.06	0.01	0.86	31	2.7	4.0	1.3
LTx									
1				,					
2	27.52	3.84	0.13	0.31	17.2	446	118.5	51.7	91.2
3	19.88	2.76	0.07	0.17	15.8	645	106.3	74.2	89.1
4	18.41	2.32	0.05	0.28	14.7	451	92.5	37.2	91.2
5	18.7	2.76	0.06	0.15	12.8	433	97.0	56.5	74.1
6	21.51	2.82	0.14	0.5	14.5	579	98.3	54.4	93.3
7	22.32	2.74	0.17	0.23	20.0	445	77.8	47.2	87.1
8	21.5	2.43	0.2	0.23	18.7	409	87.3	64.1	81.3
n	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7
mean	, 21 41	2.81	0.12	0.27	16.26	487	96.8	55.0	86.8
SE	116	0.19	0.02	0.04	0.96	33	5.0	4.5	2.6
		0.1/	0.02	0.0.	0.20				

Table B4.6 Muscle metabolites for UT, RT, ET at fatigue.

Values are expressed as $mmol.kg^{-1}$ dry weight of muscle, except [H⁺] (nmol.L⁻¹) and glycogen (mmol glucosyl units.kg⁻¹ dry muscle)

ÛT	ATP	ADP	AMP	IMP	Lactate	Glycogen	PCr	Cr	[H+]
1	27.03	2.44	0.09	2.54	82.7	309	22.3	101.9	138
2	18.42	2.87	0.14	8.79	142.4	359	27.5	108.1	125.9
3	20.08	3.95	0.2	4.15	92.6	336	37.2	112.2	234.4
4	17.15	2.14	0.11	2.14	128.0	371	24.6	103.0	182
5	21.81	5.47	0.22	1.29	72.5	550	46.4	82.1	128.8
6	27.42	2.3	0.08	2.3	76.1	351	41.3	110.9	144.5
7	17.31	1.07	0.22	1.92	66.7	321	39.3	100.4	138
8	22.08	2.92	0.11	2.92	71.3	251	47.6	77.7	128.8
n	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
mean	21.41	2.90	0.15	3.26	91.6	356	35.8	99.5	152.6
SE	1.43	0.47	0.02	0.84	10.0	31	3.5	4.6	13.3
RT									
1	23.16	3.3	0.11	5.7	103.1	483	36.3	121.9	218.8
2	24.21	2.63	0.12	0.86	59.57	387	43.0	105.1	158.5
3	23.56	2.91	0.06	0.75	59.11	371	30.7	105.2	162.2
4	25.27	2.53	0.1	1.07	67.87	315	54.7	91.7	158.5
5	26.81	5	0.11	0.21	101.1	408	29.5	113.8	213.8
6.0	26.81	4.77	0.26	0.79	64.36	311	48.2	113.8	204.2
7.0	22.79	4.53	0.24	1.45	118.4	324	38.4	103.5	166
8	20.48	2.46	0.19	0.9	115.6	408	53.4	111.3	199.5
n	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
mean	24.14	3.52	0.15	1.47	86.2	376	41.8	108.3	185.2
SE	0.76	0.38	0.03	0.62	9.1	21	3.4	3.2	9.3
ET									
1					72.6	316			134.9
2	23.14	3.86	0.4	2.54	37.5	366	61.2	63.5	128.8
3					84.4	290			138
4	18.05	4.23	0.28	4.15	44.9	484	55.8	76.9	120.2
5	20.93	2.46	0.41	1.29	61.9	381	49.1	71.2	104.7
6	18.23	3.03	0.08	2.3	91.3	244	42.0	87.3	144.5
7	23.4	3.95	0.43	2.92	85.3	431	63.9	85.5	104./
8	21.05	3.97	0.55	2.14	50.7	278	55.8	76.0	190.5
n	6	6	6	6	8	8	6	6	8
mean	20.80	3.58	0.36	2.56	66.1	349	54.6	76.7	133.3
SE	0.94	0.28	0.07	0.39	7.2	29	3.3	3.6	9.7